Hideaki Hara · Masato Hosokawa Shinsuke Nakamura · Takayoshi Shimohata Masugi Nishihara *Editors*

Progranulin and Central Nervous System Disorders



Progranulin and Central Nervous System Disorders

Hideaki Hara • Masato Hosokawa Shinsuke Nakamura Takayoshi Shimohata • Masugi Nishihara Editors

Progranulin and Central Nervous System Disorders



Editors Hideaki Hara Molecular Pharmacology Department of Biofunctional Evaluation Gifu Pharmaceutical University Gifu, Japan

Shinsuke Nakamura Molecular Pharmacology Department of Biofunctional Evaluation Gifu Pharmaceutical University Gifu, Japan

Masugi Nishihara Department of Veterinary Physiology Graduate School of Agricultural and Life Sciences The University of Tokyo Tokyo, Japan Masato Hosokawa Dementia Research Project Department of Dementia and Higher Brain Function Tokyo Metropolitan Institute of Medical Science Tokyo, Japan

Takayoshi Shimohata Department of Neurology Gifu University Graduate School of Medicine Gifu, Japan

ISBN 978-981-13-6185-2 ISBN 978-981-13-6186-9 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-6186-9

Library of Congress Control Number: 2019935532

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2019

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. The registered company address is: 152 Beach Road, #21-01/04 Gateway East, Singapore 189721, Singapore

Preface

Progranulin (PGRN), which was identified as a sex steroid-inducible gene in the brain, is a protein also known as acrogranin, granulin/epithelin precursor, proepithelin, and PC cell-derived growth factor. It is an 88-kDa glycoprotein involved in masculinization of the brain during the perinatal period and facilitation of adult neurogenesis in the hippocampus. Recently, PGRN has been shown to promote neuronal survival and the regulation of inflammation in the brain, retina, and spinal cord. In other words, PGRN has variable effects on the central nervous system (CNS). There are various opinions about the neurotrophic and neuroprotective actions of PGRN depending on the circumstances. The aim of this book is to summarize the recent findings about the many actions of PGRN on the CNS in embryology, pathophysiology, and pharmacology.

PGRN is ubiquitously expressed in many cell types. In the CNS, it is produced by neurons, astrocytes, microglia, and endothelial cells. Furthermore, several stressors, such as hypoxia, glucose deprivation, acidosis, and oxidative stress, induce PGRN expression. These facts imply that PGRN plays important roles in homeostasis under various stresses. In fact, PGRN is a widely secreted growth factor regulating cell growth and survival, wound repair, and inflammation. Interestingly, PGRN may act as an autocrine neurotrophic factor because it is cotransported with brainderived neurotrophic factor and secreted in an activity-dependent manner. There are also interesting research subjects in relation to intracellular trafficking of PGRN and its role in lysosome biogenesis and function. Once in the extracellular space, the potential fates of PGRN include cleavage into granulins by extracellular proteases or uptake into target cells via binding of its C-terminus to sortilin. Sortilin ultimately delivers PGRN via trafficking from endosomes to lysosomes, where it may be cleaved and/or degraded in a manner that regulates its intracellular levels. Lysosome and autophagy dysfunction are key players in neurodegenerative disease pathogenesis. PGRN may regulate the activities of lysosomal enzymes as a molecular chaperone and play a crucial role in maintaining cellular protein homeostasis. Therefore, it is natural that PGRN is heavily involved in neurodegenerative disorders.

A deeper understanding of the molecular and functional properties of PGRN would provide new insights for developing mechanism-based therapeutic approaches for multiple disorders, including neurodegenerative diseases in the CNS. Medications targeting the recovery of neuronal functions seem to be the most reasonable way for symptomatic improvement in patients with neurodegenerative diseases resulting from PGRN insufficiency. This book is dedicated to providing opportunities to increase the knowledge and understanding about how PGRN regulates lysosomal homeostasis and how PGRN has neuroprotective effects against inflammation and ischemia.

All authors are specialists of PGRN research, and most of the chapter authors have participated in the society for the study of PGRN in Japan. We especially thank all chapter authors for their valuable contributions. In this book, up-to-date information about the actions of PGRN has been explained in great detail. We believe that the contents of this book can be useful for a wide variety of readers with an interest in neurodegenerative research. At first, some readers may skip certain chapters, but that is no problem at all. We think that it is most important for researchers to make good use of the book to increase their knowledge. As long as the readers enjoy reading the parts that are of interest to them or are their favorite topics, that is all that is needed. We hope this publication will serve as a basis for future research about PGRN.

Tokyo, Japan

Gifu, Japan

Masugi Nishihara Masato Hosokawa Takayoshi Shimohata Shinsuke Nakamura Hideaki Hara

Contents

Molecular and Functional Properties of Progranulin	1
Progranulin as a Potential Biomarker of Central Nervous	
System Disease. Akio Kimura, Masao Takemura, and Takayoshi Shimohata	19
Progranulin and Frontotemporal Lobar Degeneration	35
PGRN and Neurodegenerative Diseases Other Than FTLD Masato Hosokawa	71
Progranulin Regulations of Lysosomal Homeostasis and Its Involvement in Neurodegenerative Diseases Yoshinori Tanaka	85
Progranulin in Sexual Differentiation of the Developing Brain Masatoshi Suzuki	105
Progranulin and Inflammation/Neuroinflammation Masato Hosokawa	117
Neural Stem/Progenitor Cells and Progranulin Taku Nedachi	127
Generation and Phenotyping of Progranulin-Deficient Mice Takashi Matsuwaki	139
Pleiotropic Protective Effects of Progranulin in the Treatment of Ischemic Stroke Masato Kanazawa, Kunio Kawamura, Tetsuya Takahashi, and Takayoshi Shimohata	157
New Therapeutic Approaches Against Ocular Diseases Yoshiki Kuse, Shinsuke Nakamura, and Hideaki Hara	169

Molecular and Functional Properties of Progranulin



Masugi Nishihara

Abstract We have identified progranulin (PGRN) gene as a sex steroid-inducible gene in the brain, which is involved in masculinization of the brain during the perinatal period and facilitation of adult neurogenesis in the hippocampus. PGRN was first reported in early 1990s by different groups as a protein containing seven and a half cysteine-rich granulin domains and having growth promoting properties involved in wound healing and tumorigenesis. Later it was found that mutations of the PGRN gene were associated with neurodegenerative and lysosomal storage diseases such as frontotemporal lobar degeneration and neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis, respectively. We have also found that PGRN is located in lysosomes and deficiency of PGRN results in exacerbated neuroinflammatory responses and increased lysosomal biogenesis in microglia after traumatic brain injury. It is now recognized that PGRN may regulate activities of lysosomal enzymes as a molecular chaperone and play a crucial role in maintaining cellular protein homeostasis. Deeper understanding of molecular and functional properties of PGRN would provide new insights for developing mechanism-based therapeutic approaches for multiple disorders including cancers and neurodegenerative diseases.

Keywords Estrogen · Inflammation · Lysosome · Neurodegeneration · Neurogenesis · Progranulin · Tumorigenesis

Introduction

Our research groups have long been studying sex steroid actions in the brain, which are generally divided into three categories, i.e. organization, activation and protection. As shown in Fig. 1, organization takes place during perinatal period and involved in sexual differentiation of the brain, while activation and protection occur in the adulthood and involved in modulating sex behaviors/gonadotropin secretion

M. Nishihara (🖂)

Department of Veterinary Physiology, Graduate School of Agricultural and Life Sciences, The University of Tokyo, Tokyo, Japan e-mail: amnishi@mail.ecc.u-tokyo.ac.jp

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2019

H. Hara et al. (eds.), *Progranulin and Central Nervous System Disorders*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-6186-9_1



Fig. 1 Sex steroid actions in the brain, which are categorized as organization, activation and protection. During a perinatal period, sex steroids modulate neuronal proliferation, differentiation, migration and cell death, and thereby induce sexual differentiation of the brain (organization). In the adulthood, sex steroids elicit sexually dimorphic behaviors and hormone secretion pattern by modulating neuronal excitation and neuropeptide synthesis (activation). In addition, sex steroids facilitate adult neurogenesis and decrease neuronal cell death and neurodegeneration with a resultant maintenance of memories and cognitive function (protection)

and maintaining memories/cognitive function, respectively. Although sex steroid actions are exerted in general through new gene transcription and, hence, new protein translation, in the case of organization, sex steroids eventually affect neuronal proliferation, differentiation, migration and cell death in the developing brain. On the other hand, in the case of activation, sex steroids mainly induce neuronal excitation and neuropeptide synthesis. In addition, in the case of protection, sex steroids increase adult neurogenesis, while decrease neuronal cell death as well as neurodegeneration. We first tried to elucidate neuronal mechanisms involved in activational actions of sex steroids. To this end, we developed the recording system for the electrical activity of gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) pulse generator activity in the hypothalamus in unanesthetized rats and goats (Nishihara et al. 1991; Mori et al. 1991), which was an adaptation originally developed for rhesus monkeys by Knobil's group (Wilson et al. 1984). We found in both rats and goats that GnRH pulse generator activity declined during sex steroid-induced luteinizing hormone (LH) surge, which leads the concept that GnRH surge generator exists in the hypothalamus independent from the pulse generator (Nishihara et al. 1994, 1999).

Thus, it is now recognized that there are pulse and surge generators that mediate negative and positive feedback actions of sex steroids, respectively, on gonadotropin secretion in the female brain, while only a pulse generator exists in the male brain. Later, kisspeptin was identified as a potent stimulator of gonadotropin secretion, and there are two major populations of kisspeptin neurons in the hypothalamus, one in the arcuate nucleus and the other in the anteroventral periventricular nucleus, in the female brain, while only arcuate kisspeptin neurons are fundamentally functional

in the male brain. Kisspeptin neurons in the anteroventral periventricular nucleus are regarded to play a role as a surge generator and those in the arcuate nucleus as a pulse generator (Gottsch et al. 2004; Uenoyama et al. 2009). Thus, there are clear histological and functional differences between female and male brains in regulating gonadotropin secretion.

We then tried to elucidate molecular mechanisms involved in generating sex differences in the brain. Organizational actions are manifested by androgens derived from the testis after conversion to estrogens during fetal or perinatal periods (depending on species), which masculinize and defeminize the brain only in males, and the lack of these androgen actions develops default female type brain. To identify sex steroids-inducible genes involved in sexual differentiation of the brain, we used the cDNA subtraction method, which enables to isolate clones that are unequally expressed between two specimens. By means of this method, we have successfully isolated the progranulin (PGRN) gene, of which expression is enriched in the hypothalamus of male than female neonatal rats during the critical period of sexual differentiation of the brain (Suzuki et al. 1998). We confirmed that the expression of PGRN in the hypothalamus is indeed upregulated by sex steroids (Suzuki et al. 2001). To elucidate the role of PGRN in the developing brain, we tested the effect of the injection of the antisense oligodeoxynucleotide (ODN) complementary to PGRN mRNA in neonatal male rat brain, and found that subject animals that were treated with the antisense ODN had declined male sex behaviors after maturation, suggesting that PGRN is involved in mediating sex steroid actions organizing male type brain (Suzuki et al. 2000). Although PGRN had been already known molecule as described below, this is the first finding regarding the physiological role of PGRN in the central nervous system.

We then generated a line of mice with targeted disruption of the PGRN gene, and found that PGRN-deficient mice exhibited decreased ejaculation incidence and increased aggressiveness and anxiety as compared with wild-type mice (Kayasuga et al. 2007). These observations further support the notion that PGRN plays the organizational role in the neonatal brain by mediating sex steroid actions. This is also the first report regarding the production and phenotypic analyses of PGRN-deficient mice. Further, we found that enhancement of the adult neurogenesis in the dentate gyrus of the hippocampus by estrogen is at least partially mediated by PGRN (Chiba et al. 2007). Taken together, PGRN expression is enhanced by estrogen in both developing and adult brains, and it plays multifunctional roles, i.e. the masculinization in the developing brain (organizational action) and the maintenance of adult brain function (neuroprotective action) (Suzuki et al. 2009).

Structure of PGRN

In early 1990s, peptides derived from PGRN were identified by several groups from different tissues/cells and differently named. In 1990, Shoyab et al. purified two peptides from rat kidney having growth-modulating properties for human epidermal

carcinoma cells, and termed epithelin 1 and epithelin 2 (Shoyab et al. 1990). Bateman et al. also isolated in 1990 cysteine-rich peptides with molecular weights of approximately 6 kDa from human peripheral leukocytes and rat bone marrow, and called granulins (Bateman et al. 1990). Sequence analyses of amino acids and cDNA revealed that these peptides are derived from a single precursor protein, PGRN, which contains seven and a half tandem cysteine-rich granulin domains (granulins A to G and paragranulin) (Bhandari et al. 1992; Plowman et al. 1992). On the other hand, Gerton and colleagues identified in 1990 an acrosomal glycoprotein at around 67 kDa as a marker for acrosome development of the sperm from guinea pig testis, and named acrogranin (Anakwe and Gerton 1990), which was later found to be a guinea pig homologue of human and rat PGRN (Baba et al. 1993a). In addition, Serrero and colleagues reported in 1993 that a highly tumorigenic cell line, PC cell line, of mouse origin secrets an autocrine growth factor of 88 kDa glycosylated protein having growth promoting activity for 3T3 cells as well as PC cells, and termed PC cell-derived growth factor (or PCDGF), which also corresponds to a homologue of PGRN (Zhou et al. 1993). Collectively, these observations indicate that PGRN is ubiquitously expressed among tissues/cells of different species, and PGRN and its processed peptides, if not all, have growth regulatory properties.

Sequences of nucleotides of cDNA and deduced amino acids for human and rat granulin precursor (Bhandari et al. 1992, 1993), rat, mouse and human epithelin precursor (Plowman et al. 1992), mouse PCDGF precursor (Zhou et al. 1993), and guinea pig acrogranin (Baba et al. 1993a) have been independently reported. PGRN is encoded by *Grn* gene, and in mammalian genome, there is only one highly conserved *Grn* gene without other genes with high sequence homology (Palfree et al. 2015). In the mouse, Grn gene spans approximately 6.3 kbp containing 13 exons interrupted by 12 introns (Baba et al. 1993b). The cDNAs for human and mouse PGRN encode a polypeptide of 593 and 589 amino acids, respectively, including a 17 residue of putative signal sequence (Bhandari et al. 1992; Baba et al. 1993a). PGRN molecule is composed of seven and a half tandem repeats of the granulin module, which is characterized by a conserved pattern of 12 cysteine residues. Each granulin module is about 6 kDa and separated by short joining sequences, and could be released following proteolysis by, for example, elastase. The structure of human PGRN and amino acid sequences of each granulin peptide are shown in Fig. 2. The spatial conformation analysis revealed that the granulin modules adopt a compact fold of a parallel stack of β -hairpins stapled together by six disulfide bonds (Hrabal et al. 1996). According to Palfree et al. (2015), the granulin module arose in eukaryotic evolution, and PGRN is among the earliest extracellular regulatory proteins still employed by multicellular animals. Deeper understanding of molecular properties of PGRN would provide new insights for developing therapeutic means for multiple disorders, in which PGRN is involved.



Granulin C: 364 VP<u>C</u>DNVSS<u>C</u>PSSDT<u>CC</u>QLTSGEWG<u>CC</u>PIPEAV<u>CC</u>SDHQH<u>CC</u>PQGYT<u>C</u>VAEGQ<u>C</u>Q 417 Granulin D: 442 IG<u>C</u>DQHTS<u>C</u>PVGQT<u>CC</u>PSLGGSWA<u>CC</u>QLPHAV<u>CC</u>EDRQH<u>CC</u>PAGYT<u>C</u>NVKARS<u>C</u>E 496

Granulin E: 518 DVECGEGHFCHDNQTCCRDNRQGWACCPYRQGVCCADRRHCCPAGFRCAARGTKCL 573

Granulin F: 123 AIQCPDSQFECPDFSTCCVMVDGSWGCCPMPQASCCEDRVHCCPHGAFCDLVHTRCI 179

Granulin G: 58 GGPCQVDAHCSAGHSCIFTVSGTSSCCPFPEAVACGDGHHCCPRGFHCSADGRSCF 113

Fig. 2 Structure of human PGRN and amino acid sequence of each granulin peptide. PGRN is proteolytically cleaved to granulin peptides from granulin A to granulin G and paragranulin. Numbers are the position of amino acids. Cysteine residues are underlined

Receptors and Signaling Pathways

The mechanisms of action of PGRN have not yet been fully elucidated. As potential receptors for PGRN, several proteins including tumor necrosis factor receptors (TNFRs) (Tang et al. 2011), sortilin (Hu et al. 2010) and ephrin type-A receptor 2 (EPHA2) (Neill et al. 2016) have been proposed. PGRN exhibits comparable binding affinity for TNFR1 and TNFR2, and has higher affinity for them when compared to TNF- α (Tang et al. 2011). Since PGRN inhibits TNF- α binding to TNFR1 and TNFR2, PGRN may act as a physiological antagonist of TNF- α signaling, which may at least partially explain the anti-inflammatory actions of PGRN. Egashira et al. (2013) have also demonstrated that PGRN inhibits the binding of ¹²⁵I-labeled TNF- α to the surface of neutrophils isolated from rat peritoneal cavities and suppresses neutrophil chemotaxis induced by TNF- α . Interestingly, they have further shown that PGRN ameliorates neuronal injury induced by ischemia-reperfusion in mice, which may be due to the inhibition of neutrophil recruitment with a resultant reduction of nuclear factor-kB and matrix metalloproteinase-9 activation. Considering anti-inflammatory properties of PGRN, it is noteworthy to mention here that autoantibodies against PGRN have been detected in the serum of patients with different autoimmune diseases including psoriatic arthritis and inflammatory bowel disease (Thurner et al. 2013, 2014). It was also shown that the protective effects of PGRN are inhibited by serum containing PGRN-autoantibodies by TNF- α -induced cytotoxicity assays. It is suggested from these observations that PGRN-autoantibodies in the serum might provide a proinflammatory environment in a subgroup of patients with autoimmune diseases, and could be used for a diagnostic and prognostic marker. Regarding TNFRs as potential receptors for PGRN, however, there is an opposing argument that PGRN does not bind TNFRs and is not a direct regulator of TNF-dependent signaling (Chen et al. 2013).

Sortilin is a trafficking protein that binds extracellular PGRN and conveys it to lysosomes rather than mediates signal transduction (Hu et al. 2010). It has been also reported that prosaposin (PSAP), the precursor of saposin peptides, interacts with PGRN and facilitates its lysosomal targeting in both biosynthetic and endocytic pathways via the cation-independent mannose 6-phosphate receptor (M6PR) and low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 1 (LRP1) (Zhou et al. 2015). Sortilin and PSAP are thus regarded as two independent and complementary pathways for PGRN trafficking to lysosomes. Interestingly, it has been recently reported that retrograde signaling from PGRN released by Purkinje cells (PCs) to sortilin expressed on the membrane of climbing fibers (CFs) might strengthen and maintain the input from CFs to PCs in the developing cerebellum of infantile mice, thereby contributing to the selection of single CFs that survive synapse elimination (Uesaka et al. 2018). This finding may at least partially explain our previous observations that the density of dendrites of PCs in the molecular layer of the cerebellum was significantly higher in PGRN-deficient than in wild-type mice, though the number of the PCs was comparable between the genotypes (Matsuwaki et al. 2015). Since PGRNdeficient mice exhibited impairment of motor function as well, we suggested that PGRN is involved in the development of neuronal networks comprising PCs in the cerebellum, which may be prerequisite to exhibit normal motor function. On the other hand, Neill et al. (2016) reported that EPHA2, a member of the large family of ephrin receptor tyrosine kinases, is a functional signaling receptor for PGRN and that interaction of PGRN with EPHA2 causes intrinsic tyrosine kinase activation and downstream stimulation of mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) and Akt, and in turn promotion of capillary morphogenesis. Although these studies provide new insights into the actions of PGRN, further studies are needed to elucidate the physiological receptors that transduce PGRN signaling.

Although functional receptors for PGRN are still elusive, it is known that several signal transduction pathways, especially those involved in cell proliferation and survival, are activated by PGRN. Granulin/epithelin precursor or PCDGF is shown to cause phosphorylation of shc and p44/42MAPK in the extracellular regulated kinase (ERK) pathway as well as phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) and Akt in the PI3K signaling pathway in 3T3 mouse embryo fibroblasts and human breast cancer MCF-7 cells (Zanocco-Marani et al. 1999; Lu and Serrero 2001; He et al. 2002). We have previously shown that PGRN enhances neural progenitor cell proliferation *in vitro* through the phosphorylation of glycogen synthase kinase 3 β (GSK3 β), which is dependent on PI3K activity (Nedachi et al. 2011). PGRN also causes phosphorylation of the receptor tyrosine kinase and activation of downstream MAPK and

PI3K/Akt pathways in human umbilical vein endothelial cell as mentioned above (Neill et al. 2016).

Regulation of PGRN Expression

PGRN is expressed in a wide variety of tissues/cells and cancers. The high expression levels are observed in the spleen, adrenal gland and several reproductive organs including the placenta, ovary and epididymis (Bhandari et al. 1993). Several cancer cells express PGRN, and PGRN contributes tumorigenesis of breast cancer (Lu and Serrero 2000), ovarian carcinoma (Jones et al. 2003), glioblastoma (Liau et al. 2000) and multiple myeloma (Wang et al. 2003). In the brain, PGRN is mainly expressed in the cingulate and piriform cortices, the pyramidal cell layer and dentate gyrus of the hippocampus, the amygdala, the ventromedial and arcuate nuclei of the hypothalamus and the Purkinje cell layer in the cerebellum (Matsuwaki et al. 2011). As mentioned above, PGRN expression in the brain is enhanced by estrogen in both the perinatal period and adulthood. In addition, it has been also shown that the expression of PCDGF mRNA and protein in MCF-7 cells (human breast cancer cells) is stimulated by estrogen (Lu and Serrero 1999). Although there are no complete palindromic estrogen responsive elements (EREs), many ERE half-palindromic motifs are located in the 5'-upstream region of the mouse Grn gene (our unpublished observation). Since ERE half sites have been shown to be able to synergistically mediate estrogen-induced transcriptional activation (Kato et al. 1992), estrogen may stimulate *Grn* gene expression through these ERE half sites.

The expression of PGRN is upregulated in the inflammatory cells during wound healing (He et al. 2003). In the brain, traumatic brain injury enhanced PGRN expression in CD68-positive microglia (Tanaka et al. 2013a). We have previously reported that the mouse Grn gene has two possible coordinated lysosomal expression and regulation (CLEAR) sequences that bind to transcription factor EB (TFEB), a master regulator of lysosomal genes (Sardiello et al. 2009), in the promoter region and that PGRN is colocalized with Lamp1, a lysosomal marker. These observations suggest that PGRN is a member of lysosomal proteins and plays a role in regulating cellular protein homeostasis in lysosomes as well as extracellular regulatory proteins (Tanaka et al. 2013b). The expression of PGRN is also increased in activated microglia by lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-induced acute immune stress, which in turn attenuates neuroinflammation (Ma et al. 2017b). Kanazawa et al. (2015) showed that, following experimental acute focal cerebral ischemia in rats, increased levels of PGRN expression were observed in microglia within the ischemic core, and in viable neurons as well as endothelial cells within the ischemic penumbra. They further demonstrated that PGRN could protect against acute focal cerebral ischemia by a variety of mechanisms including attenuation of blood-brain barrier disruption, neuroinflammation suppression, and neuroprotection. Taken together, PGRN expression is upregulated in the brain and plays a neuroprotective role following brain damages. In addition, we have recently found that PGRN

expression is also increased in the skeletal muscle following muscle injury induced by the injection of cardiotoxin and modulates the recovery process as described below (Sugihara et al. 2018).

The PGRN expression during myoblast fusion is a consequence of the binding of MyoD, a transcription factor for myogenic differentiation, to several E-box (CANNTG) sequences in the 5'-flanking regulatory region of *Grn* gene, followed by transcription (Wang et al. 2012). Since the regulation of myotube formation by PGRN is mediated by the anti-myogenic factor JunB, which is upregulated following PGRN stimulation, they suggest that PGRN, JunB and MyoD form a regulatory loop and act in concert in the course of myogenesis. Matsubara et al. (2012) reported that PGRN is secreted from the adipose tissue as an adipokine and the expression in the adipocytes is increased by TNF- α and glucocorticoid. They also showed that PGRN mediates high fat diet-induced insulin resistance and obesity through production of IL-6 in adipose tissue, and proposed that PGRN may be a promising therapeutic target for obesity.

PGRN as a Growth Factor

PGRN molecule is preceded by a signal sequence and, hence, supposed to be a secretory peptide. As mentioned above, PGRN and/or granulins have long been regarded as an extracellular growth-modulating peptide(s). Both epithelin 1 and epithelin 2 inhibit the growth of A431 cells, which are derived from a human epidermal carcinoma (Shoyab et al. 1990). In addition, epithelin 1 stimulates the proliferation of murine keratinocytes, while epithelin 2 inhibits the epithelin 1-elicited growth of these cells. PGRN is suggested to be involved in early embryogenesis as well. Gerton and colleagues found that acrogranin (epithelin/granulin precursor) is expressed in preimplantation mouse embryos and secreted into the surrounding medium (Díaz-Cueto et al. 2000). Blocking the function of acrogranin by anti-acrogranin antibody significantly inhibited the development of eight-cell embryos to the blastocyst and decreased embryo cell numbers, while exogenous acrogranin added to the culture accelerated the time for the onset of cavitation and increased the number of trophectoderm cells.

The role of PGRN in wound healing was described by Bateman's group (He et al. 2003). In murine transcutaneous puncture wounds, PGRN is expressed in the inflammatory cells, dermal fibroblasts and endothelia, and addition of PGRN increases the accumulation of neutrophils, macrophages, blood vessels and fibroblasts in the wound. PGRN acts directly on isolated dermal fibroblasts and endothelial cells to promote division, migration and the formation of capillary-like tubule structures. Zhu et al. (2002) reported that epithelins inhibit the growth of epithelial cells but induce them to secrete the neutrophil attractant IL-8, while proepithelin blocks neutrophil activation by TNF, preventing the release of oxidants and proteases. Secretory leukocyte protease inhibitor (SLPI) and proepithelin form complexes, preventing elastase from converting proepithelin to epithelins. In addi-

tion, proepithelin restores the wound-healing defect in SLPI null mice. From these observations, they propose that SLPI/elastase act via proepithelin/epithelins to operate a switch at the interface between innate immunity and wound healing. Following retinal damage using *N*-methyl-*N*-nitrosourea in mice, PGRN promotes retinal precursor cell proliferation and the photoreceptor differentiation through the hepatocyte growth factor receptor signaling pathway (Kuse et al. 2016), while PGRN deficiency causes the retinal ganglion cell loss subsequent to the activation of astrocytes during retinal development (Kuse et al. 2017).

Interestingly, PCDGF is expressed in MCF-7 human breast cancer cells, of which expression is upregulated by estrogen and mediates a mitogenic effect of it on MCF-7 cells (Lu and Serrero 1999, 2001). We have shown that estrogen stimulated adult neurogenesis in the dentate gyrus of the hippocampus in rats, which was associated with an increase in PGRN gene expression (Chiba et al. 2007). In addition, an increase in proliferation of neural progenitor cells in vitro by estrogen was blocked by the addition of anti-PGRN antibody into the medium. These observations suggest that a mitogenic effect of estrogen on adult neurogenesis in rat hippocampus is also mediated by PGRN. Thus, PGRN seems to mediate sexual differentiation of the brain during neonatal period and neurogenesis in the hippocampus during adulthood, both of which are the consequence of estrogen actions in the brain. We have also shown that PGRN enhances proliferation of neural progenitor cells derived from PGRN-deficient mice, but not from wild-type mice, probably due to high expression levels of endogenous PGRN (Nedachi et al. 2011). Regarding adult neurogenesis, we have shown that the expression of PGRN in the hippocampus is upregulated by voluntary exercise, and mediates exercise-induced increases in the number of proliferating cells in the dentate gyrus of the hippocampus (Asakura et al. 2011). In addition, PGRN attenuates a decline of hippocampal neurogenesis by LPS-induced acute immune stress (Ma et al. 2017b), but not by aging (Ma et al. 2017a), though PGRN suppresses neuroinflammation in both cases.

PGRN is expressed in the skeletal muscle as well, and a previous study showed that PGRN promoted myotube hypertrophy through PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway, using immortalized mouse myoblast cell line C2C12 cells (Hu et al. 2012). On the other hand, there is a report showing that PGRN inhibits myotube formation in vitro and that knockdown of PGRN enhances myogenesis in neonatal mice (Wang et al. 2012). These findings suggest that PGRN may play a role in the skeletal muscle, but its action in myogenesis *in vivo* is still controversial. We have recently found the prolonged persistence of macrophages at the late phase of regeneration in PGRNdeficient mice following muscle injury induced by cardiotoxin (Sugihara et al. 2018). These macrophages were suggested to be M2 macrophages since this was accompanied with an increased CD206 expression. We also observed muscle hypertrophy in PGRN-deficient mice at the late stage of muscle regeneration. Since M2 macrophages are known to have a role in maturation of myofibers, the muscle hypertrophy observed in PGRN-deficient mice may be due to the presence of increased number of M2 macrophages following muscle injury. Our results suggest that PGRN plays a role in the regulation of kinetics of macrophages for the systematic progress of muscle regeneration.

PGRN as a Lysosomal Protein

In the human brain, haploinsufficiency of PGRN is one of the major factors causing frontotemporal lobar degeneration (FTLD) (Baker et al. 2006; Cruts et al. 2006), which is characterized by ubiquitinated cytoplasmic inclusions containing TAR DNA binding protein 43 (TDP-43) (Arai et al. 2006; Neumann et al. 2006). Patients with a homozygous mutation in the *GRN* gene present with neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis (NCL), a group of neurodegenerative lysosomal storage disorders (Smith et al. 2012). Götzl et al. (2014) also revealed that FTLD patients due to PGRN deficiency have NCL-like pathology. We have already shown that PGRN-deficient mice developed age-associated abnormal intraneuronal ubiquitin-positive autofluorescent lipofuscin with focal neuronal loss and gliosis, suggesting that PGRN plays a key role in maintaining neuronal function and survival during aging (Ahmed et al. 2010). Additionally, an association between PGRN insufficiency and Gaucher disease (GD), the most common lysosomal storage disease, has recently proposed (Jian et al. 2016b). These reports suggest that disorders derived from PGRN deficiency occur associated with lysosomal dysfunction.

We have previously shown that PGRN is produced in microglia positive for CD68, a member of the lysosome-associated membrane protein (Lamp) family, and suppresses excessive inflammatory responses after traumatic brain injury (TBI) in mice (Tanaka et al. 2013a). As schematically illustrated in Fig. 3, PGRN is localized in lysosomes of activated microglia and involved in the activation of mammalian



Fig. 3 Schematic illustration of the effect of PGRN on lysosomal biogenesis. TFEB, a master regulator of lysosomal genes, binds to the CLEAR sequence of DNA and activates transcription of lysosomal genes. PGRN is localized in lysosomes and involved in the activation of mTORC1, which inhibits translocation of TFEB to the nucleus by phosphorylation, thereby decreasing lysosomal biogenesis. PGRN has CLEAR sequences in its promoter region, and hence is a member of lysosomal proteins

target of rapamycin complex 1 (mTORC1). Activated mTORC1 then inhibits nuclear translocation of TFEB, which activates transcription of lysosomal genes by binding to the CLEAR sequence of DNA, by phosphorylation. Since PGRN gene has also CLEAR sequences in its promoter region as mentioned above, there seems to be a negative feedback loop in the biogenesis of lysosomes through PGRN. Thus, the deficiency of PGRN leads to increased nuclear translocation of TFEB with a resultant increase in lysosomal biogenesis in activated microglia and exacerbated neuronal damage after TBI (Tanaka et al. 2013b). Aged PGRN-deficient mice present with NCL-like pathology as well as TDP-43 aggregates in the thalamus, where a particular vulnerability has been reported in NCL model mice (Cooper 2010). Since aggregates of p62, which is selectively degraded by the autophagy-lysosomal system, were observed in neuronal and glial cells in the thalamus, it is also suggested that these pathological changes in the thalamus are likely a result of lysosomal dysfunction (Tanaka et al. 2014).

We have further shown that secreted PGRN was incorporated into cells via sortilin or M6PR, and facilitated the acidification of lysosomes (Tanaka et al. 2017). Lysosomal acidification is essential for digestive function and efflux of digested materials (Mindell 2012). The change of PGRN levels led to a cell-typespecific increase of insoluble TDP-43, and in the brain tissue of FTLD-TDP patients with PGRN deficiency, cathepsin D (CTSD) and phosphorylated TDP-43 accumulated in neurons. These studies provide new insights into the physiological function of PGRN as a lysosomal protein and the role of PGRN insufficiency in the pathogenesis of neurodegenerative and lysosomal storage diseases. Besides the brain, we have also shown that PGRN and/or granulins bind to CpG-ODNs and interact with Toll-like receptor 9 as a cofactor in endolysosomal compartments of peripheral macrophages, thereby accelerating the production of proinflammatory cytokines and eventually contributing innate immunity (Park et al. 2011). It may be worth mentioning here that PGRN has been identified as acrogranin in the acrosome of sperm as mentioned above, which contains proteases involved in acrosomal reaction during fertilization and is regarded as a kind of lysosome in sperm (Baba et al. 1993a).

Regarding GD, which is caused by mutations in *GBA1* encoding of β -glucocerebrosidase (GCase), Jian et al. (2016b) showed that the four single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) sites in *GRN* gene are associated with a decrease in serum PGRN levels and exhibit significantly higher frequency in GD patients. In addition, both ovalbumin-challenged and aged PGRN-deficient mice develop GD-like phenotypes. They further revealed that PGRN plays a role as a co-chaperone for the lysosomal localization of GCase through linking GCase to heat shock protein 70 (HSP70), which is regarded as a highly conserved molecular chaperone (Jian et al. 2017). The association between PGRN and GCase requires C-terminus of PGRN containing granulin E domain (GrnE). A PGRN-derived protein consisting of 98 amino acids of C-terminal PGRN, referred to as Pcgin, effectively ameliorate the disease phenotype in GD patient fibroblasts and PGRN-deficient mice (Jian et al. 2016a). Interestingly, Beel et al. (2017) also showed recently that PGRN functions as a chaperone molecule of lysosomal enzyme CTSD to stimulate axonal outgrowth, and that the interaction between PGRN and CTSD is mediated by GrnE, which maintains proper proteolytic capacity of CTSD. PGRN or granulin(s) therefore may regulate activities of multiple lysosomal enzymes as a molecular chaperone, and play a crucial role in modulating degradation of aggregated proteins, thereby maintaining proper protein homeostasis in the cell. This notion would extend potential therapeutic targets of PGRN and related granulin peptides.

Conclusion

PGRN is a highly conserved molecule among mammalian species without other molecules with high sequence homology, and consists of unique cysteine rich granulin domains. PGRN/granulins have been identified from different cells/tissues and differently termed, which indicates that they are ubiquitously expressed and play multifunctional roles. PGRN is first regarded as a secretory protein having growth modulatory properties, but is now also regarded as a lysosomal protein that maintains proper cellular protein homeostasis and has neuroprotective properties. In the brain, as summarized in Fig. 4, during a perinatal period, PGRN expression is



Fig. 4 Summary of the PGRN actions in the brain. During a perinatal period, PGRN expression is upregulated in the hypothalamus by sex steroids and involved in sexual differentiation of the brain, which affects sexually dimorphic behaviors including sex behaviors, anxiety and aggression afterwards. In the adulthood, PGRN expression is upregulated by exercise and brain injury/ischemia as well as sex steroids, but declines with age. PGRN facilitates adult neurogenesis while inhibits neuronal cell death and neurodegeneration, thereby preventing neurodegenerative diseases and cognitive disorders

upregulated in the hypothalamus by sex steroids and involved in sexual differentiation (masculinization/defeminization) of the brain, which affects sexually dimorphic behaviors including sex behaviors, anxiety and aggression after maturation. On the other hand, in the adulthood, PGRN expression is increased by exercise and brain injury/ischemia as well as sex steroids, but declines with age. PGRN facilitates adult neurogenesis, while attenuates neuronal cell death and neurodegeneration, thereby preventing neurodegenerative diseases and cognitive disorders with a resultant maintenance of higher brain functions. PGRN has been implicated in many kinds of disorders and thus may be a promising therapeutic target for multiple diseases such as cancers, neurodegenerative and lysosomal diseases, ischemic stroke, insulin resistance and retinal degenerating diseases.

References

- Ahmed Z, Sheng H, Xu YF, Lin WL, Innes A, Yu X, Hou H, Chiba S, Yamanouchi K, Petrucelli L, Nishihara M, Hutton ML, McGowan E, Dickson D, Lewis J (2010) Accelerated lipofuscinosis and ubiquitination in granulin knockout mice suggest a role for progranulin in successful aging. Am J Pathol 177(1):311–324
- Anakwe OO, Gerton GL (1990) Acrosome biogenesis begins during meiosis: evidence from the synthesis and distribution of an acrosomal glycoprotein, acrogranin, during guinea pig spermatogenesis. Biol Reprod 42(2):317–328
- Arai T, Hasegawa M, Akiyama H, Ikeda K, Nonaka T, Mori H, Mann D, Tsuchiya K, Yoshida M, Hashizume Y, Oda T (2006) TDP-43 is a component of ubiquitin-positive tau-negative inclusions in frontotemporal lobar degeneration and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 351:602–611
- Asakura R, Matsuwaki T, Shim JH, Yamanouchi K, Nishihara M (2011) Involvement of progranulin in the enhancement of hippocampal neurogenesis by voluntary exercise. Neuroreport 22(17):881–886
- Baba T, Hoff HB 3rd, Nemoto H, Lee H, Orth J, Arai Y, Gerton GL (1993a) Acrogranin, an acrosomal cysteine-rich glycoprotein, is the precursor of the growth-modulating peptides, granulins, and epithelins, and is expressed in somatic as well as male germ cells. Mol Reprod Dev 34(3):233–243
- Baba T, Nemoto H, Watanabe K, Arai Y, Gerton GL (1993b) Exon/intron organization of the gene encoding the mouse epithelin/granulin precursor (acrogranin). FEBS Lett 322(2):89–94
- Baker M, Mackenzie IR, Pickering-Brown SM, Gass J, Rademakers R, Lindholm C, Snowden J, Adamson J, Sadovnick AD, Rollinson S, Cannon A, Dwosh E, Neary D, Melquist S, Richardson A, Dickson D, Berger Z, Eriksen J, Robinson T, Zehr C, Dickey CA, Crook R, McGowan E, Mann D, Boeve B, Feldman H, Hutton M (2006) Mutations in progranulin cause tau-negative frontotemporal dementia linked to chromosome 17. Nature 442:916–919
- Bateman A, Belcourt D, Bennett H, Lazure C, Solomon S (1990) Granulins, a novel class of peptide from leukocytes. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 173(3):1161–1168
- Beel S, Moisse M, Damme M, De Muynck L, Robberecht W, Van Den Bosch L, Saftig P, Van Damme P (2017) Progranulin functions as a cathepsin D chaperone to stimulate axonal outgrowth in vivo. Hum Mol Genet 26(15):2850–2863
- Bhandari V, Palfree RG, Bateman A (1992) Isolation and sequence of the granulin precursor cDNA from human bone marrow reveals tandem cysteine-rich granulin domains. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 89(5):1715–1719

- Bhandari V, Giaid A, Bateman A (1993) The complementary deoxyribonucleic acid sequence, tissue distribution, and cellular localization of the rat granulin precursor. Endocrinology 133(6):2682–2689
- Chen X, Chang J, Deng Q, Xu J, Nguyen TA, Martens LH, Cenik B, Taylor G, Hudson KF, Chung J, Yu K, Yu P, Herz J, Farese RV Jr, Kukar T, Tansey MG (2013) Progranulin does not bind tumor necrosis factor (TNF) receptors and is not a direct regulator of TNF-dependent signaling or bioactivity in immune or neuronal cells. J Neurosci 33(21):9202–9213
- Chiba S, Suzuki M, Yamanouchi K, Nishihara M (2007) Involvement of granulin in estrogeninduced neurogenesis in the adult rat hippocampus. J Reprod Dev 53(2):297–307
- Cooper JD (2010) The neuronal ceroid lipofuscinoses: the same, but different? Biochem Soc Trans 38(6):1448–1452
- Cruts M, Gijselinck I, van der Zee J, Engelborghs S, Wils H, Pirici D, Rademakers R, Vandenberghe R, Dermaut B, Martin JJ, van Duijn C, Peeters K, Sciot R, Santens P, De Pooter T, Mattheijssens M, Van den Broeck M, Cuijt I, Vennekens K, De Deyn PP, Kumar-Singh S, Van Broeckhoven C (2006) Null mutations in progranulin cause ubiquitin-positive frontotemporal dementia linked to chromosome 17q21. Nature 442:920–924
- Díaz-Cueto L, Stein P, Jacobs A, Schultz RM, Gerton GL (2000) Modulation of mouse preimplantation embryo development by acrogranin (epithelin/granulin precursor). Dev Biol 217(2):406–418
- Egashira Y, Suzuki Y, Azuma Y, Takagi T, Mishiro K, Sugitani S, Tsuruma K, Shimazawa M, Yoshimura S, Kashimata M, Iwama T, Hara H (2013) The growth factor progranulin attenuates neuronal injury induced by cerebral ischemia-reperfusion through the suppression of neutrophil recruitment. J Neuroinflammation 10:105
- Gottsch ML, Cunningham MJ, Smith JT, Popa SM, Acohido BV, Crowley WF, Seminara S, Clifton DK, Steiner RA (2004) A role for kisspeptins in the regulation of gonadotropin secretion in the mouse. Endocrinology 145(9):4073–4077
- Götzl JK, Damme M, Fellerer K, Tahirovic S, Kleinberger G, Janssens J, van der Zee J, Lang CM, Kremmer E, Martin JJ, Engelborghs S, Kretzschmar HA, Arzberger T, Van Broeckhoven C, Haass C, Capell A (2014) Common pathobiochemical hallmarks of progranulin-associated frontotemporal lobar degeneration and neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis. Acta Neuropathol 127(6):845–860
- He Z, Ismail A, Kriazhev L, Sadvakassova G, Bateman A (2002) Progranulin (PC-cell-derived growth factor/acrogranin) regulates invasion and cell survival. Cancer Res 62(19):5590–5596
- He Z, Ong CH, Halper J, Bateman A (2003) Progranulin is a mediator of the wound response. Nat Med 9(2):225–229
- Hrabal R, Chen Z, James S, Bennett HP, Ni F (1996) The hairpin stack fold, a novel protein architecture for a new family of protein growth factors. Nat Struct Biol 3(9):747–752
- Hu F, Padukkavidana T, Vaegter CB, Brady OA, Zheng Y, Mackenzie IR, Feldman HH, Nykjaer A, Strittmatter SM (2010) Sortilin-mediated endocytosis determines levels of the frontotemporal dementia protein, progranulin. Neuron 68(4):654–667
- Hu SY, Tai CC, Li YH, Wu JL (2012) Progranulin compensates for blocked IGF-1 signaling to promote myotube hypertrophy in C2C12 myoblasts via the PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway. FEBS Lett 586(19):3485–3492
- Jian J, Tian QY, Hettinghouse A, Zhao S, Liu H, Wei J, Grunig G, Zhang W, Setchell KDR, Sun Y, Overkleeft HS, Chan GL, Liu CJ (2016a) Progranulin recruits HSP70 to β-Glucocerebrosidase and is therapeutic against Gaucher disease. EBioMedicine 13:212–224
- Jian J, Zhao S, Tian QY, Liu H, Zhao Y, Chen WC, Grunig G, Torres PA, Wang BC, Zeng B, Pastores G, Tang W, Sun Y, Grabowski GA, Kong MX, Wang G, Chen Y, Liang F, Overkleeft HS, Saunders-Pullman R, Chan GL, Liu CJ (2016b) Association between progranulin and Gaucher disease. EBioMedicine 11:127–137
- Jian J, Hettinghouse A, Liu CJ (2017) Progranulin acts as a shared chaperone and regulates multiple lysosomal enzymes. Genes Dis 4(3):125–126

- Jones MB, Michener CM, Blanchette JO, Kuznetsov VA, Raffeld M, Serrero G, Emmert-Buck MR, Petricoin EF, Krizman DB, Liotta LA, Kohn EC (2003) The granulin-epithelin precursor/ PC-cell-derived growth factor is a growth factor for epithelial ovarian cancer. Clin Cancer Res 9(1):44–51
- Kanazawa M, Kawamura K, Takahashi T, Miura M, Tanaka Y, Koyama M, Toriyabe M, Igarashi H, Nakada T, Nishihara M, Nishizawa M, Shimohata T (2015) Multiple therapeutic effects of progranulin on experimental acute ischemic stroke. Brain 138(Pt7):1932–1948
- Kato S, Tora L, Yamauchi J, Masushige S, Bellard M, Chambon P (1992) A far upstream estrogen response element of the ovalbumin gene contains several half-palindromic 5'-TGACC-3' motifs acting synergistically. Cell 68(4):731–742
- Kayasuga Y, Chiba S, Suzuki M, Kikusui T, Matsuwaki T, Yamanouchi K, Kotaki H, Horai R, Iwakura Y, Nishihara M (2007) Alteration of behavioural phenotype in mice by targeted disruption of the progranulin gene. Behav Brain Res 185(2):110–118
- Kuse Y, Tsuruma K, Sugitani S, Izawa H, Ohno Y, Shimazawa M, Hara H (2016) Progranulin promotes the retinal precursor cell proliferation and the photoreceptor differentiation in the mouse retina. Sci Rep 6:23811
- Kuse Y, Tsuruma K, Mizoguchi T, Shimazawa M, Hara H (2017) Progranulin deficiency causes the retinal ganglion cell loss during development. Sci Rep 7(1):1679
- Liau LM, Lallone RL, Seitz RS, Buznikov A, Gregg JP, Kornblum HI, Nelson SF, Bronstein JM (2000) Identification of a human glioma-associated growth factor gene, granulin, using differential immuno-absorption. Cancer Res 60(5):1353–1360
- Lu R, Serrero G (1999) Stimulation of PC cell-derived growth factor (epithelin/granulin precursor) expression by estradiol in human breast cancer cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 256(1):204–207
- Lu R, Serrero G (2000) Inhibition of PC cell-derived growth factor (PCDGF, epithelin/granulin precursor) expression by antisense PCDGF cDNA transfection inhibits tumorigenicity of the human breast carcinoma cell line MDA-MB-468. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97(8):3993–3998
- Lu R, Serrero G (2001) Mediation of estrogen mitogenic effect in human breast cancer MCF-7 cells by PC-cell-derived growth factor (PCDGF/granulin precursor). Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98(1):142–147
- Ma Y, Matsuwaki T, Yamanouchi K, Nishihara M (2017a) Involvement of progranulin in modulating neuroinflammatory responses but not neurogenesis in the hippocampus of aged mice. Exp Gerontol 95:1–8
- Ma Y, Matsuwaki T, Yamanouchi K, Nishihara M (2017b) Progranulin protects hippocampal neurogenesis via suppression of neuroinflammatory responses under acute immune stress. Mol Neurobiol 54(5):3717–3728
- Matsubara T, Mita A, Minami K, Hosooka T, Kitazawa S, Takahashi K, Tamori Y, Yokoi N, Watanabe M, Matsuo E, Nishimura O, Seino S (2012) PGRN is a key adipokine mediating high fat diet-induced insulin resistance and obesity through IL-6 in adipose tissue. Cell Metab 15(1):38–50
- Matsuwaki T, Asakura R, Suzuki M, Yamanouchi K, Nishihara M (2011) Age-dependent changes in progranulin expression in mouse brain. J Reprod Dev 57(1):113–119
- Matsuwaki T, Kobayashi A, Mase K, Nakamura K, Nakano S, Miyoshi T, Yamanouchi K, Nishihara M (2015) Possible involvement of the cerebellum in motor-function impairment in progranulin-deficient mice. Neuroreport 26(14):877–881
- Mindell JA (2012) Lysosomal acidification mechanisms. Annu Rev Physiol 74:69-86
- Mori Y, Nishihara M, Tanaka T, Shimizu T, Yamaguchi M, Takeuchi Y, Hoshino K (1991) Chronic recording of electrophysiological manifestation of the hypothalamic gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) pulse generator activity in the goat. Neuroendocrinology 53(4):392–395
- Nedachi T, Kawai T, Matsuwaki T, Yamanouchi K, Nishihara M (2011) Progranulin enhances neural progenitor cell proliferation through glycogen synthase kinase 3β phosphorylation. Neuroscience 185(6):106–115

- Neill T, Buraschi S, Goyal A, Sharpe C, Natkanski E, Schaefer L, Morrione A, Iozzo RV (2016) EphA2 is a functional receptor for the growth factor progranulin. J Cell Biol 215(5):687–703
- Neumann M, Sampathu DM, Kwong LK, Truax AC, Micsenyi MC, Chou TT, Bruce J, Schuck T, Grossman M, Clark CM, McCluskey LF, Miller BL, Masliah E, Mackenzie IR, Feldman H, Feiden W, Kretzschmar HA, Trojanowski JQ, Lee VM (2006) Ubiquitinated TDP-43 in frontotemporal lobar degeneration and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Science 314(5796):130–133
- Nishihara M, Hiruma H, Kimura F (1991) Interactions between the noradrenergic and opioid peptidergic systems in controlling the electrical activity of luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone pulse generator in ovariectomized rats. Neuroendocrinology 54(4):321–326
- Nishihara M, Sano A, Kimura F (1994) Cessation of the electrical activity of gonadotropinreleasing hormone pulse generator during the steroid-induced surge of luteinizing hormone in the rat. Neuroendocrinology 59(6):513–519
- Nishihara M, Takeuchi Y, Tanaka T, Mori Y (1999) Electrophysiological correlates of pulsatile and surge gonadotrophin secretion. Rev Reprod 4(2):110–116
- Palfree RG, Bennett HP, Bateman A (2015) The evolution of the secreted regulatory protein progranulin. PLoS One 10(8):e0133749
- Park B, Buti L, Lee S, Matsuwaki T, Spooner E, Brinkmann MM, Nishihara M, Ploegh HL (2011) Granulin is a novel soluble cofactor for toll-like receptor 9 signaling. Immunity 34(4):505–513
- Plowman GD, Green JM, Neubauer MG, Buckley SD, McDonald VL, Todaro GJ, Shoyab M (1992) The epithelin precursor encodes two proteins with opposing activities on epithelial cell growth. J Biol Chem 267(18):13073–13078
- Sardiello M, Palmieri M, di Ronza A, Medina DL, Valenza M, Gennarino VA, Di Malta C, Donaudy F, Embrione V, Polishchuk RS, Banfi S, Parenti G, Cattaneo E, Ballabio A (2009) A gene network regulating lysosomal biogenesis and function. Science 325(5939):473–477
- Shoyab M, McDonald VL, Byles C, Todaro GJ, Plowman GD (1990) Epithelins 1 and 2: isolation and characterization of two cysteine-rich growth-modulating proteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 87(20):7912–7916
- Smith KR, Damiano J, Franceschetti S, Carpenter S, Canafoglia L, Morbin M, Rossi G, Pareyson D, Mole SE, Staropoli JF, Sims KB, Lewis J, Lin WL, Dickson DW, Dahl HH, Bahlo M, Berkovic SF (2012) Strikingly different clinicopathological phenotypes determined by progranulin-mutation dosage. Am J Hum Genet 90:1102–1107
- Sugihara H, Miyaji K, Yamanouchi K, Matsuwaki T, Nishihara M (2018) Progranulin deficiency leads to prolonged persistence of macrophages, accompanied with muscle hypertrophy in regenerating muscle. J Vet Med Sci 80(2):346–353
- Suzuki M, Yoshida S, Nishihara M, Takahashi M (1998) Identification of sex steroid-inducible genes in the hypothalamus of neonatal rats by cDNA subtraction. Neurosci Lett 242(3):127–130
- Suzuki M, Bannai M, Matsumuro M, Furuhata Y, Ikemura R, Kuranaga E, Kaneda Y, Nishihara M, Takahashi M (2000) Suppression of copulatory behavior by infusion of antisense oligodeoxynucleotide of granulin into the hypothalamus of neonatal male rats. Physiol Behav 68(5):707–713
- Suzuki M, Yonezawa T, Fujioka H, Matuamuro M, Nishihara M (2001) Induction of granulin precursor gene expression by estrogen treatment in neonatal rat hypothalamus. Neurosci Lett 297(3):199–202
- Suzuki M, Lee H-C, Kayasuga Y, Chiba S, Nedachi T, Matsuwaki T, Yamanouchi K, Nishihara M (2009) Roles of progranulin in sexual differentiation of the developing brain and adult neurogenesis. J Reprod Dev 55(4):351–355
- Tanaka Y, Matsuwaki T, Yamanouchi K, Nishihara M (2013a) Exacerbated inflammatory responses related to activated microglia after traumatic brain injury in progranulin-deficient mice. Neuroscience 231:49–60
- Tanaka Y, Matsuwaki T, Yamanouchi K, Nishihara M (2013b) Increased lysosomal biogenesis in activated microglia and exacerbated neuronal damage after traumatic brain injury in progranulin-deficient mice. Neuroscience 250:8–19

- Tanaka Y, Chambers JK, Matsuwaki T, Yamanouchi K, Nishihara M (2014) Possible involvement of lysosomal dysfunction in pathological changes of the brain in aged progranulin-deficient mice. Acta Neuropathol Commun 2:78
- Tanaka Y, Suzuki G, Matsuwaki T, Hosokawa M, Serrano G, Beach TG, Yamanouchi K, Hasegawa M, Nishihara M (2017) Progranulin regulates lysosomal function and biogenesis through acidification of lysosomes. Hum Mol Genet 26(5):969–988
- Tang W, Lu Y, Tian QY, Zhang Y, Guo FJ, Liu GY, Syed NM, Lai Y, Lin EA, Kong L, Su J, Yin F, Ding AH, Zanin-Zhorov A, Dustin ML, Tao J, Craft J, Yin Z, Feng JQ, Abramson SB, Yu XP, Liu CJ (2011) The growth factor progranulin binds to TNF receptors and is therapeutic against inflammatory arthritis in mice. Science 332(6028):478–484
- Thurner L, Zaks M, Preuss KD, Fadle N, Regitz E, Ong MF, Pfreundschuh M, Assmann G (2013) Progranulin antibodies entertain a proinflammatory environment in a subgroup of patients with psoriatic arthritis. Arthritis Res Ther 15(6):R211
- Thurner L, Stöger E, Fadle N, Klemm P, Regitz E, Kemele M, Bette B, Held G, Dauer M, Lammert F, Preuss KD, Zimmer V, Pfreundschuh M (2014) Proinflammatory progranulin antibodies in inflammatory bowel diseases. Dig Dis Sci 59(8):1733–1742
- Uenoyama Y, Tsukamura H, Maeda KI (2009) Kisspeptin/metastin: a key molecule controlling two modes of gonadotrophin-releasing hormone/luteinising hormone release in female rats. J Neuroendocrinol 21(4):299–304
- Uesaka N, Abe M, Konno K, Yamazaki M, Sakoori K, Watanabe T, Kao TH, Mikuni T, Watanabe M, Sakimura K, Kano M (2018) Retrograde signaling from progranulin to Sort1 counteracts synapse elimination in the developing cerebellum. Neuron 97(4):796–805
- Wang W, Hayashi J, Kim WE, Serrero G (2003) PC cell-derived growth factor (granulin precursor) expression and action in human multiple myeloma. Clin Cancer Res 9(6):2221–2228
- Wang D, Bai X, Tian Q, Lai Y, Lin EA, Shi Y, Mu X, Feng JQ, Carlson CS, Liu CJ (2012) GEP constitutes a negative feedback loop with MyoD and acts as a novel mediator in controlling skeletal muscle differentiation. Cell Mol Life Sci 69(11):1855–1873
- Wilson RC, Kesner JS, Kaufman JM, Uemura T, Akema T, Knobil E (1984) Central electrophysiologic correlates of pulsatile luteinizing hormone secretion in the rhesus monkey. Neuroendocrinology 39(3):256–260
- Zanocco-Marani T, Bateman A, Romano G, Valentinis B, He ZH, Baserga R (1999) Biological activities and signaling pathways of the granulin/epithelin precursor. Cancer Res 59(20):5331–5340
- Zhou J, Gao G, Crabb JW, Serrero G (1993) Purification of an autocrine growth factor homologous with mouse epithelin precursor from a highly tumorigenic cell line. J Biol Chem 268(15):10863–10869
- Zhou X, Sun L, Bastos de Oliveira F, Qi X, Brown WJ, Smolka MB, Sun Y, Hu F (2015) Prosaposin facilitates sortilin-independent lysosomal trafficking of progranulin. J Cell Biol 210(6):991–1002
- Zhu J, Nathan C, Jin W, Sim D, Ashcroft GS, Wahl SM, Lacomis L, Erdjument-Bromage H, Tempst P, Wright CD, Ding A (2002) Conversion of proepithelin to epithelins: roles of SLPI and elastase in host defense and wound repair. Cell 111(6):867–878

Progranulin as a Potential Biomarker of Central Nervous System Disease



Akio Kimura, Masao Takemura, and Takayoshi Shimohata

Abstract Progranulin is a cysteine-rich secreted protein initially identified as a growth factor. Progranulin has been implicated in multiple biological and pathological processes, including tumorigenesis, inflammation, neurodegeneration and lysosomal function. Loss of one allele of the progranulin gene (GRN) leads to frontotemporal lobar degeneration (FTLD). GRN null mutations cause haploinsufficiency, leading to a significant decrease in progranulin protein levels in the plasma, serum and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) of carriers. Recently, several reports have shown that plasma progranulin levels predict *GRN* mutation status in patients with FTLD and asymptomatic family members. Thus, the concentration of circulating progranulin is a useful biomarker for screening *GRN* mutation carriers. Interestingly, there are also conditions in which expression of progranulin is increased. For example, progranulin is highly overexpressed in aggressive cancer cell lines and tissue specimens from various malignancies. Furthermore, progranulin expression in tumor and serum samples correlates with pathological grading and prognosis in several types of cancer. In the central nervous system (CNS), progranulin is often highly expressed in gliomas. Recently, we reported increased progranulin levels in the CSF of patients with CNS lymphomas and carcinomas with CNS metastasis. Accordingly, CSF progranulin levels may be useful as a diagnostic and monitoring marker for CNS metastases of lymphomas and carcinomas. Progranulin is also associated with various autoimmune diseases. For example, in rheumatoid arthritis and systemic lupus erythematosus, progranulin serum levels positively correlate with disease activity. Several reports also suggest an association with autoimmune CNS diseases, including multiple sclerosis (MS) and neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder (NMOSD). Increased CSF progranulin levels are observed in the acute

A. Kimura $(\boxtimes) \cdot T$. Shimohata

Department of Neurology, Gifu University Graduate School of Medicine, Gifu, Japan e-mail: kimural@gifu-u.ac.jp

M. Takemura Informative Clinical Medicine, Gifu University Graduate School of Medicine, Gifu, Japan

Advanced Diagnostic System Research Laboratory, Fujita Health University Graduate School of Health Sciences, Toyoake, Aichi, Japan

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2019

H. Hara et al. (eds.), *Progranulin and Central Nervous System Disorders*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-6186-9_2

phase of these diseases. Additionally, although still controversial, increased progranulin levels appear to be associated with remission of symptoms in MS and NMOSD. Therefore, progranulin may be a promising therapeutic agent and useful biomarker of CNS diseases, including *GRN*-related neurodegenerative diseases, malignancies, and autoimmune neurological disorders.

Keywords Biomarker · Carcinoma · Central nervous system · Frontotemporal lobar degeneration · Malignancy · Malignant lymphoma · Metastasis · Multiple sclerosis · Neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder

Introduction

Progranulin is a secreted glycosylated protein with critical functions in numerous biological and pathological processes, including cell growth, tumorigenesis, wound healing, inflammation, immunity, infection, and diabetes (Cenik et al. 2012; Eriksen and Mackenzie 2008; Jian et al. 2013a; Toh et al. 2011; Abella et al. 2017). In the central nervous system (CNS), progranulin acts as a neurotrophic and neuroprotective factor. Recently, changes in progranulin expression that are related to pathological conditions have been reported in various neurological diseases (Fig. 1). Mutations in the progranulin gene (*GRN*) were recently linked to certain forms of frontotemporal lobar degeneration (FTLD) (Baker et al. 2006; Cruts et al. 2006; Gass et al. 2006). The *GRN*-related form of FTLD is neuropathologically characterized by the appearance of neuronal inclusions containing ubiquitinated and fragmented TAR DNA binding protein-43 (TDP-43). Measurement of progranulin in blood and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) can identify FTLD patients and asymptomatic carriers of *GRN* mutations, with progranulin haploinsufficiency leading to decreased



Fig. 1 Progranulin expression levels in central nervous system diseases

progranulin levels (Ghidoni et al. 2008, 2012a, b; Finch et al. 2009; Sleegers et al. 2009; Carecchio et al. 2011; Galimberti et al. 2018).

In addition to progranulin deficiency, there are conditions in which protein expression is increased. Progranulin levels in biological fluids are generally low, but are upregulated in the inflammatory state, strongly supporting its use as a biomarker of disease onset and progression in several pathologies (Abella et al. 2017). Progranulin stimulates cell division and promotes tumor formation (Serrero 2003; Ong and Bateman 2003; Serrero and Ioffe 2003), and it is highly expressed in aggressive cancer cell lines and many malignancies. Changes in circulating progranulin levels have been observed in breast cancer (Koo et al. 2012), ovarian cancer (Han et al. 2011), hematological malignancies (Göbel et al. 2013; Yamamoto et al. 2017), and non-small-cell lung cancer (Edelman et al. 2014), as assessed by enzyme immunoassay (EIA). Therefore, progranulin may have potential as a prognostic biomarker of malignancy recurrence.

Progranulin is also associated with the pathophysiology of several autoimmune diseases. Progranulin binds to tumor necrosis factor (TNF) receptors (TNFRs), and disrupts TNF α -TNFR interactions (Liu and Bosch 2012; Jian et al. 2013b; Tang et al. 2011). Progranulin-deficient mice are susceptible to collagen-induced arthritis, while administration of progranulin alleviates inflammatory arthritis (Tang et al. 2011). Moreover, there are several reports demonstrating significantly higher concentrations of serum progranulin in autoimmune diseases (including rheumatoid arthritis [RA] and systemic lupus erythematous [SLE]), compared with healthy controls (Tanaka et al. 2012; Yamamoto et al. 2014).

In this chapter, we summarize recent advances on the use of progranulin as a potential biomarker of CNS diseases, including malignancies, and neurodegenerative and autoimmune neurological disorders.

Progranulin as a Biomarker of Neurodegenerative Diseases

Progranulin was first reported as a growth factor associated with tumor growth (He and Bateman 1999). In the CNS, progranulin functions as a neurotrophic and neuroprotective factor (Chitramuthu et al. 2017), and recent studies show that *GRN* mutations cause several neurodegenerative diseases. The first *GRN* mutations were discovered in FTLD families with ubiquitin- and TDP43-positive pathologies (Baker et al. 2006; Cruts et al. 2006; Gass et al. 2006). While heterozygosity for the mutations results in FTLD, homozygosity leads to neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis, a lysosomal storage disease (Smith et al. 2012; Almeida et al. 2016). The clinical symptoms associated with FTLD are diverse, including behavioral and personality changes, language disorders of expression and comprehension, cognitive impairment, and occasionally, motor neuron disease (McKhann et al. 2001). Intriguingly, missense *GRN* mutations are also observed in patients with clinically diagnosed Alzheimer's disease (Perry et al. 2013) and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS)

(Schymick et al. 2007). Thus, patients with *GRN* mutations can present with a variety of neurodegenerative diseases and a broad spectrum of clinical phenotypes.

GRN null mutations cause protein haploinsufficiency, leading to a significant reduction in progranulin levels in the plasma, serum and CSF of mutation carriers (Ghidoni et al. 2008, 2012a, b; Finch et al. 2009; Sleegers et al. 2009; Carecchio et al. 2011; Galimberti et al. 2018). The measurement of circulating progranulin levels enables screening of GRN mutation carriers quickly and inexpensively. Several reports show that plasma progranulin levels predict *GRN* mutation status in FTLD patients and asymptomatic family members (Ghidoni et al. 2008, 2012a; Finch et al. 2009; Galimberti et al. 2018). Finch et al. investigated progranulin levels in plasma samples from FTLD patients, including symptomatic and asymptomatic relatives of patients with GRN mutations (Finch et al. 2009). All FTLD patients with GRN mutations showed significantly reduced levels of progranulin in plasma, to approximately one-third of the levels observed in non-GRN carriers and control individuals. These researchers also found low progranulin levels in asymptomatic GRN mutation carriers. Galimberti et al. investigated whether plasma progranulin levels are predictors of GRN null mutations in FTLD family members in a cohort including FTLD patients, asymptomatic carriers, and non-carriers (Galimberti et al. 2018). They found that plasma progranulin levels in FTLD patients and asymptomatic carriers were significantly decreased compared with non-carriers. At a threshold of 61.55 ng/mL, the test showed a sensitivity of 98.8% and a specificity of 97.5% for predicting the presence of GRN null mutations, independent of symptoms. Thus, circulating progranulin levels may be a reliable biomarker, with high sensitivity and specificity, for the diagnosis and early detection of GRN-related neurodegenerative diseases. Measuring circulating progranulin levels may become an indispensable tool for preventing or delaying the onset of GRN-related neurodegenerative diseases in the near future.

Progranulin as a Biomarker of CNS Malignancies

Recent studies suggest that progranulin may be a potential clinical biomarker of various malignancies. Progranulin is associated with cell proliferation, migration, invasion, malignant transformation, angiogenesis, resistance to anticancer drugs, and immune evasion (Arechavaleta-Velasco et al. 2017). Progranulin is highly expressed in aggressive cancer cell lines and specimens from many malignancies (Table 1) (Serrero 2003; Serrero and Ioffe 2003; Han et al. 2011; Göbel et al. 2013; Yamamoto et al. 2017; Edelman et al. 2014; Frampton et al. 2012; Kim et al. 2010, 2012; Lovat et al. 2009; Selmy et al. 2010; Li et al. 2012; Tkaczuk et al. 2011; Lu et al. 2014; Wei et al. 2015; Yang et al. 2015; Chen et al. 2008; Wang et al. 2012; Bandey et al. 2004; Donald et al. 2001). Regardless of tumor type, progranulin is overexpressed in cancer cells and has growth-promoting and chemoresistant actions. In patients with malignancies, increased circulating progranulin levels have been

	Malignancy	Specimen	References
1	Biliary tract carcinoma	Cell line, serum, tumor tissue	Frampton et al. (2012) and Kim et al. (2012)
2	Bladder cancer	Tumor tissue, urine	Lovat et al. (2009) and Selmy et al. (2010)
3	Breast cancer	Tumor tissue, serum	Serrero (2003), Serrero and Ioffe (2003), Li et al. (2012), and Tkaczuk et al. (2011)
4	Cervical cancer	Cell line, tumor tissue	Lu et al. (2014) and Wei et al. (2015a)
5	Chronic lymphocytic leukemia	Plasma	Göbel et al. (2013)
6	Colorectal cancer	Tumor tissue	Yang et al. (2015)
7	Esophageal squamous cell carcinoma	Tumor tissue	Chen et al. (2008)
8	Glioblastoma	Cell line, serum, tumor tissue	Wang et al. (2012) and Bandey et al. (2015)
9	Hepatocellular carcinoma	Tumor tissue	Ho et al. (2008)
10	Malignant lymphoma	Serum, tumor tissue	Yamamoto et al. (2017)
11	Meningioma	Tumor tissue	Kim et al. (2010)
12	Non-small-cell lung cancer	Tumor tissue, serum	Edelman et al. (2014)
13	Ovarian cancer	Tumor tissue, plasma	Han et al. (2011) and Cuevas-Antonio et al. (2010)
14	Uterine leiomyosarcoma	Tumor tissue	Matsumura et al. (2006)
15	Prostate cancer	Tumor tissue	Pan et al. (2004)
16	Renal cell carcinoma	Tumor tissue	Donald et al. (2001)

 Table 1
 Malignancies showing enhanced progranulin expression

observed by EIA. Moreover, increased circulating progranulin levels correlate with pathological grading and prognosis in several types of cancer (Table 2) (Koo et al. 2012; Han et al. 2011; Göbel et al. 2013; Yamamoto et al. 2017; Edelman et al. 2014; Kim et al. 2010, 2012; Selmy et al. 2010; Wang et al. 2012; Bandey et al. 2015; Ho et al. 2008; Cuevas-Antonio et al. 2010; Donald et al. 2001; Serrero et al. 2012; Li et al. 2011; Carlson et al. 2013).

In the CNS, progranulin is often highly expressed in gliomas (Wang et al. 2012; Bandey et al. 2015). Progranulin plays a role in astrocytoma progression and is a prognostic biomarker for glioblastoma, with overexpression predicting decreased survival (Wang et al. 2012). Progranulin is overexpressed in tumors from patients with glioblastoma multiforme, and is associated with tumorigenicity and temozolomide resistance (Bandey et al. 2015). It is also implicated in the growth of intracranial meningioma (Kim et al. 2010). Recently, we reported that increased CSF progranulin levels are found in patients with CNS lymphomas (primary and secondary CNS lymphoma) and carcinomas with CNS metastasis (carcinomatous meningitis and brain metastasis) (Kimura et al. 2018). We examined CSF progranulin levels in various CNS diseases by EIA. Specifically, we compared progranulin

	Malignancy	Specimen	References			
1	Biliary tract carcinoma	Tumor tissue	Kim et al. (2012)			
2	Bladder cancer	Urine	Selmy et al. (2010)			
3	Breast cancer	Tumor tissue, serum	Koo et al. (2012), Serrero et al. (2012), and Li et al. (2011)			
4	Chronic lymphocytic leukemia	Plasma	Göbel et al. (2013)			
5	Glioblastoma	Tumor tissue	Wang et al. (2012) and Bandey et al. (2015)			
6	Hepatocellular carcinoma	Tumor tissue	Ho et al. (2008)			
7	Malignant lymphoma	Serum	Yamamoto et al. (2017)			
8	Meningioma	Tumor tissue	Kim et al. (2010)			
9	Non-small-cell lung cancer	Tumor tissue	Edelman et al. (2014)			
10	Ovarian cancer	Tumor tissue, plasma	Han et al. (2011), Cuevas-Antonio et al. (2010), and Carlson et al. (2013)			
11	Renal cell carcinoma	Tumor tissue	Donald et al. (2001)			

 Table 2
 Malignancies with an association between progranulin level and pathological grading or prognosis

levels among disease groups in CSF samples from 230 patients, including 18 with lymphomas (12 with CNS metastasis and 6 without CNS metastasis), 21 with carcinomas (10 with CNS metastasis and 11 without CNS metastasis), and 191 control patients with non-cancer neurological diseases. Median CSF progranulin levels were significantly higher in the lymphoma with CNS metastasis group compared with the lymphoma without CNS metastasis and control non-cancer groups. Additionally, levels were also significantly higher in the carcinoma with CNS metastasis group compared with the carcinoma without CNS metastasis and control non-cancer groups, except for patients with infectious neurological disorders (Fig. 2). Importantly, increased CSF progranulin levels were observed in lymphomas and carcinomas with metastasis regardless of tumor type. Using receiver operator characteristic (ROC) curves, we determined the suitability of CSF progranulin as a biomarker for lymphomas and carcinomas with CNS metastasis. The area under the ROC curve (AUC) was 0.969 for differentiating lymphoma with CNS metastasis (compared with lymphoma without CNS metastasis and non-cancer neurological diseases), and 0.918 for differentiating carcinoma with CNS metastasis (compared with carcinoma without CNS metastasis and non-cancer neurological diseases) (Fig. 3). These findings are clinically important because diagnosing CNS metastases can be difficult in patients with lymphomas and carcinomas as well as in those with histories of these diseases and whose neurological symptoms (such as headache, gait disturbance, sensory disturbance, and cognitive impairment) are also observed in other inflammatory and non-inflammatory neurological diseases. Diagnosis is also difficult in patients with lymphomas and carcinomas without CNS metastasis with paraneoplastic neurological syndromes or side effects of chemotherapy.



Fig. 2 Progranulin levels in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF PGRN) of patients with lymphoma and carcinoma with and without central nervous system (CNS) metastasis. CSF PGRN levels were significantly higher in patients with lymphoma and carcinoma with CNS involvement (CNS+) compared with those without CNS involvement (CNS-), as well as controls consisting of patients with non-cancer neurological diseases (such as autoimmune neurological disorders [ANDs], functional neurological disorders [FNDs], infectious neurological disorders [INDs], and non-inflammatory neurological disorders [NINDs]). Black dots: outliers

Numerous potential biomarkers for CNS malignancies have been reported. However, none are currently in clinical use for monitoring CNS metastasis (Berghoff et al. 2013). Diagnosis of CNS metastasis is usually based on brain magnetic resonance imaging studies and cytological examinations of CSF, but these methods have limited sensitivity and specificity. We therefore proposed that measuring CSF progranulin levels may help screen for CNS metastasis of lymphomas and carcinomas, regardless of pathological diagnosis. In particular, high CSF progranulin level might be a novel indicator for CNS lymphoma. While several potential diagnostic and prognostic markers for CNS lymphoma have previously been reported (Aviles et al. 1991; Hansen et al. 1992; Lee et al. 2005; Roy et al. 2008; Baraniskin et al. 2011; Wei et al. 2015b; Yu et al. 2016; Viaccoz et al. 2015; Strehlow et al. 2016; Rubenstein et al. 2013; Fischer et al. 2009; Ahluwalia et al. 2012), there is presently no reliable biomarker with high sensitivity and specificity for diagnosing CNS lymphoma. For diagnosis CNS lymphoma, it is not uncommon to perform brain biopsies, which are invasive and, in some cases, histologically inconclusive. CSF progranulin can be easily and inexpensively quantified by EIA. Further studies are needed to clarify whether CSF progranulin levels can indeed be used as a diagnostic biomarker of CNS lymphoma.



Fig. 3 Receiver operator characteristic (ROC) curve analysis of progranulin levels in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF PGRN) of (**a**) lymphoma with central nervous system (CNS) involvement (CNS+ lymphoma); and (**b**) carcinoma with CNS involvement (CNS+ carcinoma). ROC curve analyses of CSF PGRN levels could distinguish with high sensitivity and specificity, patients with CNS+ lymphoma from those without CNS involvement (CNS- lymphoma) or non-cancer neurological diseases. Similarly, CSF PGRN levels could distinguish with high sensitivity and specificity, patients with CNS+ carcinoma from those without CNS involvement (CNS- carcinoma) or non-cancer neurological diseases. AUC, area under the curve

It is unclear why CSF progranulin levels in patients with CNS metastasis of lymphomas and carcinomas are elevated. Previous immunohistochemical analysis of lymphoid malignancies in patients with diffuse large B cell lymphoma (the most common type of CNS lymphoma) showed progranulin expression in lymphoma cells and in tumor-associated activated macrophage cells (TAMs) surrounding these cells (Yamamoto et al. 2017). We speculate that increased CSF progranulin levels in patients with CNS metastasis of lymphomas and carcinomas is caused by the secretion of progranulin from tumor cells and TAMs in the CNS.

Progranulin as a Biomarker of Autoimmune Neurological Disorders

There is emerging evidence that progranulin may also be associated with various autoimmune diseases, including RA, Sjögren's syndrome, SLE, and systemic sclerosis (Jian et al. 2018). Progranulin has been shown to have therapeutic effectiveness in inflammatory arthritis by functioning as an endogenous antagonist of TNF α signaling by competitively binding to TNFR (Liu and Bosch 2012; Jian et al. 2013b; Tang et al. 2011). It was also reported that progranulin exerts its anti-inflammatory action through multiple pathways, including induction of regulatory T cell differentiation and IL-10 expression, and by inhibiting chemokine release from

macrophages (Jian et al. 2018). Serum progranulin levels are significantly higher in RA patients compared with age-matched healthy controls (Yamamoto et al. 2014). Moreover, circulating progranulin in RA patients is related to TNF α and soluble TNFR2 concentrations, and the progranulin/TNF α ratio correlates with disease stage in RA patients. High progranulin levels are also detected in serum samples from SLE patients (Tanaka et al. 2012), and serum progranulin levels are significantly associated with clinical symptoms and laboratory parameters in SLE, which are in turn related to disease activity. Importantly, serum progranulin levels are significantly decreased after successful treatment of SLE. Collectively, these observations suggest that the measurement of serum progranulin may be a useful approach for monitoring disease activity in patients with RA and SLE.

There are several reports describing the association between progranulin and CNS autoimmune neurological disorders, including multiple sclerosis (MS) and neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder (NMOSD) (Fenoglio et al. 2010; De Riz et al. 2010; Vercellino et al. 2011, 2016; Kimura et al. 2017). Indeed, progranulin was recently reported to be strongly expressed in the brains of patients with MS, specifically, in macrophages/microglia in active lesions and in activated microglia in normal-appearing white matter (Vercellino et al. 2011). Comparison of progranulin levels in the CSF of MS patients, non-inflammatory controls and inflammatory controls revealed significantly higher progranulin concentrations during MS relapse and in patients with progressive MS compared with MS patients in remission and non-inflammatory controls. This suggests that CSF progranulin levels may be a promising marker for active MS, although one report showed unaltered CSF progranulin levels in MS patients compared with controls (De Riz et al. 2010). Previously, we compared CSF progranulin levels in 17 patients with relapsingremitting type (RR)-MS and 20 patients with non-inflammatory neurological disorders. CSF progranulin levels were significantly higher in RR-MS patients during relapses compared with non-inflammatory controls (migraine and psychosomatic disorders) (Fig. 4). A recent study found that GRN polymorphisms influence the progression of disability and relapse recovery in MS, which may be related to circulating progranulin levels (Vercellino et al. 2016). It was suggested that the increased progranulin expression by microglia and macrophages in MS brain tissue might play a role in neuronal and axonal protection during brain inflammation.

NMOSD is an inflammatory disorder of the CNS that was previously thought to be a clinical subtype of MS, but more recently has been shown to be a distinct clinical and pathophysiologic entity (Katz 2016). Discovery of a disease-specific serum autoantibody against aquaporin-4 (AQP4), which is a water channel protein abundant in astrocyte foot processes surrounding brain capillaries, increased our understanding of this diverse spectrum of disorders (Lennon et al. 2005). We previously reported that CSF progranulin levels are significantly higher in NMOSD patients compared with RR-MS patients and non-inflammatory controls (Fig. 4) (Kimura et al. 2017). The elevated CSF progranulin levels correlated with CSF IL-6 levels, CSF cell count, CSF protein levels, and were related to total spinal cord lesion length in NMOSD patients. There are several additional reports showing that CSF protein levels, CSF IL-6 levels and total spinal cord lesion length during the acute phase correlate with



Fig. 4 Progranulin levels in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF PGRN) during the acute phase in 15 neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder (NMOSD) patients, 17 relapsing-remitting type multiple sclerosis (RR-MS) patients, and 20 non-inflammatory controls (NIC) (4 migraine and 16 psychosomatic disorder). CSF PGRN levels were significantly higher in patients with NMOSD compared with patients with RR-MS and NIC. Similarly, CSF PGRN levels were significantly higher in patients with RR-MS compared with NIC

disease severity in NMOSD patients (Içöz et al. 2010; Jarius et al. 2011; Murchison et al. 2015). Therefore, CSF progranulin levels during the acute phase may reflect NMOSD disease severity. Moreover, CSF progranulin levels during the acute phase also correlate with improvements in expanded disability status scale (EDSS) score, which is a method for quantifying disability in MS and NMOSD patients. These findings suggest that the anti-inflammatory and neurotrophic effects of progranulin may impact recovery from relapse in NMOSD. Therefore, CSF progranulin level is a potential biomarker of disease severity and prognosis in NMOSD.

Conclusion

Progranulin levels are altered in various CNS diseases. Decreased progranulin indicates the presence of *GRN* mutations, and circulating progranulin is a useful biomarker for the rapid and inexpensive large-scale screening of *GRN* mutation carriers in FTLD, which may be initially clinically diagnosed as another neurodegenerative disease, such as Alzheimer's or motor neuron disease. An upregulation of progranulin in the CNS is observed in various malignancies, including glioma, CNS lymphoma, carcinomatous meningitis, and brain metastasis. Hence, CSF progranulin levels could be used as a marker for monitoring CNS metastasis of lymphomas and carcinomas regardless of tumor type, which is often hard to diagnose clinically. Increased CSF progranulin levels are also observed in the acute phase of autoimmune CNS diseases such as MS and NMOSD. In the CNS, progranulin produced by microglia and macrophages might play a role in neuronal and axonal protection during the acute phase, and thereby affect recovery. CSF progranulin level might be a useful indicator of prognosis after relapse in MS and NMOSD. In addition to being a potential biomarker of CNS disease, progranulin may also hold promise as a neurotherapeutic agent.

References

- Abella V, Pino J, Scotece M, Conde J, Lago F, Gonzalez-Gay MA, Mera A, Gómez R, Mobasheri A, Gualillo O (2017) Progranulin as a biomarker and potential therapeutic agent. Drug Discov Today 22(10):1557–1564. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drudis
- Ahluwalia MS, Wallace PK, Peereboom DM (2012) Flow cytometry as a diagnostic tool in lymphomatous or leukemic meningitis: ready for prime time? Cancer 118:1747–1753. https://doi. org/10.1002/cncr.26335
- Almeida MR, Macário MC, Ramos L, Baldeiras I, Ribeiro MH, Santana I (2016) Portuguese family with the co-occurrence of frontotemporal lobar degeneration and neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis phenotypes due to progranulin gene mutation. Neurobiol Aging 41:200.e1–200.e5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2016.02.019
- Arechavaleta-Velasco F, Perez-Juarez CE, Gerton GL, Diaz-Cueto L (2017) Progranulin and its biological effects in cancer. Med Oncol 34(12):194. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12032-017-1054-7
- Aviles A, Gómez R, Salas J (1991) Ferritin in the cerebrospinal fluid as an early indicator of neuromeningeal involvement in patients with malignant lymphoma. Gac Med Mex 127:249–252 [In Spanish]
- Baker M, Mackenzie IR, Pickering-Brown SM, Gass J, Rademakers R, Lindholm C, Snowden J, Adamson J, Sadovnick AD, Rollinson S, Cannon A, Dwosh E, Neary D, Melquist S, Richardson A, Dickson D, Berger Z, Eriksen J, Robinson T, Zehr C, Dickey CA, Crook R, McGowan E, Mann D, Boeve B, Feldman H, Hutton M (2006) Mutations in progranulin cause tau-negative frontotemporal dementia linked to chromosome 17. Nature 442(7105):916–919
- Bandey I, Chiou SH, Huang AP, Tsai JC, Tu PH (2015) Progranulin promotes Temozolomide resistance of glioblastoma by orchestrating DNA repair and tumor stemness. Oncogene 34(14):1853–1864. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2014.92
- Baraniskin A, Kuhnhenn J, Schlegel U, Chan A, Deckert M, Gold R, Maghnouj A, Zöllner H, Reinacher-Schick A, Schmiegel W, Hahn SA, Schroers R (2011) Identification of microRNAs in the cerebrospinal fluid as marker for primary diffuse large B-cell lymphoma of the central nervous system. Blood 117:3140–3146. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2010-09-308684
- Berghoff AS, Stefanits H, Woehrer A, Heinzl H, Preusser M, Hainfellner JA, Vienna Comprehensive Cancer Center Central Nervous System Unit (2013) Clinical neuropathology practice guide 3-2013: levels of evidence and clinical utility of prognostic and predictive candidate brain tumor biomarkers. Clin Neuropathol 32:148–158

- Carecchio M, Fenoglio C, Cortini F, Comi C, Benussi L, Ghidoni R, Borroni B, De Riz M, Serpente M, Cantoni C, Franceschi M, Albertini V, Monaco F, Rainero I, Binetti G, Padovani A, Bresolin N, Scarpini E, Galimberti D (2011) Cerebrospinal fluid biomarkers in Progranulin mutations carriers. J Alzheimers Dis 27(4):781–790. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-2011-111046
- Carlson AM, Maurer MJ, Goergen KM, Kalli KR, Erskine CL, Behrens MD, Knutson KL, Block MS (2013) Utility of progranulin and serum leukocyte protease inhibitor as diagnostic and prognostic biomarkers in ovarian cancer. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev 22(10):1730–1735. https://doi.org/10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-12-1368
- Cenik B, Sephton CF, Kutluk Cenik B, Herz J, Yu G (2012) Progranulin: a proteolytically processed protein at the crossroads of inflammation and neurodegeneration. J Biol Chem 287(39):32298–32306
- Chen XY, Li JS, Liang QP, He DZ, Zhao J (2008) Expression of PC cell-derived growth factor and vascular endothelial growth factor in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma and their clinico-pathologic significance. Chin Med J 121(10):881–886
- Chitramuthu BP, Bennett HPJ, Bateman A (2017) Progranulin: a new avenue towards the understanding and treatment of neurodegenerative disease. Brain 140(12):3081–3104. https://doi. org/10.1093/brain/awx198
- Cruts M, Gijselinck I, van der Zee J, Engelborghs S, Wils H, Pirici D, Rademakers R, Vandenberghe R, Dermaut B, Martin JJ, van Duijn C, Peeters K, Sciot R, Santens P, De Pooter T, Mattheijssens M, Van den Broeck M, Cuijt I, Vennekens K, De Deyn PP, Kumar-Singh S, Van Broeckhoven C (2006) Null mutations in progranulin cause ubiquitin-positive frontotemporal dementia linked to chromosome 17q21. Nature 442(7105):920–924
- Cuevas-Antonio R, Cancino C, Arechavaleta-Velasco F, Andrade A, Barron L, Estrada I, Fernandez RL, Olguin V, Ruiz S, Imani F, Zeferino-Toquero M, Ulloa-Aguirre A, Gerton GL, Diaz-Cueto L (2010) Expression of progranulin (acrogranin/PCDGF/granulin-epithelin precursor) in benign and malignant ovarian tumors and activation of MAPK signaling in ovarian cancer cell line. Cancer Investig 28(5):452–458. https://doi.org/10.3109/07357900903346455
- De Riz M, Galimberti D, Fenoglio C, Piccio LM, Scalabrini D, Venturelli E, Pietroboni A, Piola M, Naismith RT, Parks BJ, Fumagalli G, Bresolin N, Cross AH, Scarpini E (2010) Cerebrospinal fluid progranulin levels in patients with different multiple sclerosis subtypes. Neurosci Lett 469(2):234–236. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2009.12.002
- Donald CD, Laddu A, Chandham P, Lim SD, Cohen C, Amin M, Gerton GL, Marshall FF, Petros JA (2001) Expression of progranulin and the epithelin/granulin precursor acrogranin correlates with neoplastic state in renal epithelium. Anticancer Res 21(6A):3739–3742
- Edelman MJ, Feliciano J, Yue B, Bejarano P, Ioffe O, Reisman D, Hawkins D, Gai Q, Hicks D, Serrero G (2014) GP88 (progranulin): a novel tissue and circulating biomarker for non-small cell lung carcinoma. Hum Pathol 45:1893–1899. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.humpath.2014.05.011
- Eriksen JL, Mackenzie IR (2008) Progranulin: normal function and role in neurodegeneration. J Neurochem 104(2):287–297
- Fenoglio C, Scalabrini D, Esposito F, Comi C, Cavalla P, De Riz M, Martinelli V, Piccio LM, Venturelli E, Fumagalli G, Capra R, Collimedaglia L, Ghezzi A, Rodegher ME, Vercellino M, Leone M, Giordana MT, Bresolin N, Monaco F, Comi G, Scarpini E, Martinelli-Boneschi F, Galimberti D (2010) Progranulin gene variability increases the risk for primary progressive multiple sclerosis in males. Genes Immun 11(6):497–503. https://doi.org/10.1038/ gene.2010.18
- Finch N, Baker M, Crook R, Swanson K, Kuntz K, Surtees R, Bisceglio G, Rovelet-Lecrux A, Boeve B, Petersen RC, Dickson DW, Younkin SG, Deramecourt V, Crook J, Graff-Radford NR, Rademakers R (2009) Plasma progranulin levels predict progranulin mutation status in frontotemporal dementia patients and asymptomatic family members. Brain 132(Pt 3):583–591. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awn352
- Fischer L, Korfel A, Pfeiffer S, Kiewe P, Volk HD, Cakiroglu H, Widmann T, Thiel E (2009) CXCL13 and CXCL12 in central nervous system lymphoma patients. Clin Cancer Res 15:5968–5973. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-0108
- Frampton G, Invernizzi P, Bernuzzi F, Pae HY, Quinn M, Horvat D, Galindo C, Huang L, McMillin M, Cooper B, Rimassa L, DeMorrow S (2012) Interleukin-6-driven progranulin expression increases cholangiocarcinoma growth by an Akt-dependent mechanism. Gut 61(2):268–277. https://doi.org/10.1136/gutinl-2011-300643
- Galimberti D, Fumagalli GG, Fenoglio C, Cioffi SMG, Arighi A, Serpente M, Borroni B, Padovani A, Tagliavini F, Masellis M, Tartaglia MC, van Swieten J, Meeter L, Graff C, de Mendonça A, Bocchetta M, Rohrer JD, Scarpini E, Genetic FTD Initiative (GENFI) (2018) Progranulin plasma levels predict the presence of GRN mutations in asymptomatic subjects and do not correlate with brain atrophy: results from the GENFI study. Neurobiol Aging 62:245.e9–245.e12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2017.10.016
- Gass J, Cannon A, Mackenzie IR, Boeve B, Baker M, Adamson J, Crook R, Melquist S, Kuntz K, Petersen R, Josephs K, Pickering-Brown SM, Graff-Radford N, Uitti R, Dickson D, Wszolek Z, Gonzalez J, Beach TG, Bigio E, Johnson N, Weintraub S, Mesulam M, White CL 3rd, Woodruff B, Caselli R, Hsiung GY, Feldman H, Knopman D, Hutton M, Rademakers R (2006) Mutations in progranulin are a major cause of ubiquitin-positive frontotemporal lobar degeneration. Hum Mol Genet 15(20):2988–3001
- Ghidoni R, Benussi L, Glionna M, Franzoni M, Binetti G (2008) Low plasma progranulin levels predict progranulin mutations in frontotemporal lobar degeneration. Neurology 71(16):1235– 1239. https://doi.org/10.1212/01.wnl.0000325058.10218.fc
- Ghidoni R, Stoppani E, Rossi G, Piccoli E, Albertini V, Paterlini A, Glionna M, Pegoiani E, Agnati LF, Fenoglio C, Scarpini E, Galimberti D, Morbin M, Tagliavini F, Binetti G, Benussi L (2012a) Optimal plasma progranulin cutoff value for predicting null progranulin mutations in neurodegenerative diseases: a multicenter Italian study. Neurodegener Dis 9(3):121–127. https://doi.org/10.1159/000333132
- Ghidoni R, Paterlini A, Benussi L (2012b) Circulating progranulin as a biomarker for neurodegenerative diseases. Am J Neurodegener Dis 1(2):180–190
- Göbel M, Eisele L, Möllmann M, Hüttmann A, Johansson P, Scholtysik R, Bergmann M, Busch R, Döhner H, Hallek M, Seiler T, Stilgenbauer S, Klein-Hitpass L, Dührsen U, Dürig J (2013) Progranulin is a novel independent predictor of disease progression and overall survival in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. PLoS One 8:e72107. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0072107
- Han JJ, Yu M, Houston N, Steinberg SM, Kohn EC (2011) Progranulin is a potential prognostic biomarker in advanced epithelial ovarian cancers. Gynecol Oncol 120:5–10. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ygyno.2010.09.006
- Hansen PB, Kjeldsen L, Dalhoff K, Olesen B (1992) Cerebrospinal fluid beta-2-microglobulin in adult patients with acute leukemia or lymphoma: a useful marker in early diagnosis and monitoring of CNS-involvement. Acta Neurol Scand 85:224–227
- He Z, Bateman A (1999) Progranulin gene expression regulates epithelial cell growth and promotes tumor growth in vivo. Cancer Res 59(13):3222–3229
- Ho JC, Ip YC, Cheung ST, Lee YT, Chan KF, Wong SY, Fan ST (2008) Granulin-epithelin precursor as a therapeutic target for hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatology 47(5):1524–1532. https:// doi.org/10.1002/hep.22191
- Içöz S, Tüzün E, Kürtüncü M, Durmuş H, Mutlu M, Eraksoy M, Akman-Demir G (2010) Enhanced IL-6 production in aquaporin-4 antibody positive neuromyelitis optica patients. Int J Neurosci 120(1):71–75. https://doi.org/10.3109/00207450903428970
- Jarius S, Paul F, Franciotta D, Ruprecht K, Ringelstein M, Bergamaschi R, Rommer P, Kleiter I, Stich O, Reuss R, Rauer S, Zettl UK, Wandinger KP, Melms A, Aktas O, Kristoferitsch W, Wildemann B (2011) Cerebrospinal fluid findings in aquaporin-4 antibody positive neuromyelitis optica: results from 211 lumbar punctures. J Neurol Sci 306(1–2):82–90. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jns.2011.03.038
- Jian J, Konopka J, Liu C (2013a) Insights into the role of progranulin in immunity, infection, and inflammation. J Leukoc Biol 93(2):199–208. https://doi.org/10.1189/jlb.0812429

- Jian J, Zhao S, Tian Q, Gonzalez-Gugel E, Mundra JJ, Uddin SM, Liu B, Richbourgh B, Brunetti R, Liu CJ (2013b) Progranulin directly binds to the CRD2 and CRD3 of TNFR extracellular domains. FEBS Lett 587(21):3428–3436. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet.2013.09.024
- Jian J, Li G, Hettinghouse A, Liu C (2018) Progranulin: a key player in autoimmune diseases. Cytokine 101:48–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cyto.2016.08.007
- Katz SI (2016) Neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders. Continuum (Minneap Minn) 22(3):864– 896. https://doi.org/10.1212/CON.00000000000337
- Kim CH, Cheong JH, Kim JM (2010) Correlation of granulin expression in intracranial meningiomas to clinical parameters. Exp Ther Med 1(3):493–496
- Kim JH, Do IG, Kim K, Sohn JH, Kim HJ, Jeon WK, Lee SR, Son BH, Shin JH, Nam H, Kwon HJ, Kim MS, Hong HP, Serrero G, Koo DH, KBSMC Pancreatobiliary Cancer Team (2012) Progranulin as a predictive factor of response to chemotherapy in advanced biliary tract carcinoma. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 78(5):1085–1092
- Kimura A, Takemura M, Saito K, Serrero G, Yoshikura N, Hayashi Y, Inuzuka T (2017) Increased cerebrospinal fluid progranulin correlates with interleukin-6 in the acute phase of neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder. J Neuroimmunol 305:175–181. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jneuroim.2017.01.006
- Kimura A, Takemura M, Serrero G, Yoshikura N, Hayashi Y, Saito K, Inuzuka T (2018) Higher levels of progranulin in cerebrospinal fluid of patients with lymphoma and carcinoma with CNS metastasis. J Neurooncol doi 137:455–462. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11060-017-2742-z
- Koo DH, Park CY, Lee ES, Ro J, Oh SW (2012) Progranulin as a prognostic biomarker for breast cancer recurrence in patients who had hormone receptor-positive tumors: a cohort study. PLoS One 7:e39880. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0039880
- Lee W, Kim SJ, Lee S, Kim J, Kim M, Lim J, Kim Y, Cho B, Lee EJ, Han K (2005) Significance of cerebrospinal fluid sIL-2R level as a marker of CNS involvement in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Ann Clin Lab Sci 35:407–412
- Lennon VA, Kryzer TJ, Pittock SJ, Verkman AS, Hinson SR (2005) IgG marker of optic-spinal multiple sclerosis binds to the aquaporin-4 water channel. J Exp Med 202(4):473–477
- Li LQ, Huang HL, Ping JL, Wang XH, Zhong J, Dai LC (2011) Clinicopathologic and prognostic implications of progranulin in breast carcinoma. Chin Med J 124(13):2045–2050
- Li LQ, Min LS, Jiang Q, Ping JL, Li J, Dai LC (2012) Progranulin expression in breast cancer with different intrinsic subtypes. Pathol Res Pract 208(4):210–216. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. prp.2012.02.001
- Liu CJ, Bosch X (2012) Progranulin: a growth factor, a novel TNFR ligand and a drug target. Pharmacol Ther 133(1):124–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pharmthera.2011.10.003
- Lovat F, Bitto A, Xu SQ, Fassan M, Goldoni S, Metalli D, Wubah V, McCue P, Serrero G, Gomella LG, Baffa R, Iozzo RV, Morrione A (2009) Proepithelin is an autocrine growth factor for bladder cancer. Carcinogenesis 30(5):861–868. https://doi.org/10.1093/carcin/bgp050
- Lu Y, Zheng L, Zhang W, Feng T, Liu J, Wang X, Yu Y, Qi M, Zhao W, Yu X, Tang W (2014) Growth factor progranulin contributes to cervical cancer cell proliferation and transformation in vivo and in vitro. Gynecol Oncol 134(2):364–371. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ygyno.2014.05.025
- Matsumura N, Mandai M, Miyanishi M, Fukuhara K, Baba T, Higuchi T, Kariya M, Takakura K, Fujii S (2006) Oncogenic property of acrogranin in human uterine leiomyosarcoma: direct evidence of genetic contribution in in vivo tumorigenesis. Clin Cancer Res 12(5):1402–1411
- McKhann GM, Albert MS, Grossman M, Miller B, Dickson D, Trojanowski JQ, Work Group on Frontotemporal Dementia and Pick's Disease (2001) Clinical and pathological diagnosis of frontotemporal dementia: report of the Work Group on Frontotemporal Dementia and Pick's Disease. Arch Neurol 58(11):1803–1809
- Murchison A, Kitley J, Leite MI, Küker W, Palace J (2015) Predictive value of MRI parameters in severity and recovery of first-episode myelitis in aquaporin-4 antibody disease. J Neurol Sci 355(1–2):49–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jns.2015.05.011

- Ong CH, Bateman A (2003) Progranulin (granulin–epithelin precursor, PC-cell derived growth factor, acrogranin) in proliferation and tumorigenesis. Histol Histopathol 18:1275–1288. https://doi.org/10.14670/HH-18.1275
- Pan CX, Kinch MS, Kiener PA, Langermann S, Serrero G, Sun L, Corvera J, Sweeney CJ, Li L, Zhang S, Baldridge LA, Jones TD, Koch MO, Ulbright TM, Eble JN, Cheng L (2004) PC cellderived growth factor expression in prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia and prostatic adenocarcinoma. Clin Cancer Res 10(4):1333–1337
- Perry DC, Lehmann M, Yokoyama JS, Karydas A, Lee JJ, Coppola G, Grinberg LT, Geschwind D, Seeley WW, Miller BL, Rosen H, Rabinovici G (2013) Progranulin mutations as risk factors for Alzheimer disease. JAMA Neurol 70(6):774–778. https://doi.org/10.1001/2013. jamaneurol.393
- Roy S, Josephson SA, Fridlyand J, Karch J, Kadoch C, Karrim J, Damon L, Treseler P, Kunwar S, Shuman MA, Jones T, Becker CH, Schulman H, Rubenstein JL (2008) Protein biomarker identification in the CSF of patients with CNS lymphoma. J Clin Oncol 26:96–105
- Rubenstein JL, Wong VS, Kadoch C, Gao HX, Barajas R, Chen L, Josephson SA, Scott B, Douglas V, Maiti M, Kaplan LD, Treseler PA, Cha S, Hwang JH, Cinque P, Cyster JG, Lowell C (2013) CXCL13 plus interleukin 10 is highly specific for the diagnosis of CNS lymphoma. Blood 121:4740–4748. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2013-01-476333
- Schymick JC, Yang Y, Andersen PM, Vonsattel JP, Greenway M, Momeni P, Elder J, Chiò A, Restagno G, Robberecht W, Dahlberg C, Mukherjee O, Goate A, Graff-Radford N, Caselli RJ, Hutton M, Gass J, Cannon A, Rademakers R, Singleton AB, Hardiman O, Rothstein J, Hardy J, Traynor BJ (2007) Progranulin mutations and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis or amyotrophic lateral sclerosis-frontotemporal dementia phenotypes. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 78(7):754–756
- Selmy MA, Ibrahim GH, El Serafi TI, Ghobeish AA (2010) Evaluation of urinary proepithelin as a potential biomarker for bladder cancer detection and prognosis in Egyptian patients. Cancer Biomark 7(3):163–170. https://doi.org/10.3233/CBM-2010-0186
- Serrero G (2003) Autocrine growth factor revisited: PC-cell-derived growth factor (progranulin), a critical player in breast cancer tumorigenesis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 308:409–413
- Serrero G, Ioffe OB (2003) Expression of PC-cell-derived growth factor in benign and malignant human breast epithelium. Hum Pathol 34:1148–1154
- Serrero G, Hawkins DM, Yue B, Ioffe O, Bejarano P, Phillips JT, Head JF, Elliott RL, Tkaczuk KR, Godwin AK, Weaver J, Kim WE (2012) Progranulin (GP88) tumor tissue expression is associated with increased risk of recurrence in breast cancer patients diagnosed with estrogen receptor positive invasive ductal carcinoma. Breast Cancer Res 14(1):R26
- Sleegers K, Brouwers N, Van Damme P, Engelborghs S, Gijselinck I, van der Zee J, Peeters K, Mattheijssens M, Cruts M, Vandenberghe R, De Deyn PP, Robberecht W, Van Broeckhoven C (2009) Serum biomarker for progranulin-associated frontotemporal lobar degeneration. Ann Neurol 65(5):603–609. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.21621
- Smith KR, Damiano J, Franceschetti S, Carpenter S, Canafoglia L, Morbin M, Rossi G, Pareyson D, Mole SE, Staropoli JF, Sims KB, Lewis J, Lin WL, Dickson DW, Dahl HH, Bahlo M, Berkovic SF (2012) Strikingly different clinicopathological phenotypes determined by progranulin-mutation dosage. Am J Hum Genet 90(6):1102–1107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ajhg.2012.04.021
- Strehlow F, Bauer S, Martus P, Weller M, Roth P, Schlegel U, Seidel S, Scheibenbogen C, Korfel A, Kreher S (2016) Osteopontin in cerebrospinal fluid as diagnostic biomarker for central nervous system lymphoma. J Neuro-Oncol 129:165–171. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11060-016-2162-5
- Tanaka A, Tsukamoto H, Mitoma H, Kiyohara C, Ueda N, Ayano M, Ohta S, Inoue Y, Arinobu Y, Niiro H, Horiuchi T, Akashi K (2012) Serum progranulin levels are elevated in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus, reflecting disease activity. Arthritis Res Ther 14(6):R244. https://doi.org/10.1186/ar4087

- Tang W, Lu Y, Tian QY, Zhang Y, Guo FJ, Liu GY, Syed NM, Lai Y, Lin EA, Kong L, Su J, Yin F, Ding AH, Zanin-Zhorov A, Dustin ML, Tao J, Craft J, Yin Z, Feng JQ, Abramson SB, Yu XP, Liu CJ (2011) The growth factor progranulin binds to TNF receptors and is therapeutic against inflammatory arthritis in mice. Science 332(6028):478–484. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1199214
- Tkaczuk KR, Yue B, Zhan M, Tait N, Yarlagadda L, Dai H, Serrero G (2011) Increased circulating level of the survival factor GP88 (progranulin) in the serum of breast cancer patients when compared to healthy subjects. Breast Cancer (Auckl) 5:155–162. https://doi.org/10.4137/ BCBCR.S7224
- Toh H, Chitramuthu BP, Bennett HP, Bateman A (2011) Structure, function, and mechanism of progranulin; the brain and beyond. J Mol Neurosci 45(3):538–548. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12031-011-9569-4
- Vercellino M, Grifoni S, Romagnolo A, Masera S, Mattioda A, Trebini C, Chiavazza C, Caligiana L, Capello E, Mancardi GL, Giobbe D, Mutani R, Giordana MT, Cavalla P (2011) Progranulin expression in brain tissue and cerebrospinal fluid levels in multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler 17(10):1194–1201. https://doi.org/10.1177/1352458511406164
- Vercellino M, Fenoglio C, Galimberti D, Mattioda A, Chiavazza C, Binello E, Pinessi L, Giobbe D, Scarpini E, Cavalla P (2016) Progranulin genetic polymorphisms influence progression of disability and relapse recovery in multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler 22(8):1007–1012. https://doi.org/10.1177/1352458515610646
- Viaccoz A, Ducray F, Tholance Y, Barcelos GK, Thomas-Maisonneuve L, Ghesquières H, Meyronet D, Quadrio I, Cartalat-Carel S, Louis-Tisserand G, Jouanneau E, Guyotat J, Honnorat J, Perret-Liaudet A (2015) CSF neopterin level as a diagnostic marker in primary central nervous system lymphoma. Neuro-Oncology 17(11):1497–1503. https://doi.org/10.1093/neuonc/ nov092
- Wang M, Li G, Yin J, Lin T, Zhang J (2012) Progranulin overexpression predicts overall survival in patients with glioblastoma. Med Oncol 29(4):2423–2431. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12032-011-0131-6
- Wei Z, Huang Y, Xie N, Ma Q (2015a) Elevated expression of secreted autocrine growth factor progranulin increases cervical cancer growth. Cell Biochem Biophys 71(1):189–193. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s12013-014-0183-2
- Wei D, Wan Q, Li L, Jin H, Liu Y, Wang Y, Zhang G (2015b) MicroRNAs as potential biomarkers for diagnosing cancers of central nervous system: a meta-analysis. Mol Neurobiol 51:1452– 1461. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12035-014-8822-6
- Yamamoto Y, Takemura M, Serrero G, Hayashi J, Yue B, Tsuboi A, Kubo H, Mitsuhashi T, Mannami K, Sato M, Matsunami H, Matuo Y, Saito K (2014) Increased serum GP88 (progranulin) concentrations in rheumatoid arthritis. Inflammation 37:1806–1813. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10753-014-9911-4
- Yamamoto Y, Goto N, Takemura M, Yamasuge W, Yabe K, Takami T, Miyazaki T, Takeuchi T, Shiraki M, Shimizu M, Adachi S, Saito K, Shibata Y, Nakamura N, Hara T, Serrero G, Saito K, Tsurumi H (2017) Association between increased serum GP88 (progranulin) concentrations and prognosis in patients with malignant lymphomas. Clin Chim Acta 473:139–146. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.cca.2017.07.024
- Yang D, Wang LL, Dong TT, Shen YH, Guo XS, Liu CY, Liu J, Zhang P, Li J, Sun YP (2015) Progranulin promotes colorectal cancer proliferation and angiogenesis through TNFR2/Akt and ERK signaling pathways. Am J Cancer Res 5(10):3085–3097
- Yu X, Li Z, Shen J, Chan MT, Wu WK (2016) Role of microRNAs in primary central nervous system lymphomas. Cell Prolif 49:147–153. https://doi.org/10.1111/cpr.12243

Progranulin and Frontotemporal Lobar Degeneration



Masato Hosokawa and Tetsuaki Arai

Abstract Granulin (GRN) mutations were first found in frontotemporal dementia (FTD) patients with ubiquitin-positive, tau-negative inclusions in 2006. These inclusions were also found to contain a TAR-DNA binding protein of 43 kDa (TDP-43). PGRN protein itself is not a component of ubiquitin-positive inclusion bodies. Since then, more than 190 GRN mutations have been reported, including substitutions, insertions, and deletions. The common pathological mechanism observed with these mutations was proposed to arise from haploinsufficiency; the amount of functional PGRN was reduced to half of the normal level. In fact, GRN mutation carriers showed significantly reduced expression levels of PGRN in plasma and serum. Immunohistochemical analyses of phosphorylated TDP-43 revealed that cases of FTLD-TDP with a *GRN* mutation invariably display type A pathology, which is characterized by numerous short dystrophic neurites (DNs) and crescentic or oval shaped neuronal cytoplasmic inclusions (NCIs). GRN mutations were initially found in FTD patients with tau-negative, TDP-43-positive inclusions, however, recent findings suggested that different clinical phenotypes may be seen in the same *GRN* mutation carriers and additional tau or α -synuclein accumulation may be observed.

Keywords Frontotemporal dementia (FTD) \cdot Frontotemporal lobar degeneration (FTLD) \cdot *GRN* mutation \cdot Nonsense-mediated dacay

M. Hosokawa (🖂)

Dementia Research Project, Department of Dementia and Higher Brain Function, Tokyo Metropolitan Institute of Medical Science, Tokyo, Japan e-mail: hosokawa-ms@igakuken.or.jp

T. Arai

Dementia Research Project, Department of Dementia and Higher Brain Function, Tokyo Metropolitan Institute of Medical Science, Tokyo, Japan

Department of Neuropsychiatry, Division of Clinical Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, University of Tsukuba, Tsukuba, Japan

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2019

H. Hara et al. (eds.), *Progranulin and Central Nervous System Disorders*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-6186-9_3

Introduction

Frontotemporal lobar degeneration (FTLD) is a collective term for a disease group characterized by progressive neurodegeneration limited to frontal and temporal lobes. FTLD is clinically divided into three types: frontotemporal dementia (FTD), semantic dementia (SD) and progressive nonfluent aphasia (PNFA) (Neary et al. 1998). This classification is based on clinical manifestations that reflect differences in the degenerative brain region. They do not reflect specific neuropathological characteristics. FTLD can be subdivided into three neuropathological groups, depending on the presence of inclusion bodies or a certain protein component (McKhann et al. 2001). The first group, exhibiting "tauopathy", has tau-positive inclusion bodies. This group includes Pick's disease, corticobasal degeneration (CBD), progressive supranuclear palsy (PSP) and frontotemporal dementia with parkinsonism linked to chromosome 17 (FTDP-17). The second group might be called FTLD-U since it is similar to FTLD but has ubiquitin-positive tau-negative neurocytoplasmic inclusions (Mackenzie et al. 2006a). FTLD is divided into two types, FTLD with motor neuron disease: (FTLD-MND) and FTLD with MND type inclusions but without MND. The third group consist of FTLD without tau- or ubiquitin-positive inclusions, and this group has been considered a dementia lacking distinctive histology (DLDH). However, most cases of the third group consist of FTLD-U with inclusions which are identified using high-sensitivity ubiquitin immunostaining. Rare cases with tau-negative, cytoplasmic and nuclear ubiquitinpositive inclusions have also been found (Mackenzie et al. 2006c).

Some 35–50% of FTLD patients have a family history of dementia and the causative gene loci have been identified on chromosomes 3, 9 and 17. Microtubuleassociated protein tau (tau, MAPT), valosin-containing protein (VCP) and charged multivesicular body protein 2b (CHMP2B) have been identified as causative of FTLD. The identification of the tau gene mutation on chromosome 17q21 reminds us of the importance of tau in neurodegenerative disease research (Hutton et al. 1998). However, a considerable number of familial FTLD-U cases linked on chromosome 17q21 with tau-negative, cytoplasmic and nuclear ubiquitin-positive inclusions have been found.

In 2006, Cruts and Baker identified a granulin (*GRN*) mutation in FTLD-U patients (Baker et al. 2006; Cruts et al. 2006). Since then, more than 190 *GRN* mutations have been reported including substitutions, insertions and deletions (Tables 1, 2 and 3 and Alzheimer Disease & Frontotemporal Dementia Mutation Database, http://www.molgen.ua.ac.be/FTDMutations/) (Cruts et al. 2012). The common pathological mechanism in these mutations was proposed to arise from haploinsufficiency. Symptoms of haploinsufficiency appear after inactivation of one allele of the causative gene in a dominantly-inherited disease (Wilkie 1994). With *GRN* mutation, a mutated form of mRNA is degraded by nonsense-mediated decay (NMD) which is likely to create a null (no expression) allele. It is thought that the functional form of the PGRN protein decreases with disease onset.

							Mean	Mean		
							onset	age at	Frequency	
	Mutation (protein)	Mutation (genomic DNA)	Mutation (cDNA)	Exon	Domain	Phenotype	ages	death	(family)	Citations
1	delGRN[DR184]	Genomic deletion of 69.1 to 74.3 kb containing <i>GRN</i> , <i>RUNDC3A and SLC25A39</i>		Complete gene deletion	Complete protein	FTD	71.0	74.0	1	Gijselinck et al. (2008)
5	IVS1+3A>T	g3828A>T		IVS1	Complete protein	FTD	58.0	n/a	-	Le Ber et al. (2007) and Brouwers et al. (2007)
ŝ	IVS1+5G>C	g3826G>C		IVS1	Complete protein	FTD/PD	61.4	68.7	11	Cruts et al. (2006)
4	delGRN[French]	g95_3490del		IVS1- IVS12	Complete protein	FTD/PD	72.0	71.8	1	Rovelet-Lecrux et al. (2008)
S	delGRN			EX1-IVS1	Complete protein	FTLD	47.0	n/a	1	Clot et al. (2014)
9	delGRN		c7- 1121_159delinsGATCA	IVS1-EX3	Complete protein	FTLD	58.0	65.0	1	Clot et al. (2014)
7	Met1?	g.1A>G	c.1A>G	EX2	Signal peptide	FTD/PPA	55.0	55.0	1	Le Ber et al. (2008) and Gomez-Tortosa et al. (2013)
~	Met1?	g.1A>C	c.1A>C	EX2	Signal peptide	FTLD/AD	n/a	n/a	n/a	Hosokawa et al. (2017)
6	Met1?	g.2T>C	c.2T>C	EX2	Signal peptide	FTD	51.0	n/a	2	Baker et al. (2006)
10	Met1?	g.3G>A	c.3G>A	EX2	Signal peptide	FTD	62.0	n/a	1	Cruts et al. (2006)
11	Trp2X	g.6G>A	c.6G>A	EX2	Signal peptide	FTD	61.0	n/a	1	Mendez (2018)
										(continued)

 Table 1
 GRN mutations (pathogenic)

							Mean	Mean		
				F			onset	age at	Frequency	
	Mutation (protein)	Mutation (genomic DINA)	Mutauon (CUNA)	EXON	Domain	Fnenotype	ages	deaun	(Iamuy)	Citations
12	Ala9Asp	g.26C>A	c.26C>A	EX2	Signal	FTD/PPA	56.2	63.4	9	Mukherjee et al.
					peptide					(2006), Gass et al.
										(2006), Spina et al.
										(2007), Ghetti et al.
										(2008), Mukherjee
										et al. (2008), Spina
										et al. (2008), Kelley
										et al. (2009). and Yu
										et al. (2010)
13	Asp22ArgfsX43	g.63_64insC	c.63_64insC	EX2	ParaGran	FTD	64.2	73.0	2	Gass et al. (2006)
)									and Pietroboni et al.
										(2011)
14	Cve311 AufeX34	a 90-91 insCTGC	r 90 91insCTGC	FX7	ParaGran	FTD	57.0	64.5	2	Baker et al (2006)
-		a			TIM TO MIN T			2	>	Const of all (2006)
										Uass 51 al. (2000),
										Beck et al. (2008),
										Rohrer et al. (2008,
										2009, 2010a, b), and
										Yu et al. (2010)
15	Gly35GlufsX19	g.102delC	c.102deIC	EX2	ParaGran	FTD/PPA	68.5	58.2	e	Gass et al. (2006),
	•)								Chiang et al. (2008),
										and Skoglund et al.
										(2009)
1	N 201-03/11	- 12001 -	1-1001 2	11/00			501	007		
10	IV S2+1G>A	g.139U>A	c/_138del	17.52	Complete	FID	1.90	08.8	7	Gass et al. (2006),
					protein					Boeve et al. (2006),
										Pickering-Brown
										et al. (2006), and
										Kelley et al. (2009)

JelGc.350_462delEX5interGFPPA69.0 n/a 2Le Ber et al. (2008)delGc.361delGEX5InterGFFTD54.563.01Le Ber et al. (2007)
JelG c.361delG EX5 InterGF FTD 54.5 63.0 1 Le Ber et al. (20 0 2008

MeanMeanMeanMutation (cDNA)ExonDomainPhenotypeage atFrequencyConsciagesdeath(family)Citations	c.373C>T EX5 GranF FTD 64.9 70.0 1 Baker et al. (2006), Cruts et al. (2006), and Bronner et al. (2007)	c.380_381delCT EX5 GranF FTD 55.5 n/a 2 Cruts et al. (2006) and Le Ber et al. (2008) (2008)	c.384_387delTAGT EX5 GranF FTD 45.0 49.0 1 Le Ber et al. (2007, 2008)	c.388_391delCAGT EX5 GranF FTD 64.2 68.0 8 Baker et al. (2006), Gass et al. (2006), Beck et al. (2008), Finch et al. (2009), Carecchio et al. (2009), Yu et al. (2010), and Rohrer et al. (2010, and Rohrer	c.445_446delTG EX5 GranF FTLD/AD 62.6 n/a 11 Calvi et al. (2015) and Piaceri et al. (2018) (2018)	c.0 (c.463_598del) IVS5 GranF FTD 63.3 60.0 2 Gass et al. (2006) and Le Ber et al. (2008) (2008)		c.468_4/4delCTGCTGT EX6 Grant FTD/CBS 22.0 01.0 1 Le Ber et al. (2007, 2008) and Coppola
FTD 64.9 FTD 55.5 FTD 55.5 FTD 64.0	FTD 55.5 FTD 45.0 FTD 64.2	FTD 45.0	FTD 64.2		FTLD/AD 62.6	FTD 63.3	FTD/CBS 52.0	
K5 GranF X5 GranF X5 GranF	X5 GranF X5 GranF	X5 GranF		X5 GranF	X5 GranF	/S5 GranF	X6 GranF	
c.373C>T EX c.380_381delCT EX c.384_387delTAGT EX c.384_367delTAGT EX	c.380_381delCT EX c.384_387delTAGT EX c.384_367delTAGT EX	c.384_387delTAGT EX		C.388_39106ICAU1 E2	c.445_446delTG E)	c.0 (c.463_598del) IV	c.468_474delCTGCTGT E2	
g.1087C>T g.1094_1095delCT	g.1094_1095delCT		g.1098_1101deITAGT	g.1102_1105delCAGT	g.1159_1160delTG	g.1277G>A	g.1283_1289delCTGCTGT	
Gin125X Pro127ArgfsX2 Gin130SerfsX125	Pro127ArgfsX2 Gln130SerfsX125	Gln130SerfsX125	Cl., 12000 a.f. V 175		Cys149LeufsX10	Ala155TrpfsX56	Cys157LysfsX97	
29 30 31 31	30 31 33	31	5	1	33	34	35	

Gazzina et al. (2017)	Finch et al. (2009) and Yu et al. (2010)	Luzzi et al. (2017)	Mao et al. (2017)	Marcon et al. (2011)	Beck et al. (2008) and Rohrer et al. (2010a, b)	Gass et al. (2006),	Van Deerlin et al. (2007), Davion et al. (2007),	Coppola et al.	(2000), 10 et al. (2010), and Kim et al. (2016)	Kuuluvainen et al. (2017)	Masellis et al. (2006) and Le Ber et al. (2007, 2008)	Gass et al. (2006)	Bit-Ivan et al. (2014)	Sassi et al. (2016)	4
1	2		n/a		1	7				1	e	1	n/a	1	
n/a	n/a	n/a	58.5	n/a	n/a	63.0				70.5	64.3	61.0	70.2	74.6	
51.0	60.5	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	58.0				60.0	60.0	55.0	60.1	67.0	
PPA	AD	FTLD	FTD	FTD/AD	FTD	FTD/PPA				FTLD	FTD/CBS	FTD	FTD/AD	FTD/PPA	
GranF	InterFB	InterFB	InterFB	InterFB	InterFB	GranB				GranB	InterFB	InterFB	InterFB	InterFB	
EX6	EX6	EX6	IVS6	IVS6	EX7	EX7				EX7	IVS7	IVS7	IVS7	IVS7	
C.481_482deIAG	c.592_593de1AG	c.596C>T			c.603_604insC	c.675_676delCA				c.687T>A	c.0 (c.599_708del)	c.0 (c.599_708del)	c.708+6_+9delTGAG	c.709-2A>T	
g.1296_1297deIAG	g.1407_1408de1AG	g.1411C>T			g.1531_1532insC	g.1603_1604delCA				g.1615T>A	g.1637G>A	g.1637G>C			
Arg161GlyfsX36	Arg198GlyfsX19	Ala199Val	IVS6+2_5delTGAG	IVS6+5_8delGTGA	Ser203ValfsX15	Ser226TrpfsX28				Tyr229X	Val200GlyfsX18 (IVS7+1G>A)	Val200GlyfsX18 (IVS7+1G>C)			
36	37	38	39	40	41	42				43	4	45	46	47	

(continued)

Table	1 (continued)									
							Mean	Mean	Fragmanow	
	Mutation (protein)	Mutation (genomic DNA)	Mutation (cDNA)	Exon	Domain	Phenotype	ages	death	(family)	Citations
48	Ala237TrpfsX6	g.1871A>G	c.0 (c.709_835del)	IVS7	GranB	FTD/PPA	58.4	67.0	6	Behrens et al.
		1								(2007), Spina et al.
										(2007), Leverenz
										et al. (2007),
										Davion et al.
										(2007), Ghetti et al.
										(2008), Mukherjee
										et al. (2008), Yu
										et al. (2010), and
										Kim et al. (2016)
49	Ala237TrpfsX4	g.1872G>A	c.0 (c.709_835del)	IVS7	GranB	FTD/	59.0	63.0	13	López de Munain
		1				CBS/				et al. (2008) and
						MND				Moreno et al.
										(2009)
50	Ala237TrpfsX4	g.1999_2000insCTGA	c.0 (c.709_835del)	IVS7	GranB	FTD	67.0	n/a	1	Cruts et al. (2006)
51	Cys253X	g.1923_1924delTG	c.759_760de1TG	EX8	GranB	FTD	59.5	65.0	2	Gass et al. (2006)
										and Le Ber et al.
										(2008)
52	Gln257ProfsX27	g.1933_1934insCC	c.769_770insCC	EX8	GranB	AD	54.8	n/a	3	Jin et al. (2012),
										Pires et al. (2013),
										and Almeida et al.
										(2014)
53	Lys259X	g.1939A>T	c.775A>T	EX8	GranB	FTD	54.5	n/a	1	Schlachetzki et al. (2009)

terBA FTLD/ 63.8 69.4 2 Benus terBA FTD/PSP 60.1 71.0 35 Le Benus ErBA FTD/PSP 60.1 71.0 35 Le Benus 2008 Borroi (2008) et al. (Tremo (2009) et al. (2008) et al. (2009) et al. (2000) et al. (2009) et al. (200)
ranA FTD/CBS 52.7 58.0 3 Guerr (2008)
(6007)
ranA FTD n/a n/a 1 Beck (and R and R and R 2009)
ranA FTD 20.0 11/a 1 ALZHE RENO
ranA FTLD-U 53.0 n/a 1 Yu et a
terBA FTD/CBS 56.0 n/a 2 Gass e and C and C 2008.
terBA FTLD 60.5 74.3 1 Rossi
IterBA FTD/PSP 60.1 71.0 35 Le Bel Borroi 2008 2008 1000
terBA FTLD/ 63.8 69.4 2 Benus CBS (2008)

Table	1 (continued)									
	-			ŗ	-	Ē	Mean onset	Mean age at	Frequency	
	Mutation (protein)	Mutation (genomic DNA)	Mutation (cDNA)	Exon	Domain	Phenotype	ages	death	(family)	Citations
63	Ala303AlafsX57	g.2271delC		EX9	GranA	FTLD	n/a	n/a	n/a	Gomez-Tortosa et al. (2013)
64	Trp304GlyfsX57	g.2272delC	c.909delC	EX9	GranA	FTD/PD	59.5	74.0	2	Lladó et al. (2007) and Almeida et al. (2014)
65	Trp304LeufsX58	g.2273_2274insTG	c.910_911insTG	EX9	GranA	FTD	58.0	65.0	2	Gass et al. (2006), Kelley et al. (2009), and Kim et al. (2016)
66	Trp304X	g.2274G>A	c.911G>A	EX9	GranA	FTD	61.7	65.0	4	Gass et al. (2006), Van Deerlin et al. (2007), and Yu et al. (2010)
67	Trp304Cys	g.2275G>C	c.912G>C	EX9	GranA	FTD/AD	56.7	n/a	1	Piaceri et al. (2018)
68	Val279GlyfsX5	g.2297G>A	c.0 (c.836_933del)	IVS9	GranA	FTD	61.0	n/a	1	Baker et al. (2006) and Gass et al. (2006)
69	Cys314X	g.2394C>A	c.942C>A	EX10	GranA	FTD	70.5	78.0	2	Le Ber et al. (2007, 2008)
70	Gly333 ValfsX28	g.2450delG	c.998delG	EX10	GranA	PPA	62.0	72.0	1	Gass et al. (2006), Mesulam et al. (2007) and Kelley et al. (2009)
71	Gln337X	g.2461C>T	c.1009C>T	EX10	InterAC	FTD	62.0	n/a	2	Van Deerlin et al. (2007) and Yu et al. (2010)

72	Gly338GlyfsX22	n/a	n/a	EX10	InterAC	FTLD	n/a	n/a	n/a	Cupidi et al. (2009, abst)
73	His340ThrfsX21	g.2466delG	c.1014delG	EX10	InterAC	FTD	n/a	n/a	1	Benussi et al. (2008)
74	Gln341X	g.2473C>T	c.1021C>T	EX10	InterAC	PPA	63.0	72.0	1	Benussi et al. (2008)
75	Pro357HisfsX4	g.2522delC	c.1070delC	EX10	InterAC	FTD	44.0	51.0	1	López de Munain et al. (2008)
76	Gln358X	g.2524C>T	c.1072C>T	EX10	InterAC	FTD	n/a	n/a	1	Spina et al. (2008)
LT	Cys366fsX1	g.2547_2548delCT	c.1095_1096delCT	EX10	GranC	FTD	74.0	85.0	1	Le Ber et al. (2007, 2008)
78	Pro373ArgfsX37	g.2570_2571delCCinsG	c.1118_1119delCCinsG	EX10	GranC	PPA	n/a	n/a	n/a	Hosaka et al. (2017)
79	Thr382GlnfsX32	g.2596_2597insA	c.1144_1145insA	EX10	GranC	FTD	63.4	70.0	1	Bruni et al. (2007) Frangipane et al. (2008)
80	Thr382SerfsX30	g.2597delC	c.1145delC	EX10	GranC	FTD/CBS	54.0	n/a		Baker et al. (2006), Gass et al. (2006), and Kelley et al. (2009)
81	Trp386X	g.2609G>A	c.1157G>A	EX10	GranC	FTD	62.7	71.0	<i>6</i>	Baker et al. (2006), Gass et al. (2006), Lindquist et al. (2009), and Yu et al. (2010)
82	Gly387fsX25	n/a	n/a	EX10	GranC	PD	51.0	n/a	1	Carecchio et al. (2014)
83	Ala394LeufsX18	g.2632delG	c.1179delG	IVS10	GranC	FTD	38.0	n/a	2	Almeida et al. (2014)
										(continued)

							Mean	Mean		
	Mutation (motain)	Mutation (genomic DNA)	Mutation (cDNA)	Fvon	Domain	Dhanotyna	onset	age at	Frequency (family)	Citations
84	Glu316_Cys397del	g.2633T>C	c.939_1184del	IVS10	GranA; InterAC; GranC	FTD	59.0	n/a	1	Yu et al. (2010)
85	Asp399Val	n/a	n/a	EX11	GranC	FTLD	n/a	n/a	n/a	Cupidi et al. (2009, abst)
86	Gln401X	g.2872C>T	c.1201C>T	EX11	GranC	FTD	58.3	60.5	5	Le Ber et al. (2007, 2008)
87	Thr409Met	g.2897C>T	c.1226G>A	EX11	GranC	PPA	n/a	n/a	1	Cerami et al. (2013)
88	Val411SerfsX2	g.2902_2903delGT	c.1231_1232delGT	EX11	GranC	FTD	66.0	n/a	1	Bronner et al. (2007)
89	Ala412fsX1	g.2903_2904insGT	c.1232_1233insGT	EX11	GranC	FTD	57.5	68.0	2	Le Ber et al. (2007, 2008)
90	Gln415X	g.2914C>T	c.1243C>T	EX11	GranC	FTD	n/a	n/a	4	Pickering-Brown et al. (2008)
91	Arg418X	g.2923C>T	c.1252C>T	EX11	InterCD	FTD	56.3	60.3	2	Baker et al. (2006), Gass et al. (2006), Van Deerlin et al. (2007), Schlachetzki et al. (2009), and Yu et al. (2010)
92	Asp441HisfsX4	g.2988_2989delCA	c.1317_1318delCA	EX11	InterCD	CBS	55.0	n/a	1	Yu et al. (2010)
93	Cys466LeufsX46	g.3066_3067insC	c.1395_1396insC	EX11	GranD	FTD	52.0	56.0	1	Gass et al. (2006) and Kelley et al. (2009)

772ValfSX10 $g_{3162}_{-3334del}$ $c_{1413}_{-1414ins92;}$ EX12 c_{rauD}_{-} rad	68X	g.3073C>T	c.1402C>T	EX11	GranD	FTD/PPA	60.3	68.8	2	Baker et al. (2006)
WalisX10 $g_{3162}_{-335461}$ $c_{1413}_{-141:ns92}$; EX12 GranD: CranE FTD 64.5 86.0 3 peratesing-points 1.5_{-1} 164_{-1} 164_{-1} 164_{-1} 164_{-1} 164_{-1} 164_{-1} 164_{-1} 164_{-1} 164_{-1} 164_{-1} 164_{-1} 164_{-1} 1200_{-1}										and Yu et al. (2010)
2.GIn548del g.3175A>G c.1415_1645del IVS11 GranD; FTD 39.0 n/a 1 Vue tal. (2010) 4LeufsX37 g.3175A>G c.1415_1645del IVS11 GranD; FTD n/a n/a 1 Spina et al. (2010) 4LeufsX37 g.3123C>T c.1420_1421delTG EX12 GranD FTD n/a n/a 1 Spina et al. (2008) 7Ile g.3224C>T c.1447C>T EX12 GranD FTD n/a n/a n/a 1 Spina et al. (2008) 3X g.3240C>T c.1477C>T EX12 GranD FTLD 57.0 63.6 44 Havy et al. (2006) 3X g.3240C>T c.1477C>T EX12 GranD FTLD 57.0 63.6 44 Havy et al. (2006) 3X g.3240C>T c.1477C>T EX12 GranD FTLD 57.0 63.6 44 Havy et al. (2006) 33 g.3240C>T c.1477C>T EX12 GranD FTLD 57.0 63.6 44 (2007) 5007) 5007) 2007) 2007)	2ValfsX10 1 1-15	g.3162_3354del	c.1413_1414ins92; 1644_1645ins89	EX12	GranD; InterDE; GranE	FTD	64.5	86.0	3	Pickering-Brown et al. (2006), Finch et al. (2009), and Yu
Hartbis InterDE: InterD: InterD: I	2 Gln548del	g.3175A>G	c.1415_1645del	IVS11	GranD:	FTD	39.0	n/a		Yu et al. (2010)
4Leufsx37 g.3183_3184drTG c.1420_1421deTG EX12 GranD PD n/a 1 Spina et al. (2008) 71le g.3223C>T c.1460C>T EX12 GranD PD n/a n/a Chang et al. (2018) 73X g.32240C>T c.1460C>T EX12 GranD PD n/a n/a Chang et al. (2006) 73X g.32240C>T c.1477C>T EX12 GranD FTLD 57.0 63.6 44 Huey et al. (2006) 73X g.3240C>T c.1477C>T EX12 GranD FTLD 57.0 63.6 44 Huey et al. (2006) 73X g.3240C>T c.1477C>T EX12 GranD FTLD 57.0 63.6 44 Huey et al. (2006) 73X g.3240C>T c.1477C>T EX12 GranD FTLD 57.0 63.6 44 Huey et al. (2006) 74 Mcaulateral Compared al. 20007 Mcaulateral 20007 Mcaulateral 2007 2007 2007 <					InterDE; GranE				4	
371e g.323C>T c.1460C>T EX12 GranD PD n/a n/a n/a chang et al. (2018) 33X g.3240C>T c.1477C>T EX12 GranD FTLD 57.0 63.6 44 Huey et al. (2006), 93X g.3240C>T c.1477C>T EX12 GranD FTLD 57.0 63.6 44 Huey et al. (2006), 93X g.3240C>T c.1477C>T EX12 GranD FTLD 57.0 63.6 44 Huey et al. (2006), 93X g.3240C>T c.1477C>T EX12 GranD FTLD 57.0 63.6 44 Huey et al. (2006), 93X g.3240C>T g.3240C>T g.3240C>T g.3240C>T g.334 g.300 g.34 g.300 g.34 g.300 g.34 g.300 g.34 g.300 g.34 g.300	74LeufsX37	g.3183_3184delTG	c.1420_1421delTG	EX12	GranD	FTD	n/a	n/a	1	Spina et al. (2008)
93X g.3240C>T c.1477C>T EX12 GranD FTLD 57.0 63.6 44 Huey et al. (2006), Pickering-Brown et al. (2006), Mesulam et al. (2007), Spina et al. (2007), Rademakers 93X g.3240C>T c.1477C>T EX12 GranD FTLD 57.0 63.6 44 Huey et al. (2006), Pickering-Brown et al. (2007), Spina et al. (2007), Rademakers 93X g.3240C>T g.3240C>T g.3240C>T g.3240C>T g.3240C>T g.3240C>T 93X g.3240C>T g.3240C>T g.3240C>T g.3240C>T g.3240C>T g.3240C>T 93X g.3240C>T g.3240C>T g.3240C>T g.3240C>T g.3240C 93X g.3240C>T g.3240C>T g.3240C>T g.3240C>T g.3240C>T 93X g.3240C>T g.3240C>T g.3240C>T g.3240C>T g.3240C>T 93X g.3240C>T g.3240C>T g.3240C>T g.3240C>T g.3240C>T 93X g.3240C>T g.3240C>T g.320C/T g.3240C>T g.320C/T 93X g.3240C>T g.3240C>T g.320C/T g.320C/T g.320C/T 93X g.3240C g.3240C>T g.3240C/T g.320C/T g.320C/T 93X g.3240C/T g.340C/T g.340C/T g.	87IIe	g.3223C>T	c.1460C>T	EX12	GranD	PD	n/a	n/a	n/a	Chang et al. (2018)
Pickering-Brown et al. (2006), Mesulam et al. (2007), Spina et al. (2007), Van Deerlin et al. (2007), Pademakers et al. (2007), Rademakers et al. (2008), Reliev et al. (2010, b), Yu et al. (2010, and Kim et al. (2016)	93X	g.3240C>T	c.1477C>T	EX12	GranD	FTLD	57.0	63.6	44	Huey et al. (2006), Gass et al. (2006).
et al. (2006), Mesulam et al. (2007), Spina et al. (2007), Van Deerlin et al. (2007), Rademakers et al. (2007), Rademakers et al. (2008), Spina et al. (2008), Spina et al. (2010a, b), Yu et al. (2010), and Kim et al. (2016)										Pickering-Brown
Mesulam et al. (2007), Spina et al. (2007), Van Deerlin (2007), Pan Deerlin (2007), Rademakers (2010), Rohter (210, and Kim et al. (2010), and Kim et al. (2010), and										et al. (2006),
(2007), Spina et al. (2007), Van Deerlin et al. (2007), Van Deerlin et al. (2007), Rademakers et al. (2007), Rademakers et al. (2008), Spina et al. (2008), Spina et al. (2010a, b), Yu et al. (2010), and Kim et al. (2016)										Mesulam et al.
(2007), Van Deerlin (2007), Van Deerlin et al. (2007), Rademakers et al. (2007), Rademakers et al. (2008), Spina et al. (2008), Kelley et al. (2010, and Kim et al. (2010), and										(2007), Spina et al.
et al. (2007), Davion et al. (2007), Rademakers et al. (2007), Rademakers et al. (2008), Spina et al. (2008), Kelley et al. (2010a, b), Yu et al. (2010), and Kim et al. (2016)										(2007), Van Deerlin
Davion et al. Davion et al. 2007), Rademakers (2007), Rademakers et al. (2008), Spina et al. (2008), Spina et al. (2009), Rohrer et al. (2010, and et al. (2010), and et al. (2010), and Kim et al. (2016) Kim et al. (2016)										et al. (2007),
(2007), Rademakers et al. (2007), Ghetti et al. (2008), Spina et al. (2008), Kelley et al. (2009), Rohrer et al. (2010a, b), Yu et al. (2010, and Kim et al. (2016)										Davion et al.
et al. (2007), Ghetti et al. (2008), Spina et al. (2008), Kelley et al. (2009), Rohrer et al. (2010a, b), Yu et al. (2010, and Kim et al. (2016)										(2007), Rademakers
et al. (2008), Spina et al. (2008), Kelley et al. (2009), Rohrer et al. (2010a, b), Yu et al. (2010a, b), Moner Kim et al. (2010), and										et al. (2007), Ghetti
et al. (2008), Kelley et al. (2009), Rohrer et al. (2010a, b), Yu et al. (2010), and Kim et al. (2016)										et al. (2008), Spina
et al. (2009), Rohrer et al. (2010a, b), Yu et al. (2010), and Kim et al. (2016)										et al. (2008), Kelley
et al. (2010a, b), Yu et al. (2010), and time et al. (2010), and Kim et al. (2016)										et al. (2009), Rohrer
et al. (2010), and Kim et al. (2016)										et al. (2010a, b), Yu
Kim et al. (2016)										et al. (2010), and
										Kim et al. (2016)

							Mean	Mean		
						i	onset	age at	Frequency	
	Mutation (protein)	Mutation (genomic DNA)	Mutation (cDNA)	Exon	Domain	Phenotype	ages	death	(family)	Citations
100	Cys495Cys	g.3248C>T	c.1485C>T	EX12	GranD	FTD	n/a	n/a	n/a	van der Zee et al.
										(2007)
101	Glu498AspfsX12	g.3257_3261delAGTGG	c.1494_1498delAGTGG	EX12	InterDE	FTD	57.2	n/a	4	Beck et al. (2008),
										Le Ber et al. (2008),
										and Rohrer et al.
										(2010a, b)
102	Gln503X	g.3270C>T	c.1507C>T	EX12	InterDE	FTD	75.0	n/a	1	Aswathy et al.
		1								(2016)
103	Val516GlyfsX31	n/a	n/a	EX12	InterDE	FTLD	n/a	n/a	n/a	Cupidi et al. (2009,
										Abst)
104	Cys521Tyr	g.3325G>A	c.1562G>A	EX12	GranE	FTD	60.5	71.8	1	Cruchaga et al.
		1								(2009)
105	Arg535X	g.3366C>T	c.1603C>T	EX12	GranE	AD	72.0	n/a	1	Brouwers et al.
										(2007)
	VT 11 1				-	-	-			

n/a not applicable, EX exon, IVS intervening sequence, Gran Granulin. Phenotype: AD Alzheimer's disease, CBS corticobasal syndrome, FTD frontotemporal dementia, FTLD frontotemporal lobar degeneration, FTLD-U frontotemporal lobar degeneration with ubiquitin-positive inclusions, MND motor neuron disease, PD Parkinson's disease, PPA primary progressive aphasia, PSP progressive supranuclear palsy

			Citations	López de Munain et al. (2008)	Le Ber et al. (2008)	Brouwers et al. (2008) and Nuytemans et al. (2008)	Almeida et al. (2014)	van der Zee et al. (2007) and Le Ber et al. (2007)	Galimberti et al. (2008) and Cortini et al. (2008)	Skoglund et al. (2007)	Yu et al. (2010)	Yu et al. (2010)	Gass et al. (2006)	Gass et al. (2006) and Yu et al. (2010)	Karch et al. (2016)	Sleegers et al. (2008)	Sleegers et al. (2008)	Sleegers et al. (2008)	Brouwers et al. (2008), Finch et al. (2009), Bernardi et al. (2009), and Redaelli et al. (2018)
		Frequency	(family)	1		5	n/a		1	n/a	1	1	n/a	1	1	n/a	n/a	n/a	ω
		Mean age	at death	65.0	n/a	85.0	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	0.08
	Mean	onset	ages	63.0	51.0	68.5	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	55.0	n/a	n/a	39.0	61.5	n/a	n/a	n/a	72.3
			Phenotype	FTD-MND	FTD	AD/PD	FTD	FTD	AD	FTD	FTD	At risk	FTLD	FTD	FTD	ALS	ALS	ALS	FTD/PPA/ AD
			Domain	Signal peptide	Signal peptide	ParaGran	ParaGran	ParaGran	ParaGran	InterParaG	GranG	GranG	GranG	GranG	GranG	GranG	GranF	GranF	GranF
) 			Exon	EX2	EX2	EX2	EX2	EX2	EX2	EX3	EX3	EX3	EX3	EX4	EX4	EX4	EX5	EX5	EX5
		Mutation	(cDNA)	c.13G>C	c.19T>C	c.99C>A	c.100C>T	c.102C>T	c.103G>A	c.158T>C	c.208G>A	c.229G>A	c.264G>A	c.313T>C	c.314G>A	c.329G>A	c.371T>C	c.414G>A	c.415T>C
		Mutation	(genomic DNA)	g.13G>C	g.19T>C	g.99C>A	g.100C>T	g.102C>T	g.103G>A	g.281T>C	g.331G>A	g.352G>A	g.387G>A	g.551T>C	g.552G>A	g.567G>A	g.1085T>C	g.1128G>A	g.1129T>C
		Mutation	(protein)	Val5Leu	Trp7Arg	Asp33Glu	Pro34Ser	Pro34Pro	Gly35Arg	Leu53Pro	Gly70Ser	Val77Ile	Glu88Glu	Cys105Arg	Cys105Tyr	Arg110Gln	lle124Thr	Thr138Thr	Cys139Arg
				-	5	3	4	S	9	2	~	6	10	Ξ	12	13	14	15	16

 Table 2
 GRN mutations (pathogenic nature unknown)

(continued)

							Mean			
	Mutation	Mutation	Mutation				onset	Mean age	Frequency	
	(protein)	(genomic DNA)	(cDNA)	Exon	Domain	Phenotype	ages	at death	(family)	Citations
17	Gly168Ser	g.1317G>A	c.502G>A	EX6	GranF	FTLD/ MND	n/a	n/a	1	Pickering-Brown et al. (2008)
18	Arg177His	g.1345G>A	c.530G>A	EX6	GranF	FTD	70.0	78.0	1	López de Munain et al. (2008), Schymick et al. (2007), Guerreiro et al. (2008), Guerreiro et al. (2010), and Yu et al. (2010)
19	Ala 199 Val	g.1411C>T	c.596C>T	EX6	interFB	CBS	62.0	n/a	2	Beck et al. (2008), Rohrer et al. (2010a, b), and Karch et al. (2016)
20	Arg212Trp	g.1562C>T	c.634C>T	EX7	GranB	FTD	n/a	n/a	1	Yu et al. (2010)
21	Cys222Tyr	g.1593G>A	c.665G>A	EX7	GranB	AD	n/a	n/a	n/a	Lee et al. (2014)
22	Pro233His	g.1626C>A	c.698C>A	EX7	GranB	FTLD	n/a	n/a	1	Bronner et al. (2007)
23	Asn236Asn	g.1636C>T	c.708C>T	EX7	GranB	FTLD	n/a	n/a	n/a	Gass et al. (2006)
24	IVS7-3C>G	g.1870C>G	c.709_835del	IVS7	GranB	FTD	45.0	n/a	1	Benussi et al. (2008)
25	IVS7-1G>A	g.1872G>A	c.709-1G>A	IVS7	GranB	UI	n/a	n/a	n/a	Barandiaran et al. (2012)
26	Pro248Leu	g.1907C>T	c.743C>T	EX8	GranB	FTD	n/a	n/a	n/a	van der Zee et al. (2007) and Le Ber et al. (2007)
27	Thr251Ser	g.1916C>G	c.752C>G	EX8	GranB	FTD	44.0	n/a	1	Yu et al. (2010)
28	Ser258Asn	g.1937G>A	c.773G>A	EX8	GranB	FTD	n/a	n/a	n/a	van der Zee et al. (2007) and Le Ber et al. (2007)
29	Ala276Val	g.1991C>T	c.827C>T	EX8	InterBA	Dep	50.0	n/a	1	Yu et al. (2010)
30	Glu287Asp	g.2224G>C	c.861G>C	EX9	GranA	FTLD	n/a	n/a	n/a	Gass et al. (2006)
31	Arg298His	g.2256G>A	c.893G>A	EX9	GranA	FTD	67.0	n/a	1	Yu et al. (2010) and Karch et al. (2016)
32	Ser353Asn	g.2510G>A	c.1058G>A	EX10	InterAC	FTD	65.0	n/a	1	Yu et al. (2010)
33	Pro357Arg	g.2522C>G	c.1070C>G	EX10	InterAC	FTD	62.0	n/a	1	Yu et al. (2010)
34	G387fsX25	n/a	n/a	EX10	GranC	PD	n/a	n/a	n/a	Carecchio et al. (2014)

Schymick et al. (2007)	van der Zee et al. (2007), Le Ber et al. (2007), and Sassi et al. (2014)	Bronner et al. (2007), Sleegers et al. (2008), and Finch et al. (2009)	Brouwers et al. (2008)	Beck et al. (2008) and Rohrer et al. (2009)	Gass et al. (2006)	Brouwers et al. (2008) and Nuytemans et al. (2008)	Lee et al. (2014)	Bronner et al. (2007)	Wong et al. (2008, per. Comm, 2009)	Brouwers et al. (2008)	Finch et al. (2009)	eimer's disease <i>CBS</i> corticohasal syndrome D_{en}
1	3	n/a	1	1	n/a	n/a	4	1	1	1	1	sis AD Alzh
n/a	n/a	n/a	78.0	n/a	n/a	82.0	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	lateral sclere
n/a	75.0	n/a	74.0	n/a	n/a	71.5	n/a	n/a	54.0	70.0	55.0	nvotronhic
ALS	FTD	FTD/ALS	AD	PA	FTD	AD/PD	AD	FTLD	PD	AD	PPA	ot vne: ALS a
GranC	InterCD	GranD	GranD	GranD	GranD	InterDE	GranE	GranE	GranE	GranE	C-Term	anulin. Phene
EX10	EX11	EX11	EX11	EX11	EX12	EX12	EX12	EX12	EX12	EX13	EX13	Gran Gr
c.1176A>C	c.1294C>T	c.1341C>T	c.1352C>T	c.1407G>T	c.1422C>T	c.1540G>A	c.1555G>A	c.1623G>C	c.1639C>T	c.1690C>T	c.1734G>A	vening sequence
g.2628A>C	g.2965C>T	g.3012C>T	g.3023C>T	g.3078G>T	g.3185C>T	g.3303G>A	g.3318G>A	g.3386G>C	g.3402C>T	g.3542C>T	g.3586G>A	TX exon IVS inter
Pro392Pro	Arg432Cys	His447His	Pro451Leu	Leu469Phe	Cys474Cys	Val514Met	Val519Met	Trp541Cys	Arg547Cys	Arg564Cys	Pro578Pro	not annlicable <i>I</i>
35	36	37	38	39	40	41	42	43	4	45	46	u 1/1

depression, FTD frontotemporal dementia, FTLD frontotemporal lobar degeneration, FTLD-U frontotemporal lobar degeneration with ubiquitin-positive inclusions, MND motor neuron disease, PD Parkinson's disease, PPA primary progressive aphasia, PSP progressive supranuclear palsy 2

/ Citations	Guerreiro et al. (2008, 2010)	Gass et al. (2006), Schymick et al. (2007), Guerreiro et al. (2010), and Del Bo et al. (2011)	Gass et al. (2006), van der Zee et al. (2007), Schymick et al. (2007), Le Ber et al. (2007), Mukherjee et al. (2008), Sleegers et al. (2008), Cortini et al. (2008), Chiang et al. (2008), Guerreiro et al. (2010), Yu et al. (2010), and Del Bo et al. (2011)	Yu et al. (2010)	Guerreiro et al. (2010)	Bronner et al. (2007)	van der Zee et al. (2007)	Guerreiro et al. (2010)	Guerreiro et al. (2010)	Schymick et al. (2007), Guerreiro et al. (2010), and Del Bo et al. (2011)			
Frequenc: (family)	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a
Mean age at death	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	63.0
Mean onset ages	n/a	n/a	n/a	55.0	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	63.0
Phenotype	FTD/CTRL	CTRL	CTRL	FTD	CTRL	CTRL	CTRL	CTRL	FTD/UI	UI	CTRL	CTRL	ALS-FTD/ FTD/CTRL
Domain	Signal peptide	ParaGran	ParaGran	InterParaG	InterParaG	GranG	GranG	GranG	GranG	GranG	GranG	InterGF	InterGF
Exon	EX2	EX2	EX2	EX3	EX3	EX3	EX3	EX4	EX4	EX4	EX4	EX5	EX5
Mutation (cDNA)	c.42G>A	c.55C>T	c.99C>T	c.159G>A	c.163A>T	c.205G>A	c.228C>T	c.267C>T	c.279G>A	c.317G>A	c.324C>T	c.355_357delAAC	c.359C>A
Mutation (genomic DNA)	g.42G>A	g.55C>T	g.99C>T	g.282G>A	g.286A>T	g.328G>A	g.351C>T	g.505C>T	g.517G>A	g.555G>A	g.562C>T	g.1069_1071delAAC	g.1073C>A
Mutation (protein)	Leu14Leu	Arg 19Trp	Asp33Asp	Leu53Leu	Arg55Trp	Ala69Thr	Thr76Thr	Ala89Ala	Gly93Gly	Ser106Asn	Asp108Asp	Asn119del	Ser120Tyr
	-	2	ς.	4	5	۲ 9	7	ہ 8	6	10	11	12	13

Table 3GRN mutations (not pathogenic)

rs al.					and		s			s		et al.	et al.	(pənu
, steed , Sleege (2009), I Bo et					ck et al. 2010), a		Srouwer			Srouwer		leegers	et al. and Yu ((contin
der Zee (2008) zo et al. and De			(Schymic (2008,		7) and B	(7) and B		7) and S	der Zee (2008), a	
6), van ro et al. emolizz (2010),	(2010)	(2007)	d. (2007	(2010)	2007), S ro et al.	(2010)	d. (2007	d. (2007	(2010)	d. (2007	(2010)	d. (2007	6), van s et al. (
al. (200 Guerrei 008), Tr o et al.	o et al.	ck et al.	Zee et a	o et al.	et al. (Guerrei (2010)	o et al.	Zee et 2 008)	Zee et a	o et al.	Zee et a 008)	o et al.	Zee et a	al. (200 Sleeger	
Gass et (2007), et al. (2 Guerrei (2011)	Guerrei	Schymi	van der	Guerrei	Bronnel (2007), Yu et al	Guerrei	van der et al. (2	van der	Guerrei	van der et al. (<mark>2</mark>	Guerrei	van der (2008)	Gass et (2007), (2010)	
n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	
n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	
n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	52.0	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	
		,		,	ALS/ CTRL					Ι	,	5	ALS/	
CTRI	CTRI	CTRI	Б	CTRI	FTD// MSA/	CTRI	5	5	Ы	AD/U	CTRI	ALS/I	FTD/ UI	
anF	anF	anF	anF	anF	erFB	erFB	anB	anB	anB	erBA	erBA	erBA	anA	
5 Gr	5 Gr	5 Gr	6 Gr	6 Gr	6 Int	6 Int	7 Gr	7 Gr	7 Gr	8 Int	8 Int	8 Int	9 Gr	
EX	EX	EX	EX	EX	EX	EX	EX	EX	EX	EX	EX	EX	EX	
C	A	Ą	Ą	IJ	E	A.	Ų.	E	ų	A	L	¥.	¥.	
384T>	:.402G>	:421G>	:.473G>	:.507C>	545C>	:.546G>	:.635G>	:658A>	:.662G>	:.781C>	:.786C>	804G>	903G>	
		0			0		3	0	0	0	0	0	3	
ç	>A	>A	>A	Ğ	Ę	>A	PA	E~	Š	>A	F~	A<	A<	
;.1098T)	.1116G	.1135G	,1288G	1.1322C	5.1360C	,1361G	;.1563G	,1586A:	,1590G	;.1945C	,1950C	,1968G	;.2266G.	
SASP E	Pro g	lle g	Tyr g	Ala g	Met E	Thr	Gln £	Ser g	Ser g	Ile	Ser g	Thr	Ser	
Asp126	Pro134	Val141	Cys158	Ala169	Thr182	Thr182	Arg212	Thr220	Cys221	Leu261	Ser262	Thr268	Ser301	
14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	22	23	24	25	26	27	

ontinued)	
Table 3 (c	

Мu	tation	Mutation (genomic					Mean onset	Mean age at	Frequency	
protein)		DNA)	Mutation (cDNA)	Exon	Domain	Phenotype	ages	death	(family)	Citations
Ala324'	Thr	g.2422G>A	c.970G>A	EX10	GranA	CTRL	n/a	n/a	n/a	Gass et al. (2006), Schymick et al. (2007), Beck et al. (2008), Pickering-Brown et al. (2008), Sleegers et al. (2008), Brouwers et al. (2008), Nuytemans et al. (2008), Finch et al. (2009), Yu et al. (2010), and Sassi et al. (2014)
Jys332	Lys	g.2448G>A	c.996G>A	EX10	GranA	UI	n/a	n/a	n/a	van der Zee et al. (2007)
Asp376	SAsn	g.2578G>A	c.1126G>A	EX10	GranC	CTRL	n/a	n/a	n/a	Guerreiro et al. (2010)
Ser398	Leu	g.2864C>T	c.1193C>T	EX11	GranC	CTRL	n/a	n/a	n/a	Guerreiro et al. (2010)
Thr409	Thr	g.2898G>A	c.1227G>A	EX11	GranC	CTRL	n/a	n/a	n/a	Guerreiro et al. (2010)
Gly41	4 Val	g.2912G>T	c.1241G>T	EX11	GranC	FTLD/ CTRL	n/a	n/a	n/a	Bronner et al. (2007)
Arg418	3Gln	g.2924G>A	c.1253G>A	EX11	InterCD	CTRL	n/a	n/a	n/a	Gass et al. (2006), Bronner et al. (2007), van der Zee et al. (2007), Le Ber et al. (2007), Sleegers et al. (2008), and Yu et al. (2010)
Arg43	3Trp	g.2968C>T	c.1297C>T	EX11	InterCD	CTRL	n/a	n/a	n/a	Gass et al. (2006), Spina et al. (2007), van der Zee et al. (2007), Schymick et al. (2007), Beck et al. (2008), Brouwers et al. (2008), Nuytemans et al. (2008), Finch et al. (2009), Yu et al. (2010), and Sassi et al. (2014)
Arg43.	3Gln	g.2969G>A	c.1298G>A	EX11	InterCD	FTD/CTRL	73.0	n/a	n/a	Mukherjee et al. (2008)
Pro458	Leu	g.3044C>T	c.1373C>T	EX11	GranD	CTRL	n/a	n/a	n/a	Schymick et al. (2007)
Pro470)Leu	g.3080C>T	c.1409C>T	EX11	GranD	UI	n/a	n/a	n/a	van der Zee et al. (2007)
Cys47.	5Cys	g.3188C>T	c.1425C>T	EX12	GranD	UI	n/a	n/a	n/a	van der Zee et al. (2007)

40	Ala505Ala	g.3278C>T	c.1515C>T	EX12	InterDE	CTRL	n/a	n/a	n/a	Guerreiro et al. (2010)
41	Gly515Ala	g.3307G>C	c.1544G>C	EX12	InterDE	CTRL	n/a	n/a	n/a	Gass et al. (2006), van der Zee et al.
										(2007), Brouwers et al. (2008), Guerreiro et al. (2010), and Yu et al. (2010)
42	Asp518Asp	g.3317C>T	c.1554C>T	EX12	GranE	ALS/CTRL	n/a	n/a	n/a	Guerreiro et al. (2010) and Del Bo et al. (2011)
43	Val550Ile	g.3500G>A	c.1648G>A	EX13	GranE	UI	n/a	n/a	n/a	van der Zee et al. (2007)
4	Arg556Cys	g.3518C>T	c.1666C>T	EX13	GranE	CTRL	n/a	n/a	n/a	Schymick et al. (2007)
45	Arg564His	g.3543G>A	c.1691G>A	EX13	GranE	CTRL	n/a	n/a	n/a	Guerreiro et al. (2010)
46	Cys565Cys	g.3547C>T	c.1695C>T	EX13	GranE	FTD/CTRL	n/a	n/a	n/a	van der Zee et al. (2007), Le Ber et al. (2007) and Guerreiro et al. (2007)
47	Ala582Thr	g.3596G>A	c.1744G>A	EX13	C-Term	CTRL	n/a	n/a	n/a	Sassi et al. (2014)
/	of and loopla	EV anon 11/C infomon			Dhonotrino	A I C amoratement	bio lotone	l coloro	and all Allahoit	and discoss CTDI control ETD function

n/a not applicable, £X exon, IVS intervening sequence, Gran Granulin. Phenotype: ALS amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, AD Alzheimer's disease, CTRL control, FTD frontotem-poral dementia, FTLD frontotemporal lobar degeneration, MND motor neuron disease, UI unaffected individual

A TAR-DNA binding protein of 43 kDa (TDP-43), the main component of ubiquitin-positive inclusions, was observed in FTLD and ALS patients and was identified in 2006 by Arai et al. and Neumann et al. (Arai et al. 2006; Neumann et al. 2006). The tau-negative, ubiquitin-positive inclusions that were seen in *GRN* mutation brains were also identified as containing TDP-43.

GRN Mutations and Pathological Mechanisms

Baker and colleagues examined more than 80 candidate genes within the 3.53-cM (6.19-Mb) critical region clarified by haplotype analysis of Canadian tau-negative FTD families (Baker et al. 2006). They identified an insertion mutation of four base pairs (CTGC) in exon 1 of the GRN gene (g.90_91insCTGC) [g: genomic DNA, ins: insertion]. The numbering is relative to the reverse complement of GenBank accession number AC003043.1, starting at adenine (A) of Met 1. This mutation causes a frame shift at codon 31 that induces a premature termination codon after a read through of 34 amino acids (p.Cys31LeufsX34) [p: protein, fs: frame shifts, X: termination codon]. The p.Cys31LeufsX34 mutation was absent in 550 North American control individuals. They sequenced the GRN gene in affected families in Canada, the USA, UK, Netherlands and Scandinavia and identified an additional eight GRN mutations in nine families. These mutations were as follows: four nonsense mutations: g.1087C>T (p.Gln125X), g.2609G>A (p.Trp386X), g.2923C>T g.3073C>T (p.Gln468X); (p.Arg418X), two flame shift mutations: g.1102_1105delCAGT (p.Gln130SerfsX124), g.2597delC (pThr382SerfsX29); one splicing site mutation: IVS8-1G (p.Val279GlyfsX4); and mutation in start codon: g.2T>C (p.Met1?). Next, they extracted RNA from the lymphoblasts of cases with mutations g.90 91insCTGC (p.Cys31LeufsX34) and c.2923C>T (p.Arg418X), performed quantitative RT-PCR analysis and found that the expression of GRN mRNA was reduced by approximately 50%. They performed sequencing of GRN mRNAs and found that most of them encoded wild type GRN, whereas the mutated type of GRN was rarely detected. These results suggested that the mutated mRNA was degraded by NMD. NMD degrades mRNA with a premature termination codon (PTC) which arise from a splicing error or mutation, and thereby prevent production of an abnormal protein (Maguat 2004).

When the lymphoblasts from patients were treated with the NMD inhibitor, cycloheximide, the mutated mRNA was increased. Immunoblotting analysis revealed that the amount of wild type PGRN protein had decreased compared with the controls and mutated PGRN protein was barely detected. They also detected a significant reduction in the amount of mutated mRNA in the brains of patients with the g.2T>C mutation. They suggested that translation of the protein did not occur because the Kozak sequence was disrupted by the g.2T>C mutation.

Cruts and colleagues also identified five novel *GRN* mutations, IVS0+5G>C (now termed IVS1+5G>C), g.3G>A (p.Met1?), g.1094_1095delCT (p. Pro127ArgfsX2), g.1872G>A (p.Ala237TrpfsX4), and g.1087C>T (p.Gln125X).

IVS1+5G>C indicates a point mutation in the intron 1 splice donor site causing intron 1 retention, resulting in nuclear mRNA degradation (Cruts et al. 2006). Sequence analysis of *GRN* in 103 Belgian FTD patients identified this mutation in the eight probands belonging to different branches of the Belgian founder family. An in silico analysis of the IVS1+5G>C mutation predicted an intense decline in the binding efficiency of the U1 snRNP complex.

Next, they analyzed full length *GRN* cDNA from the brains and lymphoblasts of two probands, abnormal transcripts. According to the polymorphism (rs5848) in the 3' untranslated region of the *GRN* gene, probands were judged C/T heterogeneous (the T-allele is the disease haplotype). However, on sequence analysis of cDNA from their lymphoblasts or brain tissue, only the C allele was observed. These results suggested a complete disappearance of mutated *GRN* mRNA. Immunoblot analysis using an extract from the lymphoblasts of a proband showed PGRN protein reduction. They confirmed loss of mRNA and wild type PGRN protein reduction in the cases of the g.1087C>T (p.Gln125X) mutation. Subsequently, Gass and colleagues performed systematic screening for the *GRN* gene in 378 FTLD and 48 ALS cases at the Mayo Clinic and identified 23 *GRN* mutations in 39 FTLD cases.

Twenty of these twenty-three mutations (4 nonsense mutations, 12 frame shift mutations and 4 splicing donor site mutations) predicted production of PTC and mutated mRNA degradation by NMD. They also identified novel mutations in the splicing donor site of exon 1 (IVS1+1G>A) as well as a missense mutation (g.26C>A)(p.Ala9Asp)). In this study, no mutation was identified in ALS cases. RT-PCR analvsis of a brain with an IVS1+1G>A mutation revealed two bands corresponding to mutated GRN mRNA and wild type GRN mRNA, respectively. These results suggested that the IVS1+1G>A mutation did not cause degradation of mutated mRNA by NMD. Initiation of NMD first required a translation process, so that it has been speculated that any IVS1+G>A mutation would escape NMD because no translation would start without the Kozak sequence. The g.26C>A (p.Ala9Asp) mutation was identified as singular missense mutation in this study, the 9th alanine in exon 1 of GRN being replaced by aspartic acid. The 9th alanine corresponds to the hydrophobic core of the signal peptide. Mutated mRNA was reduced in the g.26C>A (p.Ala9Asp) brain by an unknown mechanism. If a mutated allele was translated in this case, it would produce a mutated PGRN protein lacking binding capability to the signal recognition motif and could not be transported to the endoplasmic reticulum. Since 2006, many novel GRN mutations have been found and are listed in Tables 1, 2 and 3.

PGRN Protein Is Not a Component of Ubiquitin-Positive Inclusion Bodies

Immunohistochemical staining using antibodies for all regions of PGRN protein showed that some of the neurons and activated microglia were positive. Ubiquitinpositive neuronal cytoplasmic inclusions (NCI) and neuronal intranuclear inclusions (NII) were negative with PGRN antibodies (Baker et al. 2006; Cruts et al. 2006). These results indicated that PGRN accumulation did not occur during development of the FTD pathology caused by the *GRN* mutation. PGRN-positive neuron and activated microglia were also observed in the brains of normal elderly individuals and Alzheimer's disease (AD) cases.

Clinico-Pathological Characterization of *GRN* Mutation Carriers

Incidence Rate

In the Belgian study, Cruts and colleagues found *GRN* mutations in 10.7% (11 out of 103) of the FTD cases overall and in 25.6% (11 out of 43) of familial FTD cases (Cruts et al. 2006). MAPT mutation frequencies were 2.9% (3 out of 103) in the non-familial FTD and 7% (3 out of 43) in the familial FTD cases. These results indicated that *GRN* mutations are approximately a 3.5 times more frequent cause of FTD in Belgian patients. *GRN* mutation data of Gass and colleagues showed mutations in 10.5% (39 out of 378) of FTD and 25.6% (32 out of 144) of familial FTD cases. However, they pointed out that there was some bias in their cases because the Mayo Clinic treated many familial FTLD patients or FTLD patients with a definitive pathological diagnosis.

To exclude this kind of clinical bias, 167 non-selective FTLD cases were collected between 1990 and 2006 in five different Alzheimer's disease research centers and analyzed. The frequency of the *GRN* mutation was 48%. It was noted that the frequencies of the *GRN* and *MAPT* mutations were almost the same; the frequency of the *MAPT* mutation was 44% in the same series of brains. Further investigation of this similarity will be needed. Of 649 dementia cases collected in Minnesota between 1987 and 2006 as part of a dementia research project, 15 were diagnosed with FTLD. Three patients were identified with the *GRN* mutation. The frequency of the *GRN* mutation in the dementia patients overall was calculated to be 0.5%.

Pickering-Brown and colleagues reported that the frequency of the *GRN* mutation was 7.3% (14 out of 192 FTLD patients) (Pickering-Brown et al. 2008) whereas Le Ber and colleagues reported the frequency to be 6.4% (32 out of 502 FTD patients) (Le Ber et al. 2008). The frequency of *GRN* mutations in probands was 5.7% (20 of 352) in fvFTD, 4.4% (3 of 68) in primary progressive aphasia (PPA) and 3.3% (1 of 30) in corticobasal syndrome (CBS). The authors also mentioned that no mutations were found in the 52 probands with FTD-MND. Yu et al. found the frequency of the *GRN* mutation to be 6.9% (30 of 434) (Yu et al. 2010).

Age of Onset

The age of onset of FTLD in Belgian patients with the IVS1+5G>C mutation was 45-70 years (average 63.4 ± 6.8) (Cruts et al. 2006). This mutation was identified in a few asymptomatic individuals; one who had died at 41 years of age, two who had died within the normal age of onset at ages (44 and 54 years) and the one who died at 81. Gass et al. found that the age of onset was 48-83 years (average 59.0 ± 7.0) among GRN mutation carriers over all (Gass et al. 2006). Other studies demonstrated that the average age of FTLD onset was 59.0 ± 5 (Pickering-Brown et al. 2008); 59.4 \pm 9.4 in FTD, 62.0 \pm 7.9 in FTD-MND, 63.8 \pm 8.5 in PPA and 61.8 ± 9.7 in CBS (Le Ber et al. 2008). In another study, the average age of onset was 57.7 years, which was calculated from the onset age of 31 GRN mutationpositive patients from 28 different families (Yu et al. 2010). Leverenz et al. investigated two families with the GRN c.709-2A>G mutation (now termed g.1871A>G (p.Ala237TrpfsX6)) (Leverenz et al. 2007). In family 1, the mean age of onset was 55.6 ± 8.9 years (range = 35–69), the mean age at death was 65.5 ± 6.8 years (range = 56–78) and the mean duration was 9.8 ± 5.5 years (range = 4–22). In family 2, the mean age of onset was 61.0 ± 6.6 years (range = 50–67), the mean age at death was 68.6 ± 6.0 years (range = 57–73) and the mean duration was 6.8 ± 0.4 years (range = 6-7) (Leverenz et al. 2007).

Clinicopathological Images of FTLD

Patients with the GRN IVS1+5G>C mutation show non-fluent aphasia (Cruts et al. 2006). Gass et al. indicated that FTLD patients with the GRN mutation often exhibited dysphasia and this was rarely accompanied by motor neuron dysfunction (Gass et al. 2006). Pathological analysis of GRN IVS1+5G>C patients revealed the presence of neuronal cytoplasmic inclusions (NCIs). Neuronal intranuclear inclusions (NIIs) were also observed in all cases. These observations corresponded with previous reports in which NIIs were commonly detected in familial FTLD patients without motor neuron dysfunction (Mackenzie and Feldman 2003; Woulfe et al. 2001). These results suggested that NIIs would be a pathological marker of PGRN mutation cases. However, NIIs were also found in sporadic FTLD cases or FTLD patients with motor neuron dysfunction, indicating that more investigation will be needed (Mackenzie et al. 2006a). Investigating the clinical response to the GRN mutation, Gass et al. found that the most common diagnosis was FTD followed by PA. Other diagnoses were CBD, AD with convulsions and motor dysfunction (PD, parkinsonism and FTD-MND) (Gass et al. 2006). Snowden and colleagues reported that in a single pedigree of the g.3073C>T (p.Gln468X) mutation, patients showed symptoms of FTD and PA (Snowden et al. 2006). Masellis et al. reported that a patient with the *GRN* IVS7+1G>A (p.Val200GlyfsX18) mutation exhibited CBD-like symptoms (Masellis et al. 2006). Pickering-Brown et al. reported that in patients with the *GRN* mutation, 57% were diagnosed as FTD, 36% as PNFA and 7% as apraxia and parkinsonism (Pickering-Brown et al. 2008). Le Ber et al. reported that 63% of patients with the GRN mutation were diagnosed as fvFTD with other clinical patterns being PPA (16%), CBS (6%) and Lewy body disease (LBD) (6%) (Le Ber et al. 2008). They also found that 9% of patients had other diagnoses including AD and parkinsonism (Le Ber et al. 2008). The most common diagnosis was FTD including PPA and CBS. Other clinical phenotypes such as AD, AD+PD and LBD were observed (Yu et al. 2010).

Immunohistochemical analyses for phosphorylated TDP-43 revealed a considerable number of neuronal cytoplasmic inclusions and dystrophic neurites in *GRN* mutation cases (Fig. 1). In FTLD-TDP, TDP-43 pathology falls within four histological subtypes (types A-D) based on the predominant type of TDP-43-positive structures exhibited (Mackenzie et al. 2011). Type A is characterized by numerous short dystrophic neurites (DNs) and crescentic or oval shaped neuronal cytoplasmic inclusions (NCIs). Cases of FTLD-TDP with a *GRN* mutation invariably display type A pathology (Cairns et al. 2007; Josephs et al. 2007; Mackenzie et al. 2006b).



Fig. 1 Immunohistochemical staining of the temporal lobe of a *GRN* mutation case with antibody to phosphorylated TDP-43. Numerous neuronal cytoplasmic inclusions (arrows) and dystrophic neurites (arrowheads) were stained with anti-TDP-43-pS409/410 antibody and the section was counterstained with hematoxylin. Scale bar = $100 \mu m$

PGRN Protein Levels in GRN Mutation Carriers

Plasma PGRN protein levels were measured in FTLD patients with the g.1975_1978delCTCA (p.Leu271LeufsX10) mutation or the g.2473 C>T (p.Gln341Arg) mutation and in unaffected individuals with the g.1975_1978del CTCA (p.Leu271LeufsX10) mutation, and in all cases were found to have significantly reduced expression of PGRN (Ghidoni et al. 2008). Plasma PGRN was proposed as a useful biomarker. Sleegers et al. reported that serum PGRN levels were reduced in both affected and unaffected carriers of the PGRN null mutation (IVS1+5G>C) compared with their noncarrier relatives (Sleegers et al. 2009). The authors also measured serum PGRN levels in carriers of the g.1129T>C (p.Cys139Arg) and g.3542C>T (p.Arg564Cys) mutations, and found them to be significantly lower than in controls, but greater than in null mutation carriers. They concluded that the serum PGRN level is a reliable biomarker for diagnosis of FTLD caused by a PGRN null mutation (Sleegers et al. 2009).

Plasma PGRN levels were measured in PGRN loss-of-function mutation carriers, FTLD patients without GRN mutations or symptomatic/asymptomatic GRN mutation carriers (Finch et al. 2009). Pathogenic GRN loss-of-function mutations such as g.26C>A (p.Ala9Asp), g.1098 1101delTAGT (p.Gln130SfsX125), g.2273_2274insTG (p.Trp304LeufsX58fs), g.2450delC (p.Gly333ValfsX28), g.3240C>T (p.Arg493X) and g.3175A>G (p.Ala472_Gln584del) resulted in significantly reduced plasma PGRN levels. Missense mutations (g.2422G>A (p. Ala324Thr)), g.2968C>T (p.Arg433Trp), g.3012C>T (p.His447His) and g.3586G>A (p.Pro578Pro) were associated with plasma PGRN levels equal to those of the controls, but g.55C>T (p.Arg19Trp) and g.1129T>C (p.Cys139Arg) cases showed plasma PGRN levels below the level of detection in controls. These results suggested that g.55C>T (p.Arg19Trp) and g.1129T>C (p.Cys139Arg) mutations might induce a partial loss of PGRN function (Finch et al. 2009). Plasma PGRN levels were also lower than those in carriers of the PGRN g.1A>G (p.Met1), g.1129T>C (p.Cys139Arg), p.Ala89ValfsX41 and p.Ala303AlafsX57 mutations (Gomez-Tortosa et al. 2013).

Mean plasma PGRN levels within the FTLD group were significantly lower in patients with GRN mutations than in those with C9ORF72 expansions, or those without mutation (Gibbons et al. 2015). Meeter and colleagues recently reported that PGRN levels in the plasma and CSF of patients with a loss-of-function GRN (p.Ser82ValfsX174), g.1087C>T mutation (g.366delC (p.Gln125X), g.2902 2903delGT g.1102 1105delCAGT (p.Gln130SerfsX125) and (p. Val411SerfsX2)) and presymptomatic loss-of-function GRN mutation carriers were lower than those of healthy controls (Meeter et al. 2016).

It has been reported that the homozygous carriers of the T-allele of rs5848 have an elevated risk of developing FTD. TT genotype carriers had lower serum PGRN levels than CT or CC carriers (Hsiung et al. 2011). The rs5848 T-allele is known to be a miRNA-659 binding site and rs5848 may enhance translational inhibition of *GRN* and alter the risk of FTD and other dementias (Hsiung et al. 2011).

The Effect of GRN Mutation and Its Influence on PGRN

The effects of GRN mutation and its influence on PGRN function are as follows.

- 1. Mutations that introduce a premature termination codon (PTC) induce nonsensemediated mRNA decay machinery.
- 2. Mutations in the intron 1 splice-donor site such as IVS1+3A>T and IVS1+5G>C may generate intron 1 read-through mRNA. Such aberrant mRNAs may not be capable of normal transport through the nuclear pore complex, so that they may remain in the nuclear area where they are then liable to be degraded by the nuclear mRNA degradation system.
- 3. Complete gene deletion such as found in del*GRN* (Gijselinck et al. 2008) or g.-95_3490del in French patients (Rovelet-Lecrux et al. 2008) may lead to no PGRN at all.
- 4. Missense mutations in the signal peptide may induce mislocalization of PGRN and insufficient translocation to the endoplasmic reticulum (ER).
- 5. Missense mutations in other areas may also cause problems. If the mutations exist in the consensus sequence of PGRN, they may be pathological because aberrant protein folding may occur in the ER and reduce PGRN secretion to the extracellular lumen. However, the pathological nature of almost all of them is unknown. The other missense mutations are considered to be benign.

GRN Mutation: Multiple Proteinopathy?

GRN mutations were initially found in tau-negative patients (Baker et al. 2006) (Cruts et al. 2006), but recent findings indicate that these mutations are associated with other neurodegenerative disorders with tau pathology, including AD and CBD. Leverenz et al. found that families with the *GRN* g.1871A>G (p.Ala237TrpfsX6) mutation had variable clinical presentations such as PD, AD, HD, depression and schizophrenia (Leverenz et al. 2007). Immunohistochemical analyses revealed that six of seven cases had evidence of distinctive tau pathology and two of the seven cases also had α -synuclein pathology (Leverenz et al. 2007).

A reduction in progranulin in tau transgenic mice was associated with an increasing tau accumulation (Hosokawa et al. 2015). A reduction in progranulin in APP transgenic mice was associated with a decrease in A β accumulation (Takahashi et al. 2017; Hosokawa et al. 2018).

Human *GRN* mutation cases were investigated histochemically and biochemically by Hosokawa and colleagues. Results showed a neuronal and glial tau accumulation in 12 of 13 *GRN* mutation cases (Hosokawa et al. 2017). Tau staining revealed neuronal pretangle forms and glial tau in both astrocytes and oligodendrocytes. Furthermore, phosphorylated α -synuclein-positive structures were also found in oligodendrocytes as well as in the neuropil. Immunoblot analysis of fresh frozen brain tissues revealed that tau and α -synuclein were present in the sarkosyl-insoluble fraction and were composed of three- and four-repeat tau isoforms, resembling those found in AD. These data suggested that PGRN reduction might be the cause of multiple proteinopathies due to the accelerating accumulation of abnormal proteins. These might include TDP-43 proteinopathy, tauopathy and α -synucleinopathy (Hosokawa et al. 2017).

Very recently, Sieben and their colleagues reported that a family with a *GRN* loss-of-function mutation (IVS1+5G>C) had tau and α -synuclein pathology (Sieben et al. 2018). Of nine members of this family, all were tau-positive and one case had extensive Lewy body pathology. No A β pathology or mild accumulation was observed (Sieben et al. 2018).

Recent findings have suggested that different clinical phenotypes may occur in carries of the same *GRN* mutation and additional tau or α -synuclein accumulation may be observed. It has been also reported that PGRN deficiency causes lysosomal dysfunction (Tanaka et al. 2017). Lysosomal dysfunction may reduce protein degradation in brain cells, allowing aggregation-prone neurodegenerative disease-related proteins to deposit more easily (Hosokawa et al. 2017).

References

- Almeida MR et al (2014) Progranulin peripheral levels as a screening tool for the identification of subjects with progranulin mutations in a Portuguese cohort. Neurodegener Dis 13:214–223. https://doi.org/10.1159/000352022
- Arai T et al (2006) TDP-43 is a component of ubiquitin-positive tau-negative inclusions in frontotemporal lobar degeneration and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 351:602–611. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2006.10.093
- Arosio B et al (2013) GRN Thr272fs clinical heterogeneity: a case with atypical late onset presenting with a dementia with Lewy bodies phenotype. J Alzheimers Dis 35:669–674. https://doi. org/10.3233/JAD-130053
- Aswathy PM, Jairani PS, Raghavan SK, Verghese J, Gopala S, Srinivas P, Mathuranath PS (2016) Progranulin mutation analysis: identification of one novel mutation in exon 12 associated with frontotemporal dementia. Neurobiol Aging 39:218 e211–218 e213. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neurobiolaging.2015.11.026
- Baker M et al (2006) Mutations in progranulin cause tau-negative frontotemporal dementia linked to chromosome 17. Nature 442:916–919. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature05016
- Barandiaran M et al (2012) Neuropsychological features of asymptomatic c.709-1G>A progranulin mutation carriers. J Int Neuropsychol Soc 18:1086–1090. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S1355617712000823
- Beck J et al (2008) A distinct clinical, neuropsychological and radiological phenotype is associated with progranulin gene mutations in a large UK series. Brain J Neurol 131:706–720. https://doi. org/10.1093/brain/awm320
- Behrens MI et al (2007) Neuropathologic heterogeneity in HDDD1: a familial frontotemporal lobar degeneration with ubiquitin-positive inclusions and progranulin mutation. Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord 21:1–7. https://doi.org/10.1097/WAD.0b013e31803083f2
- Benussi L, Binetti G, Sina E, Gigola L, Bettecken T, Meitinger T, Ghidoni R (2008) A novel deletion in progranulin gene is associated with FTDP-17 and CBS. Neurobiol Aging 29:427–435. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2006.10.028

- Bernardi L et al (2009) Novel PSEN1 and PGRN mutations in early-onset familial frontotemporal dementia. Neurobiol Aging 30:1825–1833. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neurobiolaging.2008.01.005
- Bit-Ivan EN et al (2014) A novel GRN mutation (GRN c.708+6_+9delTGAG) in frontotemporal lobar degeneration with TDP-43-positive inclusions: clinicopathologic report of 6 cases. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 73:467–473. https://doi.org/10.1097/NEN.0000000000000070
- Boeve BF et al (2006) Frontotemporal dementia and parkinsonism associated with the IVS1+1G->A mutation in progranulin: a clinicopathologic study. Brain J Neurol 129:3103–3114. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awl268
- Borroni B et al (2008) Progranulin genetic variations in frontotemporal lobar degeneration: evidence for low mutation frequency in an Italian clinical series. Neurogenetics 9:197–205. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10048-008-0127-3
- Bronner IF et al (2007) Progranulin mutations in Dutch familial frontotemporal lobar degeneration. Eur J Hum Genet 15:369–374. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ejhg.5201772
- Brouwers N et al (2007) Alzheimer and Parkinson diagnoses in progranulin null mutation carriers in an extended founder family. Arch Neurol 64:1436–1446. https://doi.org/10.1001/ archneur.64.10.1436
- Brouwers N et al (2008) Genetic variability in progranulin contributes to risk for clinically diagnosed. Alzheimer disease. Neurology 71:656–664. https://doi.org/10.1212/01. wnl.0000319688.89790.7a
- Bruni AC et al (2007) Heterogeneity within a large kindred with frontotemporal dementia: a novel progranulin mutation. Neurology 69:140–147. https://doi.org/10.1212/01. wnl.0000265220.64396.b4
- Cairns NJ et al (2007) TDP-43 in familial and sporadic frontotemporal lobar degeneration with ubiquitin inclusions. Am J Pathol 171:227–240. https://doi.org/10.2353/ajpath.2007.070182
- Calvi A et al (2015) The novel GRN g.1159_1160delTG mutation is associated with behavioral variant frontotemporal dementia. J Alzheimers Dis 44:277–282
- Carecchio M et al (2009) Progranulin plasma levels as potential biomarker for the identification of GRN deletion carriers. A case with atypical onset as clinical amnestic Mild Cognitive Impairment converted to Alzheimer's disease. J Neurol Sci 287:291–293. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jns.2009.07.011
- Carecchio M et al (2014) Evidence of pre-synaptic dopaminergic deficit in a patient with a novel progranulin mutation presenting with atypical parkinsonism. J Alzheimers Dis 38:747–752. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-131151
- Cerami C, Marcone A, Galimberti D, Villa C, Fenoglio C, Scarpini E, Cappa SF (2013) Novel missense progranulin gene mutation associated with the semantic variant of primary progressive aphasia. J Alzheimers Dis 36:415–420. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-130317
- Chang KH et al (2018) Genetic and functional characters of GRN p.T487I mutation in Taiwanese patients with atypical parkinsonian disorders. Parkinsonism Relat Disord 51:61–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.parkreldis.2018.02.045
- Chiang HH et al (2008) Progranulin mutation causes frontotemporal dementia in the Swedish Karolinska family. Alzheimers Dement 4:414–420. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2008.09.001
- Cioffi SM et al (2016) Non fluent variant of primary progressive aphasia due to the novel GRN g.9543delA(IVS3-2delA) mutation. J Alzheimers Dis 54:717–721. https://doi.org/10.3233/ JAD-160185
- Clot F et al (2014) Partial deletions of the GRN gene are a cause of frontotemporal lobar degeneration. Neurogenetics 15:95–100. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10048-014-0389-x
- Coppola G et al (2008) Gene expression study on peripheral blood identifies progranulin mutations. Ann Neurol 64:92–96. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.21397
- Coppola C et al (2012) A progranulin mutation associated with cortico-basal syndrome in an Italian family expressing different phenotypes of fronto-temporal lobar degeneration. Neurol Sci 33:93–97. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10072-011-0655-8

- Cortini F et al (2008) Novel exon 1 progranulin gene variant in Alzheimer's disease. Eur J Neurol 15:1111–1117. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-1331.2008.02266.x
- Cruchaga C et al (2009) Cortical atrophy and language network reorganization associated with a novel progranulin mutation. Cereb Cortex 19:1751–1760. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhn202
- Cruts M et al (2006) Null mutations in progranulin cause ubiquitin-positive frontotemporal dementia linked to chromosome 17q21. Nature 442:920–924. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature05017
- Cruts M, Theuns J, Van Broeckhoven C (2012) Locus-specific mutation databases for neurodegenerative brain diseases. Hum Mutat 33:1340–1344. https://doi.org/10.1002/humu.22117
- Cupidi C, Manna I, Navarra V, Vena L, Realmuto S, Cerami C, Quattrone A, Gambardella A, Piccoli F, Piccoli T (2009) Identification of three novel progranulin mutations in a series of patients affected by sporadic and familial frontotemporal lobar degeneration. Alzheimers Demen 5:P406
- Davion S et al (2007) Clinicopathologic correlation in PGRN mutations. Neurology 69:1113– 1121. https://doi.org/10.1212/01.wnl.0000267701.58488.69
- Del Bo R et al (2011) No major progranulin genetic variability contribution to disease etiopathogenesis in an ALS Italian cohort. Neurobiol Aging 32:1157–1158. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neurobiolaging.2009.06.006
- Dopper EG et al (2011) Symmetrical corticobasal syndrome caused by a novel C.314dup progranulin mutation. J Mol Neurosci 45:354–358. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12031-011-9626-z
- Finch N et al (2009) Plasma progranulin levels predict progranulin mutation status in frontotemporal dementia patients and asymptomatic family members. Brain J Neurol 132:583–591. https:// doi.org/10.1093/brain/awn352
- Frangipane FCR, Mirabelli M, Puccia G, Bernardi L, Tomaino C, Anfossi M, Gallo M, Geracitano S, Maletta R, Smirne N, Elder J, Kawarai T, Sato C, Pradella S, Wakutani Y, Dertesz A, St George Hyslop P, Hardy J, Rogaeva E, Momeni P, Bruni AC (2008) A novel progranulin mutation in a large frontotemporal dementia Calabrian kindred. Alzheimers Dement 4:T604
- Galimberti DFC, Cortini F, Venturelli E, Guidi I, Scalabrini D, Villa C, Marcone A, Mandelli A, Perini L, Pomati S, Clerici F, Cappa S, Mariani C, Bresolin N, Scarpini E (2008) Progranulin gene mutation scanning in Alzheimer's disease and frontotemporal lobar degeneration: functional and phenotypic correlations. Alzheimers Dement 4:T585
- Gass J et al (2006) Mutations in progranulin are a major cause of ubiquitin-positive frontotemporal lobar degeneration. Hum Mol Genet 15:2988–3001. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddl241
- Gazzina S et al (2017) Frontotemporal dementia due to the novel GRN Arg161GlyfsX36 mutation. J Alzheimers Dis 57:1185–1189. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-170066
- Ghetti B et al (2008) In vivo and postmortem clinicoanatomical correlations in frontotemporal dementia and parkinsonism linked to chromosome 17. Neurodegener Dis 5:215–217. https://doi.org/10.1159/000113706
- Ghidoni R, Benussi L, Glionna M, Franzoni M, Binetti G (2008) Low plasma progranulin levels predict progranulin mutations in frontotemporal lobar degeneration. Neurology 71:1235–1239. https://doi.org/10.1212/01.wnl.0000325058.10218.fc
- Gibbons L et al (2015) Plasma levels of progranulin and interleukin-6 in frontotemporal lobar degeneration. Neurobiol Aging 36:1603 e1601–1604. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neurobiolaging.2014.10.023
- Gijselinck I et al (2008) Progranulin locus deletion in frontotemporal dementia. Hum Mutat 29:53–58. https://doi.org/10.1002/humu.20651
- Gomez-Tortosa E et al (2013) Plasma progranulin levels in cortical dementia phenotypes with asymmetric perisylvian atrophy. Eur J Neurol 20:1319–1324. https://doi.org/10.1111/ene.12211
- Guerreiro RJ et al (2008) Novel progranulin mutation: screening for PGRN mutations in a Portuguese series of FTD/CBS cases. Move Disord 23:1269–1273. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.22078

- Guerreiro RJ, Washecka N, Hardy J, Singleton A (2010) A thorough assessment of benign genetic variability in GRN and MAPT. Hum Mutat 31:E1126–E1140. https://doi.org/10.1002/ humu.21152
- Hosaka T, Ishii K, Miura T, Mezaki N, Kasuga K, Ikeuchi T, Tamaoka A (2017) A novel frameshift GRN mutation results in frontotemporal lobar degeneration with a distinct clinical phenotype in two siblings: case report and literature review. BMC Neurol 17:182. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12883-017-0959-2
- Hosokawa M et al (2015) Progranulin reduction is associated with increased tau phosphorylation in P301L tau transgenic mice. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 74:158–165. https://doi.org/10.1097/ NEN.00000000000158
- Hosokawa M et al (2017) Accumulation of multiple neurodegenerative disease-related proteins in familial frontotemporal lobar degeneration associated with granulin mutation. Sci Rep 7:1513. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-01587-6
- Hosokawa M, Tanaka Y, Arai T, Kondo H, Akiyama H, Hasegawa M (2018) Progranulin haploinsufficiency reduces amyloid beta deposition in Alzheimer's disease model mice. Exp Anim 67:63–70. https://doi.org/10.1538/expanim.17-0060
- Hsiung GY, Fok A, Feldman HH, Rademakers R, Mackenzie IR (2011) rs5848 polymorphism and serum progranulin level. J Neurol Sci 300:28–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jns.2010.10.009
- Huey ED et al (2006) Characteristics of frontotemporal dementia patients with a Progranulin mutation. Ann Neurol 60:374–380. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.20969
- Hutton M et al (1998) Association of missense and 5'-splice-site mutations in tau with the inherited dementia FTDP-17. Nature 393:702–705. https://doi.org/10.1038/31508
- Jin SC et al (2012) Pooled-DNA sequencing identifies novel causative variants in PSEN1, GRN and MAPT in a clinical early-onset and familial Alzheimer's disease. Ibero-American cohort. Alzheimers Res Ther 4:34. https://doi.org/10.1186/alzrt137
- Josephs KA et al (2007) Neuropathologic features of frontotemporal lobar degeneration with ubiquitin-positive inclusions with progranulin gene (PGRN) mutations. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 66:142–151. https://doi.org/10.1097/nen.0b013e31803020cf
- Karch CM et al (2016) Missense mutations in progranulin gene associated with frontotemporal lobar degeneration: study of pathogenetic features. Neurobiol Aging 38:215 e211–215 e212. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2015.10.029
- Kelley BJ et al (2009) Prominent phenotypic variability associated with mutations in Progranulin. Neurobiol Aging 30:739–751. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2007.08.022
- Kelley BJ et al (2010) Alzheimer disease-like phenotype associated with the c.154delA mutation in progranulin. Arch Neurol 67:171–177. https://doi.org/10.1001/archneurol.2010.113
- Kim G et al (2016) Asymmetric pathology in primary progressive aphasia with progranulin mutations and TDP inclusions. Neurology 86:627–636. https://doi.org/10.1212/ WNL.000000000002375
- Kuuluvainen L et al (2017) A novel loss-of-function GRN mutation p.(Tyr229*): clinical and neuropathological features. J Alzheimers Dis 55:1167–1174. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-160647
- Le Ber I et al (2007) Progranulin null mutations in both sporadic and familial frontotemporal dementia. Hum Mutat 28:846–855. https://doi.org/10.1002/humu.20520
- Le Ber I et al (2008) Phenotype variability in progranulin mutation carriers: a clinical, neuropsychological, imaging and genetic study. Brain J Neurol 131:732–746. https://doi.org/10.1093/ brain/awn012
- Lee JH et al (2014) Disease-related mutations among Caribbean Hispanics with familial dementia. Mol Genet Genomic Med 2:430–437. https://doi.org/10.1002/mgg3.85
- Leverenz JB et al (2007) A novel progranulin mutation associated with variable clinical presentation and tau, TDP43 and alpha-synuclein pathology. Brain J Neurol 130:1360–1374. https:// doi.org/10.1093/brain/awm069
- Lindquist SG, Schwartz M, Batbayli M, Waldemar G, Nielsen JE (2009) Genetic testing in familial AD and FTD: mutation and phenotype spectrum in a Danish cohort. Clin Genet 76:205–209. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-0004.2009.01191.x
- Lladó A et al (2007) Late-onset frontotemporal dementia associated with a novel PGRN mutation. J Neural Transm 114:1051–1054. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00702-007-0716-6
- López de Munain A et al (2008) Mutations in progranulin gene: clinical, pathological, and ribonucleic acid expression findings. Biol Psychiatry 63:946–952. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biopsych.2007.08.015
- Luzzi S et al (2017) Missense mutation in GRN gene affecting RNA splicing and plasma progranulin level in a family affected by frontotemporal lobar degeneration. Neurobiol Aging 54:214 e211–214 e216. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2017.02.008
- Mackenzie IR, Feldman H (2003) Neuronal intranuclear inclusions distinguish familial FTD-MND type from sporadic cases. Acta Neuropathol 105:543–548. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00401-003-0678-1
- Mackenzie IR et al (2006a) Heterogeneity of ubiquitin pathology in frontotemporal lobar degeneration: classification and relation to clinical phenotype. Acta Neuropathol 112:539–549. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00401-006-0138-9
- Mackenzie IR et al (2006b) The neuropathology of frontotemporal lobar degeneration caused by mutations in the progranulin gene. Brain J Neurol 129:3081–3090. https://doi.org/10.1093/ brain/awl271
- Mackenzie IR, Shi J, Shaw CL, Duplessis D, Neary D, Snowden JS, Mann DM (2006c) Dementia lacking distinctive histology (DLDH) revisited. Acta Neuropathol 112:551–559. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00401-006-0123-3
- Mackenzie IR et al (2011) A harmonized classification system for FTLD-TDP pathology. Acta Neuropathol 122:111–113. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-011-0845-8
- Mao Q et al (2017) Disease and region specificity of granulin immunopositivities in Alzheimer disease and frontotemporal lobar degeneration. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 76:957–968. https:// doi.org/10.1093/jnen/nlx085
- Maquat LE (2004) Nonsense-mediated mRNA decay: splicing, translation and mRNP dynamics. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 5:89–99
- Marcon G et al (2011) Variability of the clinical phenotype in an Italian family with dementia associated with an intronic deletion in the GRN gene. J Alzheimers Dis 26:583–590. https:// doi.org/10.3233/JAD-2011-110332
- Masellis M et al (2006) Novel splicing mutation in the progranulin gene causing familial corticobasal syndrome. Brain J Neurol 129:3115–3123. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awl276
- McKhann GM et al (2001) Clinical and pathological diagnosis of frontotemporal dementia: report of the Work Group on Frontotemporal Dementia and Pick's Disease. Arch Neurol 58:1803–1809
- Meeter LH, Patzke H, Loewen G, Dopper EG, Pijnenburg YA, van Minkelen R, van Swieten JC (2016) Progranulin levels in plasma and cerebrospinal fluid in Granulin mutation carriers. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord Extra 6:330–340. https://doi.org/10.1159/000447738
- Mendez MF (2018) Manic behavior and asymmetric right frontotemporal dementia from a novel progranulin mutation. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat 14:657–662. https://doi.org/10.2147/NDT. S156084
- Mesulam M et al (2007) Progranulin mutations in primary progressive aphasia: the PPA1 and PPA3 families. Arch Neurol 64:43–47. https://doi.org/10.1001/archneur.64.1.43
- Moreno F et al (2009) "Frontotemporoparietal" dementia: clinical phenotype associated with the c.709-1G>A PGRN mutation. Neurology 73:1367–1374. https://doi.org/10.1212/ WNL.0b013e3181bd82a7
- Mukherjee O et al (2006) HDDD2 is a familial frontotemporal lobar degeneration with ubiquitinpositive, tau-negative inclusions caused by a missense mutation in the signal peptide of progranulin. Ann Neurol 60:314–322. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.20963
- Mukherjee O et al (2008) Molecular characterization of novel progranulin (GRN) mutations in frontotemporal dementia. Hum Mutat 29:512–521. https://doi.org/10.1002/humu.20681
- Neary D et al (1998) Frontotemporal lobar degeneration: a consensus on clinical diagnostic criteria. Neurology 51:1546–1554

- Neumann M et al (2006) Ubiquitinated TDP-43 in frontotemporal lobar degeneration and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Science 314:130–133. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1134108
- Nuytemans K et al (2008) Progranulin variability has no major role in Parkinson disease genetic etiology. Neurology 71:1147–1151. https://doi.org/10.1212/01.wnl.0000327563.10320.2b
- Piaceri I et al (2018) Novel GRN mutations in Alzheimer's disease and frontotemporal lobar degeneration. J Alzheimers Dis 62:1683–1689. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-170989
- Pickering-Brown SM et al (2006) Mutations in progranulin explain atypical phenotypes with variants in MAPT. Brain J Neurol 129:3124–3126. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awl289
- Pickering-Brown SM et al (2008) Frequency and clinical characteristics of progranulin mutation carriers in the Manchester frontotemporal lobar degeneration cohort: comparison with patients with MAPT and no known mutations. Brain 131:721–731. https://doi.org/10.1093/ brain/awm331
- Pietroboni AM et al (2011) Phenotypic heterogeneity of the GRN Asp22fs mutation in a large Italian kindred. J Alzheimers Dis 24:253–259. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-2011-101704
- Pires C et al (2013) Phenotypic variability of familial and sporadic Progranulin p.Gln257Profs*27 mutation. J Alzheimers Dis 37:335–342
- Rademakers R et al (2007) Phenotypic variability associated with progranulin haploinsufficiency in patients with the common 1477C-->T (Arg493X) mutation: an international initiative. Lancet Neurol 6:857–868. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(07)70221-1
- Redaelli V et al (2018) Alzheimer neuropathology without frontotemporal lobar degeneration hallmarks (TAR DNA-binding protein 43 inclusions) in missense progranulin mutation Cys139Arg. Brain Pathol 28:72–76. https://doi.org/10.1111/bpa.12480
- Rohrer JD et al (2008) Parietal lobe deficits in frontotemporal lobar degeneration caused by a mutation in the progranulin gene. Arch Neurol 65:506–513. https://doi.org/10.1001/archneur.65.4.506
- Rohrer JD et al (2009) Corticobasal syndrome associated with a novel 1048_1049insG progranulin mutation. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 80:1297–1298. https://doi.org/10.1136/ jnnp.2008.169383
- Rohrer JD, Crutch SJ, Warrington EK, Warren JD (2010a) Progranulin-associated primary progressive aphasia: a distinct phenotype? Neuropsychologia 48:288–297. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neuropsychologia.2009.09.017
- Rohrer JD et al (2010b) Distinct profiles of brain atrophy in frontotemporal lobar degeneration caused by progranulin and tau mutations. NeuroImage 53:1070–1076. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neuroimage.2009.12.088
- Rossi G et al (2011) A novel progranulin mutation causing frontotemporal lobar degeneration with heterogeneous phenotypic expression. J Alzheimers Dis 23:7–12. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-2010-101461
- Rovelet-Lecrux A et al (2008) Deletion of the progranulin gene in patients with frontotemporal lobar degeneration or Parkinson disease. Neurobiol Dis 31:41–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. nbd.2008.03.004
- Sassi C et al (2014) Investigating the role of rare coding variability in Mendelian dementia genes (APP, PSEN1, PSEN2, GRN, MAPT, and PRNP) in late-onset Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Aging 35:2881 e2881-2881 e2886. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2014.06.002
- Sassi C et al (2016) A novel splice-acceptor site mutation in GRN (c.709-2 A>T) causes frontotemporal dementia Spectrum in a large family from southern Italy. J Alzheimers Dis 53:475– 485. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-151170
- Schlachetzki JC, Schmidtke K, Beckervordersandforth J, Borozdin W, Wilhelm C, Hull M, Kohlhase J (2009) Frequency of progranulin mutations in a German cohort of 79 frontotemporal dementia patients. J Neurol 256:2043–2051. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00415-009-5248-6
- Schymick JC et al (2007) Progranulin mutations and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis or amyotrophic lateral sclerosis-frontotemporal dementia phenotypes. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 78:754– 756. https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp.2006.109553

- Sieben A et al (2018) Extended FTLD pedigree segregating a Belgian GRN-null mutation: neuropathological heterogeneity in one family. Alzheimers Res Ther 10:7. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s13195-017-0334-y
- Skoglund L, Englund E, Ingelsson M, Lannfelt L, Passant U, Glaser A (2007) Mutation analysis of the progranulin gene in a Scandinavian frontotemporal dementia population. Neurodegener Dis 4:38
- Skoglund L et al (2009) Frontotemporal dementia in a large Swedish family is caused by a progranulin null mutation. Neurogenetics 10:27–34. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10048-008-0155-z
- Sleegers K et al (2008) Progranulin genetic variability contributes to amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Neurology 71:253–259. https://doi.org/10.1212/01.wnl.0000289191.54852.75
- Sleegers K et al (2009) Serum biomarker for progranulin-associated frontotemporal lobar degeneration. Ann Neurol 65:603–609. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.21621
- Snowden JS, Pickering-Brown SM, Mackenzie IR, Richardson AM, Varma A, Neary D, Mann DM (2006) Progranulin gene mutations associated with frontotemporal dementia and progressive non-fluent aphasia. Brain J Neurol 129:3091–3102. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awl267
- Spina S, Murrell JR, Huey ED, Wassermann EM, Pietrini P, Grafman J, Ghetti B (2007) Corticobasal syndrome associated with the A9D Progranulin mutation. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 66:892–900. https://doi.org/10.1097/nen.0b013e3181567873
- Spina SMJ, Vidal R, Ghetti B (2008) Neuropathologic and genetic characterization of frontotemporal lobar degeneration with Ubiquitin- and/or Tdp-43-positive inclusions: a large series. Alzheimers Dement 4:T431
- Takahashi H et al (2017) Opposing effects of progranulin deficiency on amyloid and tau pathologies via microglial TYROBP network. Acta Neuropathol 133:785–807. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00401-017-1668-z
- Tanaka Y et al (2017) Progranulin regulates lysosomal function and biogenesis through acidification of lysosomes. Hum Mol Genet 26:969–988. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddx011
- Tremolizzo L et al (2009) Higher than expected progranulin mutation rate in a case series of Italian FTLD patients. Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord 23:301. https://doi.org/10.1097/ WAD.0b013e31819e0cc5
- Van Deerlin VM et al (2007) Clinical, genetic, and pathologic characteristics of patients with frontotemporal dementia and progranulin mutations. Arch Neurol 64:1148–1153. https://doi.org/10.1001/archneur.64.8.1148
- van der Zee J et al (2007) Mutations other than null mutations producing a pathogenic loss of progranulin in frontotemporal dementia. Hum Mutat 28:416. https://doi.org/10.1002/humu.9484
- Wilkie AO (1994) The molecular basis of genetic dominance. J Med Genet 31:89-98
- Wong SH, Lecky BR, Steiger MJ (2009) Parkinsonism and impulse control disorder: presentation of a new progranulin gene mutation. Move Dis 24:618–619. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.22429
- Woulfe J, Kertesz A, Munoz DG (2001) Frontotemporal dementia with ubiquitinated cytoplasmic and intranuclear inclusions. Acta Neuropathol 102:94–102
- Yu CE et al (2010) The spectrum of mutations in progranulin: a collaborative study screening 545 cases of neurodegeneration. Arch Neurol 67:161–170. https://doi.org/10.1001/ archneurol.2009.328

PGRN and Neurodegenerative Diseases Other Than FTLD



Masato Hosokawa

Abstract Progranulin (PGRN) is a multi-functional protein which acts to promote neuronal cell growth and to reduce inflammation in the brain. *Granulin (GRN)* mutations were first identified in frontotemporal dementia patients with ubiquitinpositive, tau-negative brain inclusions. However, *GRN* mutations and *GRN* polymorphisms (rs5848) have been found in neurodegenerative diseases other than FTD, such as Alzheimer's disease (AD), Parkinson's disease (PD), corticobasal syndrome (CBS), and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS). Recent studies showed that phosphorylated TDP-43, tau and α -synuclein accumulation was present in the brains of patients with a *GRN* mutation. These results suggested that *GRN* mutations might cause multiple proteinopathies of which the mechanisms remain unknown.

Keywords Alzheimer's disease (AD) · Corticobasal syndrome (CBD) · Frontotemporal dementia (FTD) · Haploinsufficiency · Parkinson's disease (PD) · rs5848 polymorphism

Introduction

Progranulin (PGRN), formerly known as acrogranin, glycoprotein 88 kD (GP88), granulin-epithelin precursor or PC cell-derived growth factor, is a growth factor which is encoded on chromosome 17q21. PGRN is a 593-amino acid, cysteine-rich protein with a 17 amino acid signal peptide and highly conserved 7.5 tandem granulin repeats of a 12 cysteinyl motif, and is thought to control multiple functions, including wound healing (He et al. 2003; Zhu et al. 2002), inflammation (Yin et al. 2010) and neuronal cell growth (Daniel et al. 2003; Van Damme et al. 2008). It has also been strongly related to tumorigenesis (Ong and Bateman 2003). Moreover, it acts as a chemoattractant for microglia (Pickford et al. 2011). Two research groups

M. Hosokawa (🖂)

Dementia Research Project, Department of Dementia and Higher Brain Function, Tokyo Metropolitan Institute of Medical Science, Tokyo, Japan e-mail: hosokawa-ms@igakuken.or.jp

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2019

H. Hara et al. (eds.), *Progranulin and Central Nervous System Disorders*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-6186-9_4

identified granulin (*GRN*)-null mutations in familial frontotemporal dementia (FTD) linked to chromosome 17q21 with tau-negative, ubiquitin-positive inclusions (Baker et al. 2006; Cruts et al. 2006). There have also been reports that many mutations result in premature termination codons (PTCs), including mutations that involve nucleotide substitution or frame shift by insertion/deletion. *GRN* haploin-sufficiency was proposed as being responsible for the loss of functional PGRN protein. A mutation in the signal peptide may induce mislocalization of PGRN in a protein secretion pathway or a PGRN loss of function by a disturbance in its transportation (Gass et al. 2006; Mukherjee et al. 2006). Thus, these types of mutations are strongly involved in FTD pathogenesis. Recently, the relationship between *GRN* mutations/*GRN* polymorphisms and neurodegenerative diseases other than FTD, such as Alzheimer's disease (AD), Parkinson's disease (PD), corticobasal syndrome (CBS), and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) have been reported. Additionally, PGRN reduction was observed in some neurological diseases. This section mainly reviews *GRN* mutations and these diseases.

GRN Mutations and Neurodegenerative Diseases

GRN Mutations and Alzheimer's Disease

Loss-of-function GRN mutations have been confirmed in Alzheimer's disease (AD) patients (Brouwers et al. 2007; Carecchio et al. 2009; Cortini et al. 2008; Finch et al. 2009; Kelley et al. 2009; Le Ber et al. 2008; Leverenz et al. 2007; Piaceri et al. 2018; Rademakers et al. 2007; Sleegers et al. 2008). Of these, g.3366C>T (p.Arg535X) and Null (IVS1+5G>C) mutations were originally identified in FTLD-GRN but were also found in AD (Brouwers et al. 2007). Two other mutations found in AD, g.1129T>C (p.Cys139Arg) and g.3023 C>T (p.Pro451Leu), were shown to be pathogenic based on results of an evolutionary conservation and in silico protein modeling study (Brouwers et al. 2008). The mutations g.103G>A (p.Gly35Arg) (Cortini et al. 2008), and another with a single base pair deletion, g. 277delA (p.Thr52HisfsX2), were also discovered in AD, and g.277delA was shown to induce a frame shift creating a PTC (Kelley et al. 2010). Very recently, Redaelli et al. reported an intriguing case study of fraternal twins carrying the GRN g.1129T>C (p.Cys139Arg) mutation. They found neurofibrillary pathology (Braak stage V) and massive AB deposition without the hallmark lesions of a TDP-43 accumulation in AD patients with this mutation (Redaelli et al. 2018). Clinical and neuroimaging features ensured the diagnosis of probable AD in one sister. They performed immunohistochemistry on the other sister with same mutation and found phosphorylatedtau positive neurofibrillary changes and abundant AB deposition. Using phosphorylation independent anti-TDP-43 antibody, neuronal cells of both cases showed physiological nuclear staining of TDP-43 in neuronal cells but no aberrant or cytoplasmic inclusions. Additionally, staining with anti-phosphorylated-TDP-43 antibody did not reveal any pathologic immunoreactive inclusions. They hypothesized that *GRN* missense mutations may elicit or act as a strong risk factor for neurodegenerative diseases other than FTLD-TDP, particularly for AD. The *GRN* g.1129T>C (p.Cys139Arg) mutation is presumably pathological because of its ability to impair elastase cleavage (Wang et al. 2010), and reduce plasma PGRN levels (Piaceri et al. 2014). This mutation was absent in more than 1000 control individuals (Antonell et al. 2012; Piaceri et al. 2014). Piaceri and colleagues also identified two novel *GRN* mutations (p.Cys149LeufsX10 and pTrp304Cys) in Italian families, and the affected patients had AD or FTLD.

GRN Mutations and Parkinson's Disease

 α -synuclein deposition is observed in the substantia nigra of patients with PD, but the possible relationship between *GRN* mutation and α -synuclein accumulation is unknown. Brouwers and colleagues identified one individual with PD who carried the GRN-null mutation (IVS1+5G>C), a mutation which was also seen in AD patients (Brouwers et al. 2007). This patient showed such symptoms as bradykinesia, cogwheel rigidity, discrete resting tremor, hypomimia, postural instability and a shuffling gait, but responded well to levodopa. Neuropathological analysis revealed that the patient's brain showed diffuse Lewy bodies and pathological FTLD-TDP. Leverenz et al. investigated two families with GRN g.1871A>G (p.A237WfsX4) and found that this mutation is associated with a variety of diseases such as AD, FTD and PD. Interestingly, most cases showed tau pathology and two cases had α-synuclein pathology. Rovelet-Lecrux and colleagues also identified FTLD in a patient with typical PGRN neuropathology in which there was a nearly complete deletion of the PGRN gene (g.-95_3490del). This deletion was also seen present in a sister presenting with PD (Rovelet-Lecrux et al. 2008). These results suggested that PGRN haploinsufficiency might trigger different patterns of neurodegeneration which could translate into FTLD or PD. One family with the g.2273_2274insTG (p.Trp304LeufsX58) mutation showed PD symptoms (Kelley et al. 2009). Autopsy findings revealed that this family had FTLD-U, neuronal intranuclear inclusions (NII) and coexistent diffuse Lewy body pathology. Carecchio et al. reported a case of PD with a novel mutation in GRN (p.Gly387fsX25) (Carecchio et al. 2014). The plasma PGRN concentration in this patient was measured by ELISA and was found to be markedly decreased (13 pg/ml) compared with normal values (> 70 pg/ml) (Carecchio et al. 2014). FTLD patients with parkinsonism are generally poorly or not responsive at all to levodopa (Boeve et al. 2006; Ghidoni et al. 2008), except for patients with the GRN IVS1+5G>C mutation (Brouwers et al. 2007). Very recently, Chang et al. reported that a novel GRN g.3223C>T (pThr487Ile) mutation in Taiwanese patients with atypical parkinsonian disorders (Chang et al. 2018).

GRN Mutations and Corticobasal Syndrome

Corticobasal syndrome (CBS) is a tauopathy characterized by progressive asymmetrical parkinsonism and cognitive impairment and is generally unresponsive to dopaminergic treatment, and *GRN* mutations were also found this disease (Benussi et al. 2008, 2009; Coppola et al. 2012; Dopper et al. 2011; Gass et al. 2006; Masellis et al. 2006; Spina et al. 2007). The first indication of a relationship between *GRN* mutations and familial CBS with underlying FTD-U inclusion pathology was reported by Masellis et al. (2006) whose study was published just before TDP-43 was found in FTLD patients. In this study, the splice donor site mutation in the *GRN* IVS7+1G>A (p.Val200GlyfsX18) was found in a Canadian family of Chinese origin. This mutation segregated with the disease in two affected family members and was not found in the 200 control individuals. RT-PCR analysis revealed that the *GRN* IVS7+1G>A mutation was not associated with aberrant PGRN transcripts.

Since then, many mutations have been reported in CBS patients with the GRN mutation. One of these was a novel splice donor site mutation in GRN IVS8-G>C (pVal279GlyfsX5) (Gass et al. 2006). Other mutations were found in the GRN coding region, such as g.26C>A (p.Ala9Asp) (Spina et al. 2007), g.2264_2265insGT (p.Ser301CysfsX61) (Guerreiro et al. 2008), g.1977 1980delCACT (p. Thr272SerfsX10) (Benussi et al. 2008, 2009), g.552dup [c.314dup] (p. Cys105TrpfsX13) (Dopper et al. 2011) and g.1283_1289delCTGCTGT (p. Cys157LysfsX97) (Coppola et al. 2012). Spina et al. investigated a patient with the GRN g.26C>A (p.Ala9Asp) mutation. The proband presented with spontaneous left arm levitation and asymmetric parkinsonism. This case exhibited a large number of TDP-43 immunoreactive neuronal cytoplasmic inclusions, dystrophic neurites and neuronal intranuclear inclusions in the frontal cortex. Interestingly, a few phosphorylated tau-positive neurons and neurites were observed in the locus coeruleus, transentorhinal cortex and frontal cortex. In this case, no AB or a-synuclein deposition was noted (Spina et al. 2007). Guerreiro and colleagues identified the GRN g.2264 2265insGT (p.Ser301CysfsX61) mutation in a Portuguese family. The proband and the proband's sisters and brother all showed obvious features of corticobasal degeneration including unilateral parkinsonism, memory disturbance and progressive dementia. The neuropathological examination of the proband revealed numerous TDP-43-positive neurites and neuronal cytoplasmic inclusions were seen in his brain. Immunohistochemical staining of A β , tau and α -synuclein were negative (Guerreiro et al. 2008).

Benussi et al. identified the *GRN* g.1975_1978delCTCA (p.Leu271LeufsX10) mutation in two Italian families. The major neurological findings in affected members of one family were language dysfunction, behavioral abnormality and parkinsonism. The main symptoms in the other family were behavioral abnormality and language dysfunction, and some of them showed parkinsonism (Benussi et al. 2008). The *GRN* mRNA expression levels were decreased by 50% in an atypical, symmetrical CBS patient with TDP-43 pathology and the *GRN* g.552dup [c.314dup] (p.Cys105TrpfsX13) mutation (Dopper et al. 2011).

GRN Mutation and Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis (ALS)

Sleegers and colleagues sequenced the GRN gene in a Belgian study of 230 patients with ALS and 436 healthy control individuals. They also sequenced the GRN gene of 308 Dutch patients with ALS and 345 controls (Sleegers et al. 2008). They identified four missense GRN mutations in exons of patients with ALS: g.567G>A (p.Arg110Gln), g.1085T>C (p.Ile124Thr), g.2422G>A (p.Ala324Thr) and g.2924G>A (p.Arg418Gln), two benign mutations; g.1128G>A (p.Thr138Thr) and g.3012C>T (p.His447His) and one polymorphism; g.104025G>A. Other mutations were identified in control individuals [g.99C>T (p.Asp22Asp), g.1098T>C (p.Asp128Asp), g.1968G>A (p.Thr268Thr), g.2266G>A (p.Ser301Ser)]. These missense mutations were positioned in or at the border of a granulin domain, and three of these [g.567G>A (p.Arg110Gln), g.2422G>A (p.Ala324Thr), g.2924G>A (p.Arg418Gln),] were not highly conserved residues in the wild-type. The GRN g.1085T>C (p.Ile124Thr) mutation is located at a moderately conserved position between two granulin domains. SIFT analysis (Kumar et al. 2009), which predicts whether an amino acid substitution affects protein function, indicated that the g.2422G>A (p.Ala324Thr), (p.Arg110Gln), and g.2924G>A g.567G>A (p.Arg418Gln) mutations were unlikely to affect protein function, but that the g.1085T>C (p.Ile124Thr) would. Moreover, Sleegers and colleagues found rare alleles of IVS2+21G>A (rs9897526), IVS3-47 46insGTCA (rs34424835), and IVS4+24G>A (rs850713). These alleles correlated with age at the onset of ALS and the subsequent years of survival. They concluded that PGRN haploinsufficiency does not contribute significantly to ALS pathogenesis but that genetic variability in GRN may modify the disease progression. The mutations g.1073C>A (p.Ser120Tyr), (p.Thr182Met), g.26228A>C (p.Pro392Pro) and g.3317C>T g.1360C>T (p.Asp518Asp) were identified in ALS patients (Guerreiro et al. 2010), but their pathogenic role was uncertain. Schymick et al. identified a g.1073C>A (p.Ser120Tyr) mutation in an ALS-FTD patient and a g.1360C>T (p.Thr182Met) mutation in a single case of sporadic ALS with limb onset. The pathogenicity of these variants remains to be elucidated (Schymick et al. 2007).

GRN rs5848 Polymorphism and Neurodegenerative Diseases

GRN rs5848 Polymorphism and Alzheimer's Disease

No association of rs5848 (3'UTR+78C>T) with FTLD was observed in two independent studies (Rollinson et al. 2011; Simon-Sanchez et al. 2009). These data suggested that the rs5848 is not a risk factor for FTLD. However, a rs5848 variant was also found in AD (Fenoglio et al. 2009) and was associated with an increased risk of this disease (Lee et al. 2011). The rs5848 variant in the 3' untranslated region

of *GRN* is known to reduce *GRN* mRNA levels in the brains and peripheral mononuclear cells of AD patients. Thus, this variant would result in a reduced PGRN protein level with an increased risk for AD. However, the rs5848 risk variant (T allele) had no effect on florbetapir-PET amyloid imaging or CSF A β_{42} levels in the Alzheimer's disease neuroimaging initiative (ADNI) participants (Takahashi et al. 2017). These data suggested that the T allele of the rs5848 had no detectable influence on A β pathology in AD. Interestingly, the rs5848 risk variant is associated with upregulation of total tau levels in CSF but does not have a significant effect on CSF p-tau181 (Takahashi et al. 2017). Generally, the total tau and phosphorylated tau (pT181) levels in CSF are increased in AD patients (Fagan et al. 2009; Hampel et al. 2004; Sunderland et al. 2003).

GRN rs5848 Polymorphism and Parkinson's Disease

The rs5848 variant is not considered a risk factor for PD (Jasinska-Myga et al. 2009). However, compared with the CC genotype, the TT genotype represents a 1.58-fold increased risk of PD in a Taiwanese study of 573 PD patients and 490 age-matched control individuals (Chang et al. 2013). Notably, this morbidity was observed in females, in which the TT genotype increased the risk of PD 2.16-fold as compared with the controls. These results suggested that the rs5848 TT genotype and the T allele are risk factors for PD in Taiwanese females (Chang et al. 2013). Mateo and colleagues reported that the concentration of PGRN in PD serum was significantly lower than that of controls. However, there was no correlation noted between rs5848 genotypes and serum PGRN concentrations (Mateo et al. 2013).

GRN rs5848 Polymorphism and Hippocampal Sclerosis

Hippocampal sclerosis (HpScl) is a pathological diagnosis that is classically defined by selective neuronal loss and gliosis in hippocampal CA1, as observed in the brains of epileptics. Similar observations have been made in older adults with dementia (Dickson et al. 1994). HpScl was formerly defined as damage caused by hypoxic or ischemic injury to the hippocampus. More recently, it has been correlated to neurodegenerative processes (Amador-Ortiz et al. 2007; Probst et al. 2007; Zarow et al. 2008). Interestingly, the rs5848 T-allele responsible for lowering levels of PGRN might be a risk factor for HpScl in AD (Dickson et al. 2010). Further investigation is needed to determine the relationship between rs5848 polymorphism and HpScl.

PGRN Reduction and Neurological Diseases

PGRN and Gaucher Disease

Gaucher disease (GD) is a lysosomal storage disease that is induced by mutations in the *GBA1* gene encoding of β -glucocerebrosidase (GCase). *GBA1* mutations initiate defective GCase function and the consequent accumulation of its substrate, glucosylceramide, in cells. GD is subdivided into three groups: type 1, non-neuropathic; type 2, acute neuropathic; and type 3, chronic neuropathic. Jian and colleagues investigated the relationship between PGRN and GD, and showed that serum PGRN levels were significantly lower in GD patients with the p.Asn370Ser mutation in GBA1 compared with healthy controls (Jian et al. 2016b). The genotyping of four SNPs (rs4792937, rs78403836, rs850713 and rs5848) identified in GD patients revealed that the four SNP sites are found with a significantly higher frequency in GD patients. Moreover, old and OVA-challenged Grn-KO mice showed GD-like phenotypes. Interestingly, recombinant PGRN administration improved GD-like phenotypes in mice as well as human fibroblasts from GD patients (Jian et al. 2016a). They showed that PGRN bound directly to GCase and recruited heat shock protein 70 (HSP70). PGRN may act as a co-chaperone of HSP70 and play a pivotal role in GCase lysosomal localization (Jian et al. 2016a).

GRN and Bipolar Disorders

The relationship between PGRN and bipolar disorders (BPD) was studied by Galimberti and colleagues. They investigated plasma PGRN levels in 26 German BPD patients, 61 Italian BPD patients and 29 matched controls. The results indicated that plasma PGRN levels were significantly decreased in BPD patients compared to the controls (Galimberti et al. 2012). They also investigated whether *GRN* genetic variability (rs2879096, rs4792938, rs5848) could decrease the risk of developing BPD and schizophrenia. Their replication study (Galimberti et al. 2014) showed similar results. Another independent study was conducted by Kittel-Schneider and colleagues (Kittel-Schneider et al. 2014). They showed that plasma PGRN levels were decreased in BPD patients and that the rs5848 variant was associated with plasma PGRN levels.

Relationship Between $A\beta/tau/\alpha$ -synuclein Deposition and PGRN

Gliebus et al. reported that PGRN forms plaque-like structures in conditions associated with A β aggregation in a AD patient with a presenilin-1 mutation (p.Ala246Glu) (Gliebus et al. 2009). These structures most frequently colocalized with A β . These findings suggested that a biological association between A β and PGRN might exist. In AD mouse models, PGRN levels correlated significantly with the amyloid load,

especially with dense-core plaque pathology (Pereson et al. 2009). They also showed that PGRN is upregulated in microglia, neurons and neurites around dense-core plaques. The strong PGRN immunoreactivity around dense-core plaques may be indicate that PGRN has an important role in AD pathogenesis (Pereson et al. 2009).

Minami et al. reported that a loss of PGRN might increase Aß deposition in APP^{high} LysM-cre⁺Grn^{flox/flox} mice (Minami et al. 2014). Recently, Takahashi et al. reported that an overall PGRN decline elicited microglial TYROBP network gene expression and increased the AD risk by contributing to neuronal cell damage and tau deposition, rather than by facilitating A β deposition (Takahashi et al. 2017). They also showed that a PGRN deficiency $(Grn^{-/-})$ prevents diffuse A β plaque growth in APP/PS1 mice. Moreover, PGRN haploinsufficiency (Grn^{+/-}) also reduced Aß deposition in APP transgenic mice (Hosokawa et al. 2018) and Aß deposition was either absent or relatively mild in human FTLD cases with the GRN mutation (Hosokawa et al. 2017; Sieben et al. 2018). These results indicated that a PGRN decrease by a *GRN* mutation may not be causative of or a risk factor for Aβ pathology. On the other hand, according to the level of tau accumulation, PGRN haploinsufficiency $(Grn^{+/-})$ in tau transgenic mice may accelerate tau deposition caused by activation of cyclin dependent kinases (Hosokawa et al. 2015). Moreover, a PGRN deficiency (Grn^{-/-}) exacerbated tau pathology in human P301L tau mice (Takahashi et al. 2017). These results suggest that a reduction in PGRN may lead to abnormal tau deposition. Importantly, some human studies revealed phosphorylated tau accumulation in addition to TDP-43 deposition in FTLD brains with the GRN mutation (Fig. 1a) (Hosokawa et al. 2017; Leverenz et al. 2007; Sieben et al. 2018).

To compare biochemical characteristics of deposited tau in *GRN* mutation cases with CBD, PSP and AD, immunoblot analysis of the sarkosyl-insoluble fraction was performed using C-terminal, non-phosphorylated tau antibody (Fig. 2). The triplet bands of 60, 64, and 68 kDa detected in *GRN* mutation cases were similar to those of AD, but dissimilar from those of in CBD and PSP (Fig. 2).

Some brains of FTLD cases associated with a *GRN* mutation were immunopositive for phosphorylated α -synuclein (Fig. 1b). The relationship between PGRN reduction and α -synuclein deposition needs further investigation.

These opposing influences of a *GRN* deficiency on A β and tau deposition might be explained as follows. PGRN is elaborated by microglia and PGRN abrogates the hyper-activation of microglia by an autocrine secretion (Tanaka et al. 2013). PGRN deficiency may induce microglial activation and once activated, they may accelerate phagocytic activity and reduce extracellular A β (Takahashi et al. 2017). A PGRN deficiency was shown to lead to lysosomal dysfunction (Tanaka et al. 2017) in neurons and may result in abnormal tau or α -synuclein deposition. A schematic illustration of the opposing influence of a *GRN* defect on A β and tau is shown in Fig. 3.

The discrepancy among these results might be accounted for by the difference in the mouse strains used, as indicated in Takahashi et al. (2017). APP^{high} LysM-cre⁺*Grn*^{flox/flox} conditional mice were used in Minami's study and these LysM-cre mice were deprived of endogenous *Lyz2*, which is prominently augmented in *Grn*^{-/-} mice (Lui et al. 2016; Rosen et al. 2011). Microglia from *Grn*^{-/-} mice showed an upregulation of phagocytic activity (Tanaka et al. 2013), however, this activity might be downregulated in APP^{high} LysM-cre⁺*Grn*^{flox/flox} mice (Minami et al. 2014).

Fig. 1 Immunohistochemical staining of phosphorylated tau in the inferior temporal cortex of a brain with the *GRN* g.3240C>T (p. Arg493X) mutation brain (a) and phosphorylated α -synuclein in the inferior temporal cortex of another brain with the same *GRN* g.3240C>T (p.Arg493X) mutation (b). The scale bars in (a) and (b) are 200 µm





Fig. 2 Comparison of the immunoblotting banding patterns of sarkosyl-insoluble tau of cases with *GRN* mutations and those with other tauopathies. Immunoblotting analysis was performed with the T46 antibody to detect tau in the sarkosyl-insoluble fraction from two cases with a *GRN* g.1A>C (p.0) and a *GRN* g.3240C>T (p.Arg493X) mutation, and one case each of corticobasal degeneration (CBD), progressive supranuclear palsy (PSP) and Alzheimer's disease (AD). Molecular weight markers are shown on the right (kDa)



Fig. 3 Illustration of the opposing influence of a *GRN* deficiency on A β and tau deposition. PGRN reduction induced by a *GRN* mutation may increase tau accumulation in neurons by CDK activation or lysosomal dysfunction.PGRN diminution may downregulate A β deposition by the activation of microglia

To summarize, these reports suggest that *GRN* mutations may be a risk factor for multiple types of dementia-related brain pathologies such as TDP-43 proteinopathy, tauopathy and α -synucleinopathy.

References

- Amador-Ortiz C, Ahmed Z, Zehr C, Dickson DW (2007) Hippocampal sclerosis dementia differs from hippocampal sclerosis in frontal lobe degeneration. Acta Neuropathol 113:245–252. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-006-0183-4
- Antonell A et al (2012) Serum progranulin levels in patients with frontotemporal lobar degeneration and Alzheimer's disease: detection of GRN mutations in a Spanish cohort. J Alzheimers Dis 31:581–591. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-2012-112120
- Baker M et al (2006) Mutations in progranulin cause tau-negative frontotemporal dementia linked to chromosome 17. Nature 442:916–919. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature05016
- Benussi L, Binetti G, Sina E, Gigola L, Bettecken T, Meitinger T, Ghidoni R (2008) A novel deletion in progranulin gene is associated with FTDP-17 and CBS. Neurobiol Aging 29:427–435. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2006.10.028
- Benussi L, Ghidoni R, Pegoiani E, Moretti DV, Zanetti O, Binetti G (2009) Progranulin Leu271LeufsX10 is one of the most common FTLD and CBS associated mutations worldwide. Neurobiol Dis 33:379–385. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2008.11.008
- Boeve BF et al (2006) Frontotemporal dementia and parkinsonism associated with the IVS1+1G->A mutation in progranulin: a clinicopathologic study. Brain J Neurol 129:3103–3114. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awl268
- Brouwers N et al (2007) Alzheimer and Parkinson diagnoses in progranulin null mutation carriers in an extended founder family. Arch Neurol 64:1436–1446. https://doi.org/10.1001/ archneur.64.10.1436
- Brouwers N et al (2008) Genetic variability in progranulin contributes to risk for clinically diagnosed Alzheimer disease. Neurology 71:656–664. https://doi.org/10.1212/01. wnl.0000319688.89790.7a
- Carecchio M et al (2009) Progranulin plasma levels as potential biomarker for the identification of GRN deletion carriers. A case with atypical onset as clinical amnestic mild cognitive impairment converted to Alzheimer's disease. J Neurol Sci 287:291–293. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jns.2009.07.011

- Carecchio M et al (2014) Evidence of pre-synaptic dopaminergic deficit in a patient with a novel progranulin mutation presenting with atypical parkinsonism. J Alzheimers Dis 38:747–752. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-131151
- Chang KH et al (2013) Association between GRN rs5848 polymorphism and Parkinson's disease in Taiwanese population. PLoS One 8:e54448. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0054448
- Chang KH et al (2018) Genetic and functional characters of GRN p.T487I mutation in Taiwanese patients with atypical Parkinsonian disorders. Parkinsonism Relat Disord 51:61–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.parkreldis.2018.02.045
- Coppola C et al (2012) A progranulin mutation associated with cortico-basal syndrome in an Italian family expressing different phenotypes of fronto-temporal lobar degeneration. Neurol Sci 33:93–97. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10072-011-0655-8
- Cortini F et al (2008) Novel exon 1 progranulin gene variant in Alzheimer's disease. Eur J Neurol 15:1111–1117. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-1331.2008.02266.x
- Cruts M et al (2006) Null mutations in progranulin cause ubiquitin-positive frontotemporal dementia linked to chromosome 17q21. Nature 442:920–924. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature05017
- Daniel R, Daniels E, He Z, Bateman A (2003) Progranulin (acrogranin/PC cell-derived growth factor/granulin-epithelin precursor) is expressed in the placenta, epidermis, microvasculature, and brain during murine development. Dev Dyn 227:593–599. https://doi.org/10.1002/dvdy.10341
- Dickson DW et al (1994) Hippocampal sclerosis: a common pathological feature of dementia in very old (> or = 80 years of age) humans. Acta Neuropathol 88:212–221
- Dickson DW, Baker M, Rademakers R (2010) Common variant in GRN is a genetic risk factor for hippocampal sclerosis in the elderly. Neurodegener Dis 7:170–174. https://doi. org/10.1159/000289231
- Dopper EG et al (2011) Symmetrical corticobasal syndrome caused by a novel C.314dup progranulin mutation. J Mol Neurosci 45:354–358. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12031-011-9626-z
- Fagan AM et al (2009) Cerebrospinal fluid tau and ptau(181) increase with cortical amyloid deposition in cognitively normal individuals: implications for future clinical trials of Alzheimer's disease. EMBO Mol Med 1:371–380. https://doi.org/10.1002/emmm.200900048
- Fenoglio C et al (2009) Rs5848 variant influences GRN mRNA levels in brain and peripheral mononuclear cells in patients with Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimers Dis 18:603–612. https:// doi.org/10.3233/JAD-2009-1170
- Finch N et al (2009) Plasma progranulin levels predict progranulin mutation status in frontotemporal dementia patients and asymptomatic family members. Brain J Neurol 132:583–591. https:// doi.org/10.1093/brain/awn352
- Galimberti D et al. (2012) Progranulin gene variability and plasma levels in bipolar disorder and schizophrenia. PLoS One 7:e32164
- Galimberti D et al (2014) Progranulin gene variability influences the risk for bipolar I disorder, but not bipolar II disorder. Bipolar Disord 16:769–772. https://doi.org/10.1111/bdi.12180
- Gass J et al (2006) Mutations in progranulin are a major cause of ubiquitin-positive frontotemporal lobar degeneration. Hum Mol Genet 15:2988–3001. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddl241
- Ghidoni R, Benussi L, Glionna M, Franzoni M, Binetti G (2008) Low plasma progranulin levels predict progranulin mutations in frontotemporal lobar degeneration. Neurology 71:1235–1239. https://doi.org/10.1212/01.wnl.0000325058.10218.fc
- Gliebus G, Rosso A, Lippa CF (2009) Progranulin and beta-amyloid distribution: a case report of the brain from preclinical PS-1 mutation carrier. Am J Alzheimers Dis Other Demen 24:456– 460. https://doi.org/10.1177/1533317509346209
- Guerreiro RJ et al (2008) Novel progranulin mutation: screening for PGRN mutations in a Portuguese series of FTD/CBS cases. Move Disord 23:1269–1273. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.22078
- Guerreiro RJ, Washecka N, Hardy J, Singleton A (2010) A thorough assessment of benign genetic variability in GRN and MAPT. Hum Mutat 31:E1126–E1140. https://doi.org/10.1002/ humu.21152

- Hampel H et al (2004) Measurement of phosphorylated tau epitopes in the differential diagnosis of Alzheimer disease: a comparative cerebrospinal fluid study. Arch Gen Psychiatry 61:95–102. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.61.1.95
- He Z, Ong CH, Halper J, Bateman A (2003) Progranulin is a mediator of the wound response. Nat Med 9:225–229. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm816
- Hosokawa M et al (2015) Progranulin reduction is associated with increased tau phosphorylation in P301L tau transgenic mice. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 74:158–165. https://doi.org/10.1097/ NEN.000000000000158
- Hosokawa M et al (2017) Accumulation of multiple neurodegenerative disease-related proteins in familial frontotemporal lobar degeneration associated with granulin mutation. Sci Rep 7:1513. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-01587-6
- Hosokawa M, Tanaka Y, Arai T, Kondo H, Akiyama H, Hasegawa M (2018) Progranulin haploinsufficiency reduces amyloid beta deposition in Alzheimer's disease model mice. Exp Anim 67:63–70. https://doi.org/10.1538/expanim.17-0060
- Jasinska-Myga B et al (2009) GRN 3'UTR+78 C>T is not associated with risk for Parkinson's disease. Eur J Neurol 16:909–911. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-1331.2009.02621.x
- Jian J et al (2016a) Progranulin recruits HSP70 to beta-glucocerebrosidase and is therapeutic against Gaucher disease. EBioMedicine 13:212–224. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ebiom.2016.10.010
- Jian J et al (2016b) Association between progranulin and Gaucher disease. EBioMedicine 11:127– 137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ebiom.2016.08.004
- Kelley BJ et al (2009) Prominent phenotypic variability associated with mutations in progranulin. Neurobiol Aging 30:739–751. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2007.08.022
- Kelley BJ et al (2010) Alzheimer disease-like phenotype associated with the c.154delA mutation in progranulin. Arch Neurol 67:171–177. https://doi.org/10.1001/archneurol.2010.113
- Kittel-Schneider S et al (2014) Further evidence for plasma progranulin as a biomarker in bipolar disorder. J Affect Disord 157:87–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2014.01.006
- Kumar P, Henikoff S, Ng PC (2009) Predicting the effects of coding non-synonymous variants on protein function using the SIFT algorithm. Nat Protoc 4:1073–1081. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nprot.2009.86
- Le Ber I et al (2008) Phenotype variability in progranulin mutation carriers: a clinical, neuropsychological, imaging and genetic study. Brain J Neurol 131:732–746. https://doi.org/10.1093/ brain/awn012
- Lee MJ, Chen TF, Cheng TW, Chiu MJ (2011) rs5848 variant of progranulin gene is a risk of Alzheimer's disease in the Taiwanese population. Neurodegener Dis 8:216–220. https://doi.org/10.1159/000322538
- Leverenz JB et al (2007) A novel progranulin mutation associated with variable clinical presentation and tau, TDP43 and alpha-synuclein pathology. Brain J Neurol 130:1360–1374. https:// doi.org/10.1093/brain/awm069
- Lui H et al (2016) Progranulin deficiency promotes circuit-specific synaptic pruning by microglia via complement activation. Cell 165:921–935. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2016.04.001
- Masellis M et al (2006) Novel splicing mutation in the progranulin gene causing familial corticobasal syndrome. Brain J Neurol 129:3115–3123. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awl276
- Mateo I et al (2013) Reduced serum progranulin level might be associated with Parkinson's disease risk. Eur J Neurol 20:1571–1573. https://doi.org/10.1111/ene.12090
- Minami SS et al (2014) Progranulin protects against amyloid beta deposition and toxicity in Alzheimer's disease mouse models. Nat Med 20:1157–1164. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.3672
- Mukherjee O et al (2006) HDDD2 is a familial frontotemporal lobar degeneration with ubiquitinpositive, tau-negative inclusions caused by a missense mutation in the signal peptide of progranulin. Ann Neurol 60:314–322. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.20963
- Ong CH, Bateman A (2003) Progranulin (granulin-epithelin precursor, PC-cell derived growth factor, acrogranin) in proliferation and tumorigenesis. Histol Histopathol 18:1275–1288. https:// doi.org/10.14670/HH-18.1275
- Pereson S et al (2009) Progranulin expression correlates with dense-core amyloid plaque burden in Alzheimer disease mouse models. J Pathol 219:173–181. https://doi.org/10.1002/path.2580

- Piaceri I et al (2014) Association of the variant Cys139Arg at GRN gene to the clinical spectrum of frontotemporal lobar degeneration. J Alzheimers Dis 40:679–685. https://doi.org/10.3233/ JAD-132126
- Piaceri I et al (2018) Novel GRN mutations in Alzheimer's disease and frontotemporal lobar degeneration. J Alzheimers Dis 62:1683–1689. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-170989
- Pickford F et al (2011) Progranulin is a chemoattractant for microglia and stimulates their endocytic activity. Am J Pathol 178:284–295. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajpath.2010.11.002
- Probst A, Taylor KI, Tolnay M (2007) Hippocampal sclerosis dementia: a reappraisal. Acta Neuropathol 114:335–345. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-007-0262-1
- Rademakers R et al (2007) Phenotypic variability associated with progranulin haploinsufficiency in patients with the common 1477C-->T (Arg493X) mutation: an international initiative. Lancet Neurol 6:857–868. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(07)70221-1
- Redaelli V et al (2018) Alzheimer neuropathology without frontotemporal lobar degeneration hallmarks (TAR DNA-binding protein 43 inclusions) in missense progranulin mutation Cys139Arg. Brain Pathol 28:72–76. https://doi.org/10.1111/bpa.12480
- Rollinson S et al (2011) No association of PGRN 3'UTR rs5848 in frontotemporal lobar degeneration. Neurobiol Aging 32:754–755. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2009.04.009
- Rosen EY et al (2011) Functional genomic analyses identify pathways dysregulated by progranulin deficiency, implicating Wnt signaling. Neuron 71:1030–1042. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neuron.2011.07.021
- Rovelet-Lecrux A et al (2008) Deletion of the progranulin gene in patients with frontotemporal lobar degeneration or Parkinson disease. Neurobiol Dis 31:41–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. nbd.2008.03.004
- Schymick JC et al (2007) Progranulin mutations and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis or amyotrophic lateral sclerosis-frontotemporal dementia phenotypes. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 78:754– 756. https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp.2006.109553
- Sieben A et al (2018) Extended FTLD pedigree segregating a Belgian GRN-null mutation: neuropathological heterogeneity in one family. Alzheimers Res Ther 10:7. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s13195-017-0334-y
- Simon-Sanchez J, Seelaar H, Bochdanovits Z, Deeg DJ, van Swieten JC, Heutink P (2009) Variation at GRN 3'-UTR rs5848 is not associated with a risk of frontotemporal lobar degeneration in Dutch population. PLoS One 4:e7494. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0007494
- Sleegers K et al (2008) Progranulin genetic variability contributes to amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Neurology 71:253–259. https://doi.org/10.1212/01.wnl.0000289191.54852.75
- Spina S, Murrell JR, Huey ED, Wassermann EM, Pietrini P, Grafman J, Ghetti B (2007) Corticobasal syndrome associated with the A9D progranulin mutation. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 66:892–900. https://doi.org/10.1097/nen.0b013e3181567873
- Sunderland T et al (2003) Decreased beta-amyloid1-42 and increased tau levels in cerebrospinal fluid of patients with Alzheimer disease. JAMA 289:2094–2103. https://doi.org/10.1001/ jama.289.16.2094
- Takahashi H et al (2017) Opposing effects of progranulin deficiency on amyloid and tau pathologies via microglial TYROBP network. Acta Neuropathol 133:785–807. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00401-017-1668-z
- Tanaka Y, Matsuwaki T, Yamanouchi K, Nishihara M (2013) Exacerbated inflammatory responses related to activated microglia after traumatic brain injury in progranulin-deficient mice. Neuroscience 231:49–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2012.11.032
- Tanaka Y et al (2017) Progranulin regulates lysosomal function and biogenesis through acidification of lysosomes. Hum Mol Genet 26:969–988. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddx011
- Van Damme P et al (2008) Progranulin functions as a neurotrophic factor to regulate neurite outgrowth and enhance neuronal survival. J Cell Biol 181:37–41. https://doi.org/10.1083/ jcb.200712039

- Wang J et al (2010) Pathogenic cysteine mutations affect progranulin function and production of mature granulins. J Neurochem 112:1305–1315. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1471-4159.2009.06546.x
- Yin F et al (2010) Exaggerated inflammation, impaired host defense, and neuropathology in progranulin-deficient mice. J Exp Med 207:117–128. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20091568
- Zarow C, Sitzer TE, Chui HC (2008) Understanding hippocampal sclerosis in the elderly: epidemiology, characterization, and diagnostic issues. Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep 8:363–370
- Zhu J et al (2002) Conversion of proepithelin to epithelins: roles of SLPI and elastase in host defense and wound repair. Cell 111:867–878

Progranulin Regulations of Lysosomal Homeostasis and Its Involvement in Neurodegenerative Diseases



Yoshinori Tanaka

Abstract Progranulin (PGRN) haploinsufficiency resulting from the loss-offunction mutations of GRN gene causes frontotemporal lober degeneration characteristic of TDP-43-positive inclusion (FTLD-TDP). The patients with homozygous mutations in the GRN gene present with adult onset neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis. While the functional role of PGRN regulating neurodegenerative diseases is still controversial, evidences that PGRN regulates lysosomal function and biogenesis are accumulating. We previously demonstrated that PGRN is localized to lysosomes and the expression increases in lysosomal biogenesis. Furthermore, PGRN suppresses exacerbated lysosomal biogenesis especially in activated microglia after traumatic brain injury and with aging in mice, indicating that PGRN composes of negative feedback loop of lysosomal biogenesis. Interestingly, secreted PGRN is incorporated and transported into lysosomes through sortilin or cation-independent mannose 6-phosphate receptor, and facilitated acidification of lysosomes. These findings indicate that PGRN is a secretory lysosomal protein that regulates lysosomal function and biogenesis through acidification of lysosomes. On the other hand, other groups recently reported that granulin peptides stabilize Cathepsin D and work as a chaperone for beta-glucocerebrosidase. These investigations about PGRN function involved in lysosomes have spotlighted on the pathogenic mechanisms of neurodegenerative diseases especially in FTLD-TDP. The understanding of PGRN trafficking into lysosomes and its regulation of lysosomes could provide a clue of the remedy for currently incurable neurodegenerative diseases.

Keywords Progranulin · Granulin · Lysosome · TDP-43 · FTLD · NCL

Y. Tanaka (🖂)

Department of Veterinary Medicine, The Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Okayama University of Science, Imabari, Ehime, Japan e-mail: y-tanaka@vet.ous.ac.jp

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2019

H. Hara et al. (eds.), *Progranulin and Central Nervous System Disorders*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-6186-9_5

Introduction

Neurodegenerative diseases are characterized by accumulation of protein aggregates including tau, alpha-synuclein, and TAR DNA-binding protein 43 kDa (TDP-43), which define distinct pathology across neurodegenerative diseases (Nonaka et al. 2018). Previous studies indicated that the formation of these aggregates is involved in neuronal cell loss, and these aggregates exhibit characteristic patterns of temporal spreading and topological distribution that correlate with clinical phenotype (Braak and Braak 1991; Braak et al. 2003; Brettschneider et al. 2013). However, it remains elusive when and how these protein aggregation starts. Interestingly, lossof-function mutations in the GRN gene were identified in familial frontotemporal lober degeneration (FTLD) linked to chromosome 17q21 with tau-negative and alpha-synuclein-negative cytoplasmic inclusions (Baker et al. 2006; Cruts et al. 2006), and these inclusions were characterized of enriched TDP-43 (Arai et al. 2006; Neumann et al. 2006). Biochemical and morphological analyses revealed that filamentous, detergent-insoluble, abnormally phosphorylated, partially fragmented and ubiquitinated TDP-43 accumulates in the brain of patients (Arai et al. 2010; Hasegawa et al. 2011). These findings suggested that progranulin (PGRN), the product of GRN gene, function is more involved in TDP-43 aggregation process than alpha-synuclein and tau aggregation process.

PGRN is a multifunctional protein involved in a lot of physiological and pathological processes such as inflammation, tumorigenesis and sexual differentiation (Suzuki et al. 1998; He et al. 2002; Kessenbrock et al. 2008). Originally, PGRN was identified as a growth factor containing 7.5 tandem granulin (GRN) motif repeats (Baba et al. 1993; Bateman and Bennett 2009). Since PGRN was identified as a growth factor, cell signalling pathways regulated by PGRN to stimulate cell growth have been studied. While previous studies revealed that PGRN activates typical cell signalling pathways such as ERK, PI3K and Akt pathways (He et al. 2002; Monami et al. 2006; Feng et al. 2010; Gao et al. 2010; Xu et al. 2011), they did not show any cell surface receptors to mediate these effects. On the contrary of the idea that PGRN is a growth factor, the cell surface PGRN receptor firstly detected was sortilin that mediates transportation of target proteins into lysosomes (Hu et al. 2010).

In the brain, the sources of PGRN are supplied from neurons and microglia (Baker et al. 2006; Mackenzie et al. 2006; Mukherjee et al. 2006; Ahmed et al. 2007). Especially, activated microglia predominantly expresses PGRN (Pereson et al. 2009; Naphade et al. 2010; Wang et al. 2010; Byrnes et al. 2011). Microglia is a resident innate immune cell in the brain, and is activated by a stimulus including neuronal damage (Block et al. 2007). Activated microglia is identified as a hallmark of neurodegenerative diseases, because it mediates inflammatory responses in the brain (Zhang et al. 2010). To investigate the role of PGRN in activated microglia, we compared the markers of activated microglia, the level of them increases along with the microglial activation, in wild-type and PGRN-deficient mice adapted to traumatic brain injury (TBI). We found that the level of CD68, a lysosomal protein in the monocyte lineage, increases in PGRN-deficient mice after TBI, suggesting

that PGRN regulates lysosomal homeostasis (Tanaka et al. 2013a). Subsequently, we demonstrated that PGRN localizes to lysosome, and suppresses exacerbated lysosomal biogenesis in activated microglia (Tanaka et al. 2013b). Furthermore, we found that PGRN-deficient mice shows selective vulnerability in the ventral posteromedial nucleus/ventral posterolateral nucleus (VPM/VPL) region of the thalamus, as do model mice of lysosomal diseases (Tanaka et al. 2014; Sargeant 2016). More importantly, PGRN regulates lysosomal function and biogenesis through the acidification of lysosomes (Tanaka et al. 2017). In favour of the PGRN function in lysosomes, patients with homozygous mutations in the *GRN* gene presented adult onset neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis (NCL) (Smith et al. 2012; Almeida et al. 2016). Moreover, Götzl et al. showed that FTLD patients from PGRN haploinsufficiency also present with typical pathological features of NCL, suggesting that FTLD as well as NCL resulting from PGRN insufficiency is caused by lysosome dysfunction (Gotzl et al. 2014). These findings spotlighted the PGRN function in lysosomes and its protective action on neurodegenerative diseases.

Lysosomes are membrane-bound organelles with acidic compartments containing more than 60 types of hydrolases. The primary function of lysosomes is the degradation of extracellular and intracellular molecules transported by endocytosis, autophagy, and other cellular trafficking pathway (Lubke et al. 2009). On the other hand, there are accumulating evidences that lysosomes are multifunctional organelles involved in secretion, plasma membrane repair, signalling, and energy metabolism (Settembre et al. 2013). Therefore, lysosomal dysfunction from PGRN deficiency could affect a broad range of cellular functions. To clear understanding the relationship between PGRN and lysosomes, and its involvement in neurodegenerative diseases, this chapter focuses on neurodegenerative diseases resulting from PGRN mutations, PGRN trafficking into lysosomes, and PGRN function in lysosomes.

Involvement of Lysosomes in Neurodegenerative Diseases Caused by *GRN* Mutations

FTLD shows progressive atrophy of the frontal and temporal lobes of the brain. FTLD is the second leading cause of early-onset dementia for individuals 65 years and younger, and is the third most common cause of dementia for 65 years and older (Bott et al. 2014). FTLD patients show either significant behavioural deterioration or predominant language decline (Tan et al. 2017). The patients with *GRN* mutations are clinically heterogenous even in family members carrying the same mutation, which makes genotype-phenotype correlations difficult (Chen-Plotkin et al. 2011). However, certain general features of *GRN*-associated FTLD have been recognized. Motor neuron disease appears to be rare in FTLD with *GRN* mutation (Schymick et al. 2007). Then, *GRN*-associated FTLD-TDP is more likely to have parkinsonian features than FTLD-TDP without *GRN* mutations (van Swieten and

Heutink 2008). More interestingly, FTLD patients resulting from PGRN haploinsufficiency show NCL-like features before dementia onset (Ward et al. 2017).

GRN gene was identified as a responsible gene for tau-negative and TDP-43positive frontotemporal lobar degeneration (FTLD-TDP) linked to chromosome 17q21 (Baker et al. 2006; Cruts et al. 2006). GRN mutations have been found to result in 10% of total FTLD cases and 22% of familial FTLD cases (Gass et al. 2006). The majority of these GRN mutations is nonsense mutation, and could be a target of the nonsense-mediated mRNA decay pathway (Baker et al. 2006, Cruts et al. 2006). Recently, there are increasing evidences that PGRN regulates lysosomal biogenesis and function (Kao et al. 2017). Taken together, lysosomal dysfunction resulting from loss-of-function of PGRN could be linked to the occurrence of FTLD-TDP. In favour of this, recent studies about C9orf72 and VCP, other causal genes of familial FTLD-TDP, suggest that these genes are associated with the regulation of lysosomal function. Chromosome open reading frame 72 (C9orf72) functions is linked to the degradation of endocytosed material and in the maintenance of lysosomal homeostasis (Corrionero and Horvitz 2018). Valosin containing protein (VCP) is linked to various membrane trafficking processes (Meyer 2005), and several studies connect VCP to lysosomal protein degradation (Ju and Weihl 2010; Bug and Meyer 2012). Moreover, FTLD-linked mutations in genes encoding three autophagy adaptor proteins, p62/SOSTM1, ubiquilin 2, and optineurin indicate that impaired autophagy might cause FTLD (Gotzl et al. 2016). These studies about causal genes of familial FTLD-TDP support the idea that dysfunction of lysosomal system is linked to the occurrence of FTLD-TDP.

While heterozygous mutations of GRN cause FTLD, homozygous GRN mutations lead to adult onset NCL, a type of lysosomal storage disease. A pair of siblings with homozygous mutations in the GRN gene suffering from a newly described type of adult onset NCL was discovered (Smith et al. 2012). In the second case, both parents developed FTLD resulting from the GRN mutation, and their daughter who received GRN mutations in both allele developed adult onset NCL, indicating that dosage effects of PGRN on the appearance of this disease (Almeida et al. 2016). NCL is caused by mutations at least 14 different genes and characterized by the appearance of a heterogenous origin of the storage material. Commonly, the accumulated ceroid-lipopigments are autofluorescent and are positive for histochemical staining such as periodic acid-Schiff (PAS), Luxol fast blue (LFB), sudan black B. Clinically, they share features such as progressive loss of vision as well as mental and motor deterioration, epileptic seizures, and eventually premature death (Carcel-Trullols et al. 2015). Interestingly, NCL-associated proteins (CLN1 to CLN14) differ in their function and their intracellular localization. 5 NCL types (CLN1, CLN2, CLN5, CLN10, and CLN13) are caused by defects in lysosomal enzymes or proteins, but the localization of other NCL proteins is different from them. For example, CLN6 and CLN8 are localized to Endoplasmic Reticulum (ER), and involved in ER stress response (Marotta et al. 2017). Therefore, the understanding of PGRN function improves to understand how disturbed different NCL proteins lead to similar clinical symptom and neurodegeneration.

PGRN Trafficking into Lysosomes

The findings to suggest the function of PGRN in lysosomes was the discovery that PGRN expression increases along with the activation of microglia, and it often localizes to lysosomes (Naphade et al. 2010; Tanaka et al. 2013a). More importantly, increased lysosomal biogenesis happened to activated microglia in PGRN-deficient mice compared to wild-type mice (Tanaka et al. 2013a, b). These studies shed light on the importance of the mechanism mediating transport of PGRN into lysosome by sortilin, an endocytic receptor to mediate lysosomal trafficking (Fig. 1). It binds to PGRN with a high affinity, and mediated transport of PGRN into lysosome through the endocytic pathway (Hu et al. 2010). While the transport mediated by sortilin is likely to occur at the Golgi apparatus after the synthesis of PGRN, the





PGRN is delivered to lysosomes from extracellular space or TGN. Extracellular PGRN indirectly binds to CI-M6PR/LRP1 through the binding of PSAP or directly binds to sortilin on the plasma membrane. PGRN bound to these receptors is transported to lysosomes through the endocytic pathway. Synthesized PGRN in ER is modified in the ER and Golgi apparatus to display M6P residues and transported to endosomes from TGN by CI-M6PR or sortilin. PGRN in endosomes is transported to lysosomes through the endocytic pathway

level of PGRN in SH-SY5Y cells decreased by the down-regulation of sortilin, suggesting that sortilin is rather important to incorporate extracellular PGRN than transport PGRN produced in the biosynthesis process (Tanaka et al. 2017). Interestingly, while activated microglia dominantly express PGRN in the brain, the sortilin expression is not detected in activated microglia by the immunohistochemistry (Tanaka et al. 2017), suggesting that neurons dominantly incorporate extracellular PGRN from activated microglia. These findings suggest that sortilin is an important receptor for neurons to incorporate extracellular PGRN.

PGRN is a glycosylated protein that has a functional role in lysosomes. Therefore, PGRN might be transported into lysosomes through the common pathway with lysosomal hydrolases (Fig. 1). Hydrolases working in lysosomes are synthesized in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and transported to lysosomes from the trans Golgi network (TGN). They get modified in the ER and Golgi apparatus to display mannose-6-phosphate (M6P) residues that are necessary to their specific endolysosomal targeting by M6P receptors (M6PR) (Braulke and Bonifacino 2009). Actually, PGRN transiently expressed in COS7 cells is N-linked glycosylated at least four sites out of five potential PGRN N-glycosylation consensus site (Songsrirote et al. 2010). Interestingly, most of R493X PGRN lack of the sortilin binding site is transported into lysosome as well as wild-type PGRN, suggesting that sortilinindependent mechanism is sufficient to transport PGRN into lysosome (Nguyen et al. 2018). These findings suggest that M6PR directly transport a part of PGRN from the Golgi apparatus to lysosome. To support this idea, the down-regulation of cation-independent M6P receptor (CI-M6PR) increased PGRN levels and suppressed PGRN function in lysosomes, suggesting that CI-M6PR mainly mediate the transport of PGRN produced in the biosynthesis process (Tanaka et al. 2017). Further studies are necessary to investigate the relationship between N-glycosylation and lysosomal trafficking.

On the other hand, another mechanism through indirect binding between PGRN and CI-M6PR or low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 1 (LRP1) is shown (Fig. 1). These receptors transport PGRN into lysosomes through the binding of prosaposin (PSAP). Previous studies showed GRN D/E peptide binds to a linker region of saposin B and C (Zhou et al. 2015, 2017c). PSAP is a proprotein composed of four homologous cysteine-rich saposin A, B, C, and D as same as PGRN (Kishimoto et al. 1992). The function of these peptides in lysosomes is to promote sphingolipid hydrolysis (Meyer et al. 2014), and a homozygous loss-of-function mutation in PSAP gene causes a lysosomal storage disease known as sphingolipidoses (Hulkova et al. 2001; Meyer et al. 2014). Interestingly, a previous study showed that PGRN mediates the transport of PSAP into lysosomes through the sortilin (Zhou et al. 2017d). These findings suggest that lysosomal dysfunction from PGRN insufficiency is partly mediated by PSAP or other binding partners, and it's important to understand how the particular pathway involved in PGRN trafficking regulates lysosomal function.

PGRN in Negative Feedback Loop of Lysosomal Biogenesis

FTLD resulting from PGRN haploinsufficiency is characterized by accumulation of TDP-43 aggregates (Arai et al. 2006; Neumann et al. 2006). The accumulation of protein aggregates in neurodegenerative diseases is linked to dysfunction of the proteostasis, which leads to suppress the clearance of protein aggregates and facilitate protein aggregation (Bingol 2018). The histological analysis using aged PGRNdeficient mice suggested that the alteration in lysosomal homeostasis with aging (Ahmed et al. 2010; Wils et al. 2012). Furthermore, complete loss of PGRN led to adult onset NCL (Smith et al. 2012; Almeida et al. 2016), suggesting the association of PGRN with a lysosomal function. We demonstrated that PGRN expression increases after TBI in wild-type mice, and the major source of PGRN is CD68positive activated microglia. More importantly, PGRN deficiency increased the expression of CD68 in activated microglia (Tanaka et al. 2013a). CD68 is a member of the lysosome-associated membrane protein (LAMP) family that is restrictedly expressed in cells of the monocyte/macrophage lineage, and predominantly localized to late endosomal and lysosomal compartment (Song et al. 2011). Additionally, CD68 gene expression was controlled by transcription factor EB (TFEB), a master regulator of lysosomal biogenesis (Sardiello et al. 2009). Therefore, these findings suggested that PGRN composes of lysosomal biogenesis pathway and is implicated in the regulation of lysosomal biogenesis. Actually, the following study of us showed that increased PGRN in activated microglia is often colocalized with Lamp1, a lysosomal marker. Then, the Lamp1 level increased in activated microglia of PGRN-deficient mice as well as lysosomal gene expression in the affected region. Mammalian target of rapamycin complex 1 (mTORC1) have a dominant role in negatively controlling the translocation of TFEB from the cytoplasm to the nucleus (Settembre et al. 2012). Interestingly, the activity of mTORC1 decreased, and the number of activated microglia with TFEB localized in the nucleus increased in PGRN-deficient mice (Tanaka et al. 2013b). Excessive lysosomal biogenesis also appeared in the aged PGRN-deficient mice (Tanaka et al. 2014). Importantly, aged PGRN-deficient mice exhibit selective vulnerability in the ventral posteromedial nucleus/ventral posterolateral nucleus (VPM/VPL) region of the thalamus, as do model mice of lysosomal diseases (Tanaka et al. 2014; Sargeant 2016). Moreover, FTLD patients resulting from PGRN haploinsufficiency also presented with typical pathological features of NCL (Gotzl et al. 2014). These findings demonstrate that PGRN negatively regulates lysosomal biogenesis in vivo (Fig. 2).

Focusing on the regulation of PGRN gene expression, *Grn* gene has two possible CLEAR sequences in the promoter region (Tanaka et al. 2013b), where TFEB binds and thereby increases lysosomal gene expression (Sardiello et al. 2009), suggesting that PGRN works as a key player of the negative feedback loop of lysosomal biogenesis mediated by mTORC1 and TFEB. In favour of this, PGRN gene



Fig. 2 PGRN in negative feedback loop of lysosomal biogenesis The nuclear-transported TFEB, a master regulator of lysosomal genes, binds to the CLEAR sequence of DNA and activates transcription of genes for lysosomal biogenesis. Synthesized lysosomal proteins consist of lysosomes where PGRN results in activation of mTORC1. Activated mTORC1 phosphorylates TFEB, which inhibits nuclear-translocation of TFEB

expression was controlled by TFEB as well as other lysosomal gene expressions (Sardiello et al. 2009). While mTORC1-independent modulators such as suberoylanilide hydroxamic acid (SAHA) and trehalose increased PGRN levels, autophagy-lysosomal modulators through mTORC1-dependent pathway such as Torin1, rapamycin, bafilomycin A1 and chloroquine increased PGRN levels as well (Capell et al. 2011; Cenik et al. 2011; Holler et al. 2016; Tanaka et al. 2017). Therefore, the pathway through mTORC1 and TFEB partly regulates PGRN gene expression, which negatively regulates lysosomal biogenesis (Fig. 2).

Transcriptomics and proteomics studies confirmed not only a critical role of PGRN in lysosomal biogenesis, but also the regulation of innate immunity and lipid metabolism. Analysis of different age and regions of PGRN wild-type, heterozygous, deficient mice brain revealed an age-dependent up-regulation of many lysosomal genes and innate immunity related genes such as CD68, triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 2 (Trem2), and complement genes C1qa, b, c and C3 (Lui et al. 2016). The analysis using genome-wide RNA sequencing and microarray dataset detected a cluster with TYROBP forming a major hub that is composed of Trem2, one of the AD risk gene Ms4a7 (Karch et al. 2014; Chang et al. 2017), Cathepsin S and Z, complement system proteins, and Lyz2 (Takahashi et al. 2017). Lipidomic analysis suggested that dysfunction in lysosomal lipid metabolism might cause the specific changes of brain lipid composition such as triacylglyceride, diacylglyceride, phosphatidylethanolamine, and phosphatidylserine in FTLD resulting

from PGRN haploinsufficiency. Further, transcriptomic analysis using PGRN wildtype, heterozygous and deficient mice brains showed a number of differentially expressed transcripts involved in lipid metabolism (Evers et al. 2017). These results suggest that PGRN regulates innate immunity and lipid metabolism pathway in addition to lysosomal function. On the other hand, they might indicate possibility that lysosomal dysfunction from PGRN deficiency leads to the dysregulation of innate immunity and lipid metabolism pathway. Further studies are needed to work out the mechanistic connection between PGRN and these pathways.

PGRN Functions in Lysosomes

As mentioned above, there are increasing evidences that PGRN has a functional role in lysosomes. We previously focused on the relationship between PGRN and mature Cathepsin D (CTSDmat) levels, because the CTSDmat level is dependent on lysosomal function (Gieselmann et al. 1985) and FTLD patients resulting from PGRN showed increased CTSDmat levels as well as aged PGRN-deficient mice (Gotzl et al. 2014). We showed that PGRN down-regulation and deficiency increase CTSDmat levels as shown in the previous study, and exogenous PGRN partially rescued CTSDmat levels in the PGRN-deficient primary microglia (Tanaka et al. 2017). Then, PGRN overexpression decreased CTSDmat levels at least through its degradation by Cathepsin B (CTSB) that changes the target pH-dependently (Khouri





PGRN is involved in the regulation of lysosomal functions. (1) PGRN facilitates lysosomal acidification. (2) PGRN or granulin peptides (GRN) stabilizes CTSD. (3) PGRN works as a chaperone of GBA by connecting HSP70 to GBA.

et al. 1991). Remarkably, the action of PGRN expression to down-regulate lysosomal protein and gene expression levels was opposite to the effect of lysosomal alkalizers. More importantly, PGRN overexpression as well as the addition of secreted PGRN facilitated lysosomal acidification (Fig. 3). Furthermore, sortilin and CI-M6PR, endocytic receptors regulating lysosomal trafficking, mediated this effect, indicating that secreted PGRN is transported, and acidify lysosomes (Tanaka et al. 2017). Considering that the regulators of the gene expressions associated with autophagy-lysosomal pathway control the PGRN expression (Holler et al. 2016), PGRN might be a secretory lysosomal protein that regulates lysosomal function and biogenesis through the acidification of lysosomes. Lysosomal acidification is an essential process for the digestive function and to drive efflux of digested materials (Mindell 2012). An increase in the pH of lysosomal organelles prevents the secretory behaviour of acidic vesicles and leads to accumulation of acidic vesicles within the cell cytoplasm (Luciani et al. 2004). Actually, PGRN deficiency develops marked accumulation of lipofuscin, an end-product of lysosomal digestion (Ahmed et al. 2010; Wils et al. 2012; Tanaka et al. 2014; Valdez et al. 2017). Moreover, null mutations in GRN greatly reduce the number of released exosomes and alter their composition (Benussi et al. 2016). These findings support that PGRN deficiency suppresses digestion in and efflux from lysosomes. Interestingly, we showed that astrocytes or oligodendrocyte in aged PGRN-deficient mice accumulates p62 aggregates, although PGRN expression in these cells was not detected by immunohistochemistry (Tanaka et al. 2014). This finding clearly shows a non-cell autonomous action of PGRN, and suggests that PGRN secreted from neurons or microglia is incorporated into various cells in the brain, and counteracts lysosomal dysfunction resulting from aging by facilitating the acidification of lysosomes (Fig. 4). On the other hand, the level of TMEM106B, a risk modifier of FTLD-TDP of GRN mutation carriers (Van Deerlin et al. 2010), increases in the post-mortem brains of FTLD-TDP patients, and overexpression of TMEM106B inhibits lysosomal acidification (Chen-Plotkin et al. 2012). Interestingly, loss of TMEM106B partially ameliorated the pathological phenotypes associated with PGRN deficiency. In double knockout mice, loss of TMEM106B rescued a part of phenotype from PGRN deficiency such as retinal degeneration and hyperactivity (Klein et al. 2017), suggesting that PGRN and TMEM106B have opposite function in lysosome, and the decrease of PGRN and increase of TMEM106B in FTLD patients from PGRN haploinsufficiency contribute to the NCL-like phenotype. The mechanism regulating lysosomal acidification mediated by PGRN and TMEM106B should be useful to understand the pathology of FTLD.

PGRN is constituted of 7.5 GRN repeats which is processed into 6-kDa GRN peptides (Cenik et al. 2012). This is similar to PSAP that is synthesized as a precursor protein. PSAP is secreted, and transported into lysosomes by sortilin, and processed into 8–11 kDa saposin A, B, C, and D peptides, and function as a sphingolipid activator protein. Remarkably, PSAP or an individual saposin deficiency cause lysosomal storage diseases (Schulze and Sandhoff 2014). Therefore, it was previously predicted that GRN peptides have a function as an activator of lysosomal enzyme (Cenik et al. 2012). Recently, several groups showed that the inhibiton of lysosomal function increase the level of PGRN, suggesting that PGRN could be proteolytic



Suppression of inflammation

Suppression of protein aggregation

Fig. 4 The role of PGRN in cells composing the brain

PGRN is secreted from microglia and neurons in the brain. Secreted PGRN is incorporated and transported into lysosomes in neurons and glial cells. PGRN suppresses the formation of toxic protein aggregates in neurons and oligodendrocyte by facilitating lysosomal function. While it remains unknown about the mechanism, PGRN is suppressive to exacerbated inflammatory responses of astrocyte and microglia

processed in lysosomes (Tanaka et al. 2017; Holler et al. 2017; Lee et al. 2017; Zhou et al. 2017b). In fact, we found for the first time that the down-regulation and inhibition of a lysozyme Cathepsin B (CTSB) increases PGRN levels (Tanaka et al. 2017). On the other hand, the following studies clearly showed that Cathepsin L (CTSL) mediates the processing of PGRN into GRN peptides in lysosomes (Holler et al. 2017, Lee et al. 2017, Zhou et al. 2017b). Moreover, Lee et al. identified the CTSL cleavage sites within PGRN using liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry. Most of them reside within the linker regions and did not overlap those of neutrophil elastase (Lee et al. 2017). Surprisingly, GRN peptides were not detected in the media (Holler et al. 2017; Zhou et al. 2017b), suggesting that GRN peptides work only in lysosomes. To support this idea, several groups detected the precipitation of Cathepsin D (CTSD) by PGRN (Valdez et al. 2017; Zhou et al. 2017a) as well as the pulldown of CTSD by recombinant PGRN or GRN E peptide added to mouse brain lysate (Beel et al. 2017). Interestingly, these groups also showed the functional role of PGRN on the CTSD activity. The CTSD activity in the liver and spleen of 2-month-old PGRN-deficient mice is lower than wild-type mice (Zhou et al. 2017a). iPSC-derived heterozygous PGRN mutant neurons decrease the CTSD activity after 100 days following differentiation (Valdez et al. 2017). Moreover, Beel et al. showed that PGRN stabilizes the matured CTSD independent of its activity (Fig. 3), and this function is mediated by GRN E peptide (Beel et al. 2017; Valdez et al. 2017). These findings suggest that CTSD turnover is faster in the neurodegenerative diseases resulting from PGRN insufficiency. CTSD deficiency cause NCL as well as PGRN deficiency (Carcel-Trullols et al. 2015), and their pathology overlap at least in mice (Gotzl et al. 2014). While CTSD levels increase along with lysosomal biogenesis resultant from PGRN insufficiency as mentioned above, lysosomal enzymes could regulate their levels each other (Barry and Platt 2012). Therefore, the decreased activity of CTSD in the PGRN-decreased condition might contribute the pathology in PGRN-associated diseases.

Apart from the relationship between PGRN and CTSD, a group identified betaglucocerebrosidase (GBA) as another interacting partner of PGRN (Jian et al. 2016a). GBA is transcriptated from *GBA1* gene, and cleaves glucocerebroside into glucose and ceramide. An autosomal recessive mutation of GBA1 gene causes Gaucher disease (GD) which is classified into lysosomal storage diseases, and GBA1 mutation is also a strong risk factor for Parkinson's disease (PD) (Pitcairn et al. 2019). While there has been no report about connection between GBA and FTLD, they found a significant decrease in serum PGRN levels in GD patients compared to healthy controls, suggesting a possible association between PGRN and GBA. Moreover, they found that PGRN-deficient mice developed phenotypes characteristic of GD such as hepatosplenomegaly and glycolipid accumulated Gaucherlike cells (Jian et al. 2016b). Importantly, they found that GRN E peptide mediates the binding between GBA and heat shock protein 70 (HSP70), and loss of these binding leads to GBA aggregation in the cytoplasm in PGRN-deficient mice (Jian et al. 2016a). These findings indicate that PGRN functions as a chaperone for GBA through the binding of HSP70 (Fig. 3), suggesting that the possibility of GRN peptides as a chaperone for other proteins in lysosomes.

Conclusion

PGRN is a multifunctional protein involved in multiple physiological and pathological events. Most importantly, PGRN insufficiency causes incurable neurodegenerative diseases including FTLD-TDP and NCL. While the mechanism PGRN deficiency causes neurodegenerative diseases is still controversial, evidences that PGRN regulates lysosomal function and biogenesis are accumulating. The *GRN* gene has two possible CLEAR sequences in the promoter region where TFEB, a master regulator of lysosomal gene expression, binds, and thereby PGRN expression increases. PGRN directly or indirectly binds to endocytic receptors that transport lysosomal proteins into lysosomes such as sortilin or CI-M6PR. PGRN localizes to lysosomes and suppresses exacerbated lysosomal biogenesis at least through the acidification of lysosome. Aged PGRN-deficient mice exhibit selective vulnerability in the VPM/VPL region of thalamus, as do model mice of lysosomal diseases. GRN peptides stabilize CTSD and work as a chaperone of GBA. Lysosomes are multifunctional organelles involved in not only degradation and recycling of cellular waste, but also secretion, plasma membrane repair, signalling, and energy metabolism. Therefore, PGRN deficiency might affect a broad range of physiologic and pathologic events. However, as mentioned above, PGRN has a dominant role in lysosomal homeostasis. Medications targeting the recovery of lysosomal function seem the most reasonable way for symptomatic improvement in FTLD-TDP or NCL patients resulting from PGRN insufficiency. While it still remains unknown how PGRN insufficiency leads to TDP-43 aggregation predominantly, these investigations about PGRN regulation of lysosomes highlight the importance of lysosomal function in the pathogenesis of neurodegenerative diseases.

References

- Ahmed Z, Mackenzie IR, Hutton ML, Dickson DW (2007) Progranulin in frontotemporal lobar degeneration and neuroinflammation. J Neuroinflammation 4:7
- Ahmed Z, Sheng H, Xu YF, Lin WL, Innes AE, Gass J, Yu X, Wuertzer CA, Hou H, Chiba S, Yamanouchi K, Leissring M, Petrucelli L, Nishihara M, Hutton ML, McGowan E, Dickson DW, Lewis J (2010) Accelerated lipofuscinosis and ubiquitination in granulin knockout mice suggest a role for progranulin in successful aging. Am J Pathol 177(1):311–324
- Almeida MR, Macario MC, Ramos L, Baldeiras I, Ribeiro MH, Santana I (2016) Portuguese family with the co-occurrence of frontotemporal lobar degeneration and neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis phenotypes due to progranulin gene mutation. Neurobiol Aging 41:200 e201–200 e205
- Arai T, Hasegawa M, Akiyama H, Ikeda K, Nonaka T, Mori H, Mann D, Tsuchiya K, Yoshida M, Hashizume Y, Oda T (2006) TDP-43 is a component of ubiquitin-positive tau-negative inclusions in frontotemporal lobar degeneration and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 351(3):602–611
- Arai T, Hasegawa M, Nonoka T, Kametani F, Yamashita M, Hosokawa M, Niizato K, Tsuchiya K, Kobayashi Z, Ikeda K, Yoshida M, Onaya M, Fujishiro H, Akiyama H (2010) Phosphorylated and cleaved TDP-43 in ALS, FTLD and other neurodegenerative disorders and in cellular models of TDP-43 proteinopathy. Neuropathology 30(2):170–181
- Baba T, Hoff HB 3rd, Nemoto H, Lee H, Orth J, Arai Y, Gerton GL (1993) Acrogranin, an acrosomal cysteine-rich glycoprotein, is the precursor of the growth-modulating peptides, granulins, and epithelins, and is expressed in somatic as well as male germ cells. Mol Reprod Dev 34(3):233–243
- Baker M, Mackenzie IR, Pickering-Brown SM, Gass J, Rademakers R, Lindholm C, Snowden J, Adamson J, Sadovnick AD, Rollinson S, Cannon A, Dwosh E, Neary D, Melquist S, Richardson A, Dickson D, Berger Z, Eriksen J, Robinson T, Zehr C, Dickey CA, Crook R, McGowan E, Mann D, Boeve B, Feldman H, Hutton M (2006) Mutations in progranulin cause tau-negative frontotemporal dementia linked to chromosome 17. Nature 442(7105):916–919
- Barry ZT, Platt MO (2012) Cathepsin S cannibalism of cathepsin K as a mechanism to reduce type I collagen degradation. J Biol Chem 287(33):27723–27730
- Bateman A, Bennett HP (2009) The granulin gene family: from cancer to dementia. BioEssays 31(11):1245–1254
- Beel S, Moisse M, Damme M, De Muynck L, Robberecht W, Van Den Bosch L, Saftig P, Van Damme P (2017) Progranulin functions as a cathepsin D chaperone to stimulate axonal outgrowth in vivo. Hum Mol Genet 26(15):2850–2863

- Benussi L, Ciani M, Tonoli E, Morbin M, Palamara L, Albani D, Fusco F, Forloni G, Glionna M, Baco M, Paterlini A, Fostinelli S, Santini B, Galbiati E, Gagni P, Cretich M, Binetti G, Tagliavini F, Prosperi D, Chiari M, Ghidoni R (2016) Loss of exosomes in progranulin-associated frontotemporal dementia. Neurobiol Aging 40:41–49
- Bingol B (2018) Autophagy and lysosomal pathways in nervous system disorders. Mol Cell Neurosci 91:167
- Block ML, Zecca L, Hong JS (2007) Microglia-mediated neurotoxicity: uncovering the molecular mechanisms. Nat Rev Neurosci 8(1):57–69
- Bott NT, Radke A, Stephens ML, Kramer JH (2014) Frontotemporal dementia: diagnosis, deficits and management. Neurodegener Dis Manag 4(6):439–454
- Braak H, Braak E (1991) Neuropathological stageing of Alzheimer-related changes. Acta Neuropathol 82(4):239–259
- Braak H, Del Tredici K, Rub U, de Vos RA, Jansen Steur EN, Braak E (2003) Staging of brain pathology related to sporadic Parkinson's disease. Neurobiol Aging 24(2):197–211
- Braulke T, Bonifacino JS (2009) Sorting of lysosomal proteins. Biochim Biophys Acta 1793(4):605–614. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2008.10.016
- Brettschneider J, Del Tredici K, Toledo JB, Robinson JL, Irwin DJ, Grossman M, Suh E, Van Deerlin VM, Wood EM, Baek Y, Kwong L, Lee EB, Elman L, McCluskey L, Fang L, Feldengut S, Ludolph AC, Lee VM, Braak H, Trojanowski JQ (2013) Stages of pTDP-43 pathology in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Ann Neurol 74(1):20–38
- Bug M, Meyer H (2012) Expanding into new markets–VCP/p97 in endocytosis and autophagy. J Struct Biol 179(2):78–82
- Byrnes KR, Washington PM, Knoblach SM, Hoffman E, Faden AI (2011) Delayed inflammatory mRNA and protein expression after spinal cord injury. J Neuroinflammation 8:130
- Capell A, Liebscher S, Fellerer K, Brouwers N, Willem M, Lammich S, Gijselinck I, Bittner T, Carlson AM, Sasse F, Kunze B, Steinmetz H, Jansen R, Dormann D, Sleegers K, Cruts M, Herms J, Van Broeckhoven C, Haass C (2011) Rescue of progranulin deficiency associated with frontotemporal lobar degeneration by alkalizing reagents and inhibition of vacuolar ATPase. J Neurosci 31(5):1885–1894
- Carcel-Trullols J, Kovacs AD, Pearce DA (2015) Cell biology of the NCL proteins: what they do and don't do. Biochim Biophys Acta 1852(10 Pt B):2242–2255
- Cenik B, Sephton CF, Dewey CM, Xian X, Wei S, Yu K, Niu W, Coppola G, Coughlin SE, Lee SE, Dries DR, Almeida S, Geschwind DH, Gao FB, Miller BL, Farese RV Jr, Posner BA, Yu G, Herz J (2011) Suberoylanilide hydroxamic acid (vorinostat) up-regulates progranulin transcription: rational therapeutic approach to frontotemporal dementia. J Biol Chem 286(18):16101–16108
- Cenik B, Sephton CF, Kutluk Cenik B, Herz J, Yu G (2012) Progranulin: a proteolytically processed protein at the crossroads of inflammation and neurodegeneration. J Biol Chem 287(39):32298–32306
- Chang WS, Wang YH, Zhu XT, Wu CJ (2017) Genome-wide profiling of miRNA and mRNA expression in Alzheimer's disease. Med Sci Monit 23:2721–2731
- Chen-Plotkin AS, Martinez-Lage M, Sleiman PM, Hu W, Greene R, Wood EM, Bing S, Grossman M, Schellenberg GD, Hatanpaa KJ, Weiner MF, White CL 3rd, Brooks WS, Halliday GM, Kril JJ, Gearing M, Beach TG, Graff-Radford NR, Dickson DW, Rademakers R, Boeve BF, Pickering-Brown SM, Snowden J, van Swieten JC, Heutink P, Seelaar H, Murrell JR, Ghetti B, Spina S, Grafman J, Kaye JA, Woltjer RL, Mesulam M, Bigio E, Llado A, Miller BL, Alzualde A, Moreno F, Rohrer JD, Mackenzie IR, Feldman HH, Hamilton RL, Cruts M, Engelborghs S, De Deyn PP, Van Broeckhoven C, Bird TD, Cairns NJ, Goate A, Frosch MP, Riederer PF, Bogdanovic N, Lee VM, Trojanowski JQ, Van Deerlin VM (2011) Genetic and clinical features of progranulin-associated frontotemporal lobar degeneration. Arch Neurol 68(4):488–497
- Chen-Plotkin AS, Unger TL, Gallagher MD, Bill E, Kwong LK, Volpicelli-Daley L, Busch JI, Akle S, Grossman M, Van Deerlin V, Trojanowski JQ, Lee VM (2012) TMEM106B, the risk gene for frontotemporal dementia, is regulated by the microRNA-132/212 cluster and affects progranulin pathways. J Neurosci 32(33):11213–11227

- Corrionero A, Horvitz HR (2018) A C9orf72 ALS/FTD ortholog acts in endolysosomal degradation and lysosomal homeostasis. Curr Biol 28(10):1522–1535, e1525
- Cruts M, Gijselinck I, van der Zee J, Engelborghs S, Wils H, Pirici D, Rademakers R, Vandenberghe R, Dermaut B, Martin JJ, van Duijn C, Peeters K, Sciot R, Santens P, De Pooter T, Mattheijssens M, Van den Broeck M, Cuijt I, Vennekens K, De Deyn PP, Kumar-Singh S, Van Broeckhoven C (2006) Null mutations in progranulin cause ubiquitin-positive frontotemporal dementia linked to chromosome 17q21. Nature 442(7105):920–924
- Evers BM, Rodriguez-Navas C, Tesla RJ, Prange-Kiel J, Wasser CR, Yoo KS, McDonald J, Cenik B, Ravenscroft TA, Plattner F, Rademakers R, Yu G, White CL 3rd, Herz J (2017) Lipidomic and transcriptomic basis of lysosomal dysfunction in progranulin deficiency. Cell Rep 20(11):2565–2574
- Feng JQ, Guo FJ, Jiang BC, Zhang Y, Frenkel S, Wang DW, Tang W, Xie Y, Liu CJ (2010) Granulin epithelin precursor: a bone morphogenic protein 2-inducible growth factor that activates Erk1/2 signaling and JunB transcription factor in chondrogenesis. FASEB J 24(6):1879–1892
- Gao X, Joselin AP, Wang L, Kar A, Ray P, Bateman A, Goate AM, Wu JY (2010) Progranulin promotes neurite outgrowth and neuronal differentiation by regulating GSK-3beta. Protein Cell 1(6):552–562
- Gass J, Cannon A, Mackenzie IR, Boeve B, Baker M, Adamson J, Crook R, Melquist S, Kuntz K, Petersen R, Josephs K, Pickering-Brown SM, Graff-Radford N, Uitti R, Dickson D, Wszolek Z, Gonzalez J, Beach TG, Bigio E, Johnson N, Weintraub S, Mesulam M, White CL 3rd, Woodruff B, Caselli R, Hsiung GY, Feldman H, Knopman D, Hutton M, Rademakers R (2006) Mutations in progranulin are a major cause of ubiquitin-positive frontotemporal lobar degeneration. Hum Mol Genet 15(20):2988–3001
- Gieselmann V, Hasilik A, von Figura K (1985) Processing of human cathepsin D in lysosomes in vitro. J Biol Chem 260(5):3215–3220
- Götzl JK, Mori K, Damme M, Fellerer K, Tahirovic S, Kleinberger G, Janssens J, van der Zee J, Lang CM, Kremmer E, Martin JJ, Engelborghs S, Kretzschmar HA, Arzberger T, Van Broeckhoven C, Haass C, Capell A (2014) Common pathobiochemical hallmarks of progranulin-associated frontotemporal lobar degeneration and neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis. Acta Neuropathol 127(6):845–860
- Götzl JK, Lang CM, Haass C, Capell A (2016) Impaired protein degradation in FTLD and related disorders. Ageing Res Rev 32:122–139
- Hasegawa M, Nonaka T, Tsuji H, Tamaoka A, Yamashita M, Kametani F, Yoshida M, Arai T, Akiyama H (2011) Molecular dissection of TDP-43 proteinopathies. J Mol Neurosci 45(3):480–485
- He Z, Ismail A, Kriazhev L, Sadvakassova G, Bateman A (2002) Progranulin (PC-cell-derived growth factor/acrogranin) regulates invasion and cell survival. Cancer Res 62(19):5590–5596
- Holler CJ, Taylor G, McEachin ZT, Deng Q, Watkins WJ, Hudson K, Easley CA, Hu WT, Hales CM, Rossoll W, Bassell GJ, Kukar T (2016) Trehalose upregulates progranulin expression in human and mouse models of GRN haploinsufficiency: a novel therapeutic lead to treat frontotemporal dementia. Mol Neurodegener 11(1):46
- Holler CJ, Taylor G, Deng Q, Kukar T (2017) Intracellular proteolysis of progranulin generates stable, lysosomal granulins that are haploinsufficient in patients with frontotemporal dementia caused by GRN mutations. eNeuro 4(4)
- Hu F, Padukkavidana T, Vaegter CB, Brady OA, Zheng Y, Mackenzie IR, Feldman HH, Nykjaer A, Strittmatter SM (2010) Sortilin-mediated endocytosis determines levels of the frontotemporal dementia protein, progranulin. Neuron 68(4):654–667
- Hulkova H, Cervenkova M, Ledvinova J, Tochackova M, Hrebicek M, Poupetova H, Befekadu A, Berna L, Paton BC, Harzer K, Boor A, Smid F, Elleder M (2001) A novel mutation in the coding region of the prosaposin gene leads to a complete deficiency of prosaposin and saposins, and is associated with a complex sphingolipidosis dominated by lactosylceramide accumulation. Hum Mol Genet 10(9):927–940

- Jian J, Tian QY, Hettinghouse A, Zhao S, Liu H, Wei J, Grunig G, Zhang W, Setchell KDR, Sun Y, Overkleeft HS, Chan GL, Liu CJ (2016a) Progranulin recruits HSP70 to beta-glucocerebrosidase and is therapeutic against gaucher disease. EBioMedicine 13:212–224
- Jian J, Zhao S, Tian QY, Liu H, Zhao Y, Chen WC, Grunig G, Torres PA, Wang BC, Zeng B, Pastores G, Tang W, Sun Y, Grabowski GA, Kong MX, Wang G, Chen Y, Liang F, Overkleeft HS, Saunders-Pullman R, Chan GL, Liu CJ (2016b) Association between progranulin and gaucher disease. EBioMedicine 11:127–137
- Ju JS, Weihl CC (2010) Inclusion body myopathy, Paget's disease of the bone and fronto-temporal dementia: a disorder of autophagy. Hum Mol Genet 19(R1):R38–R45
- Kao AW, McKay A, Singh PP, Brunet A, Huang EJ (2017) Progranulin, lysosomal regulation and neurodegenerative disease. Nat Rev Neurosci 18(6):325–333
- Karch CM, Cruchaga C, Goate AM (2014) Alzheimer's disease genetics: from the bench to the clinic. Neuron 83(1):11–26
- Kessenbrock K, Frohlich L, Sixt M, Lammermann T, Pfister H, Bateman A, Belaaouaj A, Ring J, Ollert M, Fassler R, Jenne DE (2008) Proteinase 3 and neutrophil elastase enhance inflammation in mice by inactivating antiinflammatory progranulin. J Clin Invest 118(7):2438–2447
- Khouri HE, Plouffe C, Hasnain S, Hirama T, Storer AC, Menard R (1991) A model to explain the pH-dependent specificity of cathepsin B-catalysed hydrolyses. Biochem J 275(Pt 3):751–757
- Kishimoto Y, Hiraiwa M, O'Brien JS (1992) Saposins: structure, function, distribution, and molecular genetics. J Lipid Res 33(9):1255–1267
- Klein ZA, Takahashi H, Ma M, Stagi M, Zhou M, Lam TT, Strittmatter SM (2017) Loss of TMEM106B ameliorates lysosomal and frontotemporal dementia-related phenotypes in progranulin-deficient mice. Neuron 95(2):281–296, e286
- Lee CW, Stankowski JN, Chew J, Cook CN, Lam YW, Almeida S, Carlomagno Y, Lau KF, Prudencio M, Gao FB, Bogyo M, Dickson DW, Petrucelli L (2017) The lysosomal protein cathepsin L is a progranulin protease. Mol Neurodegener 12(1):55
- Lubke T, Lobel P, Sleat DE (2009) Proteomics of the lysosome. Biochim Biophys Acta 1793(4):625–635
- Luciani F, Spada M, De Milito A, Molinari A, Rivoltini L, Montinaro A, Marra M, Lugini L, Logozzi M, Lozupone F, Federici C, Iessi E, Parmiani G, Arancia G, Belardelli F, Fais S (2004) Effect of proton pump inhibitor pretreatment on resistance of solid tumors to cytotoxic drugs. J Natl Cancer Inst 96(22):1702–1713
- Lui H, Zhang J, Makinson SR, Cahill MK, Kelley KW, Huang HY, Shang Y, Oldham MC, Martens LH, Gao F, Coppola G, Sloan SA, Hsieh CL, Kim CC, Bigio EH, Weintraub S, Mesulam MM, Rademakers R, Mackenzie IR, Seeley WW, Karydas A, Miller BL, Borroni B, Ghidoni R, Farese RV Jr, Paz JT, Barres BA, Huang EJ (2016) Progranulin deficiency promotes circuit-specific synaptic pruning by microglia via complement activation. Cell 165(4):921–935
- Mackenzie IR, Baker M, Pickering-Brown S, Hsiung GY, Lindholm C, Dwosh E, Gass J, Cannon A, Rademakers R, Hutton M, Feldman HH (2006) The neuropathology of frontotemporal lobar degeneration caused by mutations in the progranulin gene. Brain 129(Pt 11):3081–3090
- Marotta D, Tinelli E, Mole SE (2017) NCLs and ER: a stressful relationship. Biochim Biophys Acta 1863(6):1273–1281
- Meyer HH (2005) Golgi reassembly after mitosis: the AAA family meets the ubiquitin family. Biochim Biophys Acta 1744(3):481–492
- Meyer RC, Giddens MM, Coleman BM, Hall RA (2014) The protective role of prosaposin and its receptors in the nervous system. Brain Res 1585:1–12
- Mindell JA (2012) Lysosomal acidification mechanisms. Annu Rev Physiol 74:69-86
- Monami G, Gonzalez EM, Hellman M, Gomella LG, Baffa R, Iozzo RV, Morrione A (2006) Proepithelin promotes migration and invasion of 5637 bladder cancer cells through the activation of ERK1/2 and the formation of a paxillin/FAK/ERK complex. Cancer Res 66(14):7103–7110
- Mukherjee O, Pastor P, Cairns NJ, Chakraverty S, Kauwe JS, Shears S, Behrens MI, Budde J, Hinrichs AL, Norton J, Levitch D, Taylor-Reinwald L, Gitcho M, Tu PH, Tenenholz Grinberg L, Liscic RM, Armendariz J, Morris JC, Goate AM (2006) HDDD2 is a familial frontotemporal

lobar degeneration with ubiquitin-positive, tau-negative inclusions caused by a missense mutation in the signal peptide of progranulin. Ann Neurol 60(3):314–322

- Naphade SB, Kigerl KA, Jakeman LB, Kostyk SK, Popovich PG, Kuret J (2010) Progranulin expression is upregulated after spinal contusion in mice. Acta Neuropathol 119(1):123–133
- Neumann M, Sampathu DM, Kwong LK, Truax AC, Micsenyi MC, Chou TT, Bruce J, Schuck T, Grossman M, Clark CM, McCluskey LF, Miller BL, Masliah E, Mackenzie IR, Feldman H, Feiden W, Kretzschmar HA, Trojanowski JQ, Lee VM (2006) Ubiquitinated TDP-43 in frontotemporal lobar degeneration and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Science 314(5796):130–133
- Nguyen AD, Nguyen TA, Zhang J, Devireddy S, Zhou P, Karydas AM, Xu X, Miller BL, Rigo F, Ferguson SM, Huang EJ, Walther TC, Farese RV Jr (2018) Murine knockin model for progranulin-deficient frontotemporal dementia with nonsense-mediated mRNA decay. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 115(12):E2849–E2858
- Nonaka T, Masuda-Suzukake M, Hasegawa M (2018) Molecular mechanisms of the co-deposition of multiple pathological proteins in neurodegenerative diseases. Neuropathology 38(1):64–71
- Pereson S, Wils H, Kleinberger G, McGowan E, Vandewoestyne M, Van Broeck B, Joris G, Cuijt I, Deforce D, Hutton M, Van Broeckhoven C, Kumar-Singh S (2009) Progranulin expression correlates with dense-core amyloid plaque burden in Alzheimer disease mouse models. J Pathol 219(2):173–181
- Pitcairn C, Wani WY, Mazzulli JR (2019) Dysregulation of the autophagic-lysosomal pathway in Gaucher and Parkinson's disease. Neurobiol Dis. 122:72–82
- Sardiello M, Palmieri M, di Ronza A, Medina DL, Valenza M, Gennarino VA, Di Malta C, Donaudy F, Embrione V, Polishchuk RS, Banfi S, Parenti G, Cattaneo E, Ballabio A (2009) A gene network regulating lysosomal biogenesis and function. Science 325(5939):473–477
- Sargeant TJ (2016) Commentary: possible involvement of lysosomal dysfunction in pathological changes of the brain in aged progranulin-deficient mice. Front Aging Neurosci 8:11
- Schulze H, Sandhoff K (2014) Sphingolipids and lysosomal pathologies. Biochim Biophys Acta 1841(5):799–810
- Schymick JC, Talbot K, Traynor BJ (2007) Genetics of sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Hum Mol Genet 16(2):R233–R242
- Settembre C, Zoncu R, Medina DL, Vetrini F, Erdin S, Erdin S, Huynh T, Ferron M, Karsenty G, Vellard MC, Facchinetti V, Sabatini DM, Ballabio A (2012) A lysosome-to-nucleus signalling mechanism senses and regulates the lysosome via mTOR and TFEB. EMBO J 31(5):1095–1108
- Settembre C, Fraldi A, Medina DL, Ballabio A (2013) Signals from the lysosome: a control centre for cellular clearance and energy metabolism. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 14(5):283–296
- Smith KR, Damiano J, Franceschetti S, Carpenter S, Canafoglia L, Morbin M, Rossi G, Pareyson D, Mole SE, Staropoli JF, Sims KB, Lewis J, Lin WL, Dickson DW, Dahl HH, Bahlo M, Berkovic SF (2012) Strikingly different clinicopathological phenotypes determined by progranulin-mutation dosage. Am J Hum Genet 90(6):1102–1107
- Song L, Lee C, Schindler C (2011) Deletion of the murine scavenger receptor CD68. J Lipid Res 52(8):1542–1550
- Songsrirote K, Li Z, Ashford D, Bateman A, Thomas-Oates J (2010) Development and application of mass spectrometric methods for the analysis of progranulin N-glycosylation. J Proteome 73(8):1479–1490
- Suzuki M, Yoshida S, Nishihara M, Takahashi M (1998) Identification of a sex steroid-inducible gene in the neonatal rat hypothalamus. Neurosci Lett 242(3):127–130
- Takahashi H, Klein ZA, Bhagat SM, Kaufman AC, Kostylev MA, Ikezu T, Strittmatter SM, Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging I (2017) Opposing effects of progranulin deficiency on amyloid and tau pathologies via microglial TYROBP network. Acta Neuropathol 133(5):785–807
- Tan RH, Ke YD, Ittner LM, Halliday GM (2017) ALS/FTLD: experimental models and reality. Acta Neuropathol 133(2):177–196
- Tanaka Y, Matsuwaki T, Yamanouchi K, Nishihara M (2013a) Exacerbated inflammatory responses related to activated microglia after traumatic brain injury in progranulin-deficient mice. Neuroscience 231:49–60

- Tanaka Y, Matsuwaki T, Yamanouchi K, Nishihara M (2013b) Increased lysosomal biogenesis in activated microglia and exacerbated neuronal damage after traumatic brain injury in progranulin-deficient mice. Neuroscience 250:8–19
- Tanaka Y, Chambers JK, Matsuwaki T, Yamanouchi K, Nishihara M (2014) Possible involvement of lysosomal dysfunction in pathological changes of the brain in aged progranulin-deficient mice. Acta Neuropathol Commun 2:78
- Tanaka Y, Suzuki G, Matsuwaki T, Hosokawa M, Serrano G, Beach TG, Yamanouchi K, Hasegawa M, Nishihara M (2017) Progranulin regulates lysosomal function and biogenesis through acidification of lysosomes. Hum Mol Genet 26(5):969–988
- Valdez C, Wong YC, Schwake M, Bu G, Wszolek ZK, Krainc D (2017) Progranulin-mediated deficiency of cathepsin D results in FTD and NCL-like phenotypes in neurons derived from FTD patients. Hum Mol Genet 26(24):4861–4872
- Van Deerlin VM, Sleiman PM, Martinez-Lage M, Chen-Plotkin A, Wang LS, Graff-Radford NR, Dickson DW, Rademakers R, Boeve BF, Grossman M, Arnold SE, Mann DM, Pickering-Brown SM, Seelaar H, Heutink P, van Swieten JC, Murrell JR, Ghetti B, Spina S, Grafman J, Hodges J, Spillantini MG, Gilman S, Lieberman AP, Kaye JA, Woltjer RL, Bigio EH, Mesulam M, Al-Sarraj S, Troakes C, Rosenberg RN, White CL 3rd, Ferrer I, Llado A, Neumann M, Kretzschmar HA, Hulette CM, Welsh-Bohmer KA, Miller BL, Alzualde A, Lopez de Munain A, McKee AC, Gearing M, Levey AI, Lah JJ, Hardy J, Rohrer JD, Lashley T, Mackenzie IR, Feldman HH, Hamilton RL, Dekosky ST, van der Zee J, Kumar-Singh S, Van Broeckhoven C, Mayeux R, Vonsattel JP, Troncoso JC, Kril JJ, Kwok JB, Halliday GM, Bird TD, Ince PG, Shaw PJ, Cairns NJ, Morris JC, McLean CA, DeCarli C, Ellis WG, Freeman SH, Frosch MP, Growdon JH, Perl DP, Sano M, Bennett DA, Schneider JA, Beach TG, Reiman EM, Woodruff BK, Cummings J, Vinters HV, Miller CA, Chui HC, Alafuzoff I, Hartikainen P, Seilhean D, Galasko D, Masliah E, Cotman CW, Tunon MT, Martinez MC, Munoz DG, Carroll SL, Marson D, Riederer PF, Bogdanovic N, Schellenberg GD, Hakonarson H, Trojanowski JO, Lee VM (2010) Common variants at 7p21 are associated with frontotemporal lobar degeneration with TDP-43 inclusions. Nat Genet 42(3):234-239
- van Swieten JC, Heutink P (2008) Mutations in progranulin (GRN) within the spectrum of clinical and pathological phenotypes of frontotemporal dementia. Lancet Neurol 7(10):965–974
- Wang WX, Wilfred BR, Madathil SK, Tang G, Hu Y, Dimayuga J, Stromberg AJ, Huang Q, Saatman KE, Nelson PT (2010) miR-107 regulates granulin/progranulin with implications for traumatic brain injury and neurodegenerative disease. Am J Pathol 177(1):334–345
- Ward ME, Chen R, Huang HY, Ludwig C, Telpoukhovskaia M, Taubes A, Boudin H, Minami SS, Reichert M, Albrecht P, Gelfand JM, Cruz-Herranz A, Cordano C, Alavi MV, Leslie S, Seeley WW, Miller BL, Bigio E, Mesulam MM, Bogyo MS, Mackenzie IR, Staropoli JF, Cotman SL, Huang EJ, Gan L, Green AJ (2017) Individuals with progranulin haploinsufficiency exhibit features of neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis. Sci Transl Med 9(385):1946
- Wils H, Kleinberger G, Pereson S, Janssens J, Capell A, Van Dam D, Cuijt I, Joris G, De Deyn PP, Haass C, Van Broeckhoven C, Kumar-Singh S (2012) Cellular ageing, increased mortality and FTLD-TDP-associated neuropathology in progranulin knockout mice. J Pathol 228(1):67–76
- Xu J, Xilouri M, Bruban J, Shioi J, Shao Z, Papazoglou I, Vekrellis K, Robakis NK (2011) Extracellular progranulin protects cortical neurons from toxic insults by activating survival signaling. Neurobiol Aging 32(12):2326 e2325–2326 e2316
- Zhang D, Hu X, Qian L, O'Callaghan JP, Hong JS (2010) Astrogliosis in CNS pathologies: is there a role for microglia? Mol Neurobiol 41(2–3):232–241
- Zhou X, Sun L, Bastos de Oliveira F, Qi X, Brown WJ, Smolka MB, Sun Y, Hu F (2015) Prosaposin facilitates sortilin-independent lysosomal trafficking of progranulin. J Cell Biol 210(6):991–1002

- Zhou X, Paushter DH, Feng T, Pardon CM, Mendoza CS, Hu F (2017a) Regulation of cathepsin D activity by the FTLD protein progranulin. Acta Neuropathol 134(1):151–153
- Zhou X, Paushter DH, Feng T, Sun L, Reinheckel T, Hu F (2017b) Lysosomal processing of progranulin. Mol Neurodegener 12(1):62
- Zhou X, Sullivan PM, Sun L, Hu F (2017c) The interaction between programulin and prosaposin is mediated by granulins and the linker region between saposin B and C. J Neurochem 143(2):236–243
- Zhou X, Sun L, Bracko O, Choi JW, Jia Y, Nana AL, Brady OA, Hernandez JCC, Nishimura N, Seeley WW, Hu F (2017d) Impaired prosaposin lysosomal trafficking in frontotemporal lobar degeneration due to progranulin mutations. Nat Commun 8:15277
Progranulin in Sexual Differentiation of the Developing Brain



Masatoshi Suzuki

Abstract During the perinatal period (or known as the critical period), sexdependent differentiation of the brain occurs in response to sex steroids. Steroid hormone exposure (androgen and estrogen) can induce masculinization during the critical period, otherwise the brain develops as feminine by default. Our previous studies indicated that progranulin (PGRN) gene would be involved in masculinization of developing brain in rats. In the neonatal rat hypothalamus, administering androgen and estrogen significantly increased expression of PGRN mRNA. The level of PGRN mRNA expression remained high in males throughout the critical period of sexual differentiation in the brain; however, in females PGRN mRNA expression gradually decreased. We detected high levels of PGRN mRNA in the ventromedial hypothalamic and arcuate nuclei of the hypothalamus. Next, we designed complementary antisense oligodeoxynucleotides to the PGRN mRNA sequence and injected them into the third ventricle of newborn male rats. After sexual maturation, the treated rats displayed significantly lower scores than the controls in a variety of tests assessing copulatory behavior. Interestingly, PGRNdeficient mice also exhibited a decrease in a specific parameter of male sexual behavior. Altogether, our studies demonstrate that PGRN critically works for the organization of the neuronal system that controls male-specific functions in the developing brain.

Keywords Brain · Estrogen · Neurogenesis · Progranulin · Sexual dimorphism

Introduction

A growth modulatory protein Progranulin (PGRN) has been known to have multifunctional roles in neurodegenerative disorders and normal brain development. PGRN is released by a multitude of cells, is a glycosylated protein, and is a potential

M. Suzuki (🖂)

Department of Comparative Biosciences and The Stem Cell and Regenerative Medicine Center, University of Wisconsin-Madison, Madison, WI, USA e-mail: masatoshi.suzuki@wisc.edu

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2019

H. Hara et al. (eds.), *Progranulin and Central Nervous System Disorders*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-6186-9_6

trigger for mitosis in cell culture (Bateman and Bennett 1998). Extracellular proteases can split PGRN into several granulin peptides, which likely have differing functions. Initially identified as peptides of approximately 6-kDa, some granulin peptides are capable of modulating the growth of cells in culture (Bateman and Bennett 1998). Many tissues and organs have been identified to highly express PGRN mRNA, including the reproductive organs, neural tissues, gastrointestinal tract, and endocrinal organs (Bhandari et al. 1993; Daniel et al. 2000).

The potential role of PGRN in the central nervous system (CNS) has attracted a decent amount of attention. Specifically, recent studies indicate that PGRN critically works for disease progression in neurodegenerative diseases (Ahmed et al. 2007; Baker et al. 2006; Cruts et al. 2006; Brouwers et al. 2008; Sleegers et al. 2008). Mutations in the PGRN gene have been reported as the cause of frontotemporal lobar degeneration (FTLD) (Baker et al. 2006; Cruts et al. 2006), which is characterized by massive degeneration in the frontal lobe and temporal lobe of the brain. Furthermore, FTLD is recognized as the common cause of dementia after Alzheimer's disease (AD). Aside from loss-of-function mutations in FTLD, potential links of PGRN have been proposed in a number of neurodegenerative diseases in which microglial activation occurs. The diseases include AD, lysosomal storage-deficient disorders, Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease, viral encephalitis, and motor neuron diseases such as Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis (ALS) (Ahmed et al. 2007). PGRN has also been shown to be involved in neurotrophic activity and neuroinflammation in the CNS (Ahmed et al. 2007; Eriksen and Mackenzie 2008).

While biological roles of PGRN still need to be explored, in the meantime we have proposed a specific role of this molecule as a sex steroid mediator during brain development (Suzuki and Nishihara 2002; Suzuki et al. 1998, 2001, 2009). Throughout this chapter, we summarize our previous works and recapitulate the existing knowledge surrounding the potential roles of PGRN as a sex steroid mediator in sexual differentiation of the rat brain during perinatal period.

Sex Steroids and Sexual Differentiation of the Developing Brain

Sexual differences have been characterized in anatomical and functional aspects commonly in mammals (Arnold and Gorski 1984; McCarthy 2008; Negri-Cesi et al. 2008). These differences are quite obvious in reproductive functions by influencing hormone levels and behaviors in the reproductive system. Hormones and neurotransmitters show different levels between the sexes, but degrees of sex variation have also been identified in non-sexual functions such as spatial orientation and verbal fluency, or adaptive mechanisms of the adrenal axis to stress (McCarthy and Konkle 2005). Interestingly, a number of studies indicated that these differences are often independent of genetic sex.

The mechanisms seem to be conserved throughout mammalian species for the organization of sexual differentiation in the brain, although there may be some spe-

cies differences. During brain development, a male sex hormone, androgen, plays critical roles in the organization of neural circuits responsible for sexual dimorphic functions. These neuronal circuits control neuroendocrine, behavioral, and cognitive functions with sex-dependent manners (Arnold and Gorski 1984; MacLusky and Naftolin 1981). The organization of neural circuits by androgen occurs during the specific developmental period known as the critical period. Sexual differentiation in the male brain (*i.e.* masculinization of the brain) is primarily induced by testicular androgen.

The mechanisms of sexual differentiation, including the timing and length of the critical period during development, are somewhat modified in some species. In rats, testicular androgen still plays a major role in sexual differentiation of the brain but an additional mechanism is required. In the brain, androgen needs to be metabolized into estrogen by an enzyme, aromatase, when it works to induce masculinization of the brain (McEwen et al. 1977). Indeed, high levels of aromatase are identified in the specific brain nuclei that anatomically and functionally demonstrate sexually dimorphism (McEwen et al. 1977; MacLusky et al. 1987). In female rats, the brain develops an essentially female phenotype in the absence of circulating androgen. Although developing ovaries produce estrogen in the serum, it does not have influence in the female brain. High levels of α -fetoprotein, a protein that tightly bonds to estrogen, are identified in developing fetuses. Serum estrogen in females binds to α -fetoprotein, which prevents the effects of estrogen in the female brain. Interestingly in rodents, administration of sex steroids or their inhibitors can disturb (or reverse) the organization of brain circuits that are originally defined by genetic sex. Androgen injection in perinatal female rats can permanently masculinize specific behaviors and neuroendocrine functions. High estrogen dosage can also induce masculinization of males and females, and seems to mirror the effects of endogenous androgen. During the critical period of sexual differentiation in the rat brain, any disturbance of the endogenous hormonal balance by environmental influences (*i.e.* exposure to endocrine disrupting chemicals) causes in anatomical and functional abnormalities of sexual differentiation in the specific brain regions (Dohler 1998).

Identification of PGRN as a Sex Steroid-Inducible Gene

Sex steroids exert profound and selective influences on brain development via controlling transcription and/or translation of genes that would potentially be responsible for neuronal and glial cell differentiation (Arnold and Gorski 1984; MacLusky and Naftolin 1981; McEwen et al. 1977). Most of the biological effects of sex steroids occur through interactions with steroid receptors, which can work as transcriptional factors for a variety of downstream genes. The concept that transcriptional regulation via sex steroids is critical for the structural and functional sexual differentiation of the brain. This concept is supported by an early study using nucleoplasmic RNA polymerase inhibitors (Stanley et al. 1986). This led us to generating a new hypothesis that by analyzing the specific gene expression or

protein synthesis induced by sex steroids. We can efficiently come to understand the mechanism behind the sexual differentiation of the brain (Yonehara et al. 2002a, b, 2003).

In order to explore this hypothesis, we thought to pinpoint genes with contrasting expression between sexes or expression triggered by steroid treatment in the neonatal rat hypothalamus (Fig. 1) (Suzuki et al. 1998). We used an efficient method named the cDNA subtraction method to isolate clones that are disproportionately distributed between two different samples of cells or tissues (Tanaka et al. 1992). At day 2 post-birth (day 0 = the day of birth), female rats were subcutaneously injected with androgen (testosterone propionate, TP; 1 mg). This treatment has been shown to dysregulate the estrous cycle and render it constant in all the treated rats when they matured (Barraclough 1961). In a separate cohort of female pups, sesame oil was injected as a control. At day 5, all hypothalamic tissues were collected and used to prepare the cDNA libraries. The cDNA sequences from two sample groups were mixed, denatured, and hybridized in the reaction solution. Single-strand DNA sequences were isolated by hydroxylapatite chromatography and amplified by



Fig. 1 Schematic illustration of the procedure for cDNA subtraction. (Suzuki et al. 1998, 2009)

PCR. The amplified PCR products were cloned to the phage vector and produced a subtracted cDNA library. Differential hybridization was then performed using duplicate filters. These filters were prepared from the subtracted cDNA library with the subtracted cDNA probe and the control hypothalamus cDNA probe. After the screening of 6×10^5 clones from the subtracted library, 52 clones were selected with a strong hybridization signal to the subtracted probe. The sequencing of these clones revealed that 32 of the 52 clones were partial homologs of the PGRN gene (Bateman and Bennett 1998; Shoyab et al. 1990; Bhandari et al. 1993). This result indicated that PGRN mRNA expression was specifically increased by androgen treatment in the neonatal rat hypothalamus.

Changes and Localization of PGRN mRNA in the Neonatal Rat Brain

To confirm the result of cDNA subtraction, PGRN mRNA level in the hypothalamus was determined by Northern blot using the isolated DNA fragment as a probe (Fig. 2) (Suzuki et al. 1998). PGRN gene expression in 5-day-old pups was significantly high in the hypothalamus of both male and androgenized (TP-treated) female when compared to the control female. Further, we compared PGRN mRNA expression in the hypothalamus between intact males and females during the perinatal period. The level of PGRN mRNA is maintained at high levels throughout the critical period in the hypothalamus of male rats. In contrast, PGRN mRNA expression was gradually decreased in females after birth.



Fig. 2 Effect of androgen treatment on PGRN gene in the neonatal rat hypothalamus. Two-dayold female rats were treated with either 1 mg of testosterone propionate (TP) or its vehicle. Each group of hypothalami was collected at 5 days of age, and mRNA was extracted and used for the Northern hybridization to detect the expression of PGRN or internal control gene (glyceraldehydes-3-phosphate dehydrogenase; G3PDH). (This figure is reproduced from Suzuki et al. 1998; Suzuki and Nishihara 2002)



Fig. 3 Changes in PGRN mRNA expression levels in the hypothalamus of intact male and female rats during the perinatal period. Each value was normalized using the value of internal control gene (glyceraldehydes-3-phosphate dehydrogenase; G3PDH), relative to the defining value of 100 in males 1 day before birth. (This figure is reproduced from Suzuki et al. 1998); Suzuki and Nishihara 2002)

Next, we determined PGRN mRNA localization in the brain of our rats by *in situ* hybridization (Fig. 3) (Suzuki et al. 1998). In the male rat brain, PGRN mRNA was highly expressed in the specific nuclei of the hypothalamus: ventromedial hypothalamic (VMH) and arcuate nuclei. Interestingly, these hypothalamic nuclei are known as the brain areas where sex steroids affect the synaptic structures with a dense assembly of estrogen receptors. Furthermore, VMH has been known to serve the dimorphism of sexual behavior in rats.

Intraventricular Injection of PGRN Antisense Oligodeoxynucleotide in Neonatal Male Rats

Based on different patterns of PGRN gene expression in males and females, we hypothesized that high levels of PGRN expression in the neonatal hypothalamus critically impacts masculinization of the brain. To explore our hypothesis, we used the antisense oligodeoxynucleotides (ODNs) to block translation of the selective mRNA to protein (Suzuki et al. 2000). To achieve sufficient deliver of antisense ODNs into the cells, we used engineered liposomes incorporated with inactivated Sendai virus (hemagglutinating virus of Japan; HVJ) (Yamada et al. 1996; Matsuo et al. 2000). We used HVJ-liposome antisense ODN complexes to specifically inhibit PGRN expression in the neonatal brain, and we then tested sexual behavior after the animals got matured.. At 2 days of age, we injected male rats with a PGRN complementary antisense ODN conjugated with HVJ-liposome (injection site at third ventricle). Upon maturation, the antisense ODN-treated animals had compromised male sexual behaviors as adults (Suzuki et al. 2000).

We tested copulatory behaviors of males without prior sexual experience for 30 minutes using estrogen-primed progesterone-injected ovariectomized females.



Fig. 4 Aberration of male sexual behaviors in male rats treated neonatally with the antisense oligodeoxynucleotide (ODN) complementary to PGRN mRNA sequence. Each column and vertical bar represent the mean \pm SEM (n = 18 for AS, 12 for CO, and 11 for VE). When the male ejaculated during the 30 min of the experimental period, the number of mounts and intromissions from the point of female introduction to the first ejaculation was converted into the number per 30 min. AS, antisense ODN; CO, control ODN; VE, vehicle (HVJ-liposome). *: P < 0.05 vs CO; \dagger : P < 0.05 vs VE. (This figure is reproduced from Suzuki et al. 2000, Suzuki and Nishihara 2002)

The antisense ODN treated rats showed a decrease in copulatory behaviors, especially that of ejaculation and post-ejaculation mounting; although, the difference did not reach significance. Frequencies of specific male behaviors, such as mounting, intromission, and ejaculation, were significantly decreased in the antisense ODNtreated group compared to the vehicle-treated group (Fig. 4). The frequency of mounting in the antisense ODN-treated group was also significantly lower than in the control-ODN group. Interestingly, the serum concentrations of reproductive hormones (testosterone and luteinizing hormones) were not affected by the antisense ODN treatment at the neonatal stage. Altogether, these results indicate that the organization of the male-specific neuronal network requires a sustained PGRN mRNA expression at high levels in the mediobasal hypothalamus during the critical period.

Sexual Dimorphic Behaviors in PGRN Knockout Mice

Next, we investigated male sexual behavior, aggression and anxiety in a line of mice with targeted disruption of the PGRN gene (Kayasuga et al. 2007). Gene knockout animals would work as an alternative tool to study the biological roles of PGRN *in vivo*. PGRN-deficient mice displayed a decreased level of ejaculation frequency. In contrast, the delay and occurrence of both mounting and intromission were unchanged. When the resident-intruder paradigm was used to test hostility, PGRN-deficient mice showed an increase in hostility. We found decreased levels of anxiety in wild-type

male mice compared to females by the open field test. Elevated anxiety levels were identified in PGRN-deficient males, although sex differences in anxiety were not displayed. Interestingly, gene expression of the serotonergic receptor 5-HT1A was decreased in the hippocampus of PGRN-deficient mice after aggressive encounters, which is potentially related to aggression and anxiety inhibition. Conversely, PGRN gene deficiency did not influence serum testosterone levels. These studies using PGRN-deficient mice show that PGRN plays at least a partial role in establishing sexual dimorphic behaviors through modulating the brain serotonergic system.

PGRN and Endocrine Disruptors

Endocrine disruptors, also known as environmental endocrine-disrupting chemicals (EDCs), are exogenous chemical substances that act like endogenous hormones and interrupt their biological functions in the endocrine system (Waldron and Naber 1974). EDCs are potentially harmful effects in animals, because low-level or long-term exposure of these substrates may cause comparable effects in humans. Specifically, the malleability and the high reactivity are high in the fetal brain. If the exposure to ECDs occurs during the critical period of brain sexual differentiation, it might cause adverse effects on reproductive functions (Dohler 1998; Suzuki et al. 2004).

Following our observations of the steroid-dependent induction and sexually dimorphic expression patterns, we hypothesized that the PGRN expression could work as a sensitive indicator for evaluating sex steroid properties of EDCs in the neonatal brain. To test this hypothesis, we determined how the perinatal exposure of some phthalate/adipate esters influences PGRN mRNA level in the neonatal hypothalamus and sexual behaviors after maturation (Fig. 5). Phthalate/adipate esters have been known as types of EDCs that potentially disturb the endocrine system, Perinatal exposure to these chemicals significantly affected PGRN expression in the hypothalamic tissues of male and female rats (Fig. 5). Additionally, the exposure to these chemical compounds during the critical period averted sexual behaviors at maturity. Our results indicate that perinatal exposure to ECDs may influence PGRN gene expression in the hypothalamus of neonatal rats, which leads permanent effects on the hypothalamus and changes the exhibition of sexual behaviors after maturation.

Conclusion

Increased levels of sex steroids during the critical period significantly increased PGRN gene expression in the rat brain. The studies using antisense-ODNs and PGRN-knockout mice indicate that PGRN expression critically works for the organization of the brain system to manifest sexual dimorphic behaviors. PGRN expression would work as a good indicator to evaluate the estrogenic or anti-estrogenic effects of EDCs.



Fig. 5 Increased expression of PGRN mRNA by in the hypothalamus of 6-day-old (A) and 10-day-old (B) rats. Two different estrogens were used, ethinyl estradiol (EE) or estradiol benzoate (EB). EE was orally administered to dams from 15 days of gestation to the day of sampling, while EB was subcutaneously injected into the pups at day 2 (day 0 = the day of birth). Each group of hypothalami was collected, and mRNA was extracted and used for semi-competitive RT-PCR using PGRN or G3PDH primers. Each value was normalized using G3PDH values and is presented relatively, with the values in the control males defined as 100%. *: P < 0.05 vs. other groups in A. In B, values with the same letter are not significantly different (P > 0.05). (This figure is reproduced from (Suzuki et al. 2001, Suzuki and Nishihara 2002)



Fig. 6 Proposed roles of PGRN for sexual differentiation of the rat brain. Estrogen metabolized from androgen by aromatase increases PGRN expression in neurons. The secreted PGRN or cleaved granulin (GRN) peptides modulates the proliferation and differentiation of neurons and/or glial cells in an autocrine and/or paracrine manner, and consequently masculinizes the neuronal circuit in developing brain. Exposure to endocrine disruptors (EDCs) may lead inappropriate expression of PGRN gene. Astrocytes may contribute to control the levels of PGRN and GRN peptides. (This figure is modified from Suzuki et al. 2009)

These observations support our fundamental hypothesis: PGRN is involved in the organization of the male brain during the critical period. Although specific roles of PGRN in the CNS development remain unknown, PGRN may modulate the proliferation and/or differentiation of neurons and/or glial cells in an autocrine or paracrine manner. Consequently, PGRN may contribute to formulate the neuronal circuit required for exhibiting sexual dimorphic behaviors (Fig. 6). Further studies are valuable to elucidate how sex steroids modulate PGRN expression in the developing CNS.

Acknowledgements Research in the author's current laboratory was funded in part by the grant from NIH/NINDS (R01NS091540) and the University of Wisconsin Foundation. The author is extremely grateful to Mr. Jeremy Jeffrey and Ms. Samantha Robertson for helpful comments and editing on the manuscript.

References

Ahmed Z, Mackenzie IR, Hutton ML, Dickson DW (2007) Progranulin in frontotemporal lobar degeneration and neuroinflammation. J Neuroinflammation 4:7

Arnold AP, Gorski RA (1984) Gonadal steroid induction of structural sex differences in the central nervous system. Annu Rev Neurosci 7:413–442

- Baker M, Mackenzie IR, Pickering-Brown SM, Gass J, Rademakers R, Lindholm C, Snowden J, Adamson J, Sadovnick AD, Rollinson S, Cannon A, Dwosh E, Neary D, Melquist S, Richardson A, Dickson D, Berger Z, Eriksen J, Robinson T, Zehr C, Dickey CA, Crook R, Mcgowan E, Mann D, BOEVE B, Feldman H, Hutton M (2006) Mutations in progranulin cause tau-negative frontotemporal dementia linked to chromosome 17. Nature 442:916–919
- Barraclough CA (1961) Production of anovulatory, sterile rats by single injections of testosterone propionate. Endocrinology 68:62–67
- Bateman A, Bennett HP (1998) Granulins: the structure and function of an emerging family of growth factors. J Endocrinol 158:145–151
- Bhandari V, Giaid A, Bateman A (1993) The complementary deoxyribonucleic acid sequence, tissue distribution, and cellular localization of the rat granulin precursor. Endocrinology 133:2682–2689
- Brouwers N, Sleegers K, Engelborghs S, Maurer-Stroh S, Gijselinck I, Van Der ZJ, Pickut BA, Van Den BM, Mattheijssens M, Peeters K, Schymkowitz J, Rousseau F, Martin JJ, Cruts M, De Deyn PP, Van BC (2008) Genetic variability in progranulin contributes to risk for clinically diagnosed Alzheimer disease. Neurology 71:656–664
- Cruts M, Gijselinck I, Van Der ZJ, Engelborghs S, Wils H, Pirici D, Rademakers R, Vandenberghe R, Dermaut B, Martin JJ, Van DC, Peeters K, Sciot R, Santens P, De PT, Mattheijssens M, Van Den BM, Cuijt I, Vennekens K, De Deyn PP, Kumar-Singh S, Van BC (2006) Null mutations in progranulin cause ubiquitin-positive frontotemporal dementia linked to chromosome 17q21. Nature 442:920–924
- Daniel R, He Z, Carmichael KP, Halper J, Bateman A (2000) Cellular localization of gene expression for progranulin. J Histochem Cytochem 48:999–1009
- Dohler KD (1998) Influence of hormones and hormone antagonists on sexual differentiation of the brain. Arch Toxicol Suppl 20:131–141
- Eriksen JL, Mackenzie IR (2008) Progranulin: normal function and role in neurodegeneration. J Neurochem 104:287–297
- Kayasuga Y, Chiba S, Suzuki M, Kikusui T, Matsuwaki T, Yamanouchi K, Kotaki H, Horai R, Iwakura Y, Nishihara M (2007) Alteration of behavioural phenotype in mice by targeted disruption of the progranulin gene. Behav Brain Res 185:110–118
- MacLusky NJ, Naftolin F (1981) Sexual differentiation of the central nervous system. Science 211:1294–1302
- MacLusky NJ, Clark AS, Naftolin F, Goldman-Rakic PS (1987) Estrogen formation in the mammalian brain: possible role of aromatase in sexual differentiation of the hippocampus and neocortex. Steroids 50:459–474
- Matsuo H, Okamura T, Chen J, Takanaga H, Ohtani H, Kaneda Y, Naito M, Tsuruo T, Sawada Y (2000) Efficient introduction of macromolecules and oligonucleotides into brain capillary endothelial cells using HVJ-liposomes. J Drug Target 8:207–216
- McCarthy MM (2008) Estradiol and the developing brain. Physiol Rev 88:91-124
- McCarthy MM, Konkle AT (2005) When is a sex difference not a sex difference? Front Neuroendocrinol 26:85–102
- McEwen BS, Lieberburg I, Chaptal C, Krey LC (1977) Aromatization: important for sexual differentiation of the neonatal rat brain. Horm Behav 9:249–263
- Negri-Cesi P, Colciago A, Pravettoni A, Casati L, Conti L, Celotti F (2008) Sexual differentiation of the rodent hypothalamus: hormonal and environmental influences. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 109:294–299
- Shoyab M, Mcdonald VL, Byles C, Todaro GJ, Plowman GD (1990) Epithelins 1 and 2: isolation and characterization of two cysteine-rich growth-modulating proteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 87:7912–7916
- Sleegers K, Brouwers N, Maurer-Stroh S, Van Es MA, Van Damme P, Van Vught PW, Van Der Zee J, Serneels S, De Pooter T, Van Den Broeck M, Cruts M, Schymkowitz J, De Jonghe P, Rousseau F, Van Den Berg LH, Robberecht W, Van Broeckhoven C (2008) Progranulin genetic variability contributes to amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Neurology 71:253–259

- Stanley HF, Borthwick NM, Fink G (1986) Brain protein changes during development and sexual differentiation in the rat. Brain Res 370:215–222
- Suzuki M, Nishihara M (2002) Granulin precursor gene: a sex steroid-inducible gene involved in sexual differentiation of the rat brain. Mol Genet Metab 75:31–37
- Suzuki M, Yoshida S, Nishihara M, Takahashi M (1998) Identification of a sex steroid-inducible gene in the neonatal rat hypothalamus. Neurosci Lett 242:127–130
- Suzuki M, Bannai M, Matsumuro M, Furuhata Y, Ikemura R, Kuranaga E, Kaneda Y, Nishihara M, Takahashi M (2000) Suppression of copulatory behavior by intracerebroventricular infusion of antisense oligodeoxynucleotide of granulin in neonatal male rats. Physiol Behav 68:707–713
- Suzuki M, Yonezawa T, Fujioka H, Matuamuro M, Nishihara M (2001) Induction of granulin precursor gene expression by estrogen treatment in neonatal rat hypothalamus. Neurosci Lett 297:199–202
- Suzuki M, Lee HC, Chiba S, Yonezawa T, Nishihara M (2004) Effects of methoxychlor exposure during perinatal period on reproductive function after maturation in rats. J Reprod Dev 50:455–461
- Suzuki M, Lee HC, Kayasuga Y, Chiba S, Nedachi T, Matsuwaki T, Yamanouchi K, Nishihara M (2009) Roles of progranulin in sexual differentiation of the developing brain and adult neurogenesis. J Reprod Dev 55:351–355
- Tanaka M, Sasaki H, Kino I, Sugimura T, Terada M (1992) Genes preferentially expressed in embryo stomach are predominantly expressed in gastric cancer. Cancer Res 52:3372–3377
- Waldron AC, Naber EC (1974) Importance of feed as an unavoidable source of pesticide contamination in poultry meat and eggs. 2. Residues in eggs and tissues. Poult Sci 53:1428–1435
- Yamada K, Moriguchi A, Morishita R, Aoki M, Nakamura Y, Mikami H, Oshima T, Ninomiya M, Kaneda Y, Higaki J, Ogihara T (1996) Efficient oligonucleotide delivery using the HVJliposome method in the central nervous system. Am J Phys 271:R1212–R1220
- Yonehara K, Suzuki M, Nishihara M (2002a) Sex-related differences in gene expression in neonatal rat hypothalamus assessed by cDNA microarray analysis. Endocr J 49:131–137
- Yonehara K, Suzuki M, Yamanouchi K, Nishihara M (2002b) Androgen induces p130 mRNA expression in the neonatal rat hypothalamus. Neurosci Lett 334:107–110
- Yonehara K, Suzuki M, Yamanouchi K, Nishihara M (2003) Expression analyses of sex steroidregulated genes in neonatal rat hypothalamus. J Reprod Dev 49:547–552

Progranulin and Inflammation/ Neuroinflammation



Masato Hosokawa

Abstract Progranulin (PGRN) and granulin (GRN) peptides are involved in peripheral inflammatory diseases and neuroinflammation. PGRN was shown to have an anti-inflammatory effect in its role as an antagonist of the TNF- α signaling pathway. On the other hand, GRN peptides stimulate immune cells to secrete proinflammatory cytokines. PGRN reduction worsens peripheral inflammatory disorders such as inflammatory bowel disease, skin inflammation and acute lung or kidney injury. In the brain, loss of PGRN induced an inflammatory state in head injury, ischemia or neurodegenerative diseases. Interestingly, microglia isolated from a granulin (Grn)-deficient mouse was reported to express much of proinflammatory cytokines. Grn-deficient microglia may have a tendency toward inducing a hyperactive pro-inflammatory state when activated, and this hyperactivation may contribute to neuronal cell death. Since overexpression of PGRN, bone marrow transplantation from wild type mice or supplementation with recombinant PGRN reversed this inflammatory state, these approaches may have therapeutic potential for treating peripheral inflammatory diseases and neurodegenerative diseases caused by GRN deficiencies.

Keywords GRN peptides \cdot Microglia \cdot Neuroinflammation \cdot Pro-inflammatory cytokines \cdot Tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α

Introduction

Neuroinflammation is observed in neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer's disease and frontotemporal lobar degeneration. The involvement of innate immune system, including microglia and the complement proteins, is seen. However, the

M. Hosokawa (🖂)

Dementia Research Project, Department of Dementia and Higher Brain Function, Tokyo Metropolitan Institute of Medical Science, Tokyo, Japan e-mail: hosokawa-ms@igakuken.or.jp

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2019

H. Hara et al. (eds.), *Progranulin and Central Nervous System Disorders*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-6186-9_7

classical four major symptoms of inflammation (flare, fever, swelling and pain) do not occurre in neuroinflammation. It is thought that neuroinflammation depends on factors made in the brain. Recently, progranulin (PGRN) and its degradation products, granulin (GRN) peptides, have been reported to be involved in neuroinflammation. This section mainly reviews the biological function of PGRN in inflammation and neuroinflammation.

PGRN and Inflammation

Li et al. reported that cytokines regulated PGRN expression. Pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as interleukin (IL)-1 β and tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α , enhanced *GRN* gene expression in murine embryo fibroblasts (Li et al. 2002). The promoter regions of mouse and human *GRN* gene had regulatory elements that were involved in cytokine expression. (Baba et al. 1993; Bhandari et al. 1996)

PGRN bound directly to secretory leukocyte protease inhibitor (SLPI) and was protected from cleavage by elastase (Zhu et al. 2002). SLPI is produced by macrophages and neutrophils and is known to inhibit the inflammatory response (Jin et al. 1997). During inflammation, elastase was released by neutrophils and acted on PGRN to produce GRN peptides by cleaving linker regions (Zhu et al. 2002). GRN-B peptide stimulates epithelial cells to secrete the pro-inflammatory cytokine, IL-8 which is a major chemoattractant for neutrophils and monocytes, but PGRN has no such effect. PGRN suppressed the TNF- α induced respiratory burst of neutrophils, but GRN-A and GRN-B peptide did not show such inhibitory effect (Zhu et al. 2002). These results suggested pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory roles for GRN peptide and PGRN, respectively.

PGRN and TNF-α Signaling Pathway

Tang et al. reported that PGRN bound directly to tumor necrosis factor receptors (TNFRs) and antagonized TNF- α signaling (Tang et al. 2011). Their coimmunoprecipitation (Co-IP) experiment showed that PGRN interacted with TNFR2 in chondrocytes. Recombinant human PGRN bound to the extracellular domains of TNFR1 and TNFR2 in a dose-dependent manner. They used a collageninduced arthritis mouse model and found that administration of PGRN reversed the severe inflammatory arthritis in *Grn*-deficient mice. PGRN could inhibit TNF- α mediated activation of NF- κ B and mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) signaling. Jian et al. extended Tang's discovery; they showed that PGRN directly bound to the cysteine-rich domains 2 and 3 of the TNFR extracellular domains (Jian et al. 2013). They suggested that the anti-inflammatory role of PGRN was mediated through direct inhibition of TNFR1. PGRN inhibited the expression of TNF- α inducible genes such as C-X-C motif chemokine Ligand 9 (CXCL9), CXCL10, intracellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) and vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1) in murine bone marrow-derived macrophages (BMDMs) and the human cell line, THP-1 (Mundra et al. 2016; Tian et al. 2014).

On the other hand, Chen et al. rebutted these phenomena. They performed Co-IP using recombinant PGRN (rPGRN) and recombinant TNFR1 or TNFR2. rPGRN did not interact with the two TNFRs (Chen et al. 2013). They extended the study and also performed surface plasmon resonance (SPR) studies. rPGRN did not bind TNFR1 or TNFR2. In this SPR studies, PGRN could bind to sortilin which was reported as a PGRN receptor (Hu et al. 2010). However, only the last three amino acids (QLL) of PGRN were required for interacton to sortilin (Zheng et al. 2011). It was pointed out that sortilin was not a suitable positive control for TNFR by Wang et al. (Wang et al. 2015). Addition of rPGRN could not directly antagonize TNF- α induced neurotoxicity in dopaminergic neuron-like cells and lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-induced signaling in a microglia cell line. Their study suggested that neuroinflammation is not caused by disruption of PGRN-TNFR interactions. Another group supported these data: PGRN did not inhibit TNF-α signaling through TNFR1 (Etemadi et al. 2013). The PGRN-TNFR interaction had been a controversial issue, but a proper selection of chip for a SPR assay resolved the problem. Using an appropriate selection of chip for a SPR assay demonstrated that PGRN bound to TNFR (Jian et al. 2013; Wang et al. 2015).

PGRN and Peripheral Inflammation Related to Diseases

PGRN upregulation was observed in inflammatory bowel diseases (IBD), not only in dextran sulfate sodium (DSS)-induced or picrylsulfonic acid (2, 4, 6-trinitrobenzenesulfonic acid, TNBS)-induced colitis models, but also in colon tissues from human IBD patients (Wei et al. 2014). *Grn^{-/-}* mice were highly susceptible to DSS- and TNBS-induced colitis compared to WT mice. Interestingly, rPGRN administration attenuates the inflammatoty responses in DSS-induced colitis mice dramatically. This PGRN-mediated protection against chemically-induced colitis required IL-10 signaling. PGRN could not alleviate intestinal inflammation in the DSS-induced colitis model mice when using TNFR2-deficient mice (Wei et al. 2014).

PGRN is involved in the pathogenesis of skin inflammation. PGRN expression level was increased in oxazolone (OXA)-induced dermatitis in mice (Zhao et al. 2013). *Grn^{-/-}* mice showed more severe inflammation induced by OXA skin than did WT mice. The mRNA levels of inflammatory markers, including IL-1 β , IL-6, cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) and induced nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), were significantly increased in OXA-induced *Grn^{-/-}* mice. Atsttrin, a derivative of PGRN, which is composed of three TNFR-binding domains of PGRN (Tang et al. 2011), effectively attenuated OXA-induced inflammation (Zhao et al. 2013). Huang and colleagues reported similar outcomes using the 12-O-tetradecanoyl-phorbol 13-acetate (TPA)-induced psoriasis-like inflammation mouse model (Huang et al. 2015). PGRN expression is upregulated in both psoriasis vulgaris skin lesions and in the psoriasis-like mouse skin lesions induced by TPA. $Grn^{-/-}$ mice exhibited more severe psoriasis-like inflammation when treated TPA, and showed from reduced regulatory T cells in the cervical lymph nodes (Huang et al. 2015).

Using LPS-induced acute lung injury (ALI) mouse model, PGRN administration downregulated the pulmonary inflammation with reduced number of neutrophils, pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α) and chemokines (Guo et al. 2012). In this study, PGRN-TNFR2 interaction was shown to be important for the protective role of PGRN. Similar results were reported from another research group (Yu et al. 2016).

In an LPS-induced acute kidney injury (AKI) mouse model, PGRN expression levels were augmented in WT mice and $Grn^{-/-}$ mice were particularly susceptible to LPS-induced AKI (Xu et al. 2016). Administration of rPGRN before LPS-injection attenuated renal cell death, production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and inflammation-related reactions in endotoxin-induced AKI in WT mice.

Total joint arthroplasty (TJA) is performed for the treatment of severe joint diseases, including rheumatoid arthritis and osteoarthritis. Aseptic loosening, which is characterized by chronic inflammation, occurs as a result of the biological response to such wear debris as titanium (Ti) particles. Zhao et al. found that Ti particles elicited PGRN expression in murine macrophage-like cells (RAW264.7), and in a mouse air-pouch model of inflammation (Zhao et al. 2016). In this model, $Grn^{-/-}$ mice exhibited enhanced mRNA and protein expression of IL-1β, IL-6 and TNF-α compared those with WT mice. Administration of rPGRN reversed Ti particleinduced inflammation; mRNA and protein expression levels of IL-1β, IL-6 and TNF-α were reduced compared with vehicle (phosphate-buffered saline) treated mice. PGRN also suppressed Ti-induced osteolysis ex vivo and in vivo in mice. Mechanistic studies indicated that PGRN reduced the Ti particle-induced TNF-α-NF-κB signaling (Zhao et al. 2016).

PGRN and Neuroinflammation

Yin et al. revealed that $Grn^{-/-}$ macrophages produced more pro-inflammatory cytokines and less anti-inflammatory IL-10 than WT macrophages (Yin et al. 2010a). They isolated BMDMs from $Grn^{-/-}$ or WT mice stimulated with the Toll-like receptor (TLR) 4 agonist, LPS. $Grn^{-/-}$ and WT BMDMs showed similar cell-surface marker expression and phagocytic ability. However, $Grn^{-/-}$ BMDMs produced higher levels of such mRNA and proteins as monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1), CXCL1, IL-6, IL-12p40 and TNF- α . By contrast, expression of the antiinflammatory cytokine IL-10 was greatly reduced in $Grn^{-/-}$ BMDMs at both of transcript and protein levels (Yin et al. 2010a). In the $Grn^{-/-}$ brain, upregulation of astrocytes and microglia was observed in age-dependent manner. These are the sign of dysregulated inflammatory response, named gliosis. Such age-dependent gliosis was also reported by other groups (Ahmed et al. 2010; Ghoshal et al. 2012; Petkau et al. 2012; Wils et al. 2012; Yin et al. 2010b). To investigate the biological function of PGRN, rat primary cortical neurons were treated with PGRN. Secretion of Th2 cytokines such as IL-10, IL-4 and IL-5 and of chemokines, such as interferon-inducible protein-10, MCP-1, matrix metalloprote-ase-13 (MMP-13), etc., was detected in PGRN-treated primary neurons, while classical pro-inflammatory cytokines were not upregulated (Pickford et al. 2011).

Bossu et al. assessed circulating levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines in FTLD patients with and without *GRN* loss-of-function mutation, serum IL-6 levels in FTLD patients with the *GRN* mutation were significantly increased as compared to FTLD patients without the *GRN* mutation (Bossu et al. 2011). Serum levels of TNF- α and IL-18 did not differ significantly between the two groups.

Experimental Mouse Models and Neuroinflammation

PGRN-deficient (Grn^{-/-}) mice showed neuroinflammation and neuronal cell death following toxin-induced damage (Martens et al. 2012). The acute brain injury model was produced using 1-methyl-4-(2'-methylphenyl)-1, 2, 3, 6-tetrahydrophine (MPTP) which is a neurotoxin targeting the dopaminergic neurons of the substantia nigra. Grn^{-/-} mice brains showed more neuronal cell loss and increased microgliosis when compared with WT mouse brains (Martens et al. 2012). Primary cell cultures of this model, showed there were no differences in the numbers of surviving tyrosine hydroxylase and TUJ1 (β tubulin 3) positive neurons in the WT or $Grn^{-/-}$ mice. However, Grn^{-/-} microglia expressed neurotoxic factors that induced neuronal cell death. Martens and colleagues showed that Grn-/- microglia expressed much more of the pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF- α , IL-1 β and IL-6 compared with WT microglia treated with LPS/IFN-y. Moreover, IL-10 mRNA expression was decreased in $Grn^{-/-}$ microglia after LPS/IFN- γ treatment, although IL-10 protein expression was increased in the media, reflecting differences in the regulation of mRNA and protein. These data suggested that $Grn^{-/-}$ microglia had a tendency toward a hyperactive pro-inflammatory condition when activated, and this hyperactivation may contributes to the neuronal cell death (Martens et al. 2012).

Glial cells isolated from PGRN-overexpressing transgenic mice showed neuroprotective effects against LPS-induced totoxicity. The expression of proinflammatory cytokines, such as IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α was decreased in the glial cells of PGRN-overexpressing Tg mice compared with those of wild type mice following middle cerebral artery occlusion (MCAO) (Tao et al. 2012). The level of the anti-inflammatory cytokine, IL-10, was increased in the glial cells from PGRNoverexpressing Tg mice (Tao et al. 2012). Neuroinflammation is thought to be a main contributor of brain injury after cerebral ischemia. Using MCAO mice model, Egashira and colleagues demonstrated that PGRN was involved in neuroinflammation following cerebral ischemia (Egashira et al. 2013). In this MCAO model, PGRN expression was reduced, whereas PGRN administration attenuated the infarct volume and brain swelling. They also revealed that PGRN inhibited TNF- α binding to the neutrophil surface and suppressed the neutrophil chemotaxis induced by TNF- α in dose-dependent manner (Egashira et al. 2013). Using a mouse experimental traumatic brain injury (TBI) model, Tanaka and colleagues elucidated the relationship between PGRN and neuroinflammation (Tanaka et al. 2013a). PGRN was mainly produced from CD68-positive microglia and downregulated hyper-neuroinflammatory reaction after TBI in mice. PGRN deficiency ($Grn^{-/-}$) did not affect the injury size, but it increased CD68-positive microglia after TBI. Furthermore, $Grn^{-/-}$ showed upregulated levels of transforming growth factor β 1 (TGF- β 1) and phosphorylated Smad3 (pSmad3) which is downstream of TGF- β 1 signaling. Additionally, pSmad3 was increased in astrocytes on the injured side. They suggested that the excessive TGF- β 1-Smad3 signaling pathway caused by PGRN deficiency might contribute to the progression of glial scar formation (Tanaka et al. 2013a). In this TBI mice model, the expression of lysosome-related genes was significantly increased in $Grn^{-/-}$ mice compared with WT mice (Tanaka et al. 2013b). The precise mechanism of this phenomenon is explained in another section of this book.

Homozygous *Grn* knock-out (*Grn^{-/-}*) mice have been used as a frontotemporal dementia (FTD) model and exhibit social deficits and neuroinflammation with microglial activation. Homozygous *GRN* mutations leading to complete PGRN protein insufficiency were defined as neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis. It was found that the complete lack of PGRN protein (*GRN^{-/-}*) may have influences distinct from those of haploinsufficiency (*GRN^{+/-}*). Filiano et al. found that *Grn^{+/-}* mice showed age-dependent social deficits similar to FTD, but different from *Grn^{-/-}* mice, since there were no gliosis or upregulation of TNF- α in *Grn^{+/-}* mice (Filiano et al. 2013). These results indicated that FTD-related behavioral deficits resulting from PGRN haploinsufficiency might occur even in the absense of detectable gliosis and neuroinflammation.

Using the $Grn^{-/-}$ mice and experimental TBI model, Menzel and colleagues investigated the relationship between TBI and astrogliosis (Menzel et al. 2017). $Grn^{-/-}$ mice showed exaggerated astrogliosis 5 days after experimental TBI and astrocytes in $Grn^{-/-}$ mice at perilesional sites were immunopositive for iNOS and TNF- α . Primary astrocytes were isolated from WT mouse brain and cultured with LPS or TNF- α in the presence of murine rPGRN. The rPGRN reduced LPS- and TNF- α -induced expression of iNOS and TNF- α mRNA. Furthermore, intracerebroventricular injection of rPGRN immediately before experimental TBI downregulated brain damage and neurological deficits (Menzel et al. 2017). These results suggested that PGRN might attenuate pro-inflammatory activation of astrocytes *in vitro* and *in vivo*.

PGRN Prevents Neuroinflammation

To prevent neuroinflammation in $Grn^{-/-}$ mice, Yang and colleagues performed WT bone marrow transplantation (BMT) (Yang et al. 2014). The BMT via retroorbital venous plexus injection 1 day after total body irradiation partially reconstituted PGRN in the periphery and in the cerebral cortex of $Grn^{-/-}$ mice. A pro-inflammatory

condition in vivo and ex vivo preparations of cerebral cortex of $Grn^{-/-}$ mice could be partially to fully reversed by a BMT. BMT will be a potential treatment for neurodegenerative diseases caused by *GRN* deficiencies.

There is a change of PGRN in the brain after subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) and it plays a role in early brain injury, Zhou and colleagues studied the expression levels of PGRN and pro-inflammatory cytokines in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) from SAH patients and from experimental SAH rat (Zhou et al. 2015). The expression levels of PGRN were significantly reduced and the levels of myeloperoxidase, IL-1 β and TNF- α were remarkably increased in the CSF from SAH patients. PGRN levels in the brain also decreased after experimental SAH in rats and administration of rPGRN reduce brain water content and improved neurological scores at 24 hrs after experimental SAH. These changes were suggested that the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines was decreased in the brain (Zhou et al. 2015).

PGRN Involvement in Neurogenesis and Neuroinflammation

Ma et al. evaluated the involvement of PGRN in neurogenesis and neuroinflammation in the hippocampus of mouse brain (Ma et al. 2017b). Using an LPS-induced immune stress model, they revealed that LPS-stimulus induced upregulation of PGRN in activated microglia and decreased neurogenesis in the dentate gyrus of the hippocampus. PGRN deficiency ($Grn^{-/-}$) enhanced the expression of proinflammatory gene such as IL-1 β , TNF- α , IL-6 and microsomal prostaglandin E synthase-1 after LPS treatment. $Grn^{-/-}$ also increased the suppressive effects of LPS on hippocampal neurogenesis. These results demonstrated that PGRN might facilitate hippocampal neurogenesis and abrogate excessive neuroinflammatory reactions after LPS treatment (Ma et al. 2017b). Hippocampal neurogenesis is decreased in aged mice, and there was no significant difference between WT mice and $Grn^{-/-}$ mice (Ma et al. 2017a). The expression of pro-inflammatory genes was upregulated with age, particularly in $Grn^{-/-}$ mice. These results suggested that, especially in aged mice, $Grn^{-/-}$ increased neuroinflammation by microglia, and the downregulation of hippocampal neurogenesis might not be offset by PGRN.

Summary

To summarize this chapter, the biological roles of PGRN and GRN peptides in neuroinflammation are shown in Fig. 1. PGRN induces anti-inflammatory conditions in the brain which leads to increased IL-10 and reduced IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α . Total loss of PGRN or degradation from PGRN to GRN peptides by elastase elicits neuroinflammation and increases pro-inflammatory cytokines, leading to gliosis in the brain. Pro-inflammatory cytokines enhance *GRN* gene expression in microglia.



Fig. 1 Schematic diagram of "feedback loop" of PGRN and inflammation/neuroinflammation

PGRN and inflammation constitute a feedback loop. Inhibition of PGRN degradation by SLPI or supplementation of rPGRN or Atsttrin, a derivertive of PGRN may have therapeutic potential for preventing inflammatory reactions related to diseases.

PGRN induces release of IL-10 and reduces pro-inflammatory cytokines. Loss of PGRN or GRN peptides degraded by elastase prompts immune cells to secrete pro-inflammatory cytokines. The released pro-inflammatory cytokines augment PGRN production in microglia.

References

- Ahmed Z et al (2010) Accelerated lipofuscinosis and ubiquitination in granulin knockout mice suggest a role for progranulin in successful aging. Am J Pathol 177:311–324. https://doi. org/10.2353/ajpath.2010.090915
- Baba T, Nemoto H, Watanabe K, Arai Y, Gerton GL (1993) Exon/intron organization of the gene encoding the mouse epithelin/granulin precursor (acrogranin). FEBS Lett 322:89–94
- Bhandari V, Daniel R, Lim PS, Bateman A (1996) Structural and functional analysis of a promoter of the human granulin/epithelin gene. Biochem J 319(Pt 2):441–447
- Bossu P et al (2011) Loss of function mutations in the programulin gene are related to proinflammatory cytokine dysregulation in frontotemporal lobar degeneration patients. J Neuroinflammation 8:65. https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-2094-8-65
- Chen X et al (2013) Progranulin does not bind tumor necrosis factor (TNF) receptors and is not a direct regulator of TNF-dependent signaling or bioactivity in immune or neuronal cells. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci 33:9202–9213. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5336-12.2013
- Egashira Y et al (2013) The growth factor progranulin attenuates neuronal injury induced by cerebral ischemia-reperfusion through the suppression of neutrophil recruitment. J Neuroinflammation 10:105. https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-2094-10-105
- Etemadi N, Webb A, Bankovacki A, Silke J, Nachbur U (2013) Progranulin does not inhibit TNF and lymphotoxin-alpha signalling through TNF receptor 1. Immunol Cell Biol 91:661–664. https://doi.org/10.1038/icb.2013.53

- Filiano AJ et al (2013) Dissociation of frontotemporal dementia-related deficits and neuroinflammation in progranulin haploinsufficient mice. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci 33:5352–5361. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.6103-11.2013
- Ghoshal N, Dearborn JT, Wozniak DF, Cairns NJ (2012) Core features of frontotemporal dementia recapitulated in progranulin knockout mice. Neurobiol Dis 45:395–408. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.nbd.2011.08.029
- Guo Z, Li Q, Han Y, Liang Y, Xu Z, Ren T (2012) Prevention of LPS-induced acute lung injury in mice by progranulin. Mediat Inflamm 2012:540794. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/540794
- Hu F et al (2010) Sortilin-mediated endocytosis determines levels of the frontotemporal dementia protein, progranulin. Neuron 68:654–667. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2010.09.034
- Huang K, Chen A, Zhang X, Song Z, Xu H, Cao J, Yin Y (2015) Progranulin is preferentially expressed in patients with psoriasis vulgaris and protects mice from psoriasis-like skin inflammation. Immunology 145:279–287. https://doi.org/10.1111/imm.12446
- Jian J et al (2013) Progranulin directly binds to the CRD2 and CRD3 of TNFR extracellular domains. FEBS Lett 587:3428–3436. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet.2013.09.024
- Jin FY, Nathan C, Radzioch D, Ding A (1997) Secretory leukocyte protease inhibitor: a macrophage product induced by and antagonistic to bacterial lipopolysaccharide. Cell 88:417–426
- Li X et al (2002) IKKalpha, IKKbeta, and NEMO/IKKgamma are each required for the NF-kappa B-mediated inflammatory response program. J Biol Chem 277:45129–45140. https://doi. org/10.1074/jbc.M205165200
- Ma Y, Matsuwaki T, Yamanouchi K, Nishihara M (2017a) Involvement of progranulin in modulating neuroinflammatory responses but not neurogenesis in the hippocampus of aged mice. Exp Gerontol 95:1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exger.2017.05.003
- Ma Y, Matsuwaki T, Yamanouchi K, Nishihara M (2017b) Progranulin protects hippocampal neurogenesis via suppression of neuroinflammatory responses under acute immune stress. Mol Neurobiol 54:3717–3728. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12035-016-9939-6
- Martens LH et al (2012) Progranulin deficiency promotes neuroinflammation and neuron loss following toxin-induced injury. J Clin Invest 122:3955–3959. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI63113
- Menzel L et al (2017) Progranulin protects against exaggerated axonal injury and astrogliosis following traumatic brain injury. Glia 65:278–292. https://doi.org/10.1002/glia.23091
- Mundra JJ, Jian J, Bhagat P, Liu CJ (2016) Progranulin inhibits expression and release of chemokines CXCL9 and CXCL10 in a TNFR1 dependent manner. Sci Rep 6:21115. https://doi. org/10.1038/srep21115
- Petkau TL et al (2012) Synaptic dysfunction in progranulin-deficient mice. Neurobiol Dis 45:711–722. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2011.10.016
- Pickford F et al (2011) Progranulin is a chemoattractant for microglia and stimulates their endocytic activity. Am J Pathol 178:284–295. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajpath.2010.11.002
- Tanaka Y, Matsuwaki T, Yamanouchi K, Nishihara M (2013a) Exacerbated inflammatory responses related to activated microglia after traumatic brain injury in progranulin-deficient mice. Neuroscience 231:49–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2012.11.032
- Tanaka Y, Matsuwaki T, Yamanouchi K, Nishihara M (2013b) Increased lysosomal biogenesis in activated microglia and exacerbated neuronal damage after traumatic brain injury in progranulindeficient mice. Neuroscience 250:8–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2013.06.049
- Tang W et al (2011) The growth factor progranulin binds to TNF receptors and is therapeutic against inflammatory arthritis in mice. Science 332:478–484. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1199214
- Tao J, Ji F, Wang F, Liu B, Zhu Y (2012) Neuroprotective effects of progranulin in ischemic mice. Brain Res 1436:130–136. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2011.11.063
- Tian Q, Zhao Y, Mundra JJ, Gonzalez-Gugel E, Jian J, Uddin SM, Liu C (2014) Three TNFRbinding domains of PGRN act independently in inhibition of TNF-alpha binding and activity. Front Biosci 19:1176–1185
- Wang BC, Liu H, Talwar A, Jian J (2015) New discovery rarely runs smooth: an update on progranulin/TNFR interactions. Protein Cell 6:792–803. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13238-015-0213-x
- Wei F et al (2014) PGRN protects against colitis progression in mice in an IL-10 and TNFR2 dependent manner. Sci Rep 4:7023. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep07023

- Wils H et al (2012) Cellular ageing, increased mortality and FTLD-TDP-associated neuropathology in progranulin knockout mice. J Pathol 228:67–76. https://doi.org/10.1002/path.4043
- Xu X et al (2016) Progranulin protects against endotoxin-induced acute kidney injury by downregulating renal cell death and inflammatory responses in mice. Int Immunopharmacol 38:409– 419. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intimp.2016.06.022
- Yang Y et al (2014) Wild-type bone marrow transplant partially reverses neuroinflammation in progranulin-deficient mice. Lab Invest 94:1224–1236. https://doi.org/10.1038/ labinvest.2014.113
- Yin F et al (2010a) Exaggerated inflammation, impaired host defense, and neuropathology in progranulin-deficient mice. J Exp Med 207:117–128. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20091568
- Yin F et al (2010b) Behavioral deficits and progressive neuropathology in progranulin-deficient mice: a mouse model of frontotemporal dementia. FASEB J 24:4639–4647. https://doi. org/10.1096/fj.10-161471
- Yu Y et al (2016) Progranulin deficiency leads to severe inflammation, lung injury and cell death in a mouse model of endotoxic shock. J Cell Mol Med 20:506–517. https://doi.org/10.1111/ jcmm.12756
- Zhao YP, Tian QY, Liu CJ (2013) Progranulin deficiency exaggerates, whereas progranulinderived Atsttrin attenuates, severity of dermatitis in mice. FEBS Lett 587:1805–1810. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet.2013.04.037
- Zhao YP, Wei JL, Tian QY, Liu AT, Yi YS, Einhorn TA, Liu CJ (2016) Progranulin suppresses titanium particle induced inflammatory osteolysis by targeting TNFalpha signaling. Sci Rep 6:20909. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep20909
- Zheng Y, Brady OA, Meng PS, Mao Y, Hu F (2011) C-terminus of progranulin interacts with the beta-propeller region of sortilin to regulate progranulin trafficking. PLoS One 6:e21023. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0021023
- Zhou C et al (2015) Decreased progranulin levels in patients and rats with subarachnoid hemorrhage: a potential role in inhibiting inflammation by suppressing neutrophil recruitment. J Neuroinflammation 12:200. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12974-015-0415-4
- Zhu J et al (2002) Conversion of proepithelin to epithelins: roles of SLPI and elastase in host defense and wound repair. Cell 111:867–878

Neural Stem/Progenitor Cells and Progranulin



Taku Nedachi

Abstract Progranulin (PGRN) is widely expressed in the body, including the central nervous system (CNS), and controls cell growth, proliferation, differentiation, cell death, etc. In this chapter, I discuss recent findings about the roles of PGRN in neurogenesis, with a focus on its roles in neural stem and progenitor cells (NSPCs). Accumulated evidence clearly suggests that PGRN engages in neurogenesis; however, the precise mechanisms remain largely elusive. One reason is that many different cells in the CNS produce PGRN and can also react to PGRN. This produces a complex challenge to understand PGRN-dependent neurogenesis in vivo. Therefore, I initially introduce recent studies that analyze the roles of PGRN in neurogenesis. Although details about PGRN-dependent signaling in NSPCs are widely unknown, recent studies describe the physiological receptors for PGRN. The reported PGRN receptors also have binding capacities for other factors; therefore, I discuss the potential interaction between PGRN and other growth factors that control the cellular fates of NSPCs. Moreover, levels of PGRN potentially control distribution of the extracellular matrix in the CNS; conversely, the abundance of the extracellular matrix may modulate PGRN action. Therefore, the relationship between PGRN and the microenvironment, or niche, which plays a crucial role in determining the NSPC fates, is also discussed. Overall, recent studies gradually suggest that PGRN directly or indirectly influences NSPCs; however, further experiments are required to unveil the precise contribution of PGRN to neurogenesis.

Keywords Progranulin · Neurogenesis · NSPCs · Signaling · Extracellular matrix

T. Nedachi (🖂)

Department of Applied Biosciences, Faculty of Life Sciences, Toyo University, Oura-gun, Gunma, Japan e-mail: nedachi@toyo.jp

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2019

H. Hara et al. (eds.), *Progranulin and Central Nervous System Disorders*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-6186-9_8

Introduction

A century ago, Santiago Cajal was the first to describe the morphological diversity of neurons in the brain. Since then, significant effort has been made to study how the structure and function of neural circuits are generated and maintained. In addition, many scientists strive to contribute to our understanding of complex behaviors as well as many diseases caused by the destruction of neural circuits. Most of these complex organisms are maintained by the balance of genesis and death of cells; therefore, one of the long-discussed questions in this field is whether the timing of "neurogenesis" was limited to developmental stages or could it be observed in adulthood. In other words, is the loss of neurons in adult mammals reversible?

A significant contribution to answer this question was made in 1962. Altman (1962) used intracranial injection of thymidine-H³ and demonstrated that the proliferation of neurons could be observed in adult rats. Moreover, Eriksson et al. (1998) showed the presence of neural progenitor cells in the human dentate gyrus (DG), which might explain why neuroplasticity is observed not only in rodents but also in humans. These and other elegant studies have supplied converging evidence that mammalian adult neurogenesis occurs in two distinct regions of the brain: the subgranular zone (SGZ) of the DG of the hippocampus and the subventricular zone (SVZ) of the lateral ventricles, although the latter has been confirmed in rodents but not in humans. In these regions, the neural stem and progenitor cells (NSPCs) are the origin of the neurons, astrocytes, and oligodendrocytes.

Proliferation and differentiation of NSPCs are the most important features for neurogenesis. These events produce both neuronal and glial progeny to compensate for the loss of cells in the central nervous system (CNS). Neural stem cells (NSCs) have self-renewal capacity and can differentiate into three cell lineages: neurons, astrocytes, and oligodendrocytes (Park et al. 2012). Regulation of NSPCs is tightly controlled by multiple factors. Several studies have demonstrated that neurogenesis is regulated by behavioral experiences (Gould and Tanapat 1999), exercise (van Praag et al. 1999), and environmental enrichment (Kempermann et al. 1997). The new neurons mature and integrate into existing neuronal circuits (van Praag et al. 2002). This maturation and integration is extremely important to maintain brain functions such as learning and memory (e.g., Winocur et al. 2006; Saxe et al. 2006; Dupret et al. 2008; Imayoshi et al. 2008; Deng et al. 2009; for a review, see Marín-Burgin and Schinder 2012). Thus, neurogenesis appears to be directly engaged with not only neural plasticity but also learning and memory formation. In addition, an important question is how neurodegenerative diseases occur as a consequence of a disruption to this system.

The maintenance of proliferation and differentiation of NSPCs is regulated by the microenvironment, or "niche", which consists of at least three factors: (A) secreted soluble factors, (B) cell-cell contacts, and (C) the extracellular matrix (ECM). The purpose of this chapter is to introduce the role of progranulin (PGRN) in neurogenesis; therefore, I will mainly focus on describing PGRN as a secreted soluble factor. However, I will note that recent studies have demonstrated that these three factors (A-C) do not function independently but work in an orchestrated manner as described later.

PGRN in Neurogenesis

PGRN (also called granulin-epithelin precursor, PC-derived growth factor, acrogranin, or proepithelin) is a 67.5 kDa glycoprotein that consists of 593 amino acids. It contains seven distinctive repeated structures, called granulin motifs, which are enriched with cysteine residues. Generally, PGRN stimulates cell proliferation and attenuates cell death similar to other growth factors (He and Bateman 2003; Ong and Bateman 2003).

Since the discovery of the roles of PGRN in neonatal sexual differentiation of the brain and the development of frontotemporal lobar degeneration (FTLD) (Suzuki et al. 1998, 2000; Cruts et al. 2006; Baker et al. 2006), one crucial question is which types of cells secret PGRN in the CNS. Lü et al. (2013) investigated the expression of PGRN in NSCs and their differentiated cell lineages. This *in vitro* study clearly indicates that PGRN is highly expressed in NSCs obtained from the SVZ of neonatal Sprague Dawley rats and in their differentiated cell lineages. We also confirmed the expression and secretion of PGRN from cultured NSPCs obtained from the SGZ of prenatal C57BL6 mice (Nedachi et al. 2011). Thus, it seems that NSPCs secret PGRN *in vitro* and *in vivo*. In addition, the expression of PGRN has been observed in neurons, microglia, astrocytes and oligodendrocytes in the brain tissue of neonatal rats (Lü et al. 2013). Overall, this series of experiments strongly suggests that PGRN is expressed in multiple cell types in the CNS.

The precise roles of PGRN in NSPCs function are still largely under investigation. In NSPCs derived from wild type mice (WT-NSPCs) and PGRN-deficient mice (KO-NSPCs), exogenous PGRN treatment significantly enhances the proliferation of KO-NSPCs (Nedachi et al. 2011). In contrast, exogenous PGRN treatment does not alter NSPC death or asymmetrical cellular division, which results in the production of NSPCs, neurons, astrocytes, and oligodendrocytes. Thus, it seems that exogenous PGRN treatment affects NSPC proliferation rates, whereas its effects on NSPC death and differentiation rates are minimal. Intriguingly, our study also showed that in the absence of PGRN, KO-NSPCs display a higher cell death ratio than WT-NSPCs, even though exogenous PGRN treatment has no effect (Nedachi et al. 2011). This also raises the possibility that in NSPCs, intracellular PGRN that has never been released has some specific function.

Additional evidence of the involvement of PGRN in neurogenesis has been reported in a zebrafish model. Walsh and Hitchcock (2017) recently studied the effects of PGRN depletion on retinal neurogenesis. Zebrafish have progranulin-A and –B, which are related to human PGRN with 44.8% and 42.9% identity, respectively (Cadieux et al. 2005), and the depletion of progranulin-A results in a significant lengthening of the cell cycle. This delayed neurogenesis may contribute to a delay in retinal development. Moreover, Ma et al. (2017a) demonstrated that PGRN protects hippocampal neurogenesis via suppression of neuroinflammatory responses under acute immune stress. They first showed that treatment of mice with lipoply-saccharide (LPS) significantly increases the expression of PGRN in activated microglia and at the same time, decreases neurogenesis in hippocampus. Interestingly,

PGRN deficiency does not alter the age-related decreases in neurogenesis (assessed by counting Ki67-IR and DCX-IR cells), although this does still exacerbate microglial activation in the hippocampus (Ma et al. 2017b).

Overall, several discrepancies remain between *in vitro* and *in vivo* models. Increases in PGRN levels in the CNS do not directly engage in the enhancement of neurogenesis, and evidence suggests that PGRN controls neurogenesis in the CNS *via* both direct and indirect action. PGRN induction by microglial activation may be involved in the latter indirect mechanism.

PGRN Signaling in NSPCs

PGRN initiates the activation of signaling pathways, which are often triggered by other conventional growth factors. To be specific, PGRN frequently stimulates two major signaling molecules found in many types of cells: extracellular signal regulated kinase (ERK1/2) and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) (Toh et al. 2011). He et al. (2003) demonstrated that PGRN stimulates the proliferation and migration of rat primary fibroblasts and endothelial cells, and ERK1/2 and PI3K activation are involved in this process. Similarly, PGRN-dependent activation of ERK1/2 and PI3K has been observed in embryonic fibroblasts derived from PGRN-deficient mice (Kleinberger et al. 2010). Moreover, in the 5637 bladder cancer cell line, PGRNdependent ERK1/2 activation seems to be coupled with the formation of the paxillin/ FAK/ERK complex (Monami et al. 2006). In Her2-overexpressing breast cancer cells, it has been reported that PGRN activates c-Src, which may be an upstream signaling molecule for ERK1/2 and PI3K (Kim et al. 2016). In mouse cortical neurons, PGRN appears to activate the PI3K pathway. Kleinberger et al. (2010) showed that PGRN treatment induces the phosphorylation of Akt, which is a major downstream target of PI3K; however, phosphorylation of ERK1/2 was not detected (Kleinberger et al. 2010). In addition, PGRN induces Ser9 phosphorylation of glycogen synthase kinase-3ß (GSK-3ß), a substrate for Akt in mouse cortical and hippocampal neurons (Gao et al. 2010). Overall, the PI3K and ERK1/2 pathways are major PGRN signaling pathways, although some differences are observed across cell types. Since PGRN is a multifunctional growth factor, these differences in signaling pathways may contribute to the selectivity of PGRN-dependent action across cell types.

Compared to the above information about PGRN signaling in different cell types, PGRN signaling in NSPCs remains widely elusive. However, we recently demonstrated that the administration of PGRN enhances GSK-3 β phosphorylation (Ser9) in NSPCs derived from Grn^{-/-} mouse hippocampus at embryonic day 16.5 (Nedachi et al. 2011). Adding LY294002, a PI3K inhibitor, abolishes this PGRN-dependent GSK-3 β phosphorylation, which suggests that PGRN-dependent PI3K cascades are important for this GSK-3 β phosphorylation. Moreover, we could not detect any PGRN-induced ERK1/2 activation (Nedachi et al. 2011), as other studies have done using mouse neurons (Kleinberger et al. 2010; Gao et al. 2010). Thus, although further studies are required, PGRN activates PI3K cascades in both NSPCs and neurons; however, the impact on ERK1/2 activation seems to be minimal. Remarkably, the Ser9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 β decreases its activity, and pharmacological inhibition of GSK-3 β activity enhances neurogenesis in both humans and mice (Lange et al. 2011; Nedachi et al. 2011). Thus, PGRN-dependent neurogenesis may be mediated by this GSK-3 β phosphorylation.

PGRN Shares Its Receptors with Other Factors in the CNS

Numerous factors are secreted by many cell types in the CNS. These factors originate in either the brain or other tissues/organs and can directly or indirectly modulate functions of NSPCs. Some of these factors may facilitate neurogenesis via control of PGRN action.

Microglia secret cytokines, which induce neurogenesis and oligodendrogenesis in the SVZ of the rat during the early postnatal days (Shigemoto-Mogami et al. 2014); however, the direct effects of activated microglia on NSPC survival are still controversial because of their spatial and temporal regulation. LPS treatment inhibits neurogenesis via the release of interleukin-6 (IL-6) and tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) from microglia (Monje et al. 2003). TNF- α signaling is crucial for neurogenesis. Two types of TNF- α receptors, TNFR1 and TNFR2, are expressed in NSPCs. TNFR2 mainly transduces signals, which is important for basal neurogenesis; conversely, TNFR1 attenuates neurogenesis (Chen and Palmer 2013).

PGRN binds directly to TNFR1 and 2 (Tang et al. 2011); thus, one attractive hypothesis is that PGRN competitively binds to TNF- α receptors, thereby regulating neurogenesis. This PGRN-TNFR interaction was first identified in yeast two-hybrid screenings and was further confirmed using several other techniques, such as coimmunoprecipitation in human cells, the ELISA-based solid phase binding assay, and the surface plasmon resonance (SPR) approaches (Jian et al. 2013; Tang et al. 2011). Disrupting TNF signaling is a promising therapeutic target for many types of inflammatory diseases and conditions, therefore, the PGRN-TNFR interaction was extensively studied by other groups. Some groups successfully confirmed the PGRN-TNFR interaction (Alquézar et al. 2016; Liu et al. 2014; Thurner et al. 2015); however, Chen et al. (2013) claimed that they could not detect any PGRN-TNFR interaction in their antibody pull-down experiments using the Biacore system. Overall, it appears that PGRN and TNF- α may competitively facilitate the fates of NSPCs, although the PGRN-TNFR interaction is still controversial (Wang et al. 2015).

PGRN may also competitively act with neurotrophins (NTs) and proneurotrophins (pro-NTs) in NSPCs. NT signaling is crucial for maintaining the CNS (Chao 2003; Vilar and Mira 2016). The NT family consists of nerve growth factor (NGF), brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), neurotrophin-3 (NT-3), and neurotrophin 4/5 (NT4/5) (Bothwell 2014). Two distinct receptors were identified for NTs, Trk tyrosine kinases and p75 neurotrophin receptor (p75NTR) (Friedman and Greene 1999). p75NTR interacts with both NTs and pro-NTs, such as pro-NGF and pro-BDNF (Hempstead 2014). Remarkably, a Vps10 family protein, sortilin (Sort1), has the ability to initiate pro-NTs-induced cell death by forming a complex with p75NTR (Domeniconi et al. 2007; Jansen et al. 2007; Nykjaer et al. 2004; Teng et al. 2005). Strikingly, Sort1 induces rapid endocytosis of pro-NGF (Nykjaer et al. 2004), with little recycling (Nielsen et al. 2001). Therefore, NTs and pro-NTs seem to control the levels of Sort1 on the cell surface.

Recently, Sort1 was also identified as a receptor for PGRN (Hu et al. 2010). To the best of my knowledge, the expression of Sort1 in NSPCs has not been reported; however, Sort1 is abundantly expressed in both human embryonic stem cells (hESCs) and mature neurons (Lee et al. 2014; Sarret et al. 2003). Upon binding to Sort1, PGRN is endocytosed to lysosomes (Hu et al. 2010). This endocytosis appears to be important for determining extracellular PGRN levels, because ablation of the Sort1 gene fully normalizes PGRN levels in Grn^{+/-} mice, which basally display PGRN haploinsufficiency (Hu et al. 2010). Expression patterns of NTs in the neurogenic niches of SVZ and SGZ have been extensively studied. For instance, NGF and BDNF are expressed in astrocytes, while NT-3 is expressed in ependymal cells (Vilar and Mira 2016; Tonchev 2011). Thus, even though further studies are required, especially to investigate the expression of Sort1 in NSPCs, Sort1 may have roles in the control of both NT and PGRN action via endocytosis and its expression on the membrane.

PGRN and the Extracellular Matrix

NSPCs are generally observed in the adjacent basal lamina of blood vessels which enrich the extracellular matrix (ECM) (Doetsch 2003). Although the precise roles are currently under investigation, ECM molecules seem to intervene in neurogenesis (Seki 2003; Mercier et al. 2002; Goetz et al. 2006; Kazanis and ffrench-Constant 2011). In this section, I focus on the relationship between the ECM and PGRN, which may be crucial for the cell fate determination of NSPCs.

Mercier et al. (2002, 2003) analyzed the adult neurogenic niche and found a series of "laminin"-immunoreactive puncta in the subependymal zone (SEZ). Laminins are heterotrimeric proteins containing one α -, one β -, and one γ -chain (Miner and Yurchenco 2004; Aumailley et al. 2005). Laminins have the capacity to bind to cell surface receptors such as integrins (Gullberg and Ekblom 1995) and exert multiple biological activities, including cell adhesion, cell migration, neurite outgrowth, and more (Kleinman et al. 1990; Ekblom et al. 2003; Ichikawa et al. 2009). Kazanis et al. (2010) explored the SEZ to identify the potential relationship between laminins and NSCs. They found that NSCs and precursors are surrounded by a laminin-rich ECM. However, importantly, NSCs express low levels of $\alpha \beta \beta$ 1-integrin, a crucial membrane protein in the attachment of laminin, whereas precursors express higher levels of this protein. This laminin-integrin interaction is important for the control of proliferation activities in these cells, because *in vivo* blocking of β 1 integrin induces the proliferation of precursors (Kazanis et al. 2010).

Interestingly, Tanaka et al. (2013) reported that PGRN deficiency exacerbates inflammatory responses related to activated microglia after experimental traumatic brain injury. They observed not only microglial activation but also the accumulation of laminins in the CNS. Overall, it could be hypothesized that the exacerbated inflammatory responses caused by PGRN deficiency enhance laminin accumulation in the CNS, followed by modulation of the fates of the precursor cells.

Another ECM molecule, collagen, is also observed in the neurogenic niche (Kerever et al. 2007). In the lateral ventricle walls, specific ECM structures defined as "fractones," which are enriched with the laminins, perlecan and collagens, have been observed (Kerever et al. 2007). Moreover, Mori et al. (2013) showed the migration of glial cells differentiated from NSPCs depends on the stiffness of the gel; the glial cells spread more widely on the stiff collagen gels compared to the less stiff collagen gels. Thus, the abundance of collagen may influence NSPC behavior. Very recently, we performed a transcriptome analysis comparing NSPCs obtained from wild-type and PGRN-deficient mouse hippocampus (manuscript in preparation). In this experiment, we found that the deficit of PGRN in NSPCs potentially enhanced the expression of some types of collagen family genes. Overall, PGRN appears to control NSPCs-derived collagen production, thereby potentially modulating the NSPCs niche.

In addition, some extracellular proteins have been reported to interact with PGRN in the other organs. For example, Guo et al. (2010) reported that PGRN binds directly to disintegrin and metalloproteinase with thrombospondin motifs (ADAMTS)-7 and -12 in chondrocytes and inhibits degradation of cartilage oligomeric matrix protein (COMP) (Xu et al. 2007). In addition, PGRN has the capacity to bind to Perlecan, a heparan sulfate proteoglycan found in most basement membranes and cell surfaces (Gonzalez et al. 2003) and has been implicated in tissue development and several diseases (Arikawa-Hirasawa et al. 1999, 2001). Interestingly, Perlecan captures fibroblast growth factor (FGF)-2 and is crucial for FGF-2 signaling in the NSC niche (Kerever et al. 2007, 2014).

Although further studies are required to understand the relationship between PGRN and ECM in NSPCs, this information allows us to speculate that PGRN has the potential to modify the ECM surrounding NSPCs. At the same time, the modified ECM conditions may also affect PGRN action on NSPCs.

Conclusion

In conclusion, converging evidence suggests that the dynamics of NSPCs are controlled by PGRN via direct, cooperative or competitive action with other growth factors and/or ECMs (Fig. 1). However, given that different types of cells in the CNS produce PGRN and also react to it, and because PGRN promotes multiple biological actions, the precise impact of an excess or deficit of PGRN on NSPCs requires further investigation.





References

- Alquézar C, de la Encarnación A, Moreno F, López de Munain A, Martín-Requero Á (2016) Progranulin deficiency induces overactivation of WNT5A expression via TNF- α /NF- κ B pathway in peripheral cells from frontotemporal dementia-linked granulin mutation carriers. J Psychiatry Neurosci 41(4):225–239
- Altman J (1962) Are new neurons formed in the brains of adult mammals? Science 135(3509):1127–1128
- Arikawa-Hirasawa E, Watanabe H, Takami H, Hassell JR, Yamada Y (1999) Perlecan is essential for cartilage and cephalic development. Nat Genet 23:354–358
- Arikawa-Hirasawa E, Wilcox WR, Le AH, Silverman N, Govindraj P, Hassell JR, Yamada Y (2001) Dyssegmental dysplasia, Silverman-Handmaker type, is caused by functional null mutations of the perlecan gene. Nat Genet 27:431–434
- Aumailley M, Bruckner-Tuderman L, Carter WG, Deutzmann R, Edgar D, Ekblom P, Engel J, Engvall E, Hohenester E, Jones JC, Kleinman HK, Marinkovich MP, Martin GR, Mayer U, Meneguzzi G, Miner JH, Miyazaki K, Patarroyo M, Paulsson M, Quaranta V, Sanes JR, Sasaki T, Sekiguchi K, Sorokin LM, Talts JF, Tryggvason K, Uitto J, Virtanen I, von der Mark K, Wewer UM, Yamada Y, Yurchenco PD (2005) A simplified laminin nomenclature. Matrix Biol 24(5):326–332
- Baker M, Mackenzie IR, Pickering-Brown SM, Gass J, Rademakers R, Lindholm C, Snowden J, Adamson J, Sadovnick AD, Rollinson S, Cannon A, Dwosh E, Neary D, Melquist S, Richardson A, Dickson D, Berger Z, Eriksen J, Robinson T, Zehr C, Dickey CA, Crook R, McGowan E, Mann D, Boeve B, Feldman H, Hutton M (2006) Mutations in progranulin cause tau-negative frontotemporal dementia linked to chromosome 17. Nature 442:916–919
- Bothwell M (2014) NGF, BDNF, NT3, and NT4. Handb Exp Pharmacol 220:3-15
- Cadieux B, Chitramuthu BP, Baranowski D, Bennett HP (2005) The zebrafish progranulin gene family and antisense transcripts. BMC Genomics 6:156
- Chao MV (2003) Neurotrophins and their receptors: a convergence point for many signalling pathways. Nat Rev Neurosci 4(4):299–309
- Chen Z, Palmer TD (2013) Differential roles of TNFR1 and TNFR2 signaling in adult hippocampal neurogenesis. Brain Behav Immun 30:45–53

- Chen X, Chang J, Deng Q, Xu J, Nguyen TA, Martens LH, Cenik B, Taylor G, Hudson KF, Chung J, Yu K, Yu P, Herz J, Farese RV Jr, Kukar T, Tansey MG (2013) Progranulin does not bind tumor necrosis factor (TNF) receptors and is not a direct regulator of TNF-dependent signaling or bioactivity in immune or neuronal cells. J Neurosci 33(21):9202–9213
- Cruts M, Gijselinck I, van der Zee J, Engelborghs S, Wils H, Pirici D, Rademakers R, Vandenberghe R, Dermaut B, Martin JJ, van Duijn C, Peeters K, Sciot R, Santens P, De Pooter T, Mattheijssens M, Van den Broeck M, Cuijt I, Vennekens K, De Deyn PP, Kumar-Singh S, Van Broeckhoven C (2006) Null mutations in progranulin cause ubiquitin-positive frontotemporal dementia linked to chromosome 17q21. Nature 442:920–924
- Deng W, Saxe MD, Gallina IS, Gage FH (2009) Adult-born hippocampal dentate granule cells undergoing maturation modulate learning and memory in the brain. J Neurosci 29(43):13532–13542
- Doetsch F (2003) A niche for adult neural stem cells. Curr Opin Genet Dev 13(5):543-550
- Domeniconi M, Hempstead BL, Chao MV (2007) Pro-NGF secreted by astrocytes promotes motor neuron cell death. Mol Cell Neurosci 34(2):271–279
- Dupret D, Revest JM, Koehl M, Ichas F, De Giorgi F, Costet P, Abrous DN, Piazza PV (2008) Spatial relational memory requires hippocampal adult neurogenesis. PLoS One 3(4):e1959
- Ekblom P, Lonai P, Talts JF (2003) Expression and biological role of laminin-1. Matrix Biol 22(1):35–47
- Eriksson PS, Perfilieva E, Björk-Eriksson T, Alborn AM, Nordborg C, Peterson DA, Gage FH (1998) Neurogenesis in the adult human hippocampus. Nat Med 4(11):1313–1317
- Friedman WJ, Greene LA (1999) Neurotrophin signaling via Trks and p75. Exp Cell Res 253(1):131–142
- Gao X, Joselin AP, Wang L, Kar A, Ray P, Bateman A, Goate AM, Wu JY (2010) Progranulin promotes neurite outgrowth and neuronal differentiation by regulating GSK-3β. Protein Cell 1(6):552–562
- Goetz AK, Scheffler B, Chen HX, Wang S, Suslov O, Xiang H, Brüstle O, Roper SN, Steindler DA (2006) Temporally restricted substrate interactions direct fate and specification of neural precursors derived from embryonic stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103(29):11063–11068
- Gonzalez EM, Mongiat M, Slater SJ, Baffa R, Iozzo R (2003) V. (2003) A novel interaction between Perlecan protein core and progranulin: potential effects on tumor growth. J Biol Chem 278:38113–38116
- Gould E, Tanapat P(1999) Stress and hippocampal neurogenesis. Biol Psychiatry 46(11):1472–1479
- Gullberg D, Ekblom P (1995) Extracellular matrix and its receptors during development. Int J Dev Biol 39(5):845–854
- Guo F, Lai Y, Tian Q, Lin EA, Kong L, Liu C (2010) Granulin-epithelin precursor binds directly to ADAMTS-7 and ADAMTS-12 and inhibits their degradation of cartilage oligomeric matrix protein. Arthritis Rheum 62:2023–2036
- He Z, Bateman A (2003) Progranulin (granulin-epithelin precursor, PC-cell-derived growth factor, acrogranin) mediates tissue repair and tumorigenesis. J Mol Med (Berl) 81(10):600–612
- He Z, Ong CH, Halper J, Bateman A (2003) Progranulin is a mediator of the wound response. Nat Med 9(2):225–229
- Hempstead BL (2014) Deciphering proneurotrophin actions. Handb Exp Pharmacol 220:17–32
- Hu F, Padukkavidana T, Vægter CB, Brady OA, Zheng Y, Mackenzie IR, Feldman HH, Nykjaer A, Strittmatter SM (2010) Sortilin-mediated endocytosis determines levels of the frontotemporal dementia protein, progranulin. Neuron 68(4):654–667
- Ichikawa N, Iwabuchi K, Kurihara H, Ishii K, Kobayashi T, Sasaki T, Hattori N, Mizuno Y, Hozumi K, Yamada Y, Arikawa-Hirasawa E (2009) Binding of laminin-1 to monosialoganglioside GM1 in lipid rafts is crucial for neurite outgrowth. J Cell Sci 122(Pt 2):289–299

- Imayoshi I, Sakamoto M, Ohtsuka T, Takao K, Miyakawa T, Yamaguchi M, Mori K, Ikeda T, Itohara S, Kageyama R (2008) Roles of continuous neurogenesis in the structural and functional integrity of the adult forebrain. Nat Neurosci 11(10):1153–1161
- Jansen P, Giehl K, Nyengaard JR, Teng K, Lioubinski O, Sjoegaard SS, Breiderhoff T, Gotthardt M, Lin F, Eilers A, Petersen CM, Lewin GR, Hempstead BL, Willnow TE, Nykjaer A (2007) Roles for the pro-neurotrophin receptor sortilin in neuronal development, aging and brain injury. Nat Neurosci 10(11):1449–1457
- Jian J, Zhao S, Tian Q, Gonzalez-Gugel E, Mundra JJ, Uddin SM, Liu B, Richbourgh B, Brunetti R, Liu CJ (2013) Progranulin directly binds to the CRD2 and CRD3 of TNFR extracellular domains. FEBS Lett 587(21):3428–3436
- Kazanis I, ffrench-Constant C (2011) Extracellular matrix and the neural stem cell niche. Dev Neurobiol 71(11):1006–1017
- Kazanis I, Lathia JD, Vadakkan TJ, Raborn E, Wan R, Mughal MR, Eckley DM, Sasaki T, Patton B, Mattson MP, Hirschi KK, Dickinson ME, ffrench-Constant C (2010) Quiescence and activation of stem and precursor cell populations in the subependymal zone of the mammalian brain are associated with distinct cellular and extracellular matrix signals. J Neurosci 30(29):9771–9781
- Kempermann G, Kuhn HG, Gage FH (1997) More hippocampal neurons in adult mice living in an enriched environment. Nature 386(6624):493–495
- Kerever A, Schnack J, Vellinga D, Ichikawa N, Moon C, Arikawa-Hirasawa E, Efird JT, Mercier F (2007) Novel extracellular matrix structures in the neural stem cell niche capture the neurogenic factor fibroblast growth factor 2 from the extracellular milieu. Stem Cells 25(9):2146–2157
- Kerever A, Mercier F, Nonaka R, de Vega S, Oda Y, Zalc B, Okada Y, Hattori N, Yamada Y, Arikawa-Hirasawa E (2014) Perlecan is required for FGF-2 signaling in the neural stem cell niche. Stem Cell Res 12(2):492–505
- Kim WE, Yue B, Serrero G (2016) Signaling pathway of GP88 (Progranulin) in breast cancer cells: upregulation and phosphorylation of c-myc by GP88/progranulin in Her2-overexpressing breast cancer cells. Breast Cancer (Auckl) 9(Suppl 2):71–77
- Kleinberger G, Wils H, Ponsaerts P, Joris G, Timmermans JP, Van Broeckhoven C, Kumar-Singh S (2010) Increased caspase activation and decreased TDP-43 solubility in progranulin knockout cortical cultures. J Neurochem 115(3):735–747
- Kleinman HK, Sephel GC, Tashiro K, Weeks BS, Burrous BA, Adler SH, Yamada Y, Martin GR (1990) Laminin in neuronal development. Ann N Y Acad Sci 580:302–310
- Lange C, Mix E, Frahm J, Glass A, Müller J, Schmitt O, Schmöle AC, Klemm K, Ortinau S, Hübner R, Frech MJ, Wree A, Rolfs A (2011) Small molecule GSK-3 inhibitors increase neurogenesis of human neural progenitor cells. Neurosci Lett 488(1):36–40
- Lee WC, Almeida S, Prudencio M, Caulfield TR, Zhang YJ, Tay WM, Bauer PO, Chew J, Sasaguri H, Jansen-West KR, Gendron TF, Stetler CT, Finch N, Mackenzie IR, Rademakers R, Gao FB, Petrucelli L (2014) Targeted manipulation of the sortilin-progranulin axis rescues progranulin haploinsufficiency. Hum Mol Genet 23(6):1467–1478
- Liu C, Li XX, Gao W, Liu W, Liu DS (2014) Progranulin-derived Atstrin directly binds to TNFRSF25 (DR3) and inhibits TNF-like ligand 1A (TL1A) activity. PLoS One 9(3):e92743
- Lü L, Luo L, Lu Y, Chen L, Xu J, Guo K (2013) Progranulin expression in neural stem cells and their differentiated cell lineages: an immunocytochemical study. Mol Med Rep 8(5):1359–1364
- Ma Y, Matsuwaki T, Yamanouchi K, Nishihara M (2017a) Progranulin protects hippocampal neurogenesis via suppression of neuroinflammatory responses under acute immune stress. Mol Neurobiol 54(5):3717–3728
- Ma Y, Matsuwaki T, Yamanouchi K, Nishihara M (2017b) Involvement of progranulin in modulating neuroinflammatory responses but not neurogenesis in the hippocampus of aged mice. Exp Gerontol 95:1–8
- Marín-Burgin A, Schinder AF (2012) Requirement of adult-born neurons for hippocampusdependent learning. Behav Brain Res 227(2):391–399
- Mercier F, Kitasako JT, Hatton GI (2002) Anatomy of the brain neurogenic zones revisited: fractones and the fibroblast/macrophage network. J Comp Neurol 451(2):170–188

- Mercier F, Kitasako JT, Hatton GI (2003) Fractones and other basal laminae in the hypothalamus. J Comp Neurol 455(3):324–340
- Miner JH, Yurchenco PD (2004) Laminin functions in tissue morphogenesis. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 20:255–284
- Monami G, Gonzalez EM, Hellman M, Gomella LG, Baffa R, Iozzo RV, Morrione A (2006) Proepithelin promotes migration and invasion of 5637 bladder cancer cells through the activation of ERK1/2 and the formation of a paxillin/FAK/ERK complex. Cancer Res 66(14):7103–7110
- Monje ML, Toda H, Palmer TD (2003) Inflammatory blockade restores adult hippocampal neurogenesis. Science 302(5651):1760–1765
- Mori H, Takahashi A, Horimoto A, Hara M (2013) Migration of glial cells differentiated from neurosphere-forming neural stem/progenitor cells depends on the stiffness of the chemically cross-linked collagen gel substrate. Neurosci Lett 555:1–6
- Nedachi T, Kawai T, Matsuwaki T, Yamanouchi K, Nishihara M (2011) Progranulin enhances neural progenitor cell proliferation through glycogen synthase kinase 3β phosphorylation. Neuroscience 185:106–115
- Nielsen MS, Madsen P, Christensen EI, Nykjaer A, Gliemann J, Kasper D, Pohlmann R, Petersen CM (2001) The sortilin cytoplasmic tail conveys Golgi-endosome transport and binds the VHS domain of the GGA2 sorting protein. EMBO J 20(9):2180–2190
- Nykjaer A, Lee R, Teng KK, Jansen P, Madsen P, Nielsen MS, Jacobsen C, Kliemannel M, Schwarz E, Willnow TE, Hempstead BL, Petersen CM (2004) Sortilin is essential for proNGF-induced neuronal cell death. Nature 427(6977):843–848
- Ong CH, Bateman A (2003) Progranulin (granulin-epithelin precursor, PC-cell derived growth factor, acrogranin) in proliferation and tumorigenesis. Histol Histopathol 18(4):1275–1288
- Park JH, Choi MR, Park KS, Kim SH, Jung KH, Chai YG (2012) The characterization of gene expression during mouse neural stem cell differentiation in vitro. Neurosci Lett 506(1):50–54
- Sarret P, Krzywkowski P, Segal L, Nielsen MS, Petersen CM, Mazella J, Stroh T, Beaudet A (2003) Distribution of NTS3 receptor/sortilin mRNA and protein in the rat central nervous system. J Comp Neurol 461(4):483–505
- Saxe MD, Battaglia F, Wang JW, Malleret G, David DJ, Monckton JE, Garcia AD, Sofroniew MV, Kandel ER, Santarelli L, Hen R, Drew MR (2006) Ablation of hippocampal neurogenesis impairs contextual fear conditioning and synaptic plasticity in the dentate gyrus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103(46):17501–17506
- Seki T (2003) Microenvironmental elements supporting adult hippocampal neurogenesis. Anat Sci Int 78(2):69–78
- Shigemoto-Mogami Y, Hoshikawa K, Goldman JE, Sekino Y, Sato K (2014) Microglia enhance neurogenesis and oligodendrogenesis in the early postnatal subventricular zone. J Neurosci 34(6):2231–2243
- Suzuki M, Yoshida S, Nishihara M, Takahashi M (1998) Identification of a sex steroid-inducible gene in the neonatal rat hypothalamus. Neurosci Lett 242(3):127–130
- Suzuki M, Bannai M, Matsumuro M, Furuhata Y, Ikemura R, Kuranaga E, Kaneda Y, Nishihara M, Takahashi M (2000) Suppression of copulatory behavior by intracerebroventricular infusion of antisense oligodeoxynucleotide of granulin in neonatal male rats. Physiol Behav 68(5):707–713
- Tanaka Y, Matsuwaki T, Yamanouchi K, Nishihara M (2013) Exacerbated inflammatory responses related to activated microglia after traumatic brain injury in progranulin-deficient mice. Neuroscience 231:49–60
- Tang W, Lu Y, Tian QY, Zhang Y, Guo FJ, Liu GY, Syed NM, Lai Y, Lin EA, Kong L, Su J, Yin F, Ding AH, Zanin-Zhorov A, Dustin ML, Tao J, Craft J, Yin Z, Feng JQ, Abramson SB, Yu XP, Liu CJ (2011) The growth factor progranulin binds to TNF receptors and is therapeutic against inflammatory arthritis in mice. Science 332(6028):478–484
- Teng HK, Teng KK, Lee R, Wright S, Tevar S, Almeida RD, Kermani P, Torkin R, Chen ZY, Lee FS, Kraemer RT, Nykjaer A, Hempstead BL (2005) ProBDNF induces neuronal apoptosis via activation of a receptor complex of p75NTR and sortilin. J Neurosci 25(22):5455–5463

- Thurner L, Fadle N, Regitz E, Kemele M, Klemm P, Zaks M, Stöger E, Bette B, Carbon G, Zimmer V, Assmann G, Murawski N, Kubuschok B, Held G, Preuss KD, Pfreundschuh M (2015) The molecular basis for development of proinflammatory autoantibodies to progranulin. J Autoimmun 61:17–28
- Toh H, Chitramuthu BP, Bennett HP, Bateman A (2011) Structure, function, and mechanism of progranulin; the brain and beyond. J Mol Neurosci 45(3):538–548
- Tonchev AB (2011) Brain ischemia, neurogenesis, and neurotrophic receptor expression in primates. Arch Ital Biol 149(2):225-231
- van Praag H, Christie BR, Sejnowski TJ, Gage FH (1999) Running enhances neurogenesis, learning, and long-term potentiation in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96(23):13427–13431
- van Praag H, Schinder AF, Christie BR, Toni N, Palmer TD, Gage FH (2002) Functional neurogenesis in the adult hippocampus. Nature 415(6875):1030–1034
- Vilar M, Mira H (2016) Regulation of neurogenesis by neurotrophins during adulthood: expected and unexpected roles. Front Neurosci 10:26
- Walsh CE, Hitchcock PF (2017) Progranulin regulates neurogenesis in the developing vertebrate retina. Dev Neurobiol 77(9):1114–1129
- Wang BC, Liu H, Talwar A, Jian J (2015) New discovery rarely runs smooth: an update on progranulin/TNFR interactions. Protein Cell 6(11):792–803
- Winocur G, Wojtowicz JM, Sekeres M, Snyder JS, Wang S (2006) Inhibition of neurogenesis interferes with hippocampus-dependent memory function. Hippocampus 16(3):296–304
- Xu K, Zhang Y, Ilalov K, Carlson CS, Feng JQ, Di Cesare PE, Liu CJ (2007) Cartilage oligomeric matrix protein associates with granulin-epithelin precursor (GEP) and potentiates GEPstimulated chondrocyte proliferation. J Biol Chem 282:11347–11355

Generation and Phenotyping of Progranulin-Deficient Mice



Takashi Matsuwaki

Abstract Progranulin (PGRN) is a multifunctional growth factor involved in many physiological and pathological processes in the brain. PGRN is expressed in a wide variety of tissues and organs including neural tissues, reproductive organs, endocrine organs, and gastrointestinal tract. We have previously reported that PGRN is one of the major factors involved in masculinization of the brain of rodents during neonatal period. To further evaluate the masculinizing role of PGRN, we have generated a line of PGRN-deficient mice. Male PGRN-deficient mice showed decreased ejaculation incidence and increased anxiety, implying the disrupted masculinization of the brain. We secondly focused on the PGRN function in the hippocampus and the cerebellum as those are the regions with high expression of PGRN in the brain. In the PGRN-deficient mice, the facilitative effect of voluntary exercise on adult hippocampal neurogenesis was blunted while the suppressive effect of immune challenge was exacerbated. Furthermore, PGRN-deficient mice showed a higher density of Purkinje cell dendrites in the molecular layer of the cerebellum, which possibly leads to the motor dysfunction we detected in those mice. In conclusion, we have demonstrated that PGRN functions to develop and maintain the neuronal circuits not only in the neonatal but also in the manured brain.

Keywords Progranulin \cdot Masculinization \cdot Anxiety \cdot Hippocampus \cdot Purkinje cells \cdot Estrogen receptor α

Generation of PGRN KO Mice

We have previously determined progrnulin (PGRN) as one of the major factors involved in masculinization of the rodent brain (Suzuki et al. 2000). For further understanding of the mechanism of brain masculinization, we have generated a line

T. Matsuwaki (🖂)

Department of Veterinary Physiology, Graduate School of Agricultural and Life Sciences, The University of Tokyo, Tokyo, Japan e-mail: amwakit@mail.ecc.u-tokyo.ac.jp

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2019

H. Hara et al. (eds.), *Progranulin and Central Nervous System Disorders*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-6186-9_9



Fig. 1 The targeted strategy for the mouse genomic PGRN locus Constructs of the mouse PGRN targeting vector (top), the wild-type mouse PGRN genome locus (middle) and the recombineted gene locus (bottom). In the mutant locus, the genomic region from exon 2 to exon 13 (appreoximatly 4.7 kb) was replaced by the PGK-Neo-bpA cassette

of mice with targeted disruption of PGRN gene (Kayasuga et al. 2007). In the mouse, the PGRN gene is approximately 6.3 kbp in length and consists of 13 exons (Baba et al. 1993). Granulin peptides of approximately 6 kDa are derived from PGRN (Bateman et al. 1990; Bhandari et al. 1992). The vector design for targeted strategy is shown in Fig. 1. First, we isolated a PGRN genomic clone from the genomic library of 129 SvJ mouse (Stratagene, La Jolla, CA). In the targeting vector, the 4.7 kb allele with exons 2–13 of the PGRN gene was replaced with a PGK-Neo-bpA cassette (Soriano et al. 1991) and a fragment of diphtheria toxin A (Yagi et al. 1993) was ligated to the 5' end (Fig. 1). After linearization, the targeting vector was electroporated into E14.1 ES cells (Asano et al. 1997). For the generation of chimeric mice, ES cells were aggregated with two (C57BL/6 \times DBF1) F1 eight cell stage embryos, according to the method described previously (Horai et al. 1998). Finally, one germ line chimera was obtained and his heterozygous offspring were backcrossed to C57BL/6 females. In total, we obtained 442 offspring by crossing heterozygous (HZ) male and female mice, whose genotypes were as follows; 28.1% (124/442) wild-type (WT), 49.3% (218/442) HZ and 22.6% (100/442) PGRNdeficient (KO). Both male and female of HZ are fertile and the litter size from HZ pairs $(6.3 \pm 0.3, n = 10)$ was comparable with that of WT pairs $(7.9 \pm 0.2, n = 18)$. In addition, there was no significant difference in the number of weaned pups at 30 days of ages between WT parents (6.9 ± 0.2 , n = 15) and KO parents (4.7 ± 0.3 , n = 9).

Alteration of Brain Masculinization in PGRN KO Mice

We have performed behavioral tests to examine possible impairment in the brain masculinization of PGRN KO mice. First, male-type sexual behavior was investigated using WT, HZ and KO mice at the age of 7–11 weeks. Mount, intromission
and ejaculation in 1 h were analyzed for three times with 4-day intervals. Throughout the three trials, both HZ and KO mice showed comparable latency and frequency of mount and intromission to those of WT mice. On the other hand, the ejaculation incidence was disrupted in KO mice. They displayed lower incidence of ejaculation at the second trial (Fig. 2a) and lower percentage of mice showing ejaculation at





least once over three trials (Fig. 2b), comparing with WT mice. This impairment of sexual behavior in the male PGRN KO mice is well correspondent with the results demonstrated in aromatase KO male mice (Bakker et al. 2004) and estrogen receptor (ER) KO (Wersinger et al. 1997) male mice, in which the lack of exposure to, or receptors for, estrogens during development impairs expression of male sexual behavior in adulthood. During the sexual behavior tests, aggressive behaviors toward females were noticed in KO male mice. WT male mice displayed a very few number of attacking toward female mice, which is well corresponding with the fact that this kind of aggressive behavior is quite unusual. However, KO mice showed a much larger number of aggressive bouts against the female than WT male mice, although it is not statistically significant. Serum concentration of testosterone did not differ among the males of the three genotypes, suggesting that PGRN does not affect the neuroendocrine system controlling gonadotropin secretion.

For further investigation of the influence of PGRN deletion on aggression, we next performed resident-intruder tests to evaluate the tendency of offensive intermale fighting of PGRN KO mice. The tests were repeated three times at 3-day intervals. The frequency of biting attacks was significantly higher in KO mice than that in WT and HZ mice. As it has been demonstrated that serotonergic neuronal system is related to inhibition of aggression, we then analyzed the hippocampal expression levels of the receptors for serotonin, 5-HT1A and 1B after three trials of resident-intruder test. The experience of aggressive encounters significantly decreased the mRNA expression of 5-HT1A in KO mice but not in WT mice or HZ mice. KO mice showed the tendency of decrease of 5-HT1B mRNA expression after aggressive encounters, although without significance. These changes in mRNA expression of serotonergic receptors in the hippocampus were well correlated with the changes in aggression behaviors in KO mice.

As aggressive behavior and anxiety is closely related to each other and elevated anxiety is often associated with an enhancement of aggression (Kikusui et al. 2004), we have evaluated anxiety tendency of KO mice using open field test (OFT) and elevated plus maze test (EPM). In OFT, male WT mice spent significantly less time in the peripheral area while longer time in the center than female WT mice. In EPM, there was a trend for the male WT mice to spend more time in the open arms than female WT mice. Moreover, male WT mice spent less time in the close arms. These results imply that in WT animals, male mice have less anxious tendency comparing to the female. The anxiety of male KO mice was enhanced to the similar level of the female and subsequently, the sexual dimorphism of anxiety has disappeared in KO mice (Fig. 2c). Taken together, the enhancement of aggressive behavior in male KO mice is possibly derived from elevated anxiety due to insufficient masculinization of the brain.

Subsequently, the morphologies of locus ceruleus (LC) and paraventicular nucleus (PVN) were observed to clarify the histological bases of sex difference in anxiety. Both PVN and LC are involved in anxiety and reported to have sexual dimorphism in their structure (Ishunina and Swaab 1999). The male WT mice showed a tendency to have a smaller volume and cell number of LC than WT mice. Volume and cell number of the LC were larger in KO mice comparing with WT mice (Fig. 2d), although no sex differences were detected in both genotypes of this

strain. Volumes of PVN were not significantly different between either genotypes or sexes. KO mice showed the comparable growth carve of body and brain weights with those of WT mice, implying that they have normal development of body and brain. During the maturation process of central nervous system, apoptosis in the LC starts from day 20 of pregnancy and reaches a peak at day 1 after birth, which is well coincident with the so-called critical period of sexual differentiation of the mammalian brain (Pinos et al. 2001). Thus, the volume and cell numbers of the LC is possibly under the effect of PGRN during the perinatal period. LC is the largest nucleus of noradrenergic neurons in the brain. Serotonergic neurons in the dorsal raphe project into the LC (Bremner et al. 1996), and secretion of noradrenalin is inhibited by a 5-HT1A agonist (Rioja et al. 2007), suggesting that these two mono-aminergic systems are coordinated in the brain (Mongeau et al. 1997).

Deficiency of PGRN causes suppression of male-type sexual behavior, enhancement of anxiety and resultant aggressive behavior, which represents insufficient masculinization of the brain. Furthermore, PGRN probably plays a considerable role in organization of monoaminergic systems, which regulates anxiety in a sexdependent manner.

PGRN Mediates the Enhancive Effect of Voluntary Exercise on Hippocampal Neurogenesis

Adult neurogenesis occurs predominantly in two regions, *i.e.* the subgranular zone (SGZ) of the dentate gyrus (DG) in the hippocampus and the subventricular zone lining the lateral ventricles (Chiba et al. 2009). Adult neurogenesis is upregulated by some growth factors, environmental enrichment, estrogen treatment and voluntary exercise, while downregulated by various stressors and high concentrations of glucocorticoids (Yin et al. 2010; Petkau et al. 2012). Our previous immunohistochemical study showed that PGRN is expressed broadly in the brain, with some strong expression in a certain regions, including the singulate and piriform cortices, the pyramidal cell layer and DG of the hippocampus, the amygdala, the ventromedial and arcuate nuclei of the hypothalamus, and the Purkinje cell layer in the cerebellum (Matsuwaki et al. 2011). Among them, hippocampus is one of the regions that have strong expression of PGRN. Thus, we have evaluated the possible role of PGRN in hippocampal neurogenesis of the adult brain.

We have placed a running wheel in the home cage of WT and KO mice to drive them to their voluntary exercise. The travel distance of KO mice was slightly but not significantly shorter than that of WT mice [WT mice, 9.93 ± 0.72 km/day (mean \pm SEM) vs. KO mice, 8.00 ± 0.54 km/day], implying that KO mice have normal motor performance. Four-week voluntary exercise increased the expression of PGRN in the hippocampus of WT mice (Fig. 3a, b). Subsequently, we performed a double-labeling immunostaining for PGRN with neuronal nuclei (NeuN) as a neuron marker, ionized calcium-binding adapter molecule 1 (Iba-1) as a microglia marker, or glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) as an astrocyte marker. It has been



Fig. 3 Enhancive effect of PGRN on the hippocampal neurogenesis after voluntary running (a) Representative images of progranulin immunohistochemistry in the hippocampus of WT mice 4 weeks after being kept with or without a running wheel. Scale bar: 500μ m. (b) PGRN expression in the hippocampus and cerebellum of the mice 4 weeks after being kept with or without a running wheel, determined by western blotting. Each column and vertical bar represents the mean and SEM (n = 4). *P < 0.05, unpaired t-test. (c) Effect of voluntary exercise on the number of BrdU-ir cells in the SGZ of the hippocampus. Mice were kept individually with or without a running wheel in their cages for 6 weeks. Each column and vertical bar represents the mean and SEM (n = 5). *P < 0.05, analysis of variance followed by Tukey–Kramer's test

demonstrated that in the basal condition, the major source of PGRN is neurons and microglia. The increased PGRN-expression after wheel running was mainly observed in the NeuN-immunoreactive (ir) cells but not in the Ib-1-ir or GFAP-ir cells in the CA1, CA3, and hilus. Thus, the pyramidal neurons in CA1 and CA3 and interneurons in the hilus are possibly the major source of PGRN increased in the hippocampus responding to voluntary exercise. Previously, we have found that expression of hypothalamic PGRN is increased by estrogen in the brains of neonatal rats (Nedachi et al. 2011) and the hippocampus of mature rats (Chiba et al. 2007). Thus, these findings suggest that voluntary exercise, as well as estrogen, can induce the expression of PGRN in the brain.

As mentioned above, voluntary exercise has an enhancive effect on adult neurogenesis. Thus, to evaluate the possible involvement of PGRN in the enhancement of hippocampal adult neurogenesis by voluntary running, we put a running wheel into the home cage of WT and KO mice and kept them for 6 weeks. To label proliferating cells, bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU), a thymidine analogue was administrated 2 h before sampling. After 6-week voluntary running, the number of BrdU-ir cells in the SGZ of the WT mice was significantly increased in the exercised than the control mice (Fig. 3c). In the KO mice, however, voluntary exercise failed to increase the number of BrdU-ir cells. These findings imply that PGRN plays indispensable role in running-inducible enhancement of hippocampal neurogenesis, which is well consistent with our another finding that PGRN may stimulate hippocampal neurogenesis in rat brain (Chiba et al. 2007). One possible source of PGRN facilitating adult neurogenesis should be pyramidal cells and interneurons in the CA1 and CA3 regions and the hilus, respectively as those area showed strong running-inducible expressions of PGRN. Another possibility is that PGRN secreted by the neural progenitor cells in the SGZ contributes to the increase in neurogenesis, as we have found that neural progenitor cells derived from hippocampus produce considerable amounts of PGRN in vitro (Nedachi et al. 2011). Furthermore, PGRN has been reported to have a neurotrophic function on outgrowth of neurite (Van Damme et al. 2008). On the other hand, exercise increases the density of dendritic spine in CA1 pyramidal cells, which contributes to improvement of cognitive function (Stranahan et al. 2007).

Taken together, the upregulated PGRN in CA1 and CA3 and the hilus responding to voluntary exercise might be involved in maintenance and improvement of cognitive function resulting from promoting neurite development.

PGRN Plays a Protective Role in Hippocampal Neurogenesis against Immune Challenge by Suppressing Neuroinflammatory

Infectious stress and the subsequent increase of inflammatory cytokines suppress adult neurogenesis. We have previously demonstrated that PGRN suppresses excessive neuroinflammatory responses after traumatic brain injury (TBI) by decreasing lysosomal biogenesis (Tanaka et al. 2013). Subsequently, we have evaluated the anti-inflammatory role of PGRN on the hippocampal neurogenesis (Ma et al. 2017) First, we evaluated hippocampal gene expression pattern of PGRN after intraperitoneal injection of bacterial endotoxin Lipopolysaccharide (LPS). LPS, a cell surface component of gram-negative bacteria, is broadly used for the experimental paradigms involving inflammatory and immune responses induced by infection. The expression level of PGRN was significantly increased 24 and 48 h after LPS injection. Since we have previously demonstrated that PGRN is mainly localized in lysosomes of activated microglia after TBI (Tanaka et al. 2013), we next performed double-immunostaining for PGRN with lysosome marker lysosomal-associated membrane protein 1 (LAMP1) or activated microglia marker CD68 in order to characterize the localization of PGRN in the hippocampus. Twenty-four hours after LPS injection, PGRN was well co-localized with CD68 in the DG. Moreover, immunoreactive areas for PGRN and LAMP were well correspondent. These results suggest that LPS-induced PGRN mainly localized in lysosomes of activated microglia.

Secondly, we assessed the function of PGRN in adult neurogenesis in the SGZ of the hippocampus under infectious condition. In addition to BrdU, we immunostained Ki67 as a marker of newborn cells. The numbers of immunoreactive cell for Ki67 and BrdU in the SGZ were significantly decreased both in WT and KO mice both 24 and 48 h after LPS injection, which is well corresponding with the previous studies reporting that adult neurogenesis is downregulated by various kinds of stressors. At 24 h after LPS injection, no significant difference was detected in the numbers of Ki67- or BrdU-ir cells in the SGZ between genotypes. However, the numbers of immunoreactive cells for both two markers were significantly smaller in KO mice than WT mice at 48 h after LPS injection (Fig. 4), which implies that PGRN-deficiency exacerbates the suppressive effect of infection stress on the hippocampal neurogenesis. Thus, PGRN is probably one of the potent factors protecting adult hippocampal neurogenesis against immune challenges.

We next evaluated the role of PGRN in the process of microglia activation. We performed immunostaining for Iba-1 and CD68 in the hippocampus of WT and KO mice 24 and 48 h after LPS treatment. As mentioned above, Iba-1 is a used as a general marker for microglia both in resting and activated conditions, while CD68 is a specific marker for the microglia in an activated condition. The Iba-1-ir area in the DG was significantly larger compared than saline-treated animals both 24 and 48 h after LPS injection in both WT and KO mice. However, there was no difference in the Iba-1-ir area between genotypes both in saline-treated and LPS-treated groups. On the other hand, the CD68-ir area of KO mice was significantly larger comparing with that of WT mice even in saline-treated animals. The mice of both genotypes showed significant increase of CD68-ir areas at both 24 and 48 h after LPS injection. In addition, the CD68-ir area in the DG of KO mice was significantly larger than that of WT mice. These findings suggest increased PGRN inhibit microglia from excessive activation.

Activated microglia are known to release various cytotoxic mediators such as inflammatory cytokines when they are stimulated by LPS administration (Laplante and Sabatini 2012; Settembre et al. 2012). Accordingly, we examined the gene



Fig. 4 Exacerbation of LPS-induced suppression of hippocampal neurogenesis in PGRN-deficient mice

(**a**, **b**) Representative images of immunohistochemistry for Ki67 (**a**) and BrdU (**b**) in the hippocampus of WT and PGRN KO mice 48 h after LPS administration. Nuclei were stained with Hoechst (blue). Scale bars, 100 μ m. (**c**, **d**) Quantification of the number of Ki67 (**c**) and BrdUpositive cells (**d**) in the subgranular zone of the hippocampal dentate gyrus. Each vertical bar represents the mean and SEM (n = 5). *p < 0.05, Tukey's HSD test after two-way ANOVA

expression patterns of proinflammatory cytokines and microsomal prostaglandin E synthase-1 (mPGES-1) in the hippocampus to know the role of LPS-induced PGRN in regulation of expression of these genes. Regarding the genes of interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β) and tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), both of their expression levels were increased by LPS injection, although there was no significant difference between genotypes either in saline- or LPS-injected groups. The expression level of mPGES-1 was also increased by LPS in both genotypes. However, KO mice showed the higher mPGES-1 levels in LPS-injected condition. In addition, IL-6 expression level was increased by LPS only in KO mice. These data suggest that PGRN has a suppressive effect on the expression of IL-6 and mPGES-1 after LPS treatment.

Finally, we investigated whether there are differences in the expression levels of lysosomal genes in the hippocampus between WT and KO mice 48 h after LPS injection. We have focused on lysozyme M (Lyz2), macrophage expressed gene 1 (Mpeg1), cathepsin Z (Ctsz), and mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR). In the saline-treated animals, the expression levels of Lyz2 and Mpeg1 were significantly

higher in KO than WT mice. LPS treatment significantly increased expression levels of those genes in both genotypes, and both genes were expressed significantly higher in KO mice than in WT mice. The LPS-induced increase of Ctsz expression level was observed only in KO mice, which was higher than that in WT mice. Although mTOR expression was significantly increased after LPS treatment in both genotypes, the increased level was much higher in KO mice. Previous studies have suggested that mTOR serves as a negative regulator of lysosomal biogenesis (Laplante and Sabatini 2012; Settembre et al. 2012). These results suggest that PGRN attenuates lysosomal biogenesis following LPS administration by enhancing activation of the mTOR signaling.

Hippocampal expression of PGRN is increased by infectious stress, which plays protective role in adult neurogenesis in the hippocampus against suppressive effect of infection. Besides, PGRN suppresses excessive neuroinflammatory responses related with overactivation of microglia after immune challenge, probably through decreasing lysosomal biogenesis involving mTOR activation.

Astrocyte-Specific Absence of Estrogen Receptor α in PGRN KO Mice

We have demonstrated that PGRN mediates some functions of estrogen including masculinization of the rodent brain and protection of hippocampal adult neurogenesis as written above. We also reported the strong induction of PGRN expression by estrogen in the rat brain (Chiba et al. 2007). Based on these findings, we have recently examined the localization of estrogen receptor α (ER α), a classic wellstudied subtype of estrogen receptors, in the brain of KO mice by immunohistochemical analysis (Doke et al. 2016). A double-labeling immunofluorescence study for ER α and markers of each cell type was performed to characterize ER α -expressing cells in the brain of the mice sampled on the day of estrus and diestrus. ERa immunopositive cells were observed broadly in the brain, including the cortex, amygdala, hippocampus, thalamus, and hypothalamus of both WT and KO mice, regardless of the estrus stages. Most of NeuN-ir cells were also expressing ER α , whereas Iba1-ir was never co-expressed with $ER\alpha$ in both genotypes, which was well consistent with the previous studies. Interestingly, there was no co-localization of ERa with GFAP in five of six KO mice, while WT mice showed clear co-localization of these two markers (Fig. 5a). This result indicates that in astrocytes, PGRN plays a considerable role in ER α expression, regardless of the estrus stage. Accordingly, to investigate the possible involvement of endogenous estrogen in the regulation of ER α expression by PGRN in astrocytes, we performed double-labeling immunostaining of ERa and GFAP on the brains of immature female mice, adult ovariectomized female, and adult male. As consistent with cycling females, there was no colocalization of ER α and GFAP in the brains of KO mice of all three groups, while these markers co-localized well in all brains of WT mice (Fig. 5b), suggesting that estrogen is not involved in the regulation of ER α expression by PGRN.



Fig. 5 Representative images of double immunostaining of ER α and cell markers in the hippocampus. (a) GFAP, Iba-1, and NeuN were detected as markers of astrocytes, microglia, and neurons, respectively. Co-localization of ER α and GFAP was observed only in WT mice. (b) None of immaturity, ovariectomy, or sex affected the lack of ER α in astrocytes of PGRN KO mice. Scale bars: 25 μ m

As mentioned above, we have also reported that PGRN has anti-inflammatory and the resultant neuroprotective effects by demonstrating the enhancement of microglia activation and subsequent neuroinflammatory response induced by TBI (Tanaka et al. 2013, 2014). Since activated astrocytes are reported to activate microglia (Liu et al. 2011), the lack of ER α in astrocytes is possibly a major factor causing hyperactivation of microglia and neuroinflammation observed in brain of KO mice. These studies imply that PGRN controls ER α expression in astrocytes, which in turn mediates the anti-inflammatory function of estrogen in the brain. Moreover, estrogen is also known to stimulate astrocytes to release some kinds of neuroprotective factors, such as glial cell-line derived neurotrophic factor (Platania et al. 2005; Xu et al. 2013), nerve growth factor (Xu et al. 2013), vascular endothelial growth factor (Barouk et al. 2011), and brain-derived neurotrophic factor (Xu et al. 2013). Interestingly, PGRN is expressed in neurons and microglia but not in astrocytes (Tanaka et al. 2013; Asakura et al. 2011). Astrocytes are known to interact with neurons through synaptic signal transduction (Benarroch 2005) and with microglia during neuroinflammation (Liu et al. 2011). Thus, PGRN possibly acts on neurons or microglia to regulate astrocytic ER α expression. Another possible mechanism is that PGRN secreted from neurons might affect astrocytes to regulate ER α expression, since PGRN is reported to work as a secretory glycoprotein (Van Damme et al. 2008).

In conclusion, PGRN produced in neurons and/or microglia works on astrocytes directly or indirectly to induce the expression of $ER\alpha$, which probably mediates the function of estrogen to suppress neuroinflammation derived from brain damage.

Motor Dysfunction of the PGRN KO Mice

Our previous immunohistochemical study elucidated that PGRN is strongly expressed also in Purkinje cells in hippocampus (Matsuwaki et al. 2011). The wellestablished functions of cerebellum in motor coordination and motor learning lead us to evaluate the motor function of PGRN KO mice to investigate the possible role of PGRN in the motor function controlled by cerebellum. We performed rotarod tests on WT, HZ, and KO mice at the age of 3 months old (Matsuwaki et al. 2015). For each animal, three trials were performed on each of three successive days. Latency to fall from the rotating rod became longer with trials in all genotype. KO mice stayed on the rod significantly shorter than WT mice in the second and seventh trial (Fig. 6a). When we compared the mean duration on each day, there was a significant difference between WT and KO mice on day 3. These results indicate that PGRN deficiency impairs motor function, although without affecting the ability of kinesthetic learning. Petkau et al. have generated another line of PGRN KO mice and reported that their 8-month-old PGRN KO mice also showed impairments in some kinds of behavior tests including rotarod test (Petkau et al. 2012), corresponding with our present result.

PGRN is also expressed in peripheral motor neurons that connect to neuromuscular junctions (Ryan et al. 2009). In addition, PGRN is reported to enhance hypertrophy of myotubes of C2C12 mouse myogenic cells (Hu et al. 2012). Thus, there was a possibility that the significantly shorter duration of KO mice staying on rotating rod was attributed to growth defects in skeletal muscle caused by the PGRN deficiency. Thus, we performed morphometric analyses on tibialis anterior muscles. The result showed that the distributions of myofiber diameter were comparable between WT and KO mice, indicating that the growth of skeletal muscle was not defective in KO mice and there was no muscular weakness attributable to loss of muscle mass. In addition, as already mentioned above, we have previously demonstrated that loco-



Fig. 6 Motor function and Purkinje cell morphology of PGRN-deficient mice

(a) Rotarod performance of WT, HZ, and KO mice. The rod was rotated at the speed of 30 rpm. For each animal, the duration on the rod was measured three times on each of three successive days. Each point and vertical bar represents the mean and SEM, respectively (n = 11 for each genotype). *P < 0.05 between WT and KO mice in the same trial ANOVA, followed by Tukey's multiple comparisons test. (b) Representative images of anti-calbindin immunohistochemistry in the cerebellums of WT and KO mice. Scale bar: 25 μ m. (c) Summary of the numbers of calbindin-immunoreactive (ir) cells and the calbindin-ir area. The numbers of calbindin-ir cells in 600 μ m of the Purkinje cell layer were counted in each of five slices and the mean values were calculated for each mouse. The calbindin-ir area was measured in five randomly selected areas (117 μ m × 117 μ m) in the molecular layer of five slices for each mouse and the mean value was calculated for each mouse. Each column and vertical bar represents the mean and SEM, respectively (WT, n = 6; KO, n = 5). *P < 0.05 (unpaired t-test)

motor activity of KO mice is comparable with that of WT mice in the open-field test (Kayasuga et al. 2007) or in measurement of voluntary running distance in a running wheel (Asakura et al. 2011). These results demonstrate that PGRN deficiency dose not impair growth of skeletal muscle or the resultant muscular weakness, and that the major deficit in motor function of KO mice is probably result from the impairment of motor coordination rather than decline of locomotor ability.

In 2006, there were two studies reporting that PGRN haploinsufficiency causes frontotemporal lobar degeneration (FTLD), the second most common dementia in human under the age of 65 (Baker et al. 2006; Cruts et al. 2006). However, gait abnormality is not the major clinical symptom of FTLD (Riedl et al. 2014), and a transgenic mouse model of FTLD with genomic fragments encoding human transactive response DNA-binding protein-43 (TDP-43), deposits of which can cause neurodegeneration in FTLD, does not present motor dysfunction until 32 weeks after birth (Swarup et al. 2011). However, two cases of neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis (NCL), each involving homozygous mutations in GRN, have been reported recently (Smith et al. 2012). The major symptoms of NCL include visual loss, sei-

zures, bradykinesia, loss of cognitive function, and early death (Bennett and Rakheja 2013). In the results of our study, HZ mice did not show evident abnormality in motor function in the rotarod test, whereas homozygous KO mice have motor dys-function. These results may suggest that heterozygous PGRN deficiency could cause FTLD-like symptoms, while homozygous PGRN deficiency may cause more severe NCL-like symptoms.

Higher Density of Dendrites of Purkinje Cells in the Cerebellum of PGRN KO Mice

Subsequently, we have analyzed the influence of PGRN deficiency by comparing the cerebellar histology of WT and KO mice. We performed Nissl staining and immunohistochemistry for calbindin as a marker for Purkinje cells. Immunostaining for calbindin, as well as Nissl staining, showed that KO mice do not have any evident difference in the layer structure of the Purkinje cells with WT mice. In addition, the number of calbindin-ir cells were comparable between genotypes. These results suggest that PGRN is not involved in the generation or the survival of Purkinje cells in the cerebellum. Surprisingly, however, the calbindin-ir area in the molecular layer of the cerebellum was significantly larger in KO mice than in WT mice (Fig. 6b, c), indicating the higher density of dendrites of Purkinje cells in KO mice. PGRN plays an considerable role in the maturation of the nervous system including outgrowth of neurite (Van Damme et al. 2008). Moreover, lack of PGRN decreases spine density and disrupts the synaptic connectivity of pyramidal neurons in the mouse hippocampus (Petkau et al. 2012). Thus, it was unexpected that PGRN KO mice showed the higher density of Purkinje cell dendrites. In the process of development of neuronal circuits, the number of synapses and the related neurites rapidly increase after birth and peaks before maturation. After this peak, pruning of the excessive synapses takes place to establish the matured neuronal circuits (Boothe et al. 1979). PGRN deficiency might impair this maturation process, which affects brain functions in adulthood such as anxiety tendency, cognitive functions, and motor functions.

The motor dysfunction and alteration in density of Purkinje cell dendrites suggest that PGRN is involved in the maturation of cerebellar neural networks, which in turn may affect motor function in mice. Heterozygous and homozygous PGRN KO mice might be of use as model animals for FTLD and NCL, respectively.

Conclusion

We have established a PGRN KO mouse line with depletion of all the exons but exon1. The KO mice are fertile and the number of weaned pups of them were comparable to that of WT mice. The male KO mice showed decreased ejaculation incidence, although they have normal latency and frequency of mount and intromission.

Moreover, anxiety and the size of LC, one of the anxiety-related nuclei, were increased in the male KO mice. These results imply that PGRN plays an important role during the maturation of male-specific neuronal circuits controlling male-type sexual behavior and anxiety. As PGRN expresses strongly in the hippocampus and the cerebellum, we have compared the histology and functions of those regions in the KO mice with those of WT. Accordingly, we have demonstrated that PGRN has a protective effect on the hippocampal neurogenesis by mediating the enhancive effect of voluntary exercise and by inhibiting the inflammatory stimuli. We have also demonstrated that PGRN is involved in development of Purkinje cells in the cerebellum, which may affect motor function in mice. PGRN is expressed in many regions in the brain and has a wide variety of neuroprotective effects not only during development but also in adulthood.

References

- Asakura R, Matsuwaki T, Shim JH, Yamanouchi K, Nishihara M (2011) Involvement of progranulin in the enhancement of hippocampal neurogenesis by voluntary exercise. Neuroreport 22(17):881–886
- Asano M, Furukawa K, Kido M, Matsumoto S, Umesaki Y, Kochibe N, Iwakura Y (1997) Growth retardation and early death of β-1,4-galactosyltransferase knockout mice with augmented proliferation and abnormal differentiation of epithelial cells. EMBO J 16(8):1850–1857
- Baba T, Nemoto H, Watanabe K, Arai Y, Gerton GL (1993) Exon/intron organization of the gene encoding the mouse epithelin/granulin precursor (acrogranin). Eur J Biochem 322(2):89–94
- Baker M, Mackenzie IR, Pickering-Brown SM, Gass J, Rademakers R, Lindholm C, Snowden J, Adamson J, Sadovnick AD, Rollinson S, Cannon A, Dwosh E, Neary D, Melquist S, Richardson A, Dickson D, Berger Z, Eriksen J, Robinson T, Zehr C, Dickey CA, Crook R, McGowan E, Mann D, Boeve B, Feldman H, Hutton M (2006) Mutations in progranulin cause tau-negative frontotemporal dementia linked to chromosome 17. Nature 442:916–919
- Bakker J, Honda S, Harada N, Balthazart J (2004) Restoration of male sexual behavior by adult exogenous estrogens in male aromatase knockout mice. Horm Behav 46(1):1–10
- Barouk S, Hintz T, Li P, Duffy AM, MacLusky NJ, Scharfman HE (2011) 17 β -estradiol increases astrocytic vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) in adult female rat hippocampus. Endocrinology 152(5):1745–1751
- Bateman A, Belcourt D, Bennett H, Lazure C, Solomon S (1990) Granulins, a novel class of peptides from leukocytes. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 173(3):1161–1168
- Benarroch EE (2005) Neuron-astrocyte interactions: partnership for normal function and disease in the central nervous system. Mayo Clin Proc 80(10):1326–1338
- Bennett M, Rakheja D (2013) The neuronal ceroid-lipofuscinoses. Dev Disabil Res Rev 17(3):254-259
- Bhandari V, Palfree RG, Bateman A (1992) Isolation and sequence of the granulin precursor cDNA from human bone marrow reveals tandem cysteine-rich granulin domains. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 89(5):1715–1719
- Boothe RG, Greenough WT, Lund JS, Wrege K (1979) A quantitative investigation of spine and dendrite development of neurons in visual cortex (area 17) of *Macaca nemestrina* monkeys. J Comp Neurol 186(3):473–489
- Bremner J, Krystal J, Southwick S, Charney D (1996) Noradrenergic mechanisms in stress and anxiety: I. Preclinical studies. Synapse 23(1):28–38

- Chiba S, Suzuki M, Yamanouchi K, Nishihara M (2007) Involvement of granulin in estrogeninduced neurogenesis in the adult rat hippocampus. J Reprod Dev 53(2):297–307
- Chiba S, Matsuwaki T, Yamanouchi K, Nishihara M (2009) Alteration in anxiety with relation to the volume of the locus coeruleus in progranulin-deficient mice. J Reprod Dev 55(5):518–522
- Cruts M, Gijselinck I, van der Zee J, Engelborghs S, Wils H, Pirici D, Rademakers R, Vandenberghe R, Dermaut B, Martin JJ, van Duijn C, Peeters K, Sciot R, Santens P, De Pooter T, Mattheijssens M, Van den Broeck M, Cuijt I, Vennekens K, De Deyn PP, Kumar-Singh S, Van Broeckhoven C (2006) Null mutations in progranulin cause ubiquitin-positive frontotemporal dementia linked to chromosome 17q21. Nature 442(7105):920–924
- Doke M, Matsuwaki T, Yamanouchi K, Nishihara M (2016) Lack of estrogen receptor α in astrocytes of progranulin-deficient mice. J Reprod Dev 62(6):547–551
- Horai R, Asano M, Sudo K, Kanuka H, Suzuki M, Nishihara M, Takahashi M, Iwakura Y (1998) Production of mice deficient in genes for interleukin (IL)-1α, IL-1β, IL-1α/β, and IL-1 receptor antagonist shows that IL-1β is crucial in turpentine-induced fever development and glucocorticoid secretion. J Exp Med 187(9):1463–1475
- Hu SY, Tai CC, Li YH, Wu JL (2012) Progranulin compensates for blocked IGF-1 signaling to promote myotube hypertrophy in C2C12 myoblasts via the PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway. FEBS Lett 586(19):3485–3492
- Ishunina TA, Swaab DF (1999) Vasopressin and oxytocin neurons of the human supraoptic and paraventricular nucleus: size changes in relation to age and sex. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 84(12):4637–4644
- Kayasuga Y, Chiba S, Suzuki M, Kikusui T, Matsuwaki T, Yamanouchi K, Kotaki H, Horai R, Iwakura Y, Nishihara M (2007) Alteration of behavioural phenotype in mice by targeted disruption of the progranulin gene. Behav Brain Res 185(2):110–118
- Kikusui T, Takeuchi Y, Mori Y (2004) Early weaning induces anxiety and aggression in adult mice. Physiol Behav 81(1):37–42
- Laplante M, Sabatini DM (2012) mTOR signaling in growth control and disease. Cell 149(2):274–293
- Liu W, Tang Y, Feng J (2011) Cross talk between activation of microglia and astrocytes in pathological conditions in the central nervous system. Life Sci 89(5–6):141–146
- Ma Y, Matsuwaki T, Yamanouchi K, Nishihara M (2017) Involvement of progranulin in modulating neuroinflammatory responses but not neurogenesis in the hippocampus of aged mice. Mol Neurobiol 54(5):3717–3728
- Matsuwaki T, Asakura R, Suzuki M, Yamanouchi K, Nishihara M (2011) Age- dependent changes in progranulin expression in the mouse brain. J Reprod Dev 57(1):113–119
- Matsuwaki T, Kobayashi A, Mase K, Nakamura K, Nakano S, Miyoshi T, Yamanouchi K, Nishihara M (2015) Possible involvement of the cerebellum in motor-function impairment in progranulin-deficient mice. Neuroreport 26(14):877–881
- Mongeau R, Blier P, de Montigny C (1997) The serotonergic and noradrenergic systems of the hippocampus: their interactions and the effects of antidepressant treatments. Brain Res Rev 23(3):145–195
- Nedachi T, Kawai T, Matsuwaki T, Yamanouchi K, Nishihara M (2011) Progranulin enhances neural progenitor cell proliferation through glycogen synthase kinase 3β phosphorylation. Neuroscience 185:106–115
- Petkau TL, Neal SJ, Milnerwood A, Mew A, Hill AM, Orban P, Gregg J, Lu G, Feldman HH, Mackenzie IR, Raymond LA, Leavitt BR (2012) Synaptic dysfunction in progranulin-deficient mice. Neurobiol Dis 45(2):711–722
- Pinos H, Collado P, Rodríguez-Zafra M, Rodríguez C, Segovia S, Guillamón A (2001) The development of sex differences in the locus coeruleus of the rat. Brain Res Bull 56(1):73–78
- Platania P, Seminara G, Aronica E, Troost D, Vincenza Catania M, Angela Sortino M (2005) 17β-estradiol rescues spinal motoneurons from AMPA-induced toxicity: a role for glial cells. Neurobiol Dis 20(2):461–470

- Riedl L, Mackenzie IR, Förstl H, Kurz A, Diehl-Schmid J (2014) Frontotemporal lobar degeneration: current perspectives. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat 10:297–310
- Rioja J, Santín L, López-Barroso D, Dona A, Ulzurrun E, Aguirre J (2007) 5-HT1A receptor activation counteracted the effect of acute immobilization of noradrenergic neurons in the rat locus coeruleus. Neurosci Lett 412(1):84–88
- Ryan CL, Baranowski DC, Chitramuthu BP, Malik S, Li Z, Cao M, Minotti S, Durham HD, Kay DG, Shaw CA, Bennett HP, Bateman A (2009) Progranulin is expressed within motor neurons and promotes neuronal cell survival. BMC Neurosci 10:130
- Settembre C, Zoncu R, Medina DL, Vetrini F, Erdin S, Erdin S, Huynh T, Ferron M, Karsenty G, Vellard MC, Facchinetti V, Sabatini DM, Ballabio A (2012) A lysosome-to-nucleus signaling mechanism senses and regulates the lysosome via mTOR and TFEB. EMBO J 31(5):1095–1108
- Smith KR, Damiano J, Franceschetti S, Carpenter S, Canafoglia L, Morbin M, Rossi G, Pareyson D, Mole SE, Staropoli JF, Sims KB, Lewis J, Lin WL, Dickson DW, Dahl HH, Bahlo M, Berkovic SF (2012) Strikingly different clinicopathological phenotypes determined by progranulin-mutation dosage. Am J Hum Genet 90(6):1102–1107
- Soriano P, Montogomery C, Geske R, Bradley A (1991) Targeted disruption of the c-src protooncogene leads to osteopetrosis in mice. Cell 64(4):693–702
- Stranahan A, Khalil D, Gould E (2007) Running induces widespread structural alterations in the hippocampus and entorhinal cortex. Hippocampus 17(11):1017–1022
- Suzuki M, Bannai M, Matsumuro M, Furuhata Y, Ikemura R, Kuranaga E, Kaneda Y, Nishihara M, Takahashi M (2000) Suppression of copulatory behavior by intracerebroventricular infusion of antisense oligodeoxynucleotide of granulin in neonatal male rats. Physiol Behav 68(5):707–713
- Swarup V, Phaneuf D, Bareil C, Robertson J, Rouleau GA, Kriz J, Julien JP (2011) Pathological hallmarks of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis/frontotemporal lobar degeneration in transgenic mice produced with TDP-43 genomic fragments. Brain 134(Pt 9):2610–2626
- Tanaka Y, Matsuwaki T, Yamanouchi K, Nishihara M (2013) Increased lysosomal biogenesis in activated microglia and exacerbated neuronal damage after traumatic brain injury in progranulin-deficient mice. Neuroscience 250:8–19
- Tanaka Y, Chambers JK, Matsuwaki T, Yamanouchi K, Nishihara M (2014) Possible involvement of lysosomal dysfunction in pathological changes of the brain in aged progranulin-deficient mice. Acta Neuropathol Commun 2:78
- Van Damme P, Van Hoecke A, Lambrechts D, Vanacker P, Bogaert E, van Swieten J, Carmeliet P, Van Den Bosch L, Robberecht W (2008) Progranulin functions as a neurotrophic factor to regulate neurite outgrowth and enhance neuronal survival. J Cell Biol 181(1):37–41
- Wersinger SR, Sannen K, Villalba C, Lubahn DB, Rissman EF, De Vries GJ (1997) Masculine sexual behavior is disrupted in male and female mice lacking a functional estrogen receptor c gene. Horm Behav 32(3):176–183
- Xu SL, Bi CW, Choi RC, Zhu KY, Miernisha A, Dong TT, Tsim KW (2013) Flavonoids induce the synthesis and secretion of neurotrophic factors in cultured rat astrocytes: a signaling response mediated by estrogen receptor. Evid Based Complement Alternat Med 2013:127075
- Yagi T, Nada S, Watanabe N, Tamemoto H, Kohmura N, Ikawa Y, Aizawa S (1993) A novel negative selection for homologous recombinants using diphtheria toxin A fragment gene. Anal Biochem 214(1):77–86
- Yin F, Dumont M, Banerjee R, Ma Y, Li H, Lin MT, Beal MF, Nathan C, Thomas B, Ding A (2010) Behavioral deficits and progressive neuropathology in progranulin-deficient mice: a mouse model of frontotemporal dementia. FASEB J 24(12):4639–4647

Pleiotropic Protective Effects of Progranulin in the Treatment of Ischemic Stroke



Masato Kanazawa, Kunio Kawamura, Tetsuya Takahashi, and Takayoshi Shimohata

Abstract Stroke is one of the leading causes of morbidity and mortality in the world. The majority of strokes is ischemic. Unfortunately, there is still not well substantial treatment option to increase the survival and alleviate the outcome after ischemic stroke. In the central nervous system, progranulin (PGRN) is considered to play important roles in the maintenance of physiological functions. Mutations in the gene that encodes PGRN cause transactive response DNA-binding protein 43-positive frontotemporal lobar degeneration. Several studies have reported that PGRN exerts protective effects against ischemic brain injury. PGRN alleviates the impairments after acute focal cerebral ischemia by a variety of mechanisms, which we call "brain protection". This includes neuroprotection, suppression of neuroinflammation, and attenuation of blood-brain barrier disruption, i.e., vascular protection. PGRN has pleiotropic protective effects and is, therefore, an ideal candidate molecule for the therapy of stroke. We will accelerate the research towards further development of PGRN-based treatments of stroke.

Keywords Cerebral ischemia · Tissue plasminogen activator · Brain protection · Pleiotropic protective effects

M. Kanazawa (🖂) Department of Neurology, Brain Research Institute, Niigata University, Niigata, Niigata, Japan e-mail: masa2@bri.niigata-u.ac.jp

K. Kawamura Midori Hospital, Niigata, Japan

T. Takahashi Department of Neurology, Nishi-Niigata Chuo Hospital, Niigata, Japan

T. Shimohata Department of Neurology, Gifu University Graduate School of Medicine, Gifu, Japan

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2019

H. Hara et al. (eds.), *Progranulin and Central Nervous System Disorders*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-6186-9_10

Introduction

Stroke is one of the leading causes of morbidity and mortality in the world. The majority (70-80%) of strokes is ischemic (Feigin et al. 2009). Tissue plasminogen activator (t-PA) is the only thrombolytic agent against acute ischemic stroke. The guidelines of the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association for the administration of t-PA were revised to extend the therapeutic time window to 4.5 h after the onset of symptoms in 2012. Recently, reperfusion therapies, such as intravenous thrombolysis and mechanical thrombectomy, are now established to alleviate functional outcome (Goyal et al. 2016). However, the percentage of patients being eligible for these treatment options is still only 5% of all patients with acute ischemic stroke, because of the very narrow therapeutic time window (Writing Group Members et al. 2016). A pooled analysis demonstrated that the risks of fatal and serious symptomatic hemorrhagic transformation (HT) increases with later initiation of the treatment (Lees et al. 2010). Therefore, a reduction of the HT incidence after t-PA treatment is an important therapeutic strategy after ischemic stroke, which will further extend the therapeutic time window, increase the number of patients who are eligible for t-PA treatment, and raise the probability of achieving excellent outcomes.

"Single-target" therapies may be insufficient because ischemic cerebral injury involves several mechanisms. It has been proposed that therapeutic strategies should target multiple cell types to enhance protection and recovery (Moskowitz et al. 2010). We suggest that brain protection, which includes vascular protection, neuro-protection, and anti-inflammation, is an ideal therapeutic strategy for ischemic stroke (Fig. 1). We, among other groups, have reported that progranulin (PGRN) exerts pleiotropic protective effects against ischemic brain injury (Tao et al. 2012; Egashira et al. 2013; Jackman et al. 2013; Kanazawa et al. 2015). PGRN might be a novel therapeutic target that provides brain protection.

In this review, we describe that PGRN exert its protective effects in combination with t-PA treatment in cerebral ischemia. In addition, we briefly outline the brain protective strategies by which PGRN attenuates HT after t-PA treatment and improves the therapeutic outcomes after cerebral ischemia.



Pleiotropic Protective Effects of PGRN

PGRN is a secreted N-linked glycoprotein growth factor upregulated by estrogen and implicated in sex difference (Palfree et al. 2015; Suzuki et al. 2009), tissue regeneration, wound repair, and inflammation (He et al. 2003; Chitramuthu et al. 2017; Kao et al. 2017). PGRN contains seven and a half repeats of cysteine-rich granulin motifs (granulin A to G) separated by linker regions (reviewed in Chitramuthu et al. 2017; Kao et al. 2017).

In the central nervous system, PGRN is considered to play important roles in the maintenance of physiological functions and in neuronal survival for the following reasons: first, primary neurons derived from PGRN knock-out (KO) mice show reduced survival (Kleinberger et al. 2010); second, PGRN has been shown to exhibit neurotrophic activity *in vitro* (Van Damme et al. 2008) and *in vivo* (Laird et al. 2010), especially granulin C and granulin E peptides promote neuronal survival and neurite outgrowth in neocortical, hippocampal, and motor neurons *in vitro* (Gao et al. 2010; Gass et al. 2012); third, mutations in the gene that encodes PGRN cause transactive response DNA-binding protein 43 (TDP-43)-positive frontotemporal lobar degeneration (FTLD)-TDP, a neurodegenerative disorder with an autosomal dominant inheritance pattern (Baker et al. 2006; Cruts et al. 2006).

PGRN has been shown to be involved in anti-inflammation after ischemic brain injury. Previous studies demonstrate that PGRN is induced in activated microglia after spinal cord injury (Naphade et al. 2010) and traumatic brain injury (Tanaka et al. 2013), suggesting that the induction of PGRN reflects the microglial response. In ischemic brain injury, microglia have been shown to extend the infarct via inflammation in the acute phase (Mabuchi et al. 2000; Yenari et al. 2010), while a subpopulation of microglia called M2-like microglia contribute to endogenous anti-inflammatory protection (reviewed in Ma et al. 2017; Kanazawa et al. 2017a) M2-like microglia might secrete PGRN and suppress inflammation (Kanazawa et al. 2015, 2017a; Ma et al. 2017).

PGRN might play a role in vascular protection after focal cerebral ischemia via suppression of blood-brain barrier (BBB) disruption. Studies have demonstrated that intraventricular and intravenous administration of recombinant PGRN (rPGRN) might suppress cerebral edema in a mouse and a rat model of transient focal cerebral ischemia (Egashira et al. 2013; Kanazawa et al. 2015), and that PGRN KO mice may be prone to post-ischemic BBB disruption (Jackman et al. 2013; Kanazawa et al. 2015). Therefore, PGRN plays an important role in BBB maintenance.

The Mechanisms of Pleiotropic Protective Effects of PGRN in Cerebral Ischemia

PGRN is an ideal therapeutic molecule for brain protection especially after an ischemic stroke. It can exert a positive therapeutic effect in acute focal cerebral ischemia via neuroprotection, suppression of inflammation, and vascular protection (i.e., the regulation of BBB functions).

Neuroprotection After Cerebral Ischemia

PGRN protects neurons after acute focal cerebral ischemia based on analyses using PGRN- overexpressing transgenic mice (Tao et al. 2012) and PGRN KO mice (Jackman et al. 2013; Kanazawa et al. 2015). We have previously demonstrated that ischemic neuronal injury might be caused in part by cleavage and cytoplasmic redistribution of TDP-43, a key protein in FTLD-TDP and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (Kanazawa et al. 2011a). PGRN can suppress the cleavage of TDP-43 via inhibition of caspase-3 (Kanazawa et al. 2011a; Zhang et al. 2007). This raises the possibility that PGRN may prevent ischemic neuronal injury via preservation of TDP-43 functions. We have shown that exogenous rPGRN could suppress neuronal cell death under conditions of oxygen-glucose deprivation (Kanazawa et al. 2015). The neurotrophic effects of PGRN might be explained in part by the inhibition of abnormal cytoplasmic redistribution of nuclear TDP-43 (Kanazawa et al. 2011a; Zhang et al. 2009). Stated another way, a decreased level of full-length PGRN might cause loss of function of TDP-43 in neurons, resulting in neuronal damage. In addition, PGRN showed apoptotic inhibition by activating PI3k/Akt pathway in subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) model in rats (Li et al. 2015). Knockdown of the PGRN receptor sortilin abolished Akt activation, increased Bcl-2 levels, and reduced cleaved caspase-3 levels, and prevented the functional recovery induced by rPGRN treatment after SAH. PGRN might mediate neuroprotection via inhibition of caspase-mediated apoptosis (Fig. 2).

Anti-inflammatory Effects After Cerebral Ischemia

PGRN reduces inflammation after acute focal cerebral ischemia. We have shown that PGRN may upregulate the anti-inflammatory cytokine interleukin (IL)-10 (Kanazawa et al. 2015). Previous studies report that the level of IL-10 in glial cells from



PGRN-overexpressing transgenic mice is higher than that from wild-type (WT) mice (Tao et al. 2012), and that macrophages/microglia from PGRN KO mice release less IL-10 than those from WT mice when exposed to bacterial lipopolysaccharide (Yin et al. 2010) and oxygen-glucose deprivation (Kanazawa et al. 2015). Very recently, it has been reported that PGRN has protective effects in focal cerebral ischemia via suppression of nuclear factor-kappa B (NF-κB) signaling and subsequent downregulation of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Shu et al. 2018). Another group demonstrated that mRNA levels of tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α), IL-1 β , IL-6, and transforming growth factor beta (TGF-B) after ischemic brain injury are not correlated with the PGRN KO condition (Jackman et al. 2013). Unfortunately, this study did not investigate IL-10 levels. In addition, a previous study suggests that PGRN might suppress recruitment of neutrophils associated with focal cerebral ischemia (Egashira et al. 2013). SAH patients as well as rats in an SAH model showed significantly decreased levels of PGRN in the cerebrospinal fluid and the brain, respectively (Zhou et al. 2015a). These studies also showed that the levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines were markedly elevated. PGRN alleviates brain injury after SAH possibly via inhibition of neutrophil recruitment. However, other groups have shown that PGRN is not involved in neuroinflammation (Jackman et al. 2013) and recruitment of neutrophils related to acute focal cerebral ischemia (Kanazawa et al. 2015). Under conditions of traumatic brain injury, PGRN KO and WT mice exhibit no significant difference in the number of microglia/macrophages (Menzel et al. 2017). However, PGRN KO mice show increased transcription of the pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF- α , IL-1 β , and IL-6, and decreased transcription of the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10. The role of PGRN in neuroinflammation after ischemic brain injury is controversial and might depend on the model used. Probably, PGRN induces a proor anti-inflammatory phenotype via effects at the molecular level (Fig. 2).

Furthermore, administration of rPGRN significantly alleviates the inflammatory responses caused by renal ischemia/reperfusion injury in mice (Zhou et al. 2015b). PGRN also alleviates inflammatory responses in various disease models such as inflammatory bowel disase (Wei et al. 2014) and asthma (Chiba et al. 2018). In addition, Atsttrin, an engineered protein composed of three PGRN fragments, exhibits selective TNF receptor binding (Tang et al. 2011; Liu 2011). PGRN and Atsttrin prevent inflammation in mouse models of arthritis and inhibit intracellular signaling activated by TNF- α . Therefore, it can be concluded that PGRN suppresses inflammation in multiple organs.

Vascular Protection

PGRN can attenuate BBB disruption after acute focal cerebral ischemia. A previous report has shown that PGRN is induced in the capillary endothelium of wound granulation tissue and promotes the mitosis and migration of adult dermal microvascular cells (He et al. 2003), although PGRN is not expressed in the healthy endothelium (Daniel et al. 2000). We observed endothelial expression of PGRN (Kanazawa et al. 2015) and hypothesized that the expression of PGRN in endothelial cells may be involved in vascular protection or repair after ischemic injury. Indeed, cerebral edema volume after focal cerebral ischemia is larger in PGRN KO mice than in WT mice (Kanazawa et al. 2015). BBB disruption was observed after cerebral ischemia more severe in PGRN KO mice than in WT mice (Jackman et al. 2013). Regarding the mechanism by which PGRN regulates vascular permeability, we considered based on the findings from immunostainings using WT and PGRN KO mice that cerebral edema is not caused by recruitment of neutrophils and microglia (Kanazawa et al. 2015). Another group demonstrated the involvement of the platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) receptor pathway using PGRN KO mice (Jackman et al. 2013). We proposed as another possibility that PGRN might regulate vascular permeability via vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) pathway because we found a more prominent expression of VEGF in PGRN KO mice than in WT mice after focal cerebral ischemia. In addition, PGRN KO microglia itself secretes VEGF and the conditioned media from PGRN KO microglia synergistically stimulates to secrete VEGF from PGRN KO astrocytes after OGD. PGRN might inhibit cerebral edema via nuclear factor-kappa B (NF-kB) (Egashira et al. 2013), which activates VEGF transcription (Yoshida et al. 1998). PGRN may regulate vascular permeability by inhibiting microglial production of molecules that activate the NF-KB-VEGF signaling pathway (Fig. 2).

Elevated levels of PGRN have a significant biological effect on vessel growth that might be independent of VEGF (Tao et al. 2012). Some of the effects of a PGRN KO in the penumbral blood vessels might be directly mediated by PGRN loss rather than via increased VEGF expression (Jackman et al. 2013). Furthermore, administration of rPGRN results in a remarkable suppression of the lipopolysaccharide-induced induced permeability increase in pulmonary capillaries (Guo et al. 2012; Yu et al. 2016). PGRN can effectively ameliorate the edema after brain and lung injury, suggesting a potential for PGRN-based therapy to treat clinically relevant diseases in multiple organs.

Expression Changes of PGRN After Cerebral Ischemia

In the healthy cerebral cortex, PGRN can be detected within the neuronal cytoplasm in a punctate pattern (Fig. 3), (Kanazawa et al. 2015; Kao et al. 2017) and double immunostaining reveals that PGRN is colocalized with marker proteins for the endoplasmic reticulum, Golgi apparatus, and lysosome. Under these conditions, microglia or blood vessels do not express PGRN.

We demonstrated *in vivo* the dynamic changes in PGRN in neurons, microglia, and endothelial cells after ischemia, including decreased levels of PGRN expression in neurons within the ischemic core, increased levels of PGRN expression in surviving neurons, as well as induction of PGRN expression in microglia and endothelial cells in the ischemic penumbra (Figure 3) (Kanazawa et al. 2015). Importantly, the number of PGRN-positive microglia was increased at 24 h and markedly increased



Fig. 3 Changes of progranulin expression after cerebral ischemia Triple labeling in non-ischemic and ischemic regions of the cerebral cortex visualized by confocal microscopy. Cells were stained for microtubule-associated protein 2 (neurons), CD68/ED1 (microglia), or von Willebrand factor (endothelial cells, all shown in green) in addition to PGRN (red) and 4',6'-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI; blue)

at 72 h after reperfusion, especially on the border between the ischemic core and penumbra close to the ischemic core.

Therapeutic Benefits of PGRN After Cerebral Ischemia

Therapeutic benefits of PGRN after ischemic stroke have been reported (Tao et al. 2012; Egashira et al. 2013; Jackman et al. 2013; Kanazawa et al. 2015). In an editorial comment of the journal *Brain*, PGRN-based treatments were proposed (Zhao and Bateman 2015).

To examine the therapeutic benefits of PGRN after ischemic brain injury, we used a rat autologous thromboembolic model (Okubo et al. 2007), which develops cerebral edema and hemorrhagic transformation when t-PA is administered beyond the therapeutic time window (Kanazawa et al. 2015; 2011b; Kawamura et al. 2014).

We demonstrated for the first time that intravenous administration of rPGRN shows therapeutic effects regarding the volumes of the cerebral infarct and the consecutive edema, the HT, and the prognosis (Kanazawa et al. 2015). Again, given the therapeutic efficiency of rPGRN after ischemic stroke (Kanazawa et al. 2015), rat models of SAH (Li et al. 2015), and experimental traumatic brain injury (Zhou et al. 2015a), PGRN is due to its pleiotropic protective effects an ideal candidate molecule to treat brain injuries.

The Future Direction of PGRN-Based Therapies After Ischemic Stroke

The elevated serum PGRN levels are a negative predictor for the outcome of stroke patients (Xie et al. 2016). To the contrary, the levels of PGRN in cerebrospinal fluids decreased in the patients with SAH (Shu et al. 2018). The clinical significance of the PGRN levels are unknown. However, at least, PGRN could play an important role in the therapy of stroke patients.

Therapeutic approaches using PGRN are ideal because of its pleiotropic protective mechanisms. M2-like microglia secreted PGRN might suppress inflammation, and promote tissue recovery (Kanazawa et al. 2015). We have recently shown that transplantation of primary M2-like microglia preconditioned by 18 h oxygenglucose deprivation prompt improving functional outcome after cerebral ischemia (Kanazawa et al. 2017b). This result is the possibility that cell source of PGRN might be a candidate for cell therapies against ischemic stroke. Very recently, the neuroprotective effects of PGRN after cerebral ischemia was reported by reducing endoplasmic reticulum stress and NF- κ B activation in reactive astrocytes (Shu et al. 2018). The complicated therapeutic mechanisms of PGRN still need to be fully elucidated. Moreover, clinical trials which will evaluate the effects of PGRN-based treatments are needed. We will accelerate research towards further development of PGRN-based treatments of stroke.

References

- Baker M, Mackenzie IR, Pickering-Brown SM, Gass J, Rademakers R, Lindholm C et al (2006) Mutations in progranulin cause tau-negative frontotemporal dementia linked to chromosome 17. Nature 442:916–919
- Chiba Y, Danno S, Suto R, Suto W, Yamane Y, Hanazaki M et al (2018) Intranasal administration of recombinant progranulin inhibits bronchial smooth muscle hyperresponsiveness in mouse allergic asthma. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 314:L215–L223
- Chitramuthu BP, Bennett HPJ, Bateman A (2017) Progranulin: a new avenue towards the understanding and treatment of neurodegenerative disease. Brain 140:3081–3104
- Cruts M, Gijselinck I, van der Zee J, Engelborghs S, Wils H, Pirici D et al (2006) Null mutations in progranulin cause ubiquitin-positive frontotemporal dementia linked to chromosome 17q21. Nature 442:920–924

- Daniel R, He Z, Carmichael KP, Halper J, Bateman A (2000) Cellular localization of gene expression for progranulin. J Histochem Cytochem 48:999–1009
- Egashira Y, Suzuki Y, Azuma Y, Takagi T, Mishiro K, Sugitani S et al (2013) The growth factor progranulin attenuates neuronal injury induced by cerebral ischemia-reperfusion through the suppression of neutrophil recruitment. J Neuroinflammation 10:105
- Feigin VL, Lawes CM, Bennett DA, Barker-Collo SL, Parag V (2009) Worldwide stroke incidence and early case fatality reported in 56 population-based studies: a systematic review. Lancet Neurol 8:355–369
- Gao X, Joselin AP, Wang L, Kar A, Ray P, Bateman A et al (2010) Progranulin promotes neurite outgrowth and neuronal differentiation by regulating GSK-3β. Protein Cell 1:552–562
- Gass J, Lee WC, Cook C, Finch N, Stetler C, Jansen-West K et al (2012) Progranulin regulates neuronal outgrowth independent of sortilin. Mol Neurodegener 7:33
- Goyal M, Menon BK, van Zwam WH, Dippel DW, Mitchell PJ, Demchuk AM et al (2016) Endovascular thrombectomy after large-vessel ischaemic stroke: a meta-analysis of individual patient data from five randomised trials. Lancet 387:1723–1731
- Guo Z, Li Q, Han Y, Liang Y, Xu Z, Ren T (2012) Prevention of LPS-induced acute lung injury in mice by progranulin. Mediat Inflamm 2012:540794
- He Z, Ong CH, Halper J, Bateman A (2003) Progranulin is a mediator of the wound response. Nat Med 9:225–229
- Jackman K, Kahles T, Lane D, Garcia-Bonilla L, Abe T, Capone C et al (2013) Progranulin deficiency promotes post-ischemic blood–brain barrier disruption. J Neurosci 33:19579–19589
- Kanazawa M, Kakita A, Igarashi H, Takahashi T, Kawamura K, Takahashi H et al (2011a) Biochemical and histopathological alterations in TAR DNA binding protein-43 after acute ischemic stroke in rats. J Neurochem 116:957–965
- Kanazawa M, Igarashi H, Kawamura K, Takahashi T, Kakita A, Takahashi H et al (2011b) Inhibition of VEGF signaling pathway attenuates hemorrhage after t-PA treatment. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 31:1461–1474
- Kanazawa M, Kawamura K, Takahashi T, Miura M, Tanaka Y, Koyama M et al (2015) Multiple therapeutic effects of progranulin on experimental acute ischaemic stroke. Brain 138:1932–1948
- Kanazawa M, Ninomiya I, Hatakeyama M, Takahashi T, Shimohata T (2017a) Microglia and monocytes/macrophages polarization reveal novel therapeutic mechanism against stroke. Int J Mol Sci 18:E2135
- Kanazawa M, Miura M, Toriyabe M, Koyama M, Hatakeyama M, Ishikawa M et al (2017b) Microglia preconditioned by oxygen-glucose deprivation promote functional recovery in ischemic rats. Sci Rep 7:42582
- Kao AW, McKay A, Singh PP, Brunet A, Huang EJ (2017) Progranulin, lysosomal regulation and neurodegenerative disease. Nat Rev Neurosci 18:325–333
- Kawamura K, Takahashi T, Kanazawa M, Igarashi H, Nakada T, Nishizawa M et al (2014) Effects of angiopoietin-1 on hemorrhagic transformation and cerebral edema after tissue plasminogen activator treatment for ischemic stroke in rats. PLoS One 9:e98639
- Kleinberger G, Wils H, Ponsaerts P, Joris G, Timmermans JP, Van Broeckhoven C et al (2010) Increased caspase activation and decreased TDP-43 solubility in progranulin knockout cortical cultures. J Neurochem 115:735–747
- Laird AS, Van Hoecke A, De Muynck L, Timmers M, Van den Bosch L, Van Damme P et al (2010) Progranulin is neurotrophic in vivo and protects against a mutant TDP-43 induced axonopathy. PLoS One 5:e13368
- Lees KR, Bluhmki E, von Kummer R, Brott TG, Toni D, Grotta JC et al (2010) Time to treatment with intravenous alteplase and outcome in stroke: an updated pooled analysis of ECASS, ATLANTIS, NINDS, and EPITHET trials. Lancet 375:1695–1703
- Li B, He Y, Xu L, Hu Q, Tang J, Chen Y, Tang J, Feng H, Zhang JH (2015) Progranulin reduced neuronal cell death by activation of sortilin 1 signaling pathways after subarachnoid hemorrhage in rats. Crit Care Med 43:e304–e301
- Liu CJ (2011) Progranulin: a promising therapeutic target for rheumatoid arthritis. FEBS Lett 585:3675–3680

- Ma Y, Wang J, Wang Y, Yang GY (2017) The biphasic function of microglia in ischemic stroke. Prog Neurobiol 157:247–272
- Mabuchi T, Kitagawa K, Ohtsuki T, Kuwabara K, Yagita Y, Yanagihara T et al (2000) Contribution of microglia/macrophages to expansion of infarction and response of oligodendrocytes after focal cerebral ischemia in rats. Stroke 31:1735–1743
- Menzel L, Kleber L, Friedrich C, Hummel R, Dangel L, Winter J et al (2017) Progranulin protects against exaggerated axonal injury and astrogliosis following traumatic brain injury. Glia 65:278–292
- Moskowitz MA, Lo EH, Iadecola C (2010) The science of stroke: mechanisms in search of treatments. Neuron 67:181–198
- Naphade SB, Kigerl KA, Jakeman LB, Kostyk SK, Popovich PG, Kuret J (2010) Progranulin expression is upregulated after spinal contusion in mice. Acta Neuropathol 119:123–133
- Okubo S, Igarashi H, Kanamatsu T, Hasegawa D, Orima H, Katayama Y (2007) FK-506 extended the therapeutic time window for thrombolysis without increasing the risk of hemorrhagic transformation in an embolic rat stroke model. Brain Res 1143:221–227
- Palfree RG, Bennett HP, Bateman A (2015) The evolution of the secreted regulatory protein progranulin. PLoS One 10:e0133749
- Shu Q, Fan H, Li SJ, Zhou D, Ma W, Zhao XY et al (2018) Protective effects of Progranulin against focal cerebral ischemia-reperfusion injury in rats by suppressing endoplasmic reticulum stress and NF-κB activation in reactive astrocytes. J Cell Biochem 119:6584–6597
- Suzuki M, Lee HC, Kayasuga Y, Chiba S, Nedachi T, Matsuwaki T et al (2009) Roles of progranulin in sexual differentiation of the developing brain and adult neurogenesis. J Reprod Dev 55:351–355
- Tanaka Y, Matsuwaki T, Yamanouchi K, Nishihara M (2013) Exacerbated inflammatory responses related to activated microglia after traumatic brain injury in progranulin-deficient mice. Neuroscience 250:8–19
- Tang W, Lu Y, Tian QY, Zhang Y, Guo FJ, Liu GY et al (2011) The growth factor progranulin binds to TNF receptors and is therapeutic against inflammatory arthritis in mice. Science 332:478–484
- Tao J, Ji F, Wang F, Liu B, Zhu Y (2012) Neuroprotective effects of progranulin in ischemic mice. Brain Res 1436:130–136
- Van Damme P, Van Hoecke A, Lambrechts D et al (2008) Progranulin functions as a neurotrophic factor to regulate neurite outgrowth and enhance neuronal survival. J Cell Biol 181:37–41
- Wei F, Zhang Y, Jian J, Mundra JJ, Tian Q, Lin J et al (2014) PGRN protects against colitis progression in mice in an IL-10 and TNFR2 dependent manner. Sci Rep 4:7023
- Writing Group Members, Mozaffarian D, Benjamin EJ, Go AS, Arnett DK, Blaha MJ, Cushman M et al (2016) American Heart Association Statistics Committee; stroke statistics subcommittee. Executive summary: heart disease and stroke Statistics-2016 update: a report from the American Heart Association. Circulation 133:447–454
- Xie S, Lu L, Liu L, Bi G, Zheng L (2016) Progranulin and short-term outcome in patients with acute ischaemic stroke. Eur J Neurol 23:648–655
- Yenari MA, Kauppinen TM, Swanson RA (2010) Microglial activation in stroke: therapeutic targets. Neurotherapeutics 7:378–391
- Yin F, Banerjee R, Thomas B, Zhou P, Qian L, Jia T et al (2010) Exaggerated inflammation, impaired host defense, and neuropathology in progranulin-deficient mice. J Exp Med 207:117–128
- Yoshida A, Yoshida S, Khalil AK, Ishibashi T, Inomata H (1998) Role of NF-kappa B-mediated interleukin-8 expression in intraocular neovascularization. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 39:1097–1106
- Yu Y, Xu X, Liu L, Mao S, Feng T, Lu Y et al (2016) Progranulin deficiency leads to severe inflammation, lung injury and cell death in a mouse model of endotoxic shock. J Cell Mol Med 20:506–517
- Zhang YJ, Xu YF, Dickey CA, Buratti E, Baralle F, Bailey R et al (2007) Progranulin mediates caspase-dependent cleavage of TAR DNA binding protein-43. J Neurosci 27:10530–10534

- Zhang YJ, Xu YF, Cook C, Gendron TF, Roettges P, Link CD et al (2009) Aberrant cleavage of TDP-43 enhances aggregation and cellular toxicity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106:7607–7612
- Zhao C, Bateman A (2015) Progranulin protects against the tissue damage of acute ischaemic stroke. Brain 138:1770–1773
- Zhou C, Xie G, Wang C, Zhang Z, Chen Q, Zhang L et al (2015a) Decreased progranulin levels in patients and rats with subarachnoid hemorrhage: a potential role in inhibiting inflammation by suppressing neutrophil recruitment. J Neuroinflammation 12:200
- Zhou M, Tang W, Fu Y, Xu X, Wang Z, Lu Y et al (2015b) Progranulin protects against renal ischemia/reperfusion injury in mice. Kidney Int 87:918–929

New Therapeutic Approaches Against Ocular Diseases



Yoshiki Kuse, Shinsuke Nakamura, and Hideaki Hara

Abstract Ophthalmology aims to enable patients with visual disorders to improve their visual acuity through cutting-edge medicine including retinal prosthesis using engineering methods and gene therapy. It is also engaged in a clinical trial using induced pluripotent stem (iPS) cells; however, there is still a long way to go before retinal regenerative medicine shows sufficient clinical results to improve visual function. Therefore, it is important that neuroprotective therapeutics, which could prevent disease progression, or regenerative medicine to recover retinal function, are ready for practical use in the future. In recent years, it has been reported that progranulin-activated cell signaling pathways regulate excitotoxicity, oxidative stress, and synaptogenesis, and are now gaining attention as a new target gene in the central nervous system (CNS). Despite being a peripheral organ, the retina or neural portion of the eve is actually part of the CNS. Here, we summarize the current understanding of the involvement of progranulin in retinal cells. In addition, many roles of progranulin on the survival and development on retinal cells have been recently revealed, which may lead to new approaches in both retinal neuroprotection and regeneration.

Keywords Adipose-derived stem cells · Inflammation · Neurogenesis · Photoreceptor cell · Progranulin · Retinal degeneration · Visual acuity

Introduction

Visual impairment occurs in elderly people. The number of people with visual disorders is increasing with our ageing society. An estimated 253 million people live with vision impairment; 36 million are blind and 217 million have moderate to severe vision impairment. Moreover, 81% of people who are blind or have visional impairment are aged 50 years and above (Bourne et al. 2017). The retina is

Molecular Pharmacology, Department of Biofunctional Evaluation, Gifu Pharmaceutical University, Gifu, Japan e-mail: hidehara@gifu-pu.ac.jp

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2019

H. Hara et al. (eds.), *Progranulin and Central Nervous System Disorders*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-6186-9_11

Y. Kuse · S. Nakamura · H. Hara (🖂)

important in vision to receive and recognize color and brightness. Rod and cone photoreceptors are specialized neurons that receive light. The process of vision is initiated by converting patterns of light energy into graded electrical potentials by photoreceptors. Retinal photoreceptor cell loss can severely impair vision. Age-related macular degeneration (AMD) and retinal pigmentosa (RP) are associated with photoreceptor degeneration, and there are currently no effective drug therapies. The retinal pigment epithelium (RPE) is located near photoreceptors and supports them. The pathological processes in eyes with non-exudative age-related macular degeneration (AMD) induce RPE atrophy (Liang and Godley 2003) and enhance photoreceptor cell degeneration caused by excessive light exposure and oxidative stress (Shahinfar et al. 1991; Beatty et al. 2000).

Recently, induced pluripotent stem (iPS) cell-derived RPE sheets were transplanted into an AMD patient autograft (Mandai et al. 2017). Several groups in human clinical trials have shown that RPE allografts cannot survive because of immune rejection. It is observed that loss of visual function and development of an exudative response and so on. To achieve this, human iPS-RPE cells using human leukocyte antigen (HLA) homozygote allografts are now being examined (Sugita et al. 2016a, b). However, transplantation did not improve the photoreceptor function, which was already decreased with the progression of ocular disease. Other reports show the transplantation of immature retinal cells into host retina because the mature retinal cells could not integrate into the host retina (MacLaren et al. 2006). In particular, the integration of transplanted cells to host retina is difficult although transplantation has succeeded (Gust and Reh 2011). New approaches are required for the protection or regeneration of retinal neurons such as photoreceptors. Several candidates have been found in many laboratory investigations (Williams et al. 2014; Gehrs et al. 2010; Bavik et al. 2015).

Protective Effect of Progranulin Against Photoreceptor Cell Degeneration

Progranulin Derived from Adipose-Derived Stem Cells

Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) have the multipotency and self-renewing capacity. MSCs were first found in bone marrow. Recently, a new source of MSCs was isolated from adipose tissue (Zuk et al. 2001). Adipose-derived stem cells (ASC) can be collected in large quantities with low invasiveness. ASCs can also be stably isolated and have shown a high proliferative capacity (Kern et al. 2006; Schubert et al. 2011). In clinical practices, ASCs are used for breast reconstruction and the safety has been confirmed (O'Halloran et al. 2017). However, it is poorly understood whether ASC therapy is valid for retinal diseases. Excessive light exposure causes retinal photoreceptor degeneration and is used for the pathological model of AMD (Cachafeiro et al. 2013; Rattner et al. 2008; Gu et al. 2007). ASCs showed a protective effect against light-induced retinal degeneration (Tsuruma et al. 2014). ASCs improve retinal function and outer nuclear layer thickness decreased by light exposure. Therefore, ASCs preserve the photoreceptor cells in the model of AMD. Other reports show that human ASCs also protect against photoreceptor degeneration (Sugitani et al. 2013). MSCs derived from bone marrow are benefit to retinal damage (Labrador-Velandia et al. 2016).

It has been reported that mouse ASCs engraftment occurred in the retina using enhanced green fluorescent protein (EGFP) transgenic mouse-derived ASCs. Engraftment did not occur because GFP was not observed in the retina after intravitreal injection of ASCs (Tsuruma et al. 2014). Therefore, ASCs secreted factors could exert a protective effect against photoreceptor cell degeneration. ASCconditioned medium (ASC-CM) also suppresses photoreceptor cell death induced by light exposure *in vivo* and *in vitro*. However, mature adipose medium (MA)-CM does not show a protective effect against photoreceptor cell damage. ASC secreted factors are analyzed by cytokine array to reveal the contribution of each factor to photoreceptor cell protection.

Progranulin was identified as a rich secreted protein in our study using ASCs (Tsuruma et al. 2014). Progranulin can provide a protective effect on neuronal cells through Wnt signaling (Rosen et al. 2011). ASC-CM contains a high concentration of progranulin (75 fold ASC-CM equals progranulin 574.15 ng/mL) compared to MA-CM. An equal amount of progranulin to 75 fold ASC-CM suppressed photoreceptor cell death induced by light exposure *in vivo* and *in vitro* (Tsuruma et al. 2014).

Protective Mechanism of Progranulin

Progranulin is reported to inhibit the tumor necrosis factor (TNF) receptor (Tang et al. 2011). It is controversial whether progranulin directly interacts with the TNF receptor (Chen et al. 2013; Cerezo et al. 2015). Regardless, progranulin inhibits the TNF receptor signaling and is a possible new therapeutic target for rheumatoid arthritis and etanercept (Cerezo et al. 2015; Liu 2011). Although progranulin exerts a protective effect against photoreceptor degeneration through the suppression of the TNF receptor, the neutralizing antibody for TNF receptor does not have a therapeutic effect on light-induced photoreceptor damage *in vitro* (Tsuruma et al. 2014), suggesting that another signaling pathway is associated with the effect of progranulin. The signaling was investigated using a phosphor-receptor tyrosine kinase array kit, and progranulin activates the HGF receptor within 5 min after its addition to

cells (Tsuruma et al. 2014). Progranulin may directly interact with HGF receptors. Another report shows that the expression of hepatic HGF receptor is modulated by progranulin (Li et al. 2010). The knockdown of GrnA in zebrafish, an orthologue of mammalian progranulin, downregulates the expression of the HGF receptor. Taken together, progranulin exerts a protective effect against photoreceptor cell damage through HGF receptors.

The downstream signaling is partly identified and is associated with the protective effect of progranulin. Progranulin increases the phosphorylation of cAMP response element binding protein (CREB) and a downstream target of extracellular regulated kinase (ERK) (Tsuruma et al. 2014). CREB is phosphorylated prior to the phosphorylation of ERK. ERK, protein kinase A, and PKC regulate the expression of CREB. The specific inhibitor (U0126, H-89, and Go6976, respectively) of each signaling is used to identify the signaling induced by progranulin. Go6976 only inhibited the protective effect of progranulin. Therefore, progranulin contributes to photoreceptor cell protection through the PKC-CREB pathway and possibly HGF receptor signaling (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1 The protective effect and mechanism of progranulin against retinal photoreceptor cell damage. Progranulin-enhanced phosphorylation of the HGF receptor and may activate CREB via the PKC pathways. As a result, CREB activation leads to photoreceptor cell survival

Regenerative Effect of Progranulin

Potential of Regenerative Medicine Against Retinal Degeneration

As mentioned above, a new approach is required for the treatment of visual impairment. The stem cell niche is focused on therapy for multiple diseases (Labrador-Velandia et al. 2016; Lane et al. 2014). Adipose tissue is one stem cell niche observed in MSC. In the central nervous system (CNS), neuronal cells are constitutively generated, which is called neurogenesis (Arvidsson et al. 2002; Eriksson et al. 1998). However, it has long been thought that mammalian neurons are unable to regenerate after being damaged. It was recently reported that limited neuronal regeneration can occur in the CNS, such as the brain and retina in adult mammals (Harada et al. 2011; Osakada et al. 2007; Ooto et al. 2004). In the retina, Müller glia have the potential as retinal stem cells to dedifferentiate and proliferate to retinal precursor cells after injury (Osakada et al. 2007; Ooto et al. 2004). Subsequently, some of these retinal precursor cells migrate to other any retinal cell layers and differentiate into retinal cells (Ooto et al. 2004; Fausett and Goldman 2006). In zebrafish, retinal regeneration occurs completely after retinal injury (Fausett and Goldman 2006). Some of the key regulators were identified in the regeneration after zebrafish retinal injury (Goldman 2014). However, it remains unknown how mammalian retinal regeneration occurs after retinal injury.

The retinal protection is provided by the ASC treatment after retinal damage. It is possible that ASC-secreted factors can accelerate retinal regeneration as well as retinal protection. The potential regenerative effect of ASC-CM is assessed in a retinal damage model using N-Methyl-N-nitrosourea (MNU), which causes photoreceptor cell specific damage. After MNU treatment, ASC-CM is treated using a frequent intravitreal injection. ASC-CM increased the newly generated BrdU positive cells in the outer nuclear layer (ONL), which increases photoreceptor cells after retinal damage compared to the vehicle-treated group (Kuse et al. 2016). These BrdU positive cells are rhodopsin (photoreceptor marker) positive. Therefore, ASC-CM increased newly generated photoreceptor cells after retinal damage. As mentioned above, ASC-CM contains a high concentration of progranulin (75 fold ASC-CM equals progranulin 574.15 ng/mL) (Tsuruma et al. 2014). Whether progranulin mimics the effect of ASC-CM was examined in a similar protocol. Progranulin is treated after light-induced retinal damage, a better model reflected to a pathology of AMD than of MNU. Progranulin increases the number of BrdU positive newly generated cells in the ONL (approximately fourfold increase) compared to the vehicle-treated group (Kuse et al. 2016). However, BrdU positive cells are not rhodopsin positive, although these cells are present in the ONL. In other words, proliferative cells exist in the ONL but they do not differentiate into photoreceptor cells. BrdU positive cells are co-stained with various cell markers such as retinal precursor cells and glial cells to identify which cells proliferate. BrdU positive cells in the ONL are not co-localized with glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP), a marker specific for astrocytes and ionized calcium binding adaptor molecule 1 (Iba-1), a marker specific to microglia. Therefore, it is suggested that progranulin does not induce gliosis after retinal damage. Rx (retinal homeobox protein) is selected as a retinal precursor cell marker. Rx is associated with retinal development and is expressed in retinal precursor cells (Marquardt and Gruss 2002; Furukawa et al. 1997a). Some Rx and BrdU positive cells are observed in the ONL in the progranulin treated group but not in the vehicle-treated group (Kuse et al. 2016). Moreover, Rx mRNA is co-localized with Rx protein and BrdU positive cells in the ONL. This result suggested that the increase in BrdU positive cells in the ONL resulting from progranulin treatment are partly Rx positive retinal precursor cells. Other retinal precursor cell markers were investigated. Nestin is a marker of neural precursor cells. It is reported that nestin is expressed when an injury induces Müller glial neural stem cell-like properties (Osakada et al. 2007). Nestin expression is not altered between the vehicle and progranulin-treated groups. Sox2 (sex determining region Y-box 2) is a stem cell marker. A few BrdU and Sox2 double-positive cells were observed in the progranulin-treated group, but none of these cells were observed in the vehicle-treated group (Kuse et al. 2016). Moreover, cone-rod homeobox protein (CRX) indicates retinal photoreceptor precursor cells (Furukawa et al. 1997b). CRX expression is observed in the progranulin-treated group but not in the vehicle-treated group (Kuse et al. 2016). These results suggest that progranulin increases the newly-generated retinal precursor cells in the ONL after retinal damage but does not differentiate to photoreceptor cells (Fig. 2). The combination of Wnt and retinoic acid or valproic acid promotes differentiation to photoreceptor cells (Osakada et al. 2007). Valproic acid treatment after overexpression of Sox2 promotes the maturation of neurons in the brain (Niu et al. 2013). Retinal regeneration proceeds dedifferentiation (of Müller glia), proliferation (of retinal precursor cells), and differentiation. The combination therapy with progranulin could promote the regeneration of photoreceptor cells after injury.

Photoreceptor Cell Regenerative Effect of Progranulin

The regenerative effect of progranulin is likely associated with Wnt signaling and the HGF receptor. Progranulin can modulate the Wnt signaling pathway, which is associated with cell proliferation and development (Rosen et al. 2011; Korade and Mirnics 2011; Inoue et al. 2006). Wnt3a increases neurogenesis in the hippocampus and also promotes retinal regeneration in rats and mice (Osakada et al. 2007; Lie et al. 2005). Another report shows that progranulin is associated with muscle regeneration increasing the pool of myogenic progenitor cells through the HGF receptor (Li et al. 2013).

Retinal development is initiated at the embryonic stage and progresses to the postnatal stage. Development is essential for normal eye formation. The process of retinal development (such as precursor cell proliferation and differentiation to mature cells) is similar to retinal regeneration. The involvement of progranulin in



Fig. 2 A schema showing the regenerative effect of progranulin during retinal damage. Retinal damage induces the dedifferentiation of Müller glia, which reprogramming generates retinal precursor cells. Retinal precursor cells are capable of migrating to the outer nuclear layer (ONL) and differentiating into various retinal cells. In addition, progranulin supports retinal precursor cell migration to the ONL and encourages their differentiation to photoreceptor cells

retinal development has been investigated. To determine the effect of progranulin in retinal development, progranulin was combined with a primary retinal cell culture containing precursor cells. Mouse retinas are enucleated at postnatal day 8 (P8). The P8 retina contains immature retinal cells (Swaroop et al. 2010). It is thought that progranulin can promote the differentiation of retinal precursor cells to photoreceptor cells in primary retinal cell culture. Progranulin decreases the number of doublecortin (DCX) and CRX positive retinal precursor and photoreceptor precursor cells in primary retinal cell culture. Progranulin increases the number of rhodopsin positive cells compared to the control group (Kuse et al. 2016). Therefore, progranulin increases the differentiation of photoreceptor cells and results in the decrease of retinal precursor cells. To address the mechanism of progranulin, the phosphorylation of the HGF receptor was investigated. Progranulin treatment increases the phosphorylation of the HGF receptor after 5 min in primary retinal cells. Co-incubation with the HGF receptor inhibitor, SU11274, attenuates the phosphorylation. SU11274 inhibits the increase of rhodopsin positive cells induced by progranulin (Kuse et al. 2016). Progranulin exerts the effect of photoreceptor differentiation via HGF receptor signaling. HGF receptor abundantly exists in the ONL during retinal development; although, the association between this signaling and photoreceptor differentiation remains unknown (Sun et al. 1999). Moreover, the level of photoreceptor cell differentiation and HGF receptor phosphorylation is

investigated using global progranulin-deficient mice (Kayasuga et al. 2007). In progranulin-deficient retina, the phosphorylation of the HGF receptor is inhibited compared to the wild type (WT) retina. The expression of CRX is increased and the rhodopsin expression is decreased in the progranulin-deficient retina at P9 (Kuse et al. 2017). In other words, progranulin deficiency inhibits the maturation of photoreceptors from the photoreceptor precursor cells at P9. These results strongly suggest progranulin promotes the differentiation of photoreceptors during development (Kuse et al. 2016, 2017). These reports suggested that progranulin might progranulindeficient retina alteration of progranulin be associated with the migration and the proliferation of retinal precursor cells and their differentiation to photoreceptor cells (Fig. 3). At 8–12 weeks old, the progranulin-deficient retina was examined to reveal the impact on abnormal photoreceptor differentiation. The ONL thickness was significantly decreased in the progranulin-deficient retina compared to WT retina (Kuse et al. 2016). The cell number in the ganglion cell layer (GCL) is also decreased in progranulin-deficient retinas. A decrease in rhodopsin expression is observed in progranulin-deficient retina compared to WT retina. These results suggest that progranulin can potentially affect photoreceptor cell development and ONL formation.



Fig. 3 The alteration of a progranulin-deficient retina. Progranulin is mainly secreted by microglia. In the immature stage, the absence of progranulin results in astrocyte activation and RGC loss. Rather than influence the RGC, retinal progranulindeficiency causes defective photoreceptor differentiation

The Role of Progranulin Regarding Astrocytes

The cell number in the GCL is decreased in adult progranulin-deficient mice, though there is no change in the thickness of the inner plexiform layer (IPL), inner nuclear layer (INL), or outer plexiform layer (OPL). The nuclei of retinal ganglion cells (RGCs) exist in the GCL. RGCs are located in GCL among the astrocytes, and they send their axons toward the optic nerve and to the lateral geniculate nucleus and superior colliculus in the brain (Yonehara et al. 2008). Astrocytes secrete different types of growth factors and cytokines especially when the retina is injured. Astrocytes originate from neural precursor cells and more specifically from astrocyte precursor cells (APCs) (Freeman 2010; Tao and Zhang 2014). In adult mice, astrocytes, microglia, and oligodendrocytes in the optic nerve support the axons of the RGCs (Vecino et al. 2016; Howell et al. 2007). APCs in the retina guide the axons toward the optic nerve during embryonic development (Tao and Zhang 2014), and they are required for the normal development of the synapses of the RGCs (Bialas and Stevens 2013; Clarke and Barres 2013). The RGCs interact with astrocytes. Growth factors such as PDGF-A and sonic hedgehog produced by RGCs promote the migration and proliferation of APCs (Tao and Zhang 2014; Fruttiger et al. 1996; Wallace and Raff 1999). Mature astrocytes play a key role in neurogenesis during development (Song et al. 2002). The changes of RGCs and astrocytes are investigated because a balance of RGCs and astrocytes is important for the normal development of neurons. Brn3a, a specific marker for RGCs is reduced in progranulin-deficient mice (Kuse et al. 2017). GFAP is a marker of activated astrocytes (Krencika and Zhang 2011), and a high expression of GFAP is observed in progranulin-deficient retina compared to WT retina (Kuse et al. 2017). These results demonstrate that progranulin deficiency impairs the survival of RGCs and astrocyte normality. In the optic nerve, phosphorylated neurofilament heavy (p-NFH) and NFH, markers of RGC axons, are accumulated in progranulin-deficient mice (Howell et al. 2007; Lambert et al. 2011). The fluorescent intensity of GFAP is increased in a progranulin-deficient optic nerve. These results confirm the degeneration of the RGCs and the axonal change in the progranulin-deficient optic nerve. While, the expression of GFAP in the hippocampus at CA1, CA3, and dentate gyrus (DG) is not changed between the WT and progranulin-deficient hippocampus (Kuse et al. 2017), which was shown in a previous report using at least 7-months old mice (Ahmed et al. 2010). It is suggested progranulin deficiency may strongly affect the astrocytes in the retina and optic nerve. Taken together, the absence of progranulin can affect the survival of RGCs subsequent to the activation of astrocytes and leads to the immaturity of photoreceptor cells during retinal development.

The Involvement of Progranulin in Retinal Development

The number of RGCs is decreased and astrocytes are activated during development. At P9, the number of Brn3a positive RGCs and the cell number in the GCL are reduced in progranulin-deficient retinas (Kuse et al. 2017). The fluorescent intensities of both astrocyte markers, S100 and GFAP expression, are increased in progranulin-deficient retinas and western blotting shows an increase in GFAP expression (Kuse et al. 2017). The expression of glutamine synthetase (GS), another glial marker, is increased in progranulin-deficient retinas. Therefore, astrocytes and Müller glia are activated. However, there is no change in S100 expression at P1. These results suggest that progranulin deficiency affects the retina in the late postnatal stage (at P9). The phosphorylation of the HGF receptor is reduced in the progranulin-deficient retina at P9 (Kuse et al. 2017), and it is highly likely that progranulin is associated with the HGF receptor (Tsuruma et al. 2014; Li et al. 2010; Kuse et al. 2016). More specifically, it is observed that a decrease of phosphorylation in the progranulin-deficient retina and an increase of the phosphorylation in primary retinal cells by recombinant progranulin are a result of the activity of retinal neuronal cells and not only by astrocytes considering the abundance of astrocytes in the retina. It is reported that *c-met*, an HGF receptor gene, is present in RGCs and exogenous HGF protects RGCs through HGF receptor signaling (Tönges et al. 2011; Wong et al. 2014). Therefore, progranulin may directly contribute to the survival of RGCs through HGF receptor signaling at immature stages. It is reported that excessive activation of astrocytes induces the death of neuronal cells in culture (Olivera-Bravo et al. 2011). Astrocyte markers, S100β, GFAP, and GS are upregulated in progranulin-deficient mice at P9. Most recently, it has been reported that recombinant progranulin directly suppresses the astrocyte-secreted inflammatory cytokines using murine primary astrocytes (Menzel et al. 2017). The excessive activation of astrocytes in progranulin-deficient retina might cause the loss of RGCs. Other reports show the degeneration of RGCs proceed after 12-months old progranulin-deficient mice (Hafler et al. 2014; Ward et al. 2014). Progranulin deficiency causes the accumulation of autofluorescent materials and the mislocalization of TDP-43 in aged mice. The mechanism of degeneration of RGCs could be different between young and aged progranulin-deficient mice.

To clarify the contribution of progranulin to retinal normality, the expression pattern and level were investigated. WT retinas at P9 show the strong expression of progranulin at P1 in WT retinas (Kuse et al. 2017). Immunostaining shows S100 positive astrocytes are partly co-localized with progranulin in P9 WT retinas, but not with P1 WT retinas. Iba-1 positive microglia are almost fully co-localized with progranulin in P1 and P9 retina. In normal development, progranulin expression is increased from P1 to P9. RGCs and astrocytes strongly depend on the presence of progranulin during this stage. An expression of progranulin is also observed in the microglia in optic nerve. Previous reports show that progranulin is mainly secreted by microglia and neurons in the brain during early and adult ages (Petkau et al. 2010; Lü et al. 2013; Kanazawa et al. 2015). Although S100β positive astrocytes are
co-localized with progranulin in the retina and optic nerve, it is generally not observed in the brain astrocytes. This difference between retina and brain could contribute the specificity of effect of retinal astrocytes by progranulin.

Conclusion and Future Perspective

The association of progranulin with pathology is mainly reported in aged mice, and, in particular, lysosomal dysfunction in the CNS (Klein et al. 2017; Tanaka et al. 2014; Zhou et al. 2017; Matsuwaki et al. 2011). The role in juvenile and young stages also remains unrecognized although the expression was observed several tissues in a 2003 report (Daniel et al. 2003). In the area of ophthalmology, there is gradually accumulating evidence that progranulin has important physiological roles.

The major conclusion is that progranulin has a protective effect on the retina and optic nerve. These important findings may help in the development of a neuroprotective drug that targets progranulin. Recent reports show that progranulin can be associated with retinal regeneration, development, and muscle regeneration (Kuse et al. 2016, 2017; Li et al. 2013). Based on our data, progranulin is strongly correlated with the survival of RGCs and the development of the retina (Kuse et al. 2017). In addition, we revealed that PGRN might be associated with the migration and proliferation of retinal precursor cells and their differentiation to photoreceptor cells (Kuse et al. 2016). These results indicate that progranulin could become a key factor in retinal regeneration. In the future, we hope that a treatment targeting progranulin will prevent blindness from retinal degenerative diseases by both neuroprotection and regeneration.

References

- Ahmed Z, Sheng H, Xu Y et al (2010) Accelerated Lipofuscinosis and Ubiquitination in Granulin Knockout Mice Suggest a Role for Progranulin in Successful Aging. Am J Pathol 177:311–324
- Arvidsson A, Collin T, Kirik D, Kokaia Z, Lindvall O (2002) Neuronal replacement from endogenous precursors in the adult brain after stroke. Nat Med 8:963–970
- Bavik C, Henry SH, Zhang Y et al (2015) Visual cycle modulation as an approach toward preservation of retinal integrity. PLoS One 10:1–16
- Beatty S, Koh H, Phil M, Henson D, Boulton M (2000) The role of oxidative stress in the pathogenesis of age-related macular degeneration. Surv Ophthalmol 45:115–134
- Bialas AR, Stevens B (2013) TGF-β signaling regulates neuronal C1q expression and developmental synaptic refinement. Nat Neurosci 16:1773–1782
- Bourne RRA, Flaxman SR, Braithwaite T et al (2017) Magnitude, temporal trends, and projections of the global prevalence of blindness and distance and near vision impairment: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Glob Health 5:e888–e897
- Cachafeiro M, Bemelmans AP, Samardzija M, Afanasieva T, Pournaras JA, Grimm C, Kostic C, Philippe S, Wenzel A, Arsenijevic Y (2013) Hyperactivation of retina by light in mice leads to

photoreceptor cell death mediated by VEGF and retinal pigment epithelium permeability. Cell Death Dis 4:e781

- Cerezo LA, Kuklová M, Hulejová H, Vernerová Z, Kaspříková N, Veigl D, Pavelka K, Vencovský J, Šenolt L (2015) Progranulin is associated with disease activity in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Mediat Inflamm 2015:740357
- Chen X, Chang J, Deng Q et al (2013) Progranulin does not bind tumor necrosis factor (TNF) receptors and is not a direct regulator of TNF-dependent signaling or bioactivity in immune or neuronal cells. J Neurosci 33:9202–9213
- Clarke LE, Barres BA (2013) Emerging roles of astrocytes in neural circuit development. Nat Rev Neurosci 14:311–321
- Daniel R, Daniels E, He Z, Bateman A (2003) Progranulin (acrogranin/PC cell-derived growth factor/granulin-epithelin precursor) is expressed in the placenta, epidermis, microvasculature, and brain during murine development. Dev Dyn 227:593–599
- Eriksson PS, Perfilieva E, Bjork-Eriksson T, Alborn AM, Nordborg C, Peterson DA, Gage FH (1998) Neurogenesis in the adult human hippocampus. Nat Med 4:1313–1317
- Fausett BV, Goldman D (2006) A role for alpha1 tubulin-expressing Müller glia in regeneration of the injured zebrafish retina. J Neurosci 26:6303–6313
- Freeman MR (2010) Specification and morphogenesis of astrocytes. Science 330:774-778
- Fruttiger M, Calver AR, Krüger WH, Mudhar HS, Michalovich D, Takakura N, Nishikawa S, Richardson WD (1996) PDGF mediates a neuron-astrocyte interaction in the developing retina. Neuron 17:1117–1131
- Furukawa T, Kozak CA, Cepko CL (1997a) rax, a novel paired-type homeobox gene, shows expression in the anterior neural fold and developing retina. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94:3088–3093
- Furukawa T, Morrow EM, Cepko CL (1997b) Crx, a novel otx-like homeobox gene, shows photoreceptor-specific expression and regulates photoreceptor differentiation. Cell 91:531–541
- Gehrs KM, Jackson JR, Brown EN, Allikmets R, Hageman GS (2010) Complement, age-related macular degeneration and a vision of the future. Arch Ophthalmol (Chicago, Ill 1960) 128:349–358
- Goldman D (2014) Müller glial cell reprogramming and retina regeneration. Nat Rev Neurosci 15:431–442
- Gu D, Beltran WA, Li Z, Acland GM, Aguirre GD (2007) Clinical light exposure, photoreceptor degeneration, and AP-1 activation: A cell death or cell survival signal in the rhodopsin mutant retina? Investig Ophthalmol Vis Sci 48:4907–4918
- Gust J, Reh TA (2011) Adult donor rod photoreceptors integrate into the mature mouse retina. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 52:5266–5272
- Hafler BP, Klein ZA, Jimmy Zhou Z, Strittmatter SM (2014) Progressive retinal degeneration and accumulation of autofluorescent lipopigments in Progranulin deficient mice. Brain Res 1588:168–174
- Harada C, Guo X, Namekata K, Kimura A, Nakamura K, Tanaka K, Parada LF, Harada T (2011) Glia- and neuronspecific functions of TrkB signalling during retinal degeneration and regeneration. Nat Commun 2:189
- Howell GR, Libby RT, Jakobs TC et al (2007) Axons of retinal ganglion cells are insulted in the optic nerve early in DBA/2J glaucoma. J Cell Biol 179:1523–1537
- Inoue T, Kagawa T, Fukushima M, Shimizu T, Yoshinaga Y, Takada S, Tanihara H, Taga T (2006) Activation of canonical Wnt pathway promotes proliferation of retinal stem cells derived from adult mouse ciliary margin. Stem Cells 24:95–104
- Kanazawa M, Kawamura K, Takahashi T et al (2015) Multiple therapeutic effects of progranulin on experimental acute ischaemic stroke. Brain 138:1932–1948
- Kayasuga Y, Chiba S, Suzuki M, Kikusui T, Matsuwaki T, Yamanouchi K, Kotaki H, Horai R, Iwakura Y, Nishihara M (2007) Alteration of behavioural phenotype in mice by targeted disruption of the progranulin gene. Behav Brain Res 185:110–118
- Kern S, Eichler H, Stoeve J, Klüter H, Bieback K (2006) Comparative analysis of mesenchymal stem cells from bone marrow, umbilical cord blood, or adipose tissue. Stem Cells 24:1294–1301

- Klein ZA, Takahashi H, Ma M, Stagi M, Zhou M, Lam TKT, Strittmatter SM (2017) Loss of TMEM106B ameliorates lysosomal and frontotemporal dementia-related phenotypes in progranulin-deficient mice. Neuron 95:281–296.e6
- Korade Z, Mirnics K (2011) Wnt signaling as a potential therapeutic target for frontotemporal dementia. Neuron 71:955–957
- Krencika R, Zhang S-C (2011) Directed Differentiation of Functional Astroglial Subtypes from Human Pluripotent Stem Cells. Nat Protoc 6:1710–1717
- Kuse Y, Tsuruma K, Sugitani S, Izawa H, Ohno Y, Shimazawa M, Hara H (2016) Progranulin promotes the retinal precursor cell proliferation and the photoreceptor differentiation in the mouse retina. Sci Rep 6:23811
- Kuse Y, Tsuruma K, Mizoguchi T, Shimazawa M, Hara H (2017) Progranulin deficiency causes the retinal ganglion cell loss during development. Sci Rep 7:1679
- Labrador-Velandia S, Alonso-Alonso ML, Alvarez-Sanchez S, González-Zamora J, Carretero-Barrio I, Pastor JC, Fernandez-Bueno I, Srivastava GK (2016) Mesenchymal stem cell therapy in retinal and optic nerve diseases: an update of clinical trials. World J Stem Cells 8:376
- Lambert WS, Ruiz L, Crish SD, Wheeler LA, Calkins DJ (2011) Brimonidine prevents axonal and somatic degeneration of retinal ganglion cell neurons. Mol Neurodegener 6:4
- Lane SW, Williams DA, Watt FM (2014) Modulating the stem cell niche for tissue regeneration. Nat Biotechnol 32:795–803
- Li Y-H, Chen MH-C, Gong H-Y, Hu S-Y, Li Y-W, Lin G-H, Lin C-C, Liu W, Wu J-L (2010) Progranulin A-mediated MET signaling is essential for liver morphogenesis in zebrafish. J Biol Chem 285:41001–41009
- Li Y-H, Chen H-Y, Li Y-W et al (2013) Progranulin regulates zebrafish muscle growth and regeneration through maintaining the pool of myogenic progenitor cells. Sci Rep 3:1176
- Liang F-Q, Godley BF (2003) Oxidative stress-induced mitochondrial DNA damage in human retinal pigment epithelial cells: a possible mechanism for RPE aging and age-related macular degeneration. Exp Eye Res 76:397–403
- Lie D-C, Colamarino SA, Song H-J et al (2005) Wnt signalling regulates adult hippocampal neurogenesis. Nature 437:1370–1375
- Liu C (2011) Progranulin: a promising therapeutic target for rheumatoid arthritis. FEBS Lett 585:3675–3680
- Lü L, Luo L, Lu Y, Chen L, Xu J, Guo K (2013) Progranulin expression in neural stem cells and their differentiated cell lineages: an immunocytochemical study. Mol Med Rep 8:1359–1364
- MacLaren RE, Pearson RA, MacNeil A, Douglas RH, Salt TE, Akimoto M, Swaroop A, Sowden JC, Ali RR (2006) Retinal repair by transplantation of photoreceptor precursors. Nature 444:203–207
- Mandai M, Watanabe A, Kurimoto Y et al (2017) Autologous induced stem-cell-derived retinal cells for macular degeneration. N Engl J Med 376:1038–1046
- Marquardt T, Gruss P (2002) Generating neuronal diversity in the retina: one for nearly all. Trends Neurosci 25:32–38
- Matsuwaki T, Asakura R, Suzuki M, Yamanouchi K, Nishihara M (2011) Age-dependent changes in progranulin expression in the mouse brain. J Reprod Dev 57:113–119
- Menzel L, Kleber L, Friedrich C, Hummel R, Dangel L, Winter J, Schmitz K, Tegeder I, Schäfer MKE (2017) Progranulin protects against exaggerated axonal injury and astrogliosis following traumatic brain injury. Glia 65:278–292
- Niu W, Zang T, Zou Y, Fang S, Smith DK, Bachoo R, Zhang C-L (2013) In vivo reprogramming of astrocytes to neuroblasts in the adult brain. Nat Cell Biol 15:1164–1175
- O'Halloran N, Courtney D, Kerin M, Lowery A (2017) Adipose-derived stem cells in novel approaches to breast reconstruction: their suitability for tissue engineering and oncological safety. Breast Cancer Basic Clin Res. https://doi.org/10.1177/1178223417726777
- Olivera-Bravo S, Fernández A, Sarlabós MN, Rosillo JC, Casanova G, Jiménez M, Barbeito L (2011) Neonatal astrocyte damage is sufficient to trigger progressive striatal degeneration in a rat model of glutaric acidemia-I. PLoS One 6:e20831

- Ooto S, Akagi T, Kageyama R, Akita J, Mandai M, Honda Y, Takahashi M (2004) Potential for neural regeneration after neurotoxic injury in the adult mammalian retina. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:13654–13659
- Osakada F, Ooto S, Akagi T, Mandai M, Akaike A, Takahashi M (2007) Wnt signaling promotes regeneration in the retina of adult mammals. J Neurosci 27:4210–4219
- Petkau TL, Neal SJ, Orban PC, MacDonald JL, Hill AM, Lu G, Feldman HH, IRA M, Leavitt BR (2010) Progranulin expression in the developing and adult murine brain. J Comp Neurol 518:3931–3947
- Rattner A, Toulabi L, Williams J, Yu H, Nathans J (2008) The genomic response of the retinal pigment epithelium to light damage and retinal detachment. J Neurosci 28:9880–9889
- Rosen EY, Wexler EM, Versano R et al (2011) Functional genomic analyses identify pathways dysregulated by progranulin deficiency, implicating Wnt signaling. Neuron 71:1030–1042
- Schubert T, Xhema D, Vériter S, Schubert M, Behets C, Delloye C, Gianello P, Dufrane D (2011) The enhanced performance of bone allografts using osteogenic-differentiated adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells. Biomaterials 32:8880–8891
- Shahinfar S, Edward DP, Tso MO (1991) A pathologic study of photoreceptor cell death in retinal photic injury. Curr Eye Res 10:47–59
- Song H, Stevens CF, Gage FH (2002) Astroglia induce neurogenesis from adult neural stem cells. Nature 417:39–44
- Sugita S, Iwasaki Y, Makabe K, Kimura T, Futagami T, Suegami S, Takahashi M (2016a) Lack of T cell response to iPSC-derived retinal pigment epithelial cells from HLA homozygous donors. Stem Cell Reports 7:619–634
- Sugita S, Iwasaki Y, Makabe K, Kamao H, Mandai M, Shiina T, Ogasawara K, Hirami Y, Kurimoto Y, Takahashi M (2016b) Successful transplantation of retinal pigment epithelial cells from MHC homozygote iPSCs in MHC-matched models. Stem Cell Reports 7:635–648
- Sugitani S, Tsuruma K, Ohno Y, Kuse Y, Yamauchi M, Egashira Y, Yoshimura S, Shimazawa M, Iwama T, Hara H (2013) The potential neuroprotective effect of human adipose stem cells conditioned medium against light-induced retinal damage. Exp Eye Res 116:254–264
- Sun W, Funakoshi H, Nakamura T (1999) Differential expression of hepatocyte growth factor and its receptor, c-Met in the rat retina during development. Brain Res 851:46–53
- Swaroop A, Kim D, Forrest D (2010) Transcriptional regulation of photoreceptor development and homeostasis in the mammalian retina. Nat Rev Neurosci 11:563–576
- Tanaka Y, Chambers JK, Matsuwaki T, Yamanouchi K, Nishihara M (2014) Possible involvement of lysosomal dysfunction in pathological changes of the brain in aged progranulin-deficient mice. Acta Neuropathol Commun 2:1–15
- Tang W, Lu Y, Tian Q et al (2011) The growth factor progranulin binds to TNF receptors and is therapeutic against inflammatory arthritis in mice. Science 332:478–484
- Tao C, Zhang X (2014) Development of astrocytes in the vertebrate eye. Dev Dyn 243:1501–1510
- Tönges L, Ostendorf T, Lamballe F, Genestine M, Dono R, Koch J-C, Bähr M, Maina F, Lingor P (2011) Hepatocyte growth factor protects retinal ganglion cells by increasing neuronal survival and axonal regeneration in vitro and in vivo. J Neurochem 117:892–903
- Tsuruma K, Yamauchi M, Sugitani S et al (2014) Progranulin, a major secreted protein of mouse adipose-derived stem cells, inhibits light-induced retinal degeneration. Stem Cells Transl Med 3:42–53
- Vecino E, Rodriguez FD, Ruzafa N, Pereiro X, Sharma SC (2016) Progress in Retinal and Eye Research Glia e neuron interactions in the mammalian retina. Prog Retin Eye Res 51:1–40
- Wallace VA, Raff MC (1999) A role for Sonic hedgehog in axon-to-astrocyte signalling in the rodent optic nerve. Development 126:2901–2909
- Ward ME, Taubes A, Chen R et al (2014) Early retinal neurodegeneration and impaired Ranmediated nuclear import of TDP-43 in progranulin-deficient FTLD. J Exp Med 211:1937–1945
- Williams MA, McKay GJ, Chakravarthy U (2014) Complement inhibitors for age-related macular degeneration. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD009300. pub2

- Wong W-K, Cheung AW-S, Yu S-W, Sha O, Cho EYP (2014) Hepatocyte growth factor promotes long-term survival and axonal regeneration of retinal ganglion cells after optic nerve injury: comparison with CNTF and BDNF. CNS Neurosci Ther 20:916–929
- Yonehara K, Shintani T, Suzuki R, Sakuta H, Takeuchi Y, Nakamura-Yonehara K, Noda M (2008) Expression of SPIG1 reveals development of a retinal ganglion cell subtype projecting to the medial terminal nucleus in the mouse. PLoS One. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0001533
- Zhou X, Sun L, Brady OA, Murphy KA, Hu F (2017) Elevated TMEM106B levels exaggerate lipofuscin accumulation and lysosomal dysfunction in aged mice with progranulin deficiency. Acta Neuropathol Commun 5:9
- Zuk PA, Zhu M, Mizuno H, Huang J, Futrell JW, Katz AJ, Benhaim P, Lorenz HP, Hedrick MH (2001) Multilineage cells from human adipose tissue: implications for cell-based therapies. Tissue Eng 7:211–228